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OUR PURPOSE

Chemring helps make the world a safer place. Across physical and digital environments, our

exceptionat teams deliver imnovative technologies and products that detect and defeat
ever-changing threats.

Read more on pages b0 7

OUR STRATEGY

To be a leading provider of critical and innovative technologies that detect and protect
people, platforms, missions and information against constantly changing threats.

TARGET GROWING  WINNING MARKET GROW OQUR
NICHES SHARE US BUSINESS

Read more on pages 24 to 15

OUR ESG PILLARS

The long-term suecess of the Chernring business can only be enhanced by a positive
interaction with all of cur stakehelders, and therefore a positive and engaged approach
10 corporate responsibility and sustainability is important to us. Qur approach is focused
around the following key areas:

HEALTH AND  ENVIRONMENT  PEOPLE ETHICS AND
SAFETY BUSINESS
CONDUCT
Read mare on pages 37 to 58
OUR VALUES
SAFETY EXCELLENCE INNOVATION

We create world-class
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We place safety at the heart
of everything we do.

Read more on page 19

We are focused on ensuring
we consistently meet

high standards in all that

we do.

soluticns and develop
world-class thinking.

DISCOVER MORE ABOUT CHEMRING AT

CHEMRING.COM



2022 PERFORMANCE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
REVENUE CASH CONVERSION
£442.8 109%

.O0Mm (o)
(+13%) (+7% at constant currency) (2021: 105%)
Increase in revenue at constant Continued strong cash conversion,
currency driven by strang with an average of 108% on a rolling
perfarmance at Roke and steady 3é6-manth basis (2021 107%),
growth in Countermeasures driven by a continved focus on
& Energetics. working capital disciphnes.

UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT*

GROUP SENSORS & INFORMATION

£64.0m £30.0m

2022 £640m 2022
01 £57.3m 00
2020 £54.7m 2020

Read mere on pages 10 to 33

HIGHLIGHTS

. 2022 performance exceeded the Board's initial expectations with
strong performance in both sectors despite a challenging macro-
economic environment

. Roke revenue exceeded £100m for the first time and with order intake
of £168m, up 59%. is well positioned Lo continue its growth trajectory
in what continues to be a buoyant market

- Post year-end acquisition of Geollect completed on 7 December 2022

. Order intake for Countermeasures & Energetics was £356m, up 40%,
driven by multi-year orders recerved acrass the sector

2023 OUTLOOK

UNDERLYING OPERATING
PROFIT*

£64.0m

{+11%} (+B% at constant currency)
Reflects the growth of the
higher margin Roke business
as well as the increasing
margin in Countermeasures &
Energetics through improving
operational performance.

STATUTORY OPERATING
PROFAIT

£53.3m

(+6%) (+3% at constant eurrency)

The difference o underlyirg
operating profit reflects the
amortisation of acquired intangible
assets, acquisinan expenses and loss
on the movement in fair value of
derivatives which are the only items
treated as non-underlyng in 2022,

COUNTERMEASURES & ENERGETICS

£48.9m

£30.0m w2
£31.6m wHn
£27.4m 020

£489m
£40.0m

£399m

Read more on pages 34 to 16

- Investment in the Group’s manufacturing infrastructure continues to
be a key enabler to deliver improved safely and operational excellence,
with the Counterrmeasures & Energetics margin improving from 16.2%

to 174%

. The conunued reduction in net debt by 73% to £7.2m was driven by
strong operating cash generation and cash conversian of 109%. Net debt

o undertying EBITDA cf 0.09 times

. Proposed final dividend increased by 19% to 3.8p, giving 2 total dividend

of 5.7p (3.5 times cover)

. Board's expectations for 2023 are unchanged, Approximately 86%
(2021: 84%) of expected 2023 revenue is covered by the order book

The strong market for Roke's Electromc Warfare products and active Cyber Defence/Mission support services, the proected growth in our riche
precision engineered devices and speciality chemicals businesses. together with strong order book cover, all support a strong medium-term outlook.

* References to underlying operating profit and earnings per share throughout this strategic repart are to underlying measures fram continuing operations; see noke 3 for a
reconctliation to the statutory profit after tax from continuing aperatians of £47.4m (2021: £41.5m). For references to constant currency equivalents of reported numbers please

refer to page &0 for further explanation.

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022 o1

14O DIDALVHLS

IDINVNYIAQD

SINIWAIVIS TYIDNVNE



WHAT WE DO

INNOVATION AND TECHNOLOGY

IS AT OUR CORE

At Chemring we create market-leading technology
solutions and develop world-class thinking to solve
the most challenging problems.

WHERE WE OPERATE

Qur home markets of the UK. LS, Australia and MNorway have a
substanual and enduring commitment to defence and national security.
We also export our technalogy solutions to additional markets The
percentages represent the proporuon of sales for that destination in the:
year ended 31 October 2022

us
S0%

(0]
The US remains the single largest defence market in the world and
continues to be our pringipal hame market. Our position 1n the market is
underpinned by a Special Secunty Agreement (“SSA”) that enables us to
be a supplier on important and sensitive programmaes to US customers,
The continuous support for defence spending in the US prowvides us with
relatively good visibility for future earnings as we respong to the
customer's modernisation priorities.

a2 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2012

Using our extensive science and engineering expertise, we Lurn ideas
into reality, desigrning and developing critrcal solutions that protect and
safeguard in an uncertain world.

We achueve this by nnovating at every stage of the value chain, from research
and development (*R&D™), through to design. manufacture and in-service
support for our sensors and detection systems, countermeasures, precision
engineering and energetic products.

Qur customer base spans national defence organisations, security and law
enforcement agencies, as well as commercial markets such as space, medical
and transpart We support our customers in more than 50 countries across
the globe.

EUROPE

12%

In Europe, our Norwegian
business 15 experiencing ever
greater demand for its niche
speciality cherrucals as cusicmers
seek 1o strengthen ther defence
capabilities in response to Russia’s
itegal invasion of Ukraine.

UK
34%

0
In the UK we are well positioned to
benefit from the increased demand
for intelligence and cyber-security
solutons sigrialled by the Integrated
Review. We are also seeing
accelerated demand for our
Countermeasures & Energetics
capabnlives resulting from the conflict
in Eastern Europe.

ASIA PACIFIC

4%
Regional instabilities. capability upgrades and technology advancements
are driving increased spend in the Asia Pacific region QOur Australian

business positions us to contribute towards meeting the defence
requirements of Australia and other countries in the region.



CHEMRING IS ORGANISED INTO TWO STRATEGIC SECTORS

SENSORS & INFORMATION

Innovation is core to solving our dients’ difficult problems.

With over 700 scienbists. engineers and consultants, our Sensors & Informatien
sector continues 1o invest in technologies that safeguard and protect in an
uncertain world.

Operating across defence, national secunity, law enforcement and industrial
domains, we enable our dients to defiver competitive advantage. defend
their peaple, assets and informauon, and deleat their adversaries.

Qur sensor technologies detect threats with a very high degree of
confidence. be they explosive, biological, chemical, radio or cyber,

Our Roke business draws on a 60-year heritage of innovation in senscrs,
communications, cyber ang artificial intelligence 1o innovate and apply
these technologies in new ways,

We operate across the whole lifacycle providing advice, R&D, engineering,
design and in-service support for our products and services.

REVENUE

£162.3m

(2021: £146.6m)

UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT

£300m

(2021: £31.6m}

2032 £300m
wn £316m
2030 £27.4m

® Crown copyright

COUNTERMEASURES & ENERGETICS

Chemring is the world leader in the design, development and manufacture
of advanced expendable countermeasures for protecting air and sea platforms
against the growing threat of guided missiles

We combine a deep understanding of platform signatures, rmussile seekers
and chermical formutations 1o develop new countermeasures against

evolving threats.

Qur niche, world-class energetics portlolio provides high-reliability, single-use
devices that perform critical functions for the space, aerospace, defence and
industrial markets.

Every day. our products, services and experls assist customers, including
NASA and SpaceX, to achieve mission success. This ranges from cutting-edge
technalogy 1o enable our customers 10 launch rockets and sateltites into orbt,
to the provision of aircraft safety systems including oxygen mask deployment
on cammercial aircraft and ejector seats for aircrew egress.

REVENUE

£280.5m

(202%: €246 7m)

UNDERLYIMNG OPERATING PROFIT

£48.9m

(2021 £40.0m)

2022 £489m
0 £400m .
2020 £39.9m

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2012 03
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SUSTAINABILITY OVERVIEW

COMMITTED TO
A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

At Chemring we acknowledge and embrace our collective responsibility

to contribuie to a sustainable future We have a strong and recognised
obligation &6 ensure the responsible operation of our business and are fully
comrmitied to long-term sustainable value creation through safe, sustainable
and ethical business conduct at all times. Our goal is to ensure that we
protect our planet and our people, support cur custormers and their critical
needs, and that we have 2 positive impact on the cormmunities in which

we operate

PURPOSE

'mproving our sustainability performance plays a key role in the way in
which we run our business today, and plan for the future as we manage our
enviranmental, socal and governance ("E5G7)- related risk. Our sustainability
goals are now directty linked to targets for rermuneration and reward across
our leadership teams

We also recognise that our £5G credennals are an increasingly important
factor in our ability to attract and retain first-class people. Engaged,
motivated, empowered and appropriately skiled employees are integral to
our success as we build a sustainable company of which alt our stakeholders
¢an be proud.

Chemring helps make the world a safer place. Across physical and digital environments. our exceptional teams deliver nnovative technologies

and products that detect and defeat ever-changing threats

STRATEGY

To be a leading provider of critical and innovative technologies that detect and protect people, platforms, missions and information

against constantly changing threats.

APPROACH

The long-term success of Chemring can only be enhanced by a positive interaction with all of our stakeholders. An engaged and constructive
approach is therefore important to us. Following the stakeholder materiality assessment that was undertaken in 2021, our approach is now

focused on the following key topcs and associated areas of focus.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

- Control of major acaident hazards
- lnjury prevention

= HSE risk management

- Occupational and process safety

Read more on pages 40 to 41

MAKING THE

ENVIRONMENT
- Emission reduction

- Waste generation and hazardous materials
management

- Energy usage
- Water consumption

Read more on pages 41 to 49

WORLD A SAFER

PEOPLE

- Culture

- Diversity and inclusion

- Employee wellbeing and engagement
- Employee learning and development

Read more on pages 50 to 56

PLACE

ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT

- Operational Framework and Code of Conduct
- Compliance oversight and risk management

- Whustleblowing

- Anti-bribery and corruption

Read more on pages 57 to 58

Our cammitment ta protection goes beyond our customers and immediate stakeholders,
it includes our planet and broader society and 15 underpinned by our values and behaviours.

VALUES

INNOVATION
We create world-class sofutions and
develop world-dass thinking

SAFETY

We place safety at the heart
of everything we do

EXCELLENCE
We are focused on ensuring we consistently
meet high standards in all that we do

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022



As of 2022, Chemring Group PLC recewed an MSCI FSG Rating of AAA*

PROGRESS IN 2022

Chemnring's purpose is ta help make the world a safer place and Russia's
invasion of Ukraine has tragically highlighted the critical role that the defence
and security industry plays in preserving peace, democracy and freedom in
the western world. It has reinforced the argument that for sustainability to
thrive, it requires global stability at its foundations. We are proud of the role
that Chemring plays in providing that stability and are equally focused on
ensuring that we manage and progress our own sustanability agenda, and

in particular our ESG-related risks.

ESG HIGHLIGHTS

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Total recordable injury frequency rate 0.78 (2021 0.67)

High-patential incidents. 13 (2021: 3)

Technical Safety and Occupational, Health, Safety and Wellbeing
Committees farmed

PECPLE
100% of our senior teaders have participated in diversity, equity
and inclusion workshops

All new graduates and apprentices will take part in a UK-wide Early Careers
development programme which started in November 2021

* The use by Chemring Group PLC of any MSCI ESG research LLC. or its affiliates
("MSCI"} data, and the use of M5CI logos, trademarks, service marks or index
names herein, do not constitute a sponsorship, endarsement, recommendation,
or promation of Chemring Group PLC by MSCH MSC! services and data are the
property of MSCl or «ts information providers, and 2re provided ‘as-is” and without
guarantee. MSC! names and logos are trademarks or services marks of MSCL.

It has been amother busy year in which we have bult on the good progress
made during FY21

Qur ESG strategy over the current and future years will seek to identify those
areas where our activilies can have most impact. Flans are now in place (o
continue this journey and to ensure that we meet the growing disclosure
requirements of our stakeholders and demonstsate cur ability to successfully
address ESG-related issues.

ENVIRONMENT
Green House Gas ("GHG") and carben emissions flal {<1% difference
y&ar-on-year)

Carbon reduction plans being implemented n every business

Sustainability Committee farmed to shape, monitor and ensure
future propress ’

ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT
Updated Code of Conduct and training issued

Continued implementation of Chemring Compliance Portal

Operational assurance process enhanced

DISCOVER MORE ABOUT SUSTAINABILITY:
CHEMRING COM/SUSTAINABILITY/COMMITTED-TO-A-
SUSTAINABLE-FUTURE

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and aceounts 2022 as

18043y JIDILvYLS

FINVYNEIADD

SINIWILYLS TWIDNVNIZ



OUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

WE'RE CONTINUING TO PROTECT
AND GROW BY LIVING OUR VALUES

Innovating to protect lies at the core of our
foundations, underpinned by our values of Safety,
Excellence and Innovation. Every day, our people
play an essential role in protecting armed forces,
national security and commercial operations in

sovereign states across the globe.

]

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

SAFETY

CONTINUING OUR JOURNEY TO ZERO HARM

Qur journey to Zero Harm is about identifying and taking further
actions to reduce ihe likelihood of anyone getting hurt by focusing
on peopie, plant and process. For plant, we regularly review and
strengthen our assets’ integrity For process, we are investing in
new automated production systems and improwng our processes
For people. that is where our safety culure cames in and the part
all our colleagues play in making sure we operate in s_afe conditions
using safe behaviours.

SPOTIT, STOP IT, SHARE IT

Last year, we launched a new internal campaign called Spot it, Stop it,
Share it, encouraging our colleagues to step up their focus on
reporting unsafe conditions, behaviours and near misses. Following up
thase near miss reports with corrective actions is essential. and that is
where leadership and the health and safety teams on site make a real
difference. This year, the campaign continued with a safety poster
design competition for our colleagues’ children to promote good
behaviours and procedures.

Building a strong, preactive safety culture is our Aumber one priority
at Chermring. We will continue to develop that health and safety
culture as we Journey to Zerg Harm, ensuring we protecl

our employees every step of the way.



EXCELLENCE

COGSWELL AWARD FOR AN EXCEPTIONAL

SECURITY PROGRAMME

Chemring Sensors & Elecironic Systems (“CSES”) was awarded a
Cogswell Award in June this year. The award is the most prestigious
honour the US Defense Counterintelligence & Security Agency
("DCSA™) can bestow on a cleared defence contractor. It was
established in 1966 in honour of the late Air Force Colonel, fames S.
Cogswell, the hirst chiel of the United Office of Industrial Security.

Of the nearly 13,000 cleared US defence contractors, like CSES, in the
Natuonal Industrial Security Program ("NISP™), only the top 0.5% are
selected to receive a Cogswell Award.

WVith this award, CSES was recognised for establishing and
maintaining a security programme that exceeds the NISP
requirements, demonstrates a commitment to excellence and
sets a high standard for other arganisations to follow.

Armish Mehta, President of CSES, commented:

"It was an honour 1o recewve a Cogsweli Award in recognition of our
exceptional security programme in support of our customers.
Achieving this distinetion requires a total teamn effort and is a
testament to the hard work of our security team and our
organisation-wide commitment to excellence in security. Our top
priority is the safety and security of our peaple and our customers’
technical advantage and dita *

INNOVATION

HELPING TO ADDRESS UK'S TECHMICAL SKILLS GAP
AND BOOST SCALABLE GROWTH

Earlier this year, the Roke Academy was launched as part of
Roke's strategy for scalable growth. The business welcomed new
candidates to their intensive six-month programme, the Ignite
Development Pathway (“IDP"). The IDP focuses on life skills and
enthusiasm for technology that candidates bring rather thar a
straight career path.

In the face of "the war for talent”, the Academy focuses on developing
transferable life skills and a passion for technology rather than
benefiting those already qualified for hire, This creates an alternate,
fully inclusive pathway into employment for those that might
atherwise have faced barriers to entry

Targeting the national techmcal skills gap, the Roke Academy provides
high quakty traiming in key technology areas and the supporting skills
needed to deliver it effectively.

The Academy is designed to be a centre of excellence for learning and
development, focusing on non-traditiona! areas of recruitment to
embrace undiscovered talent who may not have previously had the
opportunity to enter the technology fiekd. Individuals who have found
the traditional recrutment process a challenge are returning to work
2fter a break, transitioning from military and law enforcement service,
or looking for a change of career. Candidate selection also seeks to
challenge traditional technology demograghics in areas of gender,
ethnicity and neurodiversity.

Paul MacGregor, Roke Managing Director, commented:

"The Roke Academy provides the opportunity to attract new
candidates who may have faced barriers to work for various
reasons. We suppart these diverse individuals whao can bring unique
strengths to our business in terms of creativity, analysis, innovation
and leadership to then progress in their chosen field.”

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022
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INVESTMENT CASE

INVESTING IN SUSTAINABLE
PERFORMANCE AND GROWTH

Chemring delivers profitable growth by operating
in markets where we have differentiators, such as
intellectual property, niche technology and high

barriers to entry.

WELL POSITIONED IN NICHE SEGMENTS
Against the background of growing defence
budgets, particularly in the US and Europe,
Chemring is wel positioned in niche segments

of the defence market which, over time, have the
opportunity to outperform the broader sector.

These include the Group’s gobat market-leading
positions on airborne and naval countermeasures,
advanced sensors, Electronic Warfare and
software engineering Yve are also well placed to
benefit from growth in the space segment where
we are 4 key supplier of mission critical spedialist
devices to customers including NASA and SpaceX.

The Group's strong order book provides good
medium-term visipifity. A significant proportion
of our revenue is generated from soie or

dual source posiiens. often from long-term
partnering agreements Market-leading positions,
incumbent supplier status and high barriers to
entry position Chermring well for the future,

We continually review our portfolio to ensure that we maintain sustainable
niche positions where technical and qualification barriers to entry enable
high margins. These, along with strong and enduring customer refationships,
provide us with a strong platform for future growth. We will achieve qur

growth by total commitment to our enduring purpose, which is to relentlessly
innovate to protect our customers.

MAJOR INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMMES
Chemring is exposed (o a substantial pipetine of
major international programmes that have the
potential to deliver strong long-term growth.
These include being a gualilied source for the F-35
Jont Strike Fighter countermeasure programme
and having technologres and products to address
the next-generation US programmes in explosive
hazard detection, chemnical detection and biological
detection — increasingly relevant in a post-
pandermnic world.

As Cyber and Electromagnetic Activity ("CEMA")
becames increasingly important in today’s threat
envirgnment, and as a consequence of Russia's
invasion of Ukraine, there are a growing number
of opportunities for our Electronic Warfare
products in the international market

We are seeing growing customer enquiries for
Roke's suite of world-leading Etectromc Warfare
products and are supporting ongoing customer
demonstrations and field trials in the US to secure
orders from this potentally significant market.

[+]:3 Chemring Graup PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

STRONG GROWTH IN ROKE'S NATIONAL
SECURITY AND DEFENCE MARKETS

Roke's consulting, technology and R&D service
activities are experiencing strong growth, driven
principally by information security for the aational
security and defence markets.

The Group's capabilities are well zligned to

both the US and UK Government’s emphass

on Cyber. secure networks, secret cloud, artificial
intelligence, data science, autonormy and Elecironic
Warfare (“"EW"). This validates our Sensors &
Information sector strategy. and should increase
the opportunity space far Roke to deploy its
market-feading technologes.

Opportunities exist to expand and accelerate
Roke's capabilities and offerings, both through
acquisitions and opporiunities in adjacent markets
and termitories.



ORDER BOOK GROWTH - LAST FIVE YEARS (£m)

{449m £476m

£394m

Frig FY1% FY20

MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL OBJECTIVES
Since 2019 the Group has communicated certain
medium-term financial objectives, which have been
rolled forward at each set of results These ncluded:

- Targeting mid-teen return on sales in the
medium term. Margins have progressed from
104% in FY18 to 14.5% in FY22

- Improving cash flow. Across the last three
years, operating cash conversion has been 108%
of EBITDA, demonstrating the improvement in
business practices is permanent and sustainable

- Reducing indebtedness. Net debt has
decreased from £81.8m in FY18 to £72m in
FY22, while spending ¢.£150m on capex over
the peried

Chermring is focused on buiding a financially
sustainable and robust Group. These actions
provide strong foundations for future growth.

£651m
£501m
FY21 FY22
BALAMNCE SHEET STRENGTH

Chemring has a robust balance sheel and strong
ongoing operating cash generasion, providing a
platform for future investment in the business,
both organic and norganic, and sustainable,
growing dividend paymenits.

Chemring Group PLC Annuzl report and accounts 2022

PROVEN MANAGEMENT

WITH MOMENTUM

Chermring’s executive management team has
significant sector experience. with a proven track
record of business restructuring, strategic
investment and the delivery of profitable growth.
The team continues to manage delivering both
organic and inorganic growth, balancing near-term
performance with lang-term value creation.

DISCOVER MORE ABOUT
INVESTING: CHEMRING .COM/
INVESTORS
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

DELIVERING CONTINUED PROGRESS

Carl-Peter Forster
Chairman

“It is pleasing to report that the Group has
continued to make strong progress during
2022, delivering against the needs of all its
stakeholders despite the numerous challenges
that have been faced in another
extraordinary year”

INTRODUCTION

The past year has seen 2 number of ongoing challenges. and opportunities
arising from the COVID-A9 {"CV-19") pandemic and a significant conflict in
Europe. These have resulted in changing defence priarities, increasingly
competitive global markets and a business environment that is seeing supply
chain interruption, increased energy ¢osts and a shortage of labour avadability.

Despite these challenges the Group has again dehvered a rabust performance
that exceeded our expectations at the start of the year. Our commitment to
long-term sustainable value creation through safe. sound and ethical business
conduct at all times has ensured that we have met our customers’ critical
needs whilst performing to the highest standards. None of this would be
possible without the commitment and dedicanan of our people and on behalf
of the Board t wish to acknowledge and thank them for therr professionalism
and support.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has highlighted the critical role that the defence
industry plays in preserving peace and democracy in the western world, and
that for sustainability to thrive, il requires global stabifity at its foundations 1t
has also highlighted the need for countries te re-equip and modernise their
defence capabilities to meet the threat of peer on peer conflict. With the
global defence market predicted 1o show strong growth over the next
decade | believe that Chernring is well placed to continue delivering both
organic and inorganic growth, balancing near-term performance with
long-term value creation.

STRATEGY

The Group's strategy is to delver sustainable. profitable growth by operating
in markets where we have differentiators such as intellectual property. niche
technalogy, high barriers to entry and deep long-term customer refationships.

We will achieve this by continuing to focus our efforts and investment on
those areas of the defence and secunity market where we see increasing
customer budgets.

The Sensors & Infarmation sector remains Chemrning's principal area of focus
for long-term growth reflecting increasing customer demand and one where
we can capitalise on the opportunity presented by our customers’ pivot
towards the acquisition of high technology capabilities We wilt expandg the
Group's product. service and capability offerings. constantly innovating to
enable our customers to deliver competitive advantage and to defend their
people, assets and information.

Read more on pages 3¢ to 33

19 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

The Countermeasures & Energetics sector strategy is to strengthen and
protect our miche, world-leading positions. We will seek o continuously
improve our techaclogical and operational base, and work closely with our
customers in the development of new solutions to meet emerging needs We
will continue the process of modernisation and automation across our sites,
improving our competitiveness through investment in lean manufacturing
capabilities and operational alignment to share technology and manufacturing
excellence across the Group.

Read more on pages 34 and 38

As 2 Board we remain alert lor oppeortunities to expand and accelerate our
growth strategy through incremental acquisitions and by leveraging market
adjacencies. However, any acquisition target must meel 2 strict set of eniteria,
enhance shareholder value and fit in with our wider growth plans. To date
this activity has been principaliy facused around our Roke business and we
are now considering additional opportunities in the US space and missiles
sectors. Both areas, which play to the Group's high technology skillsets, offer
significant opportunities for long-term growth,

Elsewhere we will continue to focus our efforts on building a safe, sustainable
and resilient business that is able to deliver progression through continuous
improvement in operational performance and execution. We shall continue
to invest in both our people and our infrastructure in order to deliver further
growth into the future

HEALTH, SAFETY AND THE ENVIRONMENT

At Chemring cur goal is zero harm. This goes beyond the management of
safety and recognises that we have a duty to ensure that we take appropriate
actions to minimise the impact of our operauons on many different fevels,
from employee wellbeing to climate change.

The Board recogmses that the highest levels of safety are required in order to
protect employees, product users and the general public. The Board believes
that all incidents and mjuries are preventable. and that ali employees have the
right to expect to return home safely at the end of every working day. Safety
therefore remains one of the core values within Chemring and is central to
our operating phuloscphy. A key part of our health, safety and environmentat
("HSE") strategy is the collation and analysis of data at every level to focus on
the underlying causes of incidents and the impact of our operations. This
facilitates appropriate decision making at all levels of our organisation.

Through the use of enhanced risk assessment techniques, supported by the
roll-out of comman asset integrity and electro-static discharge review
programmes, we continue te focus on the conirol of ressdual risks within our
high-hazard processes.

In addition, we have extended aur current data platform to better assess the
environmental impacis of our operations and performance against the targets
that were set in 2021 in support of our wider ESG comrmitment. Improving
our sustainability performance plays a key role in the way we both run our
businesses today, and how we plan for the future. Further details on this can
be found in the sustainability section of this report.

Whilst consolidating in a calculative culture we are also keen to ensure
learning is transferred to the relevant parts of the organisation, accelerating
our continuous iIMmprovement cycle. To date good progress has been
maintained on our journey tc become a proactive organisation.

Read more on pages 40 to 49

PEOPLE AND QUR COMMUNITY

Chemring pecple are at the heart of our business and are our greatest asset.
Engaged. motivated, empowered and appropriately skilled colleagues are
integral to our swCcess as it 15 through them that we will progress our strategy
and deliver long-term growth



In 2022 we continued to develop Chemring’s culture with actions delivered
both within the indwidual business units and glabally. In doing so we have
continued to develop cur peaple, ensuring that they are able to do their best
waork every day. Development programmes are now in place for all colleagues
In management roles and for our Early Careers colleagues. Ailied 1o the
Tatent and Succession framework launched in 2021, these programmes
support the development of our future leaders as well as providing a platform
for continuing the development of the Chemring culture.

Chemring is committed to ensuring that we are able to attract and develop
an appropriately diverse workforce. Our programme of education for afl
senior leaders continued in the first half of FY22 and was complemented by a
surte of diversity, equity and inclusion ("DE&I") training modules which form
part of all development programmes frorm Early Careers to Senior Leadership
Teamn development. With a specific focus on gender diversity, the global
Women at Chemring Committee was also established in the year to
encourage local women's networks in each business unit alongside delvering
a global day for Women at Chemring which occurred in September

Early Careers colleagues form an increasing proportion ol our population and
n 2022 we welcomed over BO graduates and apprentices into our businesses
in the UK. The UK wide Early Careers Development programme, which was
launched in year, complements the technical development provided through
each business unit by providing early leadership and skills development.

Listening to our colleagues is a key pillar of our approach to developing the
Chemring culture. As the non-executive director with respoasibility for
employee engagement on behalf of the Board and as Chair of the
Remuyneration Committee, Launie Bowen again met with groups of colleagues
across Chemring tc hear their experiences of working at Chermring These
sessions also provide the opportunity for Laurie to share with colleagues the
work of the Board This year these groups included colleagues at all levels
from operators to the senior leadershup teams at Chemring Countermeasures
in Toone. Tennessee, and at Chemring Energetic Dewices in Downers Grove,
lhmois. The groups Laurie met were very positive about their experiences

of working at Chemring and were particularly upbeat about the different
activities and events now possible since the easing of CV-19 restrictions.

Once again Laune was able ta gather input as to how we can continue to
develop, and colleagues prowded clear and constructive input on areas of
additional foeus which are baing acted on.

Read more on pages 50 to 56

GOVERMNANCE AND ETHICS

'n recent years significant effort has been placed on strenglhening the
governance and ethics across the Group, ensuring that we have the necessary
polictes and procedures in place to enable the business to operate with
integrity and transparency, and to the highest ethical standards

On 1 July 2022 we announced that we had been infarmed by the UK Serious
Fraud Office ("SFO") that they had closed their investigation into the activities
of the Group. its subsidiary Chemring Technology Solutions Limited and
associated persons. This investigation, which was announced on 18 January 2018,
followed a voluntary report by the Group. Chemring has co-operated fully
with the SFQ throughout its investigation and | am pleased that the matter is
now closed, with no fines paid or payable.

Chemving remains committed to conducting its business in an ethical and
responsible manner at all times, and in full compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations. We will continue to strengthen our palicies and procedures
to cnsurc that the Group's governance remain bt for purposc

The bedrock of our governance is our Code of Conduct and our Operational
Framework, both of which bind our purpose, values, behaviour, policies and
procedures, and provide the necessary governance to enable us to operate in
a safe, consistent and accountable way. Qur Ethics & Compliance Committee,
which meets regularly throughout the year and is chared by me. is responsible
for the aversight and monitoring of Chemring’s gavernance framework and
ethical business conduct and compliance.

Further details on the Committee’s activities during the year can be found on
page 57 of this report.

Good governance and ethical behaviour underpin our evolving sustainability
agenda and ensure that we operate safely, responsibiy and in compliance
with applicable legislation in ali of the jurisdictions in whith we operate

DIVIDENDS

The Board continues to recognise that dividends are an impartant
companent of total shareholder returns. The Board's objective is for a
growing and sustainable dividend and continues to target a medium-term
dividend cover of ¢.2.5 times underlying EPS, subject inter afio to maintaining
a strong financial position.

The Board is recommending a final dividend in respect of the year ended

31 October 2022 of 3.8p (2021 3.2p) per ordinary share. With the interim
dividend of 19p per share (2021: 1.6p), this resuMs in a tatal dwdend of 5.7p
{2021: 4.8p) per share, an increase of 19% on the prior year If approved, the
final dividend will be paig on 14 Aprit 2023 to shareholders on the register on
24 March 2023. In accordance with accounting standards, this final dividend
has not been recorded as a liabuity as at 31 October 2022

CURRENT TRADING AND OUTLOOK

Trading since the start of the current financial year has been in e with
expectations. The Board’s expectations for the Group’s 2023 performance are
unchanged. with the balance of its trading performance in 2023 expected to
have a greater bias towards the secand half of the financial year as a resuit of
the delays o order intake in 2022 following the WS Continuing Resofution.
The Group order book as at 31 October 2022 was £651m, of which £403m
is currently expected to be recognised as revenue in 2023, giving 86% order
cover, which pravides excellent visibdity for the full year.

With market-leading innovative technologies and services that are critical to
our cusiomers, together with the flexiblity provided by the Group's strong
balance sheet, the Board s confident that Chermring will continue to delwer
both organic and inorganic growth, balancing near-term performance with
long-term value creation. Chemeing’s long-term prospects remain strong.

Carl-Peter Forster
Chairman
13 December 2022
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MARKET OVERVIEW

CHANGING MARKET DYNAMICS

Chemring is an international technology company,
and we have a significant crganisational footprint
in the US, the UK, Europe and Australia. Recent
geopolitical and technology trends are rapidly
reshaping many defence markets, with Russia's
invasion of Wkraine having a profound impact

on defence spending and priorities, including likely,
accelerated NATO expansion.

Simultaneously with this new era of defence spending in Europe, the US is
increasing its investment and action to strengthen its position towards an
assertive China with its own extensive defence and military modermisation
programmes, Alongside the gh-intensity, kinematic, conflict between Russia
and Ukraine, sub-threshold "grey-zone” activity — including the extensive

use of digial-based threats eg cyber-attacks and disinformation campaigns,
continue 1o be prevalent. The Group’s diverse and niche capabilities make

it well placed to support our customers abilities to address this continuum
of current and emerging threats.

UNITED STATES

TOTAL SPEND

2021 Uss801bn
2020 US$778bn
2019 U5%$734bn
08 US$682bn

Source SIPRI

OUR POSITION

Our US-based rountermeasures business is the market leader in expendable
infra-red ("IR") pyrotechnic decoys that protect airborne and naval assets from
guided missiles, whereas our US energetics business has a strong position in
the design, development and manufacture of precision engineered devices for
distinct aerospace and defence applicatians including space and missiles

WV are atso the largest proviger of advanced chemical and biological sensors
to the US DoD, and supply and sustain ground-penetrating radar systems for
the Husky vehicle. Additianally. our Roke USA business is driving a campaign
to leverage Roke's UK capabilities far addressing US, mission-critical, land
electronic warfare (“EW™) requirements with growing budgets.

MARKET TRENDS

The US continues to represent the world's largest defence market, and

at US$813bn President Biden's 2022 national defence and security budget
request is the largest ever. The US Dol's element of this overall request is
US$773bn, with the addiuonal LS$4Cbn being used to fund defence-related
activities at the Department of Energy. the Federal Bureau of Investigation
and other agencies.

12 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

The Indo-Pacific region is cemented as the priority theatre for the US DoD,
with China representing the greatest military challenge. The US's response to
this challenge is seeing a major emphasis on preparing for peer to peerlnear-peer
competition in the region, with a consequent shift away from counter-insurgency
doctrines and czpabilities.

There are also plans to increase the US presence in Europe to address

the acute threat from Russia, and partnerships with NATO allies will form
part of this response to increased Russian aggression. US modernisation
priorities were already geared toward great power competition before
Russia's invasion of Ukraine, and these investments will now be accelerated.

OUR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

Our US businesses cantinue to work under 3 Continuing Resolution, which
brings with it a Jevel of risk. However. the US's strong focus on advanced
capability enablers and R&D can create opportunities for us to deploy
Group-wide capabilites and technologies particularly in the customer
priorities of space, hypersonic technology. EW. sensors, biotechnclogy,
artificial intelligence (“Al”), cyber and quantum computing

Finally, the advanced capabiiities of the F-35 Lightning 11 is well suited to
highly contested airspaces and our contribution te this core air platform's
countermeasures suite supports our keadership position in this capability area.

LINK TO STRATEGY (see page 24)

UNITED KINGDOM

TOTAL SPEND
won £50bn

2020 L4760
2019 £45bn

2018 £42bn
Source SIPRI

OUR POSITION

In the UK, the Group through our Roke business unit, has a significant role

in the design, development and supply of innovative solutions in EVV, sensors,
communications, cyber and Al, for national security and defence customers
in particular.

Our UK countermeasures business is the world leader in protecting air and
naval forces fram the threal posed by guided missiles, through the design,
development and supply of radic frequency (“RF") and IR pyrotechnic decoys,
while our UK energetics business has a critical role in the design, manufacture,
assembly, testing and through-life support of advanced energetic progducts for
defence, security and commercial markets.



MARKET TRENDS

2021's "tntegrated Review of Security, Defence, Development and Foreign
Policy”, and the accompanying “Defence Comsmand Paper” and the “Defence
and Security lndustriat Strategy”, autline how national advantage through
Science and Technology ("S&T™) is central to UK defence and security policy.
For the faur-year period from November 3020 to 2024 an addivonal £24.1bn
has been allocated to defence, with this allocation being part of a multi-year
setilemnent to invest in pioneering technology in areas such as cyber, Al,
data-science, Electronic ¥Warfare ("EW"), uncrewed/autonamous systems
and space.

By means of an example. digital integration across all defence domains will be
key and a £1.5bn investment will be provided over the next decade to build
and sustain 2 "Digital Backbone™ that will be part of underpinning armed
forces modernisation. An investment of some £500m will be made in Cyber
and Electro-Magnetic Activities ("CEMA") to enhance the LIK's overall
capabdities in this envronment, with £200m also provded over ten years

to defiver an enhanced land £VV and signal intelligence capability for the army.

Additionally, Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has fostered broad support for more
tong-term defence investment as part of adapting to a mare competitive and
riskier world.

OUR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

For Chemring, the UK Ministry of Defence ("UK MOD") accounts for
less than 10% of Greup revenues, however, it is an important partner

for deveioping and qualifying new products, a role that will gain increased
significance as new capability priorities mature.

The enhanced focus on S&T, Al, data science and autonomy as set out in the
integrated Review. with the creation of new military and secunty constructs that
are data and intelligence driven, will enlarge the opportunity space for Roke
to deploy its unrivalled capabilities to address these next-generation technology
requirements. Lastly, as the sole-source supplier of countermeasures to the
UK's F-35 Lightning Il fleet, Chemring 15 well placed to benefit from the UK
MOD's dectared plans to increase the UK F-35 fleet size beyond the initial
tranche of 48 aircraft afready on order.

LINK TO STRATEGY (sce page 24)

EUROPE

GLOBAL SALES

% of Chemring’s glotal sales (2018 - 2022)
UK 30%
USA 51%
Europe 12%

Asia Pacific 6%
Middle East and rest of the world 1%

OUR POSITION

Although the Group continues to vie with highly capable competitors
and national champians in Europe, we have succeeded in selling
countermeasures, EW systems and improvised explosive device ("IED™)
detectors 10 several European customers including Germany, France, ltaly
and Spain. Additionally, our Norwegian based business provides energetic
materials to many leading prime contractors across the region.

MARKET TRENDS

Russia's invasion of Ukraine is driving a dramatic change n the European
geostrategic landscape, with Sweden and Finfand formally set to end decades
of neutrality and join NATO joming NATO is also under debate in several
ather European countries that are presently outside the albance.

Significant growth in European defence budgets is also being signalled, with
countries looking 10 make ingreased capital invesiments to deter and protect
their national interests. Seven £uropean countries — Belgium, Germany, Italy,
Morway. Poland. Romania and Sweden — have already announced their plans
to increase defence budgets given the invasion, targeting at least the 2% GDP
NATO threshold, and several other countries including Firdand. Latvia and
The Netherlands have indicated they will follow suit in the near term.

France has announced it will review its Loi de Programmation ("Programming
Law") owing to the changed geopolitical situation, and a new era of German
foreign and security policy has been heratded with the creatian of a special
fund of €100bn to be spent on defence procurement and 4 commitment to
allacate mare than 2% of German GDP to defence.

OUR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES

The medwm-term outlook for the European market is positive, and several
opportwnities for our niche capabilities can be anticipated. Against the new
geostrategic backdrop, the Group will continue to support the requirements
of European allied nations.

LINK TO STRATEGY (see page 24)

AUSTRALIA

QUR POSITION

Chemring’s in-country capabibities are founded on aur integral place in the
F-35 Lightning Il international countermeasures supply-chain. Chemring
Austrafia is the country's pre-eminent manufacturer and supplier of airhorne
countermeasures, and the modern Lara plant is the world’s most advanced
manufactoring facility for such products.

MARKET TRENDS .

An enduring emphasis on future great power competition in the Indo-Pacific
regon is driving increased Australian delence spending with a focus on force
readiness and capability modernisation. The Australia-United Kingdom-United
States ("AUKUS"} trilateral security allance of 2621 provides for co-operation
in advanced cyber, Al, autonomy, quantum, undersea, hypersonic and
counter-hypersanic, EW, innovation, and information sharing capabilities,

and can make an important contribution to strengthening the region's
security and stability

OUR CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES
With Chemring having an industrial presence in all three AUKLIS nations. the

Group 1s weli placed to respond to relevant opportunities resulting from the
pact, as well as other bi-lateral and tri-lateral co-operation praspects

LINK TO STRATEGY (see page 24)

"The Australia — United Kingdom — United States ("AUKUS")
partnership is maturing trilateral lines of effort within
critical defence and security capabilities induding undersea
capabilities, quantum technologies, Al and autonomy,
advanced cyber systems, hypersonic and counter-hypersonic
capabilities, EW, innovation and information sharing.”

The White House Briefing Statement

US President
5 April 2022
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

CREATING SUSTAINABLE VALUE AND
OPPORTUNITY FOR ALL OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Michael Ord
Group Chief Executive

“This has been a year of strong
operational and financial performance
across the Group. Our focus on building
a stronger, higher quality and more
resilient business has enabled us to
negotiate numerous near-term challenges
and the Group remains well placed to
maintain its delivery of sustainable
performance and growth.”

INTRODUCTION

The Group has delivered another year of good growth in 2022

This was achieved despite pandemic-refated operational and supply

chain challenges, higher energy costs. fabour market shoriages. increased
nflabon and the sgnificant disruptian within the US defence market caused
by the extended Continuing Resalution that delayed approval of the US
Government budget until the middle of March 2022

The current geopolitical uncertainty. brought about by both Russia’s invasion
of Ukraine and increased competition with China, has highlighted the essential
role that the defence industry plays in society. Delivering in support of our
customers and their critical needs has never been more important, and 1 am
again hugely grateful to all my colleagues across Chemring. The response of
our people and their families has been cutstanding and this team effort has
delivered results that exceeded our expectations at the start of the year

In response ta the current threat erwranment, defence spending 15 expected
to rise and with it we can expect to see strengthening demand for the
Group's capabilities. Partnerships and alliances, such as Five Eyes. AUKUS and
NATO, are seen as becoming increasingly important, and this is expected to
drive greater co-operation and alignment between allies. In particular, the
increased importance that is beng placed on Cyber and EW, information
advantage, intelligent networks and multi-domain integration, is expected to
maintain and accelerate demand for Roke's market-leading technologies

The Group is well pasittoned with a robust strategy and a relentless focus
on safety, operational excellence and growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ("ESG")

At Chemring our purpose is to help make the world a safer place, delivering
innovatve technologies and products that detect and defeat ever-changing
threats. Qur commitment ta protection goes beyond our customers 1t
embraces many different stakeholders including our people and our suppliers,
and it recogrises the need for us to contribute towards a sustainable future.

Rl Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

From an ESG perspective 2022 has seen us make further progress as we
proactively manage our sustainability agenda. Focus areas included health
and safety, diversity and inclusion, reducing climate change, and employee
weltbeing, As 2 business we are committed to building a sustainable campany
of which all our stakeholders can be provd. both now and in the future.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Safety 15 our core value, with the health, safety and wetlbeing of our
colleagues. their families, our customers and the communities in which
we cperate bemg our priority. The successful implementation of our
HSE strategy continues, as does our focus of achieving zero harm.

Our safety performance 1n terms of Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate
("TRIF"Y is currently at 0 78 which shows a shight increase when compared to
fast year's 0.67 but still below our annual limit of 1. The nature of most
injuries were either slips. trips and falls, or muscular skeletal type of events.
‘We are proud 1o report that during 2022 there were no injuries in
cannection with or arising from energetic events.

Qur HSE strategy this year has focused on three core areas of activity’

CONTROL OF MAJOR ACCIDENT HAZARDS

Over the last three years, we have implemented a number of processes to
enhance our focus in this area by ensuring we design. mantain and operate
to the highest standard. We continue to invest in modern processes and
technology 1o remove our employees from exposure 1O @nergetic hazards.
During the design of these pracesses we have plated more serutiny on the
application of process hazard analysis.

In 2019 we mandated that all Countermeasures & Energetics businesses
would need to tonduct regular reviews 1o identify the potential for major
process safety events. This year saw Lhe fourth iterabon of that review
process, with an increase in the number of hazard scenarics being identified
as the rigour of process hazard analysis matured. As a result of this maturing
process, we continue to deepen our undersianding of our residuaf risks and
throughout the year have 1aken steps to reduce these to a level as low as is
reasonably practicable.

INJURY REDUCTION

Injury prevention focuses on the reduction of injunes through the adoption of
safety as an inherent part of everything we do. Thisis enacted through safety
leadership, clear expectations, accountability and establishing a safety culture
that drives learning and improvemenl. not blame.

This year we consolidated our corporate reporting platform to capture
better understanding of root causes and increased levels of assurance. These
additional data peints will help our continued fotus an becomning a learning
organisation. This data has established trends regarding musculoskeletal
disorders due to the manual bandling nature of some of our processes
together with cuts to fingers and hands. The relevant businesses have
developed plans to reduce the risk of injuries and 1t is expected that this

will be reflected in future reporting.

HSE RISK MANAGEMENT

Safe delivery of our business continues through the management of risk and
is built around understanding cur hazards, and establishing clear expectations
and consistency Qur HSE Management System Framework Standard puts our
HSE policy into practice by setting standards on eight core elements across
the Group to drive a robust and common approach to the management of
MSE. Each business is audited every two years to ensure cempliance, with
high-priority non-compliances being reported and monitored at Executive
Committee level. The changes made last year to our Operational Assurance
Staterment process have helped the businesses focus on strengthening ther
processes within the HSE framework requirement, which in turn provides
useful insights when planning the Line of Defence 2 ("LOD2") audits.

Qur focus on injury prevention continues to place more emphasis on safety
measures for people working from home and their mental and emoticnal
wellbeing, and is now supported by the newly formed Group-wide Healthy
Workplace Sub-Committee.



REVENUE
+13%
(@]
2012 (443m
200 £392m

We measure our overall HSE performance to reflect both occupational safety
and process safety. In doing this we have multiple data points, one of which

is an external independent review of our safety culture. This year saw the
third review since 2018 by a team of specialist consultants from global subject
matter experts, ERM. The review, which was based on progress made

since 2018 and 2019, has highlighted good progress as we journey lowards
becoming a high reliability argamisation. in particutar the review confirmed
our businesses as approaching a Group-wide calculative status with robust
processes and systems generating data and signals around our high-hazard
operatians. The level of collaboration has also increased with many businesses
sharing best practice on a regular basis to help accelerate our performance.
all af which is supported by a positive tone from the top and underpinned

by risk-informed, visible and proactive safety leadership.

ENVIRONMENT

In 2022 we achieved a 7.3% carbon reduction in both scope 1 and 2
emissions as part of our ongoing commitment to becoming Carbon Neutral
by 2030. A key challenge for the Group's Sustainabitity Committee is to
manage our ESG-related risks — balancing both the near and longer-term
targets that were sel in FY21, with the need to continually look for ways

in which we can improve further.

FY22 sees the Group report far the first time under the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures ("TCFDC"). In addition, the Group has
commilted to further improve its non-mandatory disclosure and in July 2022
completed its first COP submission. By translating the TCFD recommendations
and piflars into actud! disclosure questions and a standardised annual format,
CDP provides investors and disclosers with a unique platform where the
TCFD Framework can be brought into real-world practice in a comparable
and consistent way.

As our disclosure increases, 5o has the need ta ensure that the data

that we report ic the market is accurate. We have now put in place an
auditable framewark for our emissions reduction activities, with external
subject matter experts appointed to verify the data and to report to the
Group's Audit Cammitiee,

Chemring is commutted to ensuring that we are able to attract and develop
an appropriately diverse workiorce. Qur programme of education for all
senior leaders continued in the first half of FY22 and was complemented
by a suite of DE&I training modules which form part of all development
programmes from Early Careers to Senior Leadership Team development
With a specific focus on gender diversity, the glabal Women at Chemrning
Comrruttee has been established to encourage local women's networks in
each business unit alongside delivering a global day for Women at Chemring
in the second half of the year,

2022 PERFORMANCE

It is pleasing 1o report a strong set of results for the financial year despite

a number of operational and market headwinds. This performance, which
was ahead of the Board's expectations at the start of the year, demonstrated

CAPITAL ALLOCATION POLICY

DIVIDENDS

Recognising that dividends are a
key part of total shareholder
return, The Group targets a
medium-term dividend cover of
¢.2.5 times underlying EPS, subject
inter alig to maintaining a strong
financial position

INVESTMENT CAPEX

Caontinued investment to support
organic growth through enhanced
capacity and automation to drive
margin improvement

NUMBER OF ENERGETIC EVENTS
CAUSING HARM OR INJURY

Nil
2022 0

021 2

continued progress against our stratepic goal of balancing short-term
performance with longer-term value creation.

Revenue was up 13% to £442.8m (2021: £393.3m). underlying operating
profit was up 1% to £64.0m (2021 £57 5m) and statutory profit before tax
was up 6% ta £51.8m (2021; £48.8m). Underlying earnings per share was up
20% to 20.2p (2021 16.9p)

The underlying operating profit from continuing operations of £64.0m

{2021; £57 Sm) resulted in an underlying operating margin of 14.5% (2021 14.6%),
achieving the mid-teen Group margin cbjective that we set out in early 2019,
The flat margin pnimarily reflects the impravement in operational exetution
in Countermeasures & Energetics offset by the operating expense investment
in Roke Academy. Roke Futures and Roke USA.

In the UK, the markets for EW. Cyber and data science capabilities, in which
Roke is a teading participant. have remained extremely buoyant in the period.
Roke delivered double digit growth in orders. revenue and underlying
eperating profit and has maintainad strong rmargins despite increased
investment in peaple, infrastructure and praduct development

Roke's order intake during the year was up 53% to £168m (2021: £106m)
with revenue for the year exceeding £100m for the first time. A significant
order. Hyperion, valued at £26m was awarded under the Serapis framework
contract with the UK Government. it will develop the next generation of
phased array radar technologies to address the challenges associated with
hypersonic missile defence.

In the last four years successful execution of its strategy has seen Roke double
in size. Its headcount has increased from ¢.400 at the end of 2018 to over
800 today, driven in part by the success of its graduate and apprenticeship
schemes, which saw 71 new joiners in September 2022, Building on this
success, Roke has invested in the launch of the Roke Academny. This unique
offering will be a centre of excellence for learning and development and is
designed to target the recruitment and development of undiscovered talent,
and the enhancement of skillsets within the business

In order to drive scalable growth and unlock future potential, Roke has
combined its Public Sector, Industry and Cubica business units to create
Roke Futures, which will sit atongside the National Secunty and Defence
business units. In doing so. it has brought tagether its market-leading skill
sets in Consulting, Intelligent Sensing, Situational Awareness and Autonomy.
It will focus an building world-class capabilities and the development of new
inteflectual property and unigue technologies in suppori of customers in
UK Central Government & Law Enforcement, Aerospace, Digital Health
and Energy rmarkets.

The acquisition of Geotlect Limited in December 2022 creates further
opportunities for Chemring to enhance and further accelerate growth in

its Roke business. With demand for open source intelligence ("OSINT") and
commercially curated intelligence growing at 28% CAGR, Roke's customers
require an exponential increase in capability to achieve digital advantage
against complex threats.

;

SHARE BUY BACK

Low risk, high return on
investment option for excess
cash which creates value for
long-term holders

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
Focus on Sensors & Information,
in particular Roke, technology bolt-
on acquisition targets to accelerate
growth and

corparate devefopment
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEWY continued

2022 PERFORMANCE contirued

The acquisition will enable Roke to buld on its Intelligence as a Service {"Roke
laa5™) proposition by utilising the intelligence gathering and analysis capabalities
of Geollect, and enhancing their already impressive processing capabilities
with Roke's innovative approach to Al, machine learning and data saence,

The strategic goal for Roke is to cantinue to focus on growth across all its
business areas in the UK, and to leverage international markets, especially the
LS. to give Roke a wider international presence.

Roke USA continues 1o support the custamer with 2 view to securing further
EW orders fram this patentially sigmificant market. We conlinue W Invest in
establishing our Roke USA business and during the year established a sales
and engineering office in the LS. and hired staff with the required security
clearance This investment has allowed us to support ongoing customer
demonstrations and field trials. Customer feedback remains very positive
albeit anticipated follow-on orders have been delayed as a result of budget
restrictions caused by the US Centinuing Resclution, which was lifteg n
March 2022

Also in the LS aur sensors business continved its strategic focus on building
winning sclutions to convert current US Programs of Record into fow rate
and full rate production, and on exploiting a growing opportumty n
bio-security and surveillance. In a post-pandemic and contested world,
governments are becoming increasingly concerned by the nisks of both
naturally occurring and engineered biological threats Advances in synthetuc
biclogy now give our national adversaries the capability to deliberately
engineer orpanisms to create hazards and cause harm.

Chemring’s experence and expertise in fielding biclogical agent detectors
for its LS DoD customers, covared below, provides a strong platform fram
which te pursue apportunitees «n existing and adjacent markets, such as
homeland secunty. Chemring continues to invest in its Mobius R&D project,
which aims (o develop a deployable and cost-effective solution for the
identification of biological threats.

Chemring is also working with the US Department of Homeland Security
Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction ("CWMOD") Cffice to design,
develop and deliver an aerosol bio-sensor that can detect, dassily. and provide
presumptive identification in real time of pathogenic bio-threats in both indoor
and outdoor environments. Chemring's technology dramatically shortens the
time taken to identily the bio-threal, which s critical to rapidly implementing
an effective response. Chemring's product is also considerably less expensive
to procure and operate than current equipment, thus allowing the custamer
to afford greater unit coverage while remaining within their budget.

Key developments in the year on the major US Programs of Record are
summarised below.

The Enhanced Maritime Biological Detector ("EMBD"), an automated sensor
to rapidly detect, collect, identify and sample airborne biological warfare
agents, has seen a positive start to its full rate production phase The value
of this sole source framework contract is up to USEI9m with an estimated
completion date of December 2027. A further delivery order of US$16m
covering FY23 deliveries was receved in the year.

The sole source joint Bialogical Tactical Detection System (“JBTDS")
program is progressing as planned through the Engineering & Manufacturing
Development {"EMD") phase and we are now working with the customer
ta determine timings for the program Lo transition to Low Rate Initial
Production {"LRIP™Y and Full Rate Production (“FRP") thereafter The rext
customer procurement decision is now expected in H1 2023,

The Aerosol and Vapar Chemical Agent Detector ("AVCAD™) program has
now completed its EMD phase. The next customer procurement decision
point is now alsc expected to be in H1 2023. Chemring remains one of twa
contractors currently selected for this competitive program.
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Production continued as expected on the Husky Mounted Detection System
("HMOS") prograrm with custorner deliveries on schedule throughout the
year. Following a delay in the placement of the annual defivery order, expected
in the first half of the year. our US Sensars team actively engaged with the
US DoD to gain a better understanding of short and mediurm-term demand
for HMDS. Following withdrawal from Alghanistan, the US Army budget is
realigning its budget priorities from a focus on counter-insurgency operations
o the threat of peer 10 peerfnear-peer competition. This pivot is driving a
re-alignment of DoD funding griorities and our expectations are that the
customer is working to extend the existing US$200m IDIQ contract for an
additionat five years as the HMDS program transitions to sustainment mode.
We continue 1o work with the customer to determine funding levels and
timings moving forward.

The future focus far the Sensors & Information sector continues to be an
expanding the Group's product, service and capability offerings in the areas
of national security, Al and machine learning, tactical efectronic warfare and
information security. and securing peositions on the US DoD ChemiBio
Programs of Record. We will continue 1o actively explore cpportunities to
expand and accelerate the Sensors & Information sector capabilities and
offerings. both by leveraging opportunities in adjacent markets and through
further bolt-on acguisitions.

In FY22 the focus for our Countermeasures & Energetics sector was to
continue strengthening and protecting our niche, world-teading positions
by continuously improving our technclogical and operational base. and by
working closely with our customers in the development of new solutions.
to meet emerging needs,

In the UK, Chemring Countermeasures UK ("CCM UK") signed a Strategic
Partrering Arrangement (“SPA™) with the Royal Air Force, Defence
Equipment & Suppoart {"DE&S™) and the Defence Science and Technology
Laboratary {"D3TL"). to ensure long-term prowision of optimum air platform
protecucn, including the exploitation of current capabilities and the
development of new technology This ten-year SPA will provide a framewark
for development, allowing CCM UK 1o prowide the best solutions for
protecuion of all LK fast jet, transport and helicopter plaiforms fitted with
self-defence systemns. Where appropriate, it will also alow CCM UK to make
such decoy technology available to a wide range of allies and partner nations,
increasing survivability of arrcraft and aircrew.

The iwvestment in the expansion and autamation of our Tennessee facility to
meet the expected demand for airborne countermeasures continued during

the year. Having completed construction work of the buildings in FY21, FY22
saw the commissioning process progress through characterisation and testing
as production gradually ramped up. We expect customer First Article testing
wAits to be manufactured and shipped ta the customer in the first half of £FY23.

Cur niche energetic devices businesses enjoyed another strong year of
customer demand and improving operational execution. Order intake for the
year was up 37% to £137m (2021, £100m). The speciaiised and high reliability
nature of our products was demonstrated in May 2022 when Boeing
launched its passenger spacecraft, CST-100 Startiner, to the International
Space Station ("I1S57). Chemring provided varicus mission-critical components
on the Atlas V, as well as components for the landing sequence for Sarliner's
return home, all of which were manufactured at our Chicago Facility and

all of which were critical to the success of the missicn

The future focus for the Countermeasures & Energetics sector remains on
safeguarding and growing the Group's market-leading positions in riche
markets through the modernisation and automation of our manulacturing
facilities, and in impraving our competitiveness through investment in lean
manufacturing capabilities and developing new products and technologies.



The Group's order book at 31 October 2022 was (651m (2021; £501m),
of which approximately £403m is scheduled for delivery during 2023,
representing cover of approximately 86% (2021: 84%) of expected 2023
revenue. On a constant Currency basis using the 2021 closing exchange
rates the order bock would be £604m. The remaining increase since

31 October 2021 is attributable to strong order intake at Roke and
across the Countermeasures & Energetics sector.

This leaves £248m of the order baok to be delivered in FY24 and beyond. At
this stage. this pravides apprexamately 40% cover of expected FY24 revenue.

Net debt at the year end was £7.2m (2021: £26 Gm), the decrcase since
31 October 2021 beng largely attributable to strong operating cash generation
offset by the investment in capital projects in the year. Strong operating cash

inflow of £9Q.1m [2021: £80.0m) represented 109% (2021: 105%) of EBITCA.

Our three-year rolling average cash conversion has been 108% (2021: 107%).
showing that the ongoing focus on working capital improvements is delivering
long-teren. sustainable posiuve results.

CULTURE

Chemring people are at the heart of our business. Engaged, motvated,
empaowered and appropriately skilled colleagues are integral to our success
which is founded in the quality of cur people. It 15 imperative that we are able
to suskain an environment where we have the rght people, in the right piace,
at the rght time, with the right skills working in a safe, healthy and inclusive
erwvironment. We continue to invest in our people at all levels acrass every
location and function creating strong foundations for our future success.

Our investment in nurturing a culture built on our care values of Safety,
Excellence and Innovation, continued throughout 2022 and s firmly embedded
in every part of the business. Our determined approach of Global Voice,
Local Accent supports year-on-year progress and we continue Lo focus

on developing an inctusive, respectful and diverse culture.

2022 saw the gradual easing of the pandemic restrictions in every geography.
This enabled renewed focus on bringing colleagues together both sacially and
for professional networking and sharing of ideas. Alongside this we have been
able 1o meet with custamers and third parties at all cur lecations for the

first time in nearly two years and to re-establish international travel enabling
colleagues 10 reconnect face to face. Whikst | have been incredibly impressed
at how the whole business has been able to embrace remote working
protocols and virtual interactions, there is no substitute for face-10-face
discussions to further both pur approach to operational excellence and to
continue the development of our culture,

Our online Emplayee Voice tocl which measures employee sentiment in real
time, continues to underpin our approach to measuring how far we have
come i achieving our cultural aspirations. Dashboards help business units
understand how colleagues are feeling and where we need to focus.
Farticipation with the too! and positivity towards the key cultural themes
continue to show improvements throughout 2022 despite the challenges

of the past two years and this positive trend is a testarment Lo the hard work
of the business unit leadership teams in ensuring each business pravides a
positive and engaging workplace.

Making sure that we have an appropriately diverse pool of talent within
the organisation 15 a key enabler and our wider focus on DE&I continued
across 2022

This year has seen both formal and informal networking groups developing
in each business unit These are designed to support and connect colleagues
with shared characterstics or interests ang complement the more formal
work we are doing around education and awareness of diversity and inchsion.
MNotably in 2022 every business has estabiished a Women's Network to
support our female colleagues at all levels and » all roles. Wemen make up
30% of the Chernring population overall These networks are part of our
cngoing focus on this key population and support both engagerment and
future success af female colleagues.

DISCOVFR MORE ABOUT
OUR CULTURE

CHEMRING WOMEN’S
INCLUSIVITY NETWORK

14 September 2022 marked Chemring's first International Women's
Inclusivity Network (WIN@Chemring) day. Celebrateq across
Chemring, the day was an opportunity to raise awareness of the
issues surrounding gender diversity in the workplace. It was also a
day te cetebrate some of the great things going on locally across the
business in support of and organised by the women of Chemring,

The network is alt about building 2 community locally while sharing
great ideas and knowledge across the Group. The intention of this
event is that it provides a focus for the women's network groups in
each part of the business — both new and existing networks — and
to leave a legacy that continues far beyond the September event.

These networks form part of the established strategy and framework around
DE&I at Chemring which started in 2021 with a programme of ensuring
corporate and personal awareness of the importance of a diverse population,
an inclusive culture and systems that help support equality and drive equity.
The pragramme of warkshops put in place for ali our senior leaders and
managers in 2021 continued across 2022 and was extended 1o indude
first-time line managers and our Early Careers colleagues.

We will continue to focus throughout 2023 on developing an inclusive
and dynamic work environment for all our colleagues in support of aur
business goals and to ensure that we continue to invest in cur people.

CONCLUSION

Despite & chailenging macro-gconomic enviranment, | am delighted with

the financial and operational progress that cantinues to be made across the
Group a5 we buitd a stronger, higher quality and technology focused business,
We maintain our relentless focus an fiving our shared values of Safety, Excellence
and Innovation, and in doing 50 we are driving our collective purpose: delivering
innovative protective technologies to help make the world a safer place.

I would like to thank all my colleagues across Chemring for their determination,
hard work and support. The progress made over the past few years would
not have been possible without their collective efforts.

With market-leading technalogies and services that are critical to our customers,
our niche markel positions and our strong balance sheet, | look to the future
with excitement and confidence in our continued success.

Michael Ord
Group Chief Executive
13 December 2022
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BUSINESS MODEL

CREATING VALUE

We focus on providing innovative capability solutions that reliably
meet our customers’ critical requirements on time, and every time.

YWHAT WE DO KEY STRENGTHS

INVEST IN PEOPLE, PROCESSES EMPLOYEES SUPPLIER COLLABORATION

AND PRODUCTS We have a highly skilled and knowledgeable We maintain dose relationships and
Chemring is a technology business workforce operating in specialist capabiity areas. collaborate closely with our suppliers 1o
with approximately 2,300 employees Their expertise is critical to us delivering enhance customer value.

worldwide. We invest in our future by innovative sclutions to our customers’ challenges.

developing the capabilities of our people,

maintaning safe and efficient operations

and developing next-generation solutions CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS FACILITES
1o meet our customers’ current and We enjoy long-term, high quality relationships We are investing in the resilience of our facilities,
emerging needs. with defence and intelligence customers in the including increasing automation to deliver our

member countries of the multilateral "Five Eyes”  products safely, securely and efficiently.
{the US, the UK, Canada, Australia and New

BIDDING AND WINNING ORDERS Zealand) zlliance. We have opportunity-specific
We operate in niche segmenis of the relationships in selected other markets where
international defence and security market. we can apply our capabilities.

Our focused investments ensure we
are competitively positioned to offer
advanced and dependable technology 061‘
solutions 1o meet our customers needs, co“o
and we continually lock far new growth o oRS & 'NFORM4
opportunities to deploy our capabilities. \31"' 5&\"5 1'7°~
In Countermeasures & Energetics, we O"
are the world's largest supplier of o@ SAFETY
countermeasures, through our leading <
technology and manufactyring position. c.,v
Qur niche energetics businesses -9
X
o
&

e,
¢ »
&

4
%

,4‘3
23
%

win orders based on the technical
performance and superiority of our
products. In Sensors & Information,
we maintain our leadership position in
multiple technologies to develop
differentiated solutians for meeting ever !II.QON ;‘g\:éz.?
more deranding customer requirements. [e)

e <

2.

&

INVEST

Z
DELIVER SOLUTIONS Z %
We focus on providing innovatwe and ’.’,
competitive solutions that meet our A’O
customer needs efficiently and on time. A
In addition to our capital and technology
investments, we alse invest mn continugus o
improvement — a key element of @o OOO
minimising the cycle time from order '°< N;.G
. & R nE® of
to delivery EASURES & E %‘\
Qur ESG pillars
Qur segiors

Qur values
Our strengths
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OUR VALUES

SAFETY

We place safety at the heart of

everything we do.

- We ensure we operate safely and
manage risk.

- We promote best safety praciices across
our operations and beyond

- We are commitied to ensuring we
minimise our impact on the environment.

EXCELLENCE

We are focused on ensuring we

consistently meet high standards in all

that we do.

« A culture of continuous improvement
18 core to owr approach

- We act to ensure that we maintain
and deliver operational excellence.

- We always deliver on our promises,

INNOVATION

We create warld-class solutions and

develop warld-class thinking.

- We inspire imaginative solutions.

- We work together to turn wdeas into
technologies and solutions

- We value collaboration and
sharing experience.

Read mere about our sustainability
on pages 37 ta 3%

OUTCOMES SUSTAINABLE
STAKEHOLDER VALUE
INVESTMENT CUSTOMERS

Qur investment in property. plant and equipment
in the year totalled £38.5m. In addition, we
invested £79.7m n product development, of which
£69.7m was custamer-funded. The capacity
expansion project at the Tennessee
rountermeasures site continues to pragress on
schedule and, exciuding significant investments such
as this. we aim for investment to at least match
depreciation and amortisaticn each year.

INVESTMENT

£118.2m

{2021 £88 9m)

CASH FLOW

We aim to convert 100% of underlying EBITDA
underlying operating cash flow over the medium
terrn, accepting that timing differences will arise at
individval period ends. in 2022, the conversian
ratio was 109%, reflecting strong operating cash
generation and the continued focus on rmanaging
working capital

UNDERLYING CASH CONVERSION

109%

(2021 105%)

DIVIDENDS

For the year ended 31 October 2022. our dividend
will be 5.7p per share (2021: 4.8p), an increase of
19% on the prior year, subject to the approval of
the final dwdend at the Annual General Meeting.

DIVIDENDS

5.7p

(+19%)

CLIMATE CHANGE

Our cuslamers are governments, prime
contractors and ather commercial businesses.
We provide innovative solutions to satisfy
their requirements.

INVESTORS

We return money ta our shareholders through
dividends and, through successfully executing our
sirategy. we grow the value of their investment
over time.

EMPLOYEES

The skills and experience of our employees

are essental for us delvering our customer
commitments. We provide development
opportunities and a safe, stimulating and rewarding
waorking environment for all of our people.

SUPPLIERS

We form strong relationships with our suppliers
who partner with us to deliver innovative solutions
and are supported cansequently through our
procurement of their goods and services.

COMMUNITIES

We make a positive contribution to the
communities where our people hve and work
by actively supporting the development of tocal
ecanaric prosperity through providing high
value jobs

GOVERNMENTS

Through paying taxes in the jurisdictions in which
we operate, we support the development of public
infrastructure and services such as healthcare,
transport systems, poliang and education,

Read more about aur stakeholders
an pages 21 10 13

We recagnise the profound impact of climate change. We are actively seeking ways to reduce our
effects on the environment and build resilience to climate change by focusing on energy, waste and
understanding the impact of global clirate change on our operatons.

Read more en pages 42 o 49
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

RESPONDING TO OQUR
STAKEHOLDERS NEEDS

Section 172 (1} of the Companies Act 2006 requires the directors to act in in discharging aur section 172 duties the directars have regard to the factors
the way they consider. in good faith, would most likely promote the success set cut above and any other factors which we consder refevant to the

of the company for the benefit of ity members as a whole. In doing so. decision being made We acknowledge that every decision we make will not
section 172 requires the directors to have regard, amongst other matters, abways result in 2 positive outcome for all of cur stakeholders. However, by

to the: considering the Company’s purpase, vision and values, together with qur

strategic objectives and having a process in place for decision making, we

- likely consequences of any decisio :
cly conseq ¥ e v n the long term: aim to ensure that our decisions are considered and proportionate

- interests of the company’s employees,
Further details on how the Board operates and reflecis stakeholder views in
its detision making are set out in the corporate povernance report on pages
80 to 89, Further mformation on how the Board has had regard 1o section
- impact of the company’s operations an the community and environment; 172 matiers during the year can also be found in the following sections of the
- desirability of the company mantaining a reputation for high standards annual report:

of business conduct; and

- need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers,
customers and others;

- need to act fairly as between members of the company.

SECTION 172 FACTOR KEY EXAMPLES PAGE
CONSEQUENCES OF ANY DECISION IN THE - Cur purpose in action
LONG TERM - Investment case 8
- Business maodel 18
- Markel overview 12
- Strategy 24
INTERESTS OF EMPLOYEES - Cur purpose in action 6
- Stakeholder engagement 21
- Health and safety 40
- Qur people 50
FOSTERING BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS WITH - Business model 18
SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND OTHERS - Stakeholder engagement . 21
- Market overview 12
~ Strategy 24
- Ethics and business conduct 57
IMPACT OF OPERATIONS ON THE - Introduction to sustainability 37
COMMUNITY AND THE ENVIRONMENT - Health and safety 40
- Environment 42
- QOur people 50
MAINTAINING HIGH STANDARDS CF - Ethics and business conduct 57
BUSINESS CONDUCT - Corporate governance repart ac
ACTING FAIRLY BETWEEN MEMBERS - Investment case 8
- Stakehalder engagerment 21
- Corporate gavernance report 80

10 Chemring Group PLC Annuai report and accounts 2022



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Board recognises that positive interaction and collaboration with ati of
our stakeholders is essential to the delivery of sustainable long-term value.
Effective engagement allows the Board 1o understand relevant stakeholder
views On material issues which may impact the business and helps to infarm
the Board's decisian making,

CUSTOMERS

WHY WE ENGAGE

Ersuring that we puvide innovative solutlons that meet our customers’
needs, efficiently and on time, is crucial to the delivery of our strategy and the
lang-term success of the business. Understanding our customers' needs can
oniy be athieved through regular interaction and cellaboration,

We engage with a wide range of stakehotders at the Board level. at a Group
level and within our business units. In understanding what matters to our
stakeholders we are able to take this into account when setting our strategy
and also in planning our day-to-day business operations. The table below sets
out how we engage with our key stakeholders.

EMPLOYEES

WHY WE ENGAGE

Qur people are at the heart of our business. They are critical to the delivery
of our strategy and the future growth of the business. We recognise the
importance of attracting, developing and retaining the best talent, and the
need to provide a safe and inclusive environment where individuals can thrive,

HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGES

- Regular maetings. teaming arrangements and engagement at all levels of aur
customers’ organisations

- Parinering with customers on a broad range of technology and product
deveiopment programmes

- Participating in industry forums and working groups, and hosting customer
visits to our sites

- Attending and exhibiting at selected trade shows, which enables high-level
interaction and the opportunity to brief customers on key product
developments and other initiatives

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

- The Group Chief Executive and President of our US aperatians support
our businesses through regular nteractions with senior customer
representatives, and provide feedbark to the Board

- External market updates and customer views are obtained to support the
Board's strategy review

- Qur US Gavernment Security Committee works closely with the
US Gavernment to ensure thal we operate in full compliance with our
Special Security Agreement and updates the Board on a regular basis

- Site visits enable the Board to develop a deeper understanding of our
products, technical capabilities and customer requirements

HOW WE MONITOR
- Order intake

- R&D expenditure

- Capital investment

- Process safety events

OUTCOMES

= Customer-focused inputs into the Group strategy

- Innovation and investment driven by customer requirernents
- Collaborative, strategic customer relationships

- Improved custormer satisfaction

LINK TG STRATEGY 1 2 3

HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGES

- Regular all-hands meetings and team briefings

- Works councils, trade unions, representative bodies and forums which
support and connect people with shared characteristics or interests

- Qur real-time employee engagement too!, “Employee Voice", enables
employees to pravide immediate and anonymous feedback on
developments within the business

- Publication of @ maonthly video blog by the Group Chiel Executive,
regularly featuring other members of the senior leadership team

- Publication of regular company notices and the n-house magazine,
Chemring-l, which features news ang events from across the Group

- Development programmes and suecession planning

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

- Monthly reporting to the Board on health and safety matters

- Qutput from Employee Voice 15 regularly provided to the Board and
supplemented by periodic culture “check-ins” facilitated by an external
consyltant

- Direct engagement with the Board's nominated non-executive director,
Laurie Bowen, through meetings with colleagues from across the business
and at different levels of the organisation

- Board engagement with a wide range of employees during collective and
individual site visits throughout the year

- Momination Commitiee reviews diversity initiatives, senior leadership
succession plans and talent development programmes

HOW WE MONITOR

- Employee Vaice participation and positivity scores
- Safety performance indicators

- Diversity statistics

- CEQ pay ratic

- External ESG ratings

QUTCOMES

- Develapment of people strategy and related investment
- Safe, healthy and motivated warkforce

- Focus on diversity angd inclusion

- Improved employee retention

- Attractive prapasition for potential new employees

LINK TQ STRATEGY 1 2 1
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STAKEHOQLDER ENGAGEMENT continued

SUPPLIERS

WHY WE ENGAGE

We rely on our suppiiers Lo provide us with quality raw matenals, products
and services. Constructive engagement ensures that our suppliers are able to
meet our high expectations on safety. quality, value, defivery performance and
ethical business conduct. VWe recognise that prompt payment terms and
strong suppher relanonships are important in building & long-term, sustainable
and supportive supply chain

SHAREHOLDERS

WHY WE ENGAGE

The continued support of our shareholders is something that we value
greatly. We therefore recognise the importance of providing all of our
shareholders with regular updates on the Group's aperational and financial
perfarmance, strategy and future prospects. and ensuring that shareholder
views are taken into consideration in relation to major developments in
the business.

HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGE

- Day-to-day interaction with suppliers is conducted largely by supply chain
managerment ieams within our businesses

- Long-term agreements are entered nto with our key suppliers, which
provide visibility on future requirements and emable us to agree
performance targets to assist with our drive for cantinuous iImprovement

- All suppliers are issued with cur Supplier Code of Conduct, which sets aut
the standards of ethical business conduct we expect of them

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

- Business continuity and supply chain dependency reviews included within
the internal audit programme

- Reports on supplier due diligence and compliance reviewed by the Ethics &
Comphance Committee

- Annual consideration ang approval of the Modern Slavery Act Statement

HCOW WE MONITOR
- Payments made within payment terms

- Statistics on issue of the Supplier Code of Conduct and inclusion
of suppliers in the Chemring Compiiance Portal

OUTCOMES

- Collaborative, long-term relationships

- Delivery of safe and reliable products and services 1o customers
- Agpropriate working capital management

LINK TO STRATEGY 1 2 3
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HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGES

- Engagerment with shareholders predominantly led by the Group Chief
Executive, the Chiel Financial Cificer and the Group Director of
Corpoerate Affairs

- Publication of our interirm and full year cesults statements, along with
regular trading updates throughout the year

~ Sustaimability Report published on our website

- Face-to-face meetings or video calls following the publication of any
significant news update or at the request of the shareholder

- Formal presentations and structured roadshows for our institutional
investors following the publication of the Group's mterim and fult
year results

- Qur website prowdes financial, business and governance information
on the Group and an alerts service enables subscribing shareholders to
receive notification of corporate updates

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

- Board recewes feedback collated by our brokers and other financial advisers
from our institutional investors, in which their views can be expressed cn a
non-atiributable basis

- Qur Anrual General Meeting provides Lhe opportunity for our private
shareholders to hear from and engage directly with the Board

- The Charrman, the Senior Independent Divector and Chair of the
Remuneration Committee meet with shareholders to discuss
spealic matters

HOW WE MONITOR

- Earnings per share

- Dividends paid

- Total shareholder return
- ESG metrics

- External ESG ratings

OUTCOMES

- Development of capital allecation and dividend policy
- Development of ESG strategy

- Supportive, long-term sharehalder base

- Access to funding

LINK TO STRATEGY 1 1 13



COMMUNITIES AND THE ENVIRONMENT
WHY WE ENGAGE

WWe recognise the impartant role that each of our businesses play in their focal
communities and we actively encourage our busingsses to support logal
initiatives and charitable causes Equally, our businesses take pride in the
contribution that they make to their local communities, both as a local
employer and in the wark they do 10 support good causes. We also recognise
the impact of our business on wider sodiety and our responsibility to contribute
to & sustainable future for afl,

HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGES

- Our community investment policy confirms our commitment to support
selected charitable causes with a focus on the military and armed services,
STEM-refated initiatives and those linked to the local communities in which
our businesses operate

- Each business has its own locally held charity budget and at a Group level
charitable donations are considered by the Executive Commitlee

- In addition to making cash donations, we also encourage and support
employees who undertake voluntary work in the local community

- Our pecpie across the Group are invotved with 2 number of educational
initiatives and as a business we have refatonships with several universities,
whereby funding is provided for students’ research activities

- Sponsorshy through the Horizons Bursary Scheme run by the Institution of
Engineering and Technology, which provides financial support during degree
study for students who have faced or continue to face adversity whilst they
study: these students are all studying STEM degree courses which zre refevant
to the disciplines required within Chemiring

- Implementation of enviconmental and carbon reduction initiatives

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

~ Development of ESG strategy. objectives and targets subject to
Board oversight

- Sustainability Commuttee, chaired by the Group Chief Executive, reparts
regularly to the Board on ESG-related matters

- ESG-related rargets inctuded in the annual bonus plan and performance
share plan

HOW WE MONITOR

- Charitable donations

- Environmental performance indicators
- External ESG ratings

OUTCOMES

- Development of ESG strategy

- Informed communities

~ Contribution (o local businesses and employment
- Contribution to wider society

- Sustainable business operations

LINK TO STRATEGY 1 2 3

GOVERNING BODIES AND REGULATORS

WHY WE ENGAGE

Cur businesses operate in highly regulated environments and we need to
ensure that we maintan our licences to operate and continue to run our
businesses in full compliance with all laws and regulations. We alse need to
keep ahead of planned regulatory developments which may impact our
operations in future.

HOW THE BUSINESS ENGAGES

- Maintenance of a reguar dialogue with contacts within gevernments and
at our regulators

- Participatian in industry working groups and trade representative bodies

- Consultation with local governing bodies an planned business developments
and investments

HOW THE BOARD ENGAGES

- Board oversight of our Code of Conduct, our Operational Framewark and
the associated assurance processes ensures our businesses are meeting
governmenitzl and regulatory reguirements

- Interaction with the US Board's Government Security Committee provides
assurance to the Board that the business is operating in accordance with our
Special Security Agreement

HOW WE MONITOR
- Compliance statistics
- Safety-related capital investment

OUTCOMES

- Ethical and compliant business conduct

- Trusted suppher to government customers

« Governrent support for proposed acquisitions
- Sustainable business operations

LINK TO STRATEGY 1 2 3
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STRATEGY

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

At Chemring, our purpose is to help make the world a safer place. Across the Our strategy sets out the priontes and act:ons that underpin us achieving aur
physical and digital environment our exceptional teams deliver innovative vision, and gurdes the chaices that we will make as a company. We will continue
technologies and products that detect and defeat ever-changing threats to delwer profitable growth by operating in markets where we see 5trong

custorner demand signals, where we have differentiating technology and where

Connecled r pur ) isi i it fi -
to our purpose, our vision provides a clear definition of the future there are significant barriers to entry. Our Strategy is three-fold:

state Chemring wishes to attain. It is to be a leading provider of critical and
innovative technclogies that detect and protect pecple, platforms, missions 1. Target growing segments
and information against constantly changing threats. 2. Win market share

3. Grow our US business

1 TARGET GROWING SEGMENTS

Against the backdrop of 2 more uncertain world — including a significant kinernatic conflict

in Europe and greater instability in the Asia Pacific region. macro-level world defence budgets
can be expected to grow. Simultaneously. our customers' strategic context will continue

to evolve, and the enhanced threat contesct will see a strong dermnmand for multi-domain
capabilities including those in CEMA, artificial intelligence, autonomous systems and space.
With a greater threat of peer-level competition, demand for energetic capabilities can be
anticipated to strengthen as the traditional battlefield continues to feature, alongside the
sub-threshold “Grey Zone™, in customers’ thinking. Countermeasures capabilities will also
continue to remain relevant in this contested environment

Our strategy is to continue to focus on grawing segments of the defence and security
market based on our in-depth understanding of our cusiomers’ missian requirements and
modernisation priorities. Our investment in innovation and solution development will be
targeted on areas where we see positive dernand signals from our customers.

1 WIN MARKET SHARE

In addition to targeting threat-focused growth segments, we also aim to win market
share by focusing on meeting established customer needs in an effective and competitive
manner. Qur largest current investment is in the Countermeasures & Energetics sector
to expand capacity at our manufacturing operations i the US to respond to the
continuing demand for airborne countermeasures driven by air platform sales including
the F-35 Lighting Il

3 GROW OUR US BUSINESS

Qur US businesses deliver over half the Group's revenue, and our businesses in both
Countermeasures & Energetics and Sensors & Information are well placed on a aumber
of critical US customer programmes including highly classified activities and substantial
Programs of Record. This positioning. underpinned by our operational performance and
strategic insight into US customer priorities, is the foundation upon which we will grow
our business in the world's largest defence market.
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STRATEGY IN ACTION

In the US, we are building on aur established Programs of Record
position in sensors to develop and implement a technology-led
strategy for the capture of future opportunities. We are also
responding to the strong demand signals that we are seeing for
our precision engineered devices for use in space and missile
applications, and are exploring additional opportunities to
complement organic growth.

In the UK, we have a strong pipeline of both organic and inorganic
growth opportunities for Roke — focused in particular on
developing the businesses in its core speoalist areas of Al, machine
learning, data science and autonomy.

STRATEGY IN ACTION

The investrent in the US manufacturing operations for our
Countermeasures & Energetics sector will improve safety
through remote cperations, improve quality though automation
and defiver the extrusion capacity required for next-generation
flare production.

Elsewhere, we are seeing strong opportunities that support
significant growth for Chemring Energetic Devices. The Chicago
business’ grecision-engineered devices being critical to achieving
mission success for ncreasing customer activities involving space
and missile assets.

STRATEGY IN ACTION

In Countermeasures & Energetics we continue to take a pan-
Group approach to our countermeasures activities. Within the
boundaries of security classifications, we share conventional,
spectral and kineratic flare capabilities 2nd processes developed

in the UK and Australia with our US operations and are promoting
the benefits of these capabilities to the US customer.

In Sensors & Information we have established a new sales and
engineering office for Roke US4, hired staff with the requisite
security clearances and delivered a number of proof-of-concept
trials of our land EW praducts to a number of distinct US
customer stakeholders.

ORDER BOOK
£65Tm
+30%

2022 £651m
0n £501m

2010 £476m

ORDER INTAKE
+28%
2022 £55%m

plozd] €431

2020 £437m

REVENUE

£443m

+13%

2022 £443m
wn £393m

2020 £402m
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

MEASURING OUR PROGRESS

The Group's strategy is underpinned by focusing on
a number of key performance indicators (“KPIs").

STRATEGIC PRIORITY

KPI

SAFETY

1

NUMBER OF ENERGETIC
EVENTS CAUSING HARM
OR INJURY

Nil
(2621 2)

022 O

wn 2

These KPIs enable progress to be monitored on the implementation of the
Group’s strategy. levels of investment, operational performance and business
development. Thay also give an early insight into haw well the principal risks

and uncertainties are being managed.

Sinilar indicators are used 1o review performance by each of the Group's
businesses, albeit that the exact nature of these varies between business units
to reflect the differing nature of their operations.

The KPis that the Board and senior management utilise ta assess Group
performance are set out below. All financial KPls refer to ranhinning
aperations and therefore exclude businesses classified as discontinued

and held for sale

2

NUMRBER OF NEAR
MI5S AND POTENTIAL
HAZARD REPORTS

4,036
(2031 3.5i8)

1022 4036

201 3518

TOTAL RECORDABLE
INJURIES NUMBER AND
FREQUENCY RATE

17

(2021: 1)
2022 17

021 14
RATE

0.78

(2021. 0.67)
2022 o78

2021 067

DESCRIPTION

Number of energetic events causing
harm or injury.

Number of near muss and potentiai
hazards reperted.

Number of recordable injuries per
200,000 man hours worked.

WHY IS IT AKPI2

A process safety event is one of the
key strategic safety risks of the
business. This indicator measures
those events that have caused injury
or harm.

This indicates employee awareness of
hazards and the greater the reporting
the more engaged our people are.

This 13 the rate for all injuries including
medical treatment, restricted workday
ang lost time injunes. It is 2 more
sensitive indicator of acupational
safety than lost time injury frequency
rates, as more minor events

are captured.

2022 PERFORMANCE

There were no life changing/serious
Injuries associated with energetic
events compared 10 two last year.
Singe 2010 the only other time this
has happened was 2017,
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As we journey towards our goal of
zero harm we need A workforce that
is fully engaged and proactive in
reportng unsale actions and
conditions. One measure is the
reporting of near misses, providing us
with the opportunity to iearn and
prevent accigents from happening, it
is very encouraging therefore to see
we have maintained a high level of
near miss reporting this year.

We had 17 empioyee njunes this
year, compared to 14 last year. This
resulted in a slight increase in our
recordable injury rate, from 0.67 to
0.78, but remains below our fimit of
1. There were no fatalities or serious
injuries during the year.



ORDERS

4

ORDER INTAKE
GROUP

£55Tm

(2027: £431m)

SENSORS & INFORMATION
2022 £195m
00 £176m
COUNTERMEASURES

& ENERGETICS

2022 £356m
2021 £255m

s

CRDER BOCK
GROUP

£651Tm

(2021 £501m)

SENSORS & INFORMATION

w022 £154m

2021 £114m
COUNTERMEASURES .
& ENERGETICS

2022 £497m

2024 £387m

REVENUE

&

REVENUE
GROUP

£443m

(2021: £393m)

SENSORS & INFORMATION
2022 £162m
2021 £147m
COUNTERMEASURES

& ENERGETICS

2022 £280m
202y £216m

Order intake s measured at expected sales value
and represents the last 12 months' activity.

Order book is measured at expected sales value
and indicates future potential.

Revenue is measured at sales value less any
applicable sales taxes.

The trend of order intake gives an indication of
markel conditions and our campetitiveness within
our markets.

The level of order book, in particular for delvery
in the next year, gives a degree of confidence in
expected future flinanoal performance.

The trend of revenue gives an indicatien of both
the state of the end market and cur business’s
ablility to execute orders on time to satisfy
customer needs.

Order intake across the Group has increased by 28% to £551m (2021: £431m) This was driven by Roke
seeing order intake increase by 59% a5 customers increasingly place mulu-year contracts for Roke's services
and producis. the receipt of a US$16m delivery order for the second year of EMBD [ull rate praduction
and strong order intake across the Countermeasures & Energetics sector where customers are increasingly
placing multi-year orders This was cffset by arders on the HMOS PoR being significantly lower than in the

DreviQus year.

The order book was up J0% te £651m (2021: (501m), with £403m currently due as revenue in FY 23,

approximately B6% coverage of FY 23 targeted revenue,

Group revenue was in line with cur expectations,
with strong performance at Roke, steaty grawth
in Countermeasures & Energetics and a foreign
currency tailwind.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS continued

A CLEAR INSIGHT INTO OPERATIONAL
AND FINANCIAL PROGRESS

STRATEGIC PRIORITY

KPI

UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT AND MARGIN

UNDERLYING EARNINGS PER SHARE

7 8
UNDERLYING OPERATING UNDERLYING OPERATING UMNDERLYING EARNINGS
PROFIT MARGIN PER SHARE
£64.0m 14.5% -
. - /0 (2021: 16.9p}
(2021; £575m) (2021: 14 6%)
2022 202p
w021 169
SENSORS & INFORMATION SENSORS & INFORMATION CHANGE FROM PREVIOUS YEAR
2022 £300 2022 18.5% e
" up 20%
207 £31.6m 201 11.6% (202%: up 12%)
COUNTERMEASLIRES & COUNTERMEASURES & 1022 20%
ENERGETICS ENERGETICS
piural 12%
2012 €489m 2022 17.4%
2021 £400m 201 16 2%
DESCRIPTION Underlymg operatiog profit excludes non-underlying items that, by their size or nature, | Calculated as underlying earnings after

need to be separately disclosed to properly understand the Group’s underying quatity
of earnings Underlying operatung margin is calculated as underlyng operating profit

divided by revenue

tax divided by the number of shares
in issue.

WHY IS IT A KPR

Underlying operating profit provides a consistent year-on-year measuce of

the trading performance of the Group's operations, A focus on aperating margin
allows the impact of changes in revenue and cost base to be monitored, enabling
tomparisons 1o be made of management performance and trading effectiveness.

The measurement of underlying EPS
reflects all aspects of the Group's
income statement including the
management of mterest and tax.

2022 PERFORMANCE

The underlying operating profit increased by 11% during the year. The changes
w1 rmargin of each sector reflect the market conditions, volume changes and
performance improvermnent actians, as set out in this strategic report,
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Underlying EPS increased by 20% in
2022, driven by increased underlying
operating prolit and lower nterest
and taxation costs.



WORKING CAPITAL AND INVENTORY

9

WORKING CAPITAL
GROLP

£93.9m

(2021 £844m)

SENSORS & INFOAMATION
2022 £30.6m
2024 €38.3m

COUNTERMEASURES &

ENERGETICS
2022 £633m
01 £46.1m

10

INVENTORY
GROUP

£99.6m

(2021, £B0.7m)

SENSORS & INFORMATION

2022 £271m
01 £19.8m
COUNTERMEASURES &
ENERGETICS

2022 £725m
2021 £609m

NET DEBT AND CASH FLOW

b1

NET DEBT: UNDERLYING
EBITDA

0.09x

(2021. 0.35%)

2022 00%x

2021 0.35x

11

UNDERLYING OPERATING
CASH FLOW

£90.1Tm

(2021: £80.0m)

2022 3¢ 1m
2024 £800m
CONVERSION OF

UNDERLYING EBITDA INTO
UNDERLYING OPERATING
CASH

109%

(2027: 105%)

2022 109%

202 105%

Working capital is defined as
inventories, trade and other receivables,
less trade and other payables excluding
payroll related and other liabilities
totalling £314m (2021. £28 Bm).

Inventary is measured at cost.

Measured as net debt divided by
undertying EBITDA for the previous
12 months.

Cash flow from operating activities
befare tax outflows, non-underlying
tems and pension payments.

Efficiently turning profit into cash
demands a degree of contral aver
working capital.

The primary focus for improvement
in working capital is inventory.

This is a measure of leverage within
the business and is a banking cavenant.

This is a key measure to ensure
profit turns into cash in short order.

Working capital a3 a percentage
of revenue was consistent at 21%
year-an-year, demonstrating the
continued effective management of
werking capital.

Inventory increased, as did advance
payments from customers, reflecting
the timing of customer procurement
in Countermeasures & Energetics.

This has decreased in 2022, as
underlying EBITIA has increased
and net debt has decreased.

Operating cash conversion again
axceeded 100% as cur focus on the
effective management of working
capital was maintained.

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and 2ccounts 2022
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FOCUS ON

SENSORS & INFORMATION

3o

KEY FACTS

In Chemring’s Sensors & Information sector we
are a leading supplier of consulting and technology
services, trusted by government and industrial
partners worldwide to solve the most technicaily
challenging defence and security-critical issues.

Our products include core technologies for detecting, intercepting and
jamming electronic communications. and wortd-ieading systems for detecting
impravised explosive devices ("IEDs"). chemical and biological agents.

Operating across defence, nazional security, law enforcement and commercial
domains the Sensors & Information sector is constantly innovating to enable
customers to defiver competitive agvantage and to defend their people, assets
and information.

STRATEGY

The Sensors & Information sector remains Chemring's principal area of focus
for long-term growth, reflecting custemer demand and opportunities in this
area. We continue to focus on expanding the Group's preduct, service and
capabifity offerings in the areas of tactical electronic warfare, artificial
intelligence, machine learming and information security. We are also focused

REVENUE

£162.3m

(2021: £146 6m)

UNGERLYING OPERATING PROFIT

£300m

(202% £31.6m)

ORDER BOOK

£154m

(2021: £114m)

UNDERLYING OPERATING MARGIN

18.5%

{2021: 21.6%)

STATUTORY OPERATING PROFIT

£26.3m

{2021: £259m)

DISCOVER MORE ABOUT SENSORS &
INFORMATION: CHEMRING COM/MWHAT-WE-DOf

SENSORS-AND-INFORMATION

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

on building a technalogy-based strategy for growth beyond current US
Department of Defense ("lUS DoD™) Programs of Record in the areas of
explosive hazard detection and chemical and biclogical threat detection.

The Group's specialist consulting and technology services business, Roke.,
operates in the growing Cyber market. investing in retaining, developing and
recruiting people, together with expanding our geographical and custormer
coverage. is key ta long-term profitable growth in this area. ¥Ve continue to
actively explore opportunities to expand and accelerate Roke's capabilities
and offerings to drive medium and long-term growth including leveraging
opporturities in adjacent markets and territories. ln the short term this will
require continued operating expense investment in Roke Academy, Roke
Futures and Roke USA, -

The integration of Cubica Group, acquired in 2021, has progressed extremely
well and has brought significant additional research and development expertise as
we invest in next-generation technologies and expand our product, service and
capability offerings. We continue to actively explore apportunities and have
a healthy pipeline of further potential acquisition targets.

MARKETS

The current geopohtical uncertainty, brought about by both Russia’s iwasion
of Ukrame and increased cormpetition with China, has highlighted the need
for increased defence expenditure, particularty amongst European members
of NATQ. More broadly it has highlighted the need Jor countries to re-equip
and modernise their defence capabifities to meet the threat of peer on peer
conflict, Partnerships and alliances, such as Five Eyes, AUKUS, and NATO, are
seen as becoming increasingly important, with geeater co-operation and
alignment between gllies to the fore.

The US continues to be the largest defence and security market in the world
and rernains opportunity-rich for the Sensors & Information sector. The
US$813bn FY23 President's Budget Request for the US DoD is the largest
ever and has a strong modernisation agenda including investment priorities
for cyber, electronic warfare and chemibio security Chemring's capabilities
should give us the opportunity to address many of these requirements. The
shift in the US Government priorities from counter-insurgency operations 1o
equipping forces for the expected peer 1o peer/neas-peer competition in the
Pacific, has resulted in a swift and unexpected re-prioritisation of US DoD
budgets. This impacted our expected HMDS FY22 delivery order, which was
not funded, and we are currentiy working with the customer to appropriately
plan for their expected luture requirements which we anticipate will be at
lower valumes



In the UK, the fundamentals of our marketl position are underpinned by the
2021 Integrated Review of Delence, Security and Foreign Policy ("IR") and the
subsequent raft of policy papers that were pubfished in support. The IR took
2 comprehensive view of the peer-level threats to British interests so its
wholescale refresh is uniikely despite the Russia-Ukraine crisis. The increased
impartance that the UK is placing on ¢yber-security, active cyber effects,
information advantage, intelligent networks, artificial intelligence, machine
learring, and multi-dormain integration, when matched with increasing budgets,
is expected to accelerate the demand for Roke’s market-leading technologies.

In both these hame markets, the need (o keep pace with rapigly evoiving
and complex threats aligns well with owy Sensors & Intormation strategy.
The clear emphasis placed on cyber, artificial intelligence, data science, EW
and unmanned/autonomous systems should increase the opportunity space
for Chemring 1o deploy its market-leading technologies in these areas of
growing requirement.

PERFORMANCE

Order intake n the year was up 11% to £195m (2021: £176m). This was driven
by a 59% increase in Roke's order intake, with a growing number of multi-year
contracts which include an increasing element of “pass-through” praducts and
services which are included in revenue (see table below for an analysis of the
impact of this), and the receipt of a US$16m delivery order for the second
year of EMBD full rate production. This was offset by orders on the HMDS
Program of Record being significantly lower than in the previous year.

1022 0

Roke “pass.through” impact £m om Change
Order intake

Products and services 132 100 +32%
Pass-ihrough 36 ] +500%
As reporteq 168 106 +59%
Revenue

Products and services 94 75 +25%
Pass-through 16 7 +129%
As reported 110 82 +34%

Revenue for Sensors & Information increased by 11% to £162.3m (2021:
£146.6m) and undertying operating profit fedl by 5% to £30.0m (2021: £31.6m},
as underlying operating profit margin declined to 18,5% (2021. 21.6%) driven
by the operating expense investment in Roke Academy. Roke Futures and
Roke USA, and the reduction in HMDS revenue in the year On a constant
currency basis revenue would have risen 8% to £157.8m and underlying
operating profit would have fallen by 5% 1o £299m. The statutory operating
profit for the year was £26.3m (2021: £259m)

in the UK, the markets for EWV, cyber and data science capabdities. in which
Roke is a leading partcipant, have remained buayant in the period. As shown
above Roke has delivered strong growth in orders and revenue with double
digit growth in underlying aperating profit and has maintained strong margins
despite inCreased investrment in people, infrastructure and product development.

OUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

EUROPEAN ELECTRONIC WARFARE (“EW") REQUIREMENTS
Roke continues 1o support key European partners with respect to
high performance. networked electranic surveillance capabilities
capable of delivering "find & Fix” capabilities against a peer-to-

peer threat,

Qur RESOLVE 3 systems provide a mabile, multi-role system that
supports different deployment stances, and Roke has seen initial
orders and significant interest in the latest PERCEIVE mobile
electronic surveillance system.

Our PREFIX/VIPER software suite provides pre, dunng and post
mission analysis tools and centralised command and control of the
electromagnetic environment. This 15 drawing interest from
Defence customer's agnostic of hardware which demonstrates the
fun Livadlity and ease uf vse ol Whis Ruke=desigied rissiun tonolset

Roke continues to undertake collaborative development of
these platforms to agdress the evolving threat and emergent
operational requirements.

LINK TO STRATEGY t 3

LINK TO OUR VALUES Read more on page 19

INNOVATION

Chemring Group PLC Annval report and accounts 2022
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FOCUS ON continued

PERFORMANCE conltinued

The acquisition of Geollect Limited was comgleted in December 2022 having
now received N3IA appreval, creates further oppartunities for Chemring to
enhance and further accelerate growth in its Roke business Geollect, based in
Bristot and Virginia USA, is a data analytics company specialising in geospatial
inteltigence ("GEOINT™), one of the most exciting and growing areas of
spacetech innovation. GEQINT wuses wmagery analysis and data ta survey and
assess human activity and physical geography anywhere in the world and has
the potential to transform some of the most traditional and complex
industries. With demand for open source intelligence ("OSINT "} and
commercially curated intelligence growing at 25% CAGR, Roke's rustnmers
reguie dn exponental increase in capability to achieve digital advantage
against complex threats. The acquisition will enable Roke to buid on its
Intefligence as a Service {"Roke laa5") proposition by utilising the intelligence
gathering and analysis capabilities of Geollect, and enhancing their already
impressive processing capabilities with Rake's innovative approach to Al
machine learning and data scence. Roke's urique customer relationships in
National Security and Defence will provide a growth accelerator while
providing new markets lor Roke's Futures business.

In the last four years successiul execution of its strategy has seen Roke
double in size. ts headcount increased from ¢.400 at the end of 2018 10 over
800 today, driven in part by the success of its graduate and apprenticeship
schemes. Having seen an intake of 44 recruits i the Autumn of 2021,

Roke has this year grown that number to 71 — consisting of 55 graduates

and 15 engineering apprentices.

Building on this success, Roke invested £2.5m of annualised operating expenses
in the launch of the Roke Academy. 1o address the chalienge of recruiting
appropriately skifled engineers in this competitive market. This unique offering
will be a centre of excellence for learning and development and is designed to
target the recruitment and development of undiscovered talent, and the
enhancement of skill sets wathin the business. This is a significant step in
Roke's employee value proposition and will deliver a welcome increase in
workforce diversity and longer-term career progression. The first 24 recruits
joined in July 2022.

Roke continues to invest in high value, cutting-edge technology that is directly
relevant 10 the rapidly emerging needs of its markets. Roke’s Technology
Roadmap focuses on the defivery of autonomous, inteligent and integrated
capabilties. Historically, Roke has provided ground-breaking technologies in
areas ranging from Electranic Warfare to Precision Navigation and Tirming,
Acoustic Sensing and Cyber. Qur vision is to enable the integration of all
Roke's <apabilities in an open architecture that enables autonomeus tasking
of sensors and effectors. For example, our Omniscient software provides
the autonomous fabric integrating our capabilities together such that an alert
triggered by an EVV sensor results in the autonomous tasking of an unmanned
vehicle to locate and classify the source using Al based dassifiers. Qur focus
is on delivering this level of autonomy at massive scale and we are mvesting
significantly to ensure cur thought leadership proactively drives the market.

In order to drive scalable growth and unlock future potential, Roke has
combined its Public Seclor, Industry and Cubica business units to create
Reke Futures, which will sit alongside the National Security and Defence
busmness units. In doing so, 1t has brought together its market-leading skil
sets in Consulting, Intelligent Sensing, Situational Awareness, and Autonomy.
it will focus on building world-class capahilities and the development of newr
inteltlectual property and unigue technologies in support of customers in
UK Central Government & Law Enforcement. Aerospace, Digitaf Heatth
and Energy markets.

As part of its strategy to broaden its geographic spread and access to
different talent poois. Roke has expanded its footprint in Woking and in doing
sa has increased its office capacity from 25 to over 150 staff. This will provide
a first class working experience with an improved environmental impact and
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OUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

GROWING OUR OWN - EARLY CAREERS AT ROKE

In the ever increasing war for talent and alongside ambittous
growth plans. Roke recognises the importance of bringing in
ndividuals early in their careers to develop alongside the existing
experienced poputaton of Roke experts.

Such was the success of the 2021 intake that the business
aimed higher for the September 2022 cohart, forecasting for
55 graduates and 16 apprentices. Planning for this cahort began
at an early stage as it would equate to mare than 10% of the
overall business headcount,

The final preparation for the 2022 intake focused on the
programme itself. Some core principles were applied:

- streamlining the learning experience to meet the needs of the
early carger intake through groupings based on their academic
background and future roles;

- maximising classroom time with Roke engineers to make the
most of unique Roke experience and knowledge by using a
partner to deliver introduction or industry standard iearning; and

- building in problem solving to provide chailenge and collabaration.

the ability to work at 2 classified level. The Roke Futures business umit and
the Roke Acaderny will be based out of this office, providing a secand HQ
to Roke’s Romsey site, and a hub of technological and skills development.

Ve are seeing growing customer enguiries for Reke's suite of world-leading
Electronic Warfare producis. The business received an £8m order in
Novermber 2021 from the Swedish Ministry of Oefence for the supply of
EW equipment of which part was delivered in H2 2022. Thus illustrates the
increasing importance of Cyber and Electramagnetic Activity ("CEMA") in
today's threat environment, heightened further as a consequence of Russia’s
invasicn of Ukraine.

Roke LSA conlinues to support the customer with 2 view to securing further
EW orders from this potentially significant market. We continue to invest in
establishing our Roke USA business and have now established a sales and
engineering office in the US, and hired staff with the required security
clearance. This has required investment of £1.4m in 2022 which has been

<1 percentage point margin dilutive in the Sensors & Information sector.



Tris investment has allowed us to support ongoing customer dernonstrations
and fietd trials. Customer feedback remains very pasitive albeil antapated
fallow-an orders have been defayed as a result of budget restrictions caused
by the Continuing Resolution.

Also in the US, our sensors business continued its strategic focus on building
winning solutions to convert current WS Programs of Record into low rate
and full rate productian, and an explaiting a growing opportunity in
bro-security and surveillance. In 2 post-pandemic and contested world,
governments are becoming increasingly concerned by the risks of bath
naturally occurring and engineered hiologiral theeats Advances in synthetic
biclogy now give cur national adversaries the capability to defiberately
engineer organisms {o create hazards and cause harm.

Chemring’s experience and expertise in fielding biological agent detectors
for its US DoD customers, covered below, provides a strong platform from
which to pursue oppariunities in existing and adjacent markets, such as
homeland security. Chemring continues to invest in its Mobius R&D project,
which aims to develop a deployabie and cost-effective solution for the
identification of biological threats.

Chemring is also working with the US Depariment of Homeland Security
Countering Weapons of Mass Destruction ("CWMD"} Office to design.
develop and deliver an aerosol bio-sensor that can detect, classify and provide
presumptive identification in real time of pathogenic bio-threats in both indoor
and cutdoor environments. Chemeing’s technology dramatically shoriens the
time taken to identify the bio-threat, which is critical to rapidly implementing
an effective response. Chemring's product is also considerably less expensive
1o procure and operate than current equipment, thus allowing the customer
to afford greater unit coverage while remaining within their budget.

Key developments in the year on the major US Programs of Record are
summarised below.

Following a delay in the placernent of the annual delivery order. expected

in the first half of the year, our US sensors team actively engaged with the
US Dof to gain a better understanding of short and medium-term demand
for HMDS Following withdrawal from Afghanistan, the US Army is realigning
its budget priorities fram a focus on counter-insurgency aperations Lo the
threat of peer to peer/near-peer competition. This pivot is driving a
re-alignment of DoD funding priorities and our expectations are that the
customer will extend the duration of the existing U3%$200m IDAQ coniract
for an additional four years as the HMDS program transitions to sustainment
mode We continue 10 wark with the customer to determine funding levels
and timings moving forward

The EMBD system, an automated sensor to rapidly detect, collect, identify
and sample airborne biofogical warfare agents, has seen a positive start to its
full rate production phase. The vaiue of this sole source framework contract
is up to USEI9m with an estimated completion date of December 2027,

A further delivery order of US$16m covering FY23 deliveries was received
in the year.

The sele tource |BTDS program is progressing as planned through the
EMD phase and the next customer procurement decision 15 now expected
inH1FY23

The AVCAD program s also progressing through its EMD phase. The next
customer pracurement decision point is still expected to be at the conglusion
of the EMD phase, now expected to be in H1 FY23. Chemring remains one
of two contractors currently selected for this competitive program

OPPORTUNITIES AND OUTLOOK

The focus for Sensors & Information ¢continues to be on expanding the
Graup's product, service and capability offerings in the areas of national
security, Al and machine learning, tactical electronic warfare and information
security, ang securing positions on the US DoD Programs of Record.

In the UK, the national security and defence markets continue {0 grow with

a focus en emerging technologies in connectivity, cyber, automation and data
analytics. With increasing customer budgets and growing market opportunities
Roke is a key enabler of our wider growth ambitions. Qur wision for the next
Nve years 1s to rmamiain Rove's recent record of growth, doubling annual
revenue to greater than £200m organicaily, whilst maintaining strong margins.
Roke will contirue to focus its efforts on growing across all its business areas,
delivering research, design, engingerng and adwisory services using its high
guality people and capabitities.

We will continue Lo actively explore opportunities to expand and accelerate
the Sensors & Infarmation sector capabilities and offerings, both by leveraging
opportunities in adjacent markets and through further bolt-on acquisitions
However, any acquisition must meet a strici set of critena, enhange
shareholder value and fit in with our wider growth plans

Over the next two years we will see the US sensors business transition from
its primary locus being on the deliery of explosive hazard detection systems
to one of biological detection, reflecting the shift in the US Goverament
prionities from counter-insurgency operations 10 equipping forces for

peer to peer/near-peer compebtion in the Pacific. In biological detection

the EMBD program provides good shart-term visibility and foliowing the
expected LRIP decision on [BTDS in 2023 we expert this program to
enhance medium-term visibitity but first {ull rate production revenue is

not expected untl 2025. In chemical detectian we still await the gutcome

of the competitive AVCAD program.

The order book for Sensors & Information at 31 October 2022 was £154m
(2021 £114rm) driven by strong order intake and an increase in mutti-year
contracts in Roke, offset by the reduction in HMDS orders in our US sensors
business. OF this, £112m is expected to be delivered in 2023, providing 67%
cover of expected 2023 revenue. 2023 trading performance for Sensors &
Information is expecied to show a continuation of the fevels of business seen
in 2022, with continued growng demand for Roke's products and services,
offset by the expected reduction in HMDSrelated revenue. Medium-term
growth opportunities are driven by the Group's sale source positions on the
biolagical detection Programs of Recard moving into full rate production.
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FOCUS ON continued

COUNTERMEASURES & ENERGETICS

34

KEY FACTS

REVENUE

£280.5m

(2021, £246.7m)

UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT

£489m

(2021: £40.0m)

ORDER BOOK

£497m

(2021: £387m)

UNDERLYING QPERATING MARGIN

17.4%

{2021: 16.2%)

STATUTORY OPERATING PROFIT

£46.8m

{2021 £379m)

DISCOVER MORE ABOUT COUNTERMEASURES &
ENERGETICS: CHEMRING.COMMWHAT-WE-DO/
COUNTERMEASURES-AND-ENERGETICS

Chemring Group PLC Annual repore and accounts 2022

In our Countermeasures & Energetics sector,
we have deep technical expertise in high-hazard
precision engineering and manufacturing.

Chemring is the world leader in the design. development and manufacture
of advanced expendable countermeasures and countermeasures suites

for protecting air and sea platforms against the growing threat of

guided missiles.

Our niche, world-class energetics portiolio prowvides high-reliability, single-use
devices that perform critical functions for the space, aerospace. defence and
industrial markets including satellite deployrmert, aircrew egress and air¢raft
safety systems,

During the course of 2022 the Countermeasures & Energelics sector
has seen a cantinued improvemnent 11 gperating margin, as the benefit
of capital investment has delivered improved operational tempo

and efficency.

STRATEGY

The Countermeasures & Energetics sector strategy continues to be

one of strengthening and protecting our niche, world-leading positions
through continuously improving our technological and eperational base,
whilst working closely with our customers in the development of new
solutions to meet emerging needs. Investment in the sector will principally be
directed towards safety, autamation and the enhancement of current facilities
including capacity and capabilities. Ve aiso see great opportunity through
partnering with our customer base on future technological developments.

Protection solutions against conventional threats in the traditional domains
of air, sea and land remain vital, and are important areas for the Group to
maintain technology leadership

Our countermeasures businesses continue 10 adopt a holistic approach to
their activities, sharing inteligence, products and processes, and promoting
the benefits of these capabilities to our international customers. This includes
the development of multi-shot countermeasures that combine multiple
payloads in one flare body to delwer enhanced aircraft protection.

Qur strategy for our energetics businesses remains to focus on the high value
differentiated areas of the market where market demand is most robust. Our
Chicago facility is well placed to benefit from growth in the space segment.

The investment in the U5 manufacturing operations for our
Countermeasures & Energetics sector will improve salety through remote
operations, improve quality though automation and deliver extrusion capacity
required for next-generation flare production Elsewhere, we continue with
our programme of significant investment in safety and automation as part of
crealing a robust group of high-perfcrmuhg manufacturing facilities.

MARKETS

Russia’s mvasion of Ukraine s likely to have a long-term catalytic effect

on defence and security spend as couniries look to deter aggression and
protect their international interests Given the threat environment, several
European countries (NATO and non-NATO members) have already
committed to increasing their defence spend with a large preportion of funds
allocated tawards capital investment, tn the medium to long term Chemring
has the apportunity to benefit as demand for the Group's capabilities 1s
expected to increase.

In the Countermeasures & Energetics sector the need for our niche
<apabilities will continue 1o remain relevant in the contested environment
that mifitaries aperate in. so loag-term demand and associated funding are
expected to remain robust.



Whilst there is a general trend in defence spending towards modernisation
and new technalogies, Chemring continues to maintain a market-teading
position in the addressable air countermeasures market. Demand in the
countermeasures sector over the next five years is primarily being driven
by US and international requirements, coupled with new technologies being
developed in the UK that will be shared across the Greup's businesses.

Sole source positiong an several products and platforms in conjunction

with high barriers to entry are evident in the strong current order book.
Three additianal countries, Canada, Finland and Germany, have announced
their intent to acquire the F-35 stealth multi-role combat aircraft, a franchise
LIS defence prograrnme. Tlus aircraft remains a driver of growth in the sector
with US demand still expected to be in excess of 2,400 aircraft, and the

UK has maintained its cormmitment to expand its number of F-35 beyond the
48 already ordered. As a provider of countermeasures for this platform, these
pragrammes will contribute to us mantaining our market-leading position in
the addressable air countermeasures market.

In the UK, Chemring Countermeasures LUK ("CCM UK") has signed a
Strategic Partnering Arrangement ("SPA") with the Royal Air Force, Defence
Equipment & Suppart (“DE&S”) and the Defence Science and Technoiogy
Laboratory ("DSTL"), 10 ensure long-term provision of optimum air platform
protection, including the explaitatian of current capabilities and the development
of new technology. This ten-year SPA wnll provide a frarmework for development,
allowing COM UK to provide the best solutions for protection of all UK fast
1L, transport and helicopter platforms fitted with self-defence systems.

Alongside improving continuity of supply and providing the UK MOD with
the highest level of ar platform protection to counter threats, this SPA will
underpin the development of the next generation af countermeasures.

As with other EW-related technology fields, the countermeasures sector
must keep pace with the ever-evolving missile capabifities, anticipating

where and how threat systers can be countered. The SPA will afso aid
infarmation sharing to faciltate 2 collzborative approach and encouraging
co-gperation such that the might level of capability is avalable to the front line
at the right ime Where appropriate, it wil 2lso allow CCM UK to make such
decoy technology available to a wide range of allies and partner nations,
increasing survivabiley of aircraft and aircrew.

In the specialist enerpetic devices and materials businesses our focus remains
on the high vaiue niche areas of the market where market conditions continue
to strengthen as a Consequence of increased global tension. Demand for our
range of energetic dewices. propelfants and explosive products continues to
grow year-on-year. Increasingly, customers are signing long.-term contracts in
order to secure supply and this improved visibility is enabling greater focus on
our investment into manufacturing capacity. efficiency and product R&D.

Whilst the outlook for the global defence market is mcreasingly positive,

with strong grawth predicted over the next decade, the customary time-lag
between anrouncement and budget increases translating into new orders can
be expected as governments take time to reposition and reallocate funding

in response to the changed threat environment.

PERFORMANCE
Order intake in the year was tugher at £356m (2021: £255m), driven by
multi-year orders received across the sector.

{Chemnng Countermeasures USA ("CCM USA'), has been jointly awarded
aJ53225m indefinite Delivery / Indefinite Quantity ("IAQ") five-year
framework contract to manufacture MJU-81A/8 infra-red countermeasures.
Initial delivery orders of 1S$38m were received in the year. and all work will
be performed at CCM USA's new fully-automated manufacturing facility at
Toone, Tennessee.

OUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

STRATEGIC PARTMNERING ARRANGEMENT ('SPA™) WITH
THE ROYAL AIR FORCE, DEFENCE EQUIPMENT & SUPPORT
AND THE DEFENCE SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY
LABORATORY (“DSTL"}

Chemring Countermeasures UK ("CCM UK”) anncunced the
signing of a Strategic Partnering Arrangement ("SPA") with the
Royal Air Force, Defence Equipment & Support and the Defence
Science and Technology Laboratory ("DSTL") earlier this year.

The SPA ensures the long-term provision of optirmum air platform
protection, induding exploiting current capabilities and developing
new technology.

CCM UK provides a wide range of countermeasure decoys that
are used extensively by the UK's armed forces. They routinely
collaborate with the UK MOD to improve the level of protection
achieved and ensure countermeasures keep pace with ever-
evolving missile capabilities.

The ten-year SPA will underpin the development of the next
generation of countermeasures. It will also allow CCM UK to make
such decoy technology available te 2 wide range of allies and
partner nations. helping save the lives of more aircrew.

LINK TO STRATEGY 1
LINK TO OUR VALUES Read more on page 1%
INNOVATION

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022
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FOCUS ON continued

PERFORMANCE continued

CCM USA's Pennsylvania faciltty received contracts totalling US$36m to
manufacture MjU-64/B, MJU-66/8 and XMZ19 air¢raft decoy flares. CCM UK
received a five-year contract valued at £34m to supply 55mm MTV air
countermeasures to international customers,

Our three niche energetics businesses, which design and manufacture high
precision engineered devices and specialist materials, have also seen strong
customer demand with order intake up 37% ta £137m {2021: £100m),
demonstrating the value our customers place on the high-reliability products
provided by Chemring in the critical areas of space, aerospace, defence anr
induwslrial markets.

The impact of the Continuing Resalution in the US, which was not lifted until
mid-March 2022, sfowed the process of doing business with government
departments. As a result some Countermeasures & Energetics orders that
were expected in the first half were delayed until the second hall of FY22.
We expect this to result in an increase to the weighting of revenue in the
second hall of F¥23

The investment in the expansion and automation of our Tennessee facility to
meet the expected demand for airborne countermeasures continued during
the year. Having completed consiruction work of the buildings in FY21, FY22
saw the commissioning process progress through characterisation and testing
as production gradually ramped up. We expect customer First Article Test
units to be manufactured and shipped 10 the customer in the first half of FY23.

Revenue for Countermeasures & Energetics was up by 14% to £280 5m
(2021: £246.7m). The sector reported an underlying aperating profit of
£48 9m (2021: £40.0m} as underlying operating margin increased to 174%
(2021: 16.2%) driven by continued improved operational execution. Ona
constant currency basis revenue would have been up 7% to £263.4m and
operating profit would have been up 17% to £46.6m.

The statutory operating profit for the year was £46 8m (2021: £379m)

OPPORTUNITIES AND CUTLOOK

The focus for Countermeasures & Energetics rermaing on safeguarding
and growing the Group's market-leading positions in niche markets, in
particular on key platforms such as the F-35 as it begins to enter service
N InCreasing numbers.

‘We will continue the process of modernisation and automation across

our sites, and of improving our competitiveness through investment in lean
manufacturing capabilities. We will also invest in new product developrment to
ensure thal our product portfolio remains highly relevant to our customers
and will continue the pracess of operaticnal alignment to share technology
and manufacturing exceflence across the Group.

The Group's niche propellant and devices businesses in Scotland and Chicago
are increasingly securing long-term contracts with custamers, supporting
greater short and medium-term visibility and providing a framework for
long-term planning and investment decisions. Our Chicage facility is well
placed to benelit from growth in the space segment. Similarly, demand for
high quahty energetic matenals has enabled Cherring Nobel in Norway to
work proactively with its customer base on long-term contracting models,
providing much improved visibility.

The Countermeasures & Energetics order book at 31 October 2022 was
£497m (2021: £387m). The increase compared to the 2021 year-end closing
order book is largely attributable ta the strong order intake across the sector
where custorners are increasingly placing multi-year orders. Foreign exchange
has been a taiwind in the year and on a constant currency basis using the
2021 closing exchange rates the order book would be £456m. OF the

31 Qciober 2022 order book, approximately £291m is currently expected to
be delivered 1n 2023, representing 96% coverage of expected 2023 revenue.

k] Chemring Group PLC Annual repart and accounts 2021

OUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

CHEMRING SUPPORTS THE LAUNCH OF

BOEING CST-100 STARLINER

Cn 19 May 2022, Boeing launched its passenger spacecraft,
CST-100 Starliner, to the International Space Station (“1S57)
Starliner is part of NASA's Commercial Crew Program, an initiative
tasked with developing spacecraft capable of taking NASA
astronauts to and from the I15S. Startiner taok off on a United
Launch Alliance Atlas V launch vehicle at 6:54PM ET out of Cape
Canaveral Air Force Station in Florida and docked with the 1S5 on
20 May at Z10PM ET.

The Crbital Flight Test (OFT-2} mission was a dress rehearsal

for future manned missions and Chemring was one of the teams
that supparted this zest flight Chemring provided various
mission-critical components on the Atlas V, as wel! as components
for the landing sequence for Starliner's return home

The safe return of the Starliner spacecraft helps to prove the
system is ready to fly astronauts. After NASA and Boeing review
processes data from this test flight, teams will continue plans for
Starliner and its next mission, the Crew Flight Test to the

space station.



INTRODUCTION TO SUSTAINABILITY

COMMITTED TO A
SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Michael Ord

Group Chief Executive and
Chairman of the Group
Sustainability Committee

“Chemring acknowledges its
responsibilities to contribute to a
sustainable future. We have a strong and
recognised obligation to ensure the
responsible operation of our business
and are fully committed to long-term
sustainable value creation through safe,
values-based and ethical business conduct
at all times.”

PURPOSE

Chemring helps make the world a safer place. Across physical and digital
environments, our exceptional teams deliver innovative technologes and
products that detect and defeat ever-changing threats.

YISION

To be a leading provider of critical and innovative technologies that detect
and protect people. platforms missions and information against constantly-
changing threats.

Improving our sustainability performance plays a key role in the way we both
run our businesses today and plan for the future, as we manage our
ESG-refated risks. ¥Ve also recogruse that aur ESG credentials are an
increasingly important factor in our ability to attract and retain first-class
people. Engaged. motvated, empowered and appropriately-skilled employees
are intepral to Qur success.

Whilst our approach to sustainability cantinues to mature we are committed
ta implementing transparent policies and procedures, and to fostering an
inclusive culture across the Group where everyone does the right thing and
takes responsbility for their actions. Increasingly this focus will develop from
working as a trusted partner to our many customers and ensuring that our
internal standards are fit for purpose, to working with our supply chain to
ensure that they 0o work to the same standards In doing so we will build a
sustainzble company of which all our stakeholders ¢an be proud, now and in
the future.

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

The long-term success of the Chemring business can only be enhanced by a
positive interaction with all of our stakeholders and therefore a positive and
engaged approach to corporate responsibility and sustainability is imporiant
to us. Qur approach is focysed around the following key areas:

« health and safety;

- erwircnment;

- people; and

- ethics and business conduct.

Qur approach to corporate responsibility and sustainability 1s embedded
within the busingss urwts and all senior icadors have specific objectives around
these areas identified which are hnked to ther incentive plans.

PROGRESS IN 2022

Chemring's purpase is to help make the world a safer place and Russia's
invasion of Ukraine has tragically highlighted the critical role that the defence
and securily industry plays in preserving peace, democracy and freedom in
the western world. It has reinforced the argument thai for sustainability to
thrive, it requires global stability at s foundations We are proud of the role
that Chemring plays in providing that stability and are equally focused an
ensuring that we manage and progress our own sustainabiily agenda, and

in particular our ESG-related risks.

It has been another busy year in which we have built on the good progress
made during FY21.

ESG forms part of our everyday thinking, from how we run our businesses
from day to day. to long-term strategic planning. Climate-related issues, such
as emissions. are now part of every monthly Board report and ESG is a
schedufed Board agenda item every six months. It s afso a standing agenda
itern for every meeting of the Group's Executive Committee and farms part
of the monthly reporting cycte of each of our business units.

Across the Group we continue to actively seek ways to reduce our impact on
the environment and build resilience to cimate change by focusing on energy.
waste and water, and understanding the impact of globai climate change on
our operations. These four focus areas have been identified based on an
overall evaluation of environmental impacts and risks, with a focus on impacts
that we can influence and have consequently influenced financial pianning,
We are setting Group milestones, focusing on energy usage to drive further
improvemnents n this area Qur strategy is to reduce our global GHG emissions
through improving energy efficiency to reduce consumption and by
purchasing electsicity from renewable sources.

Many of our Chernring businesses have environmental management systems and
have undertaken loczl initiatives and programmes to reduce environmental
impacts. To improve energy efficiency for example, improvements have been
made to operations through the installation of new energy efficient buildings
10 replace old buildings, upgrading heating, ventilation and air conditicning
{"HVAC") systems and improving lighting. In 2022 we improved the steam
heat distribution system at our Scotland facility by replacing vabves, installing
new steam traps and improving insulation. This has contributed to significant
reductions in natural gas usage and greenhouse gas emissions. tn addition, we
replaced ageing HYAC systems at our Peansylvania facility. reducing electricity
use and assaciated scope 2 emissions. We have also increased our use of
biodiesel fuels.

In 2021 we commitied to becoming carbon neutral for market-based scope 1
and 2 emissions by 2030 and working 1o be a net zero organisation by 2050.
Against those longer-term targets we set the near-term target of reducing
scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions year-on-year, with this being linked into
remuneration and rewards across afl our senior teams. In 2022 we have
made goad progress, reducing aur overall emissions by 7.3%

As our disclosure bas increased, so has the need [0 ensure that the data that
we report Lo the market is accurate. YWe have now put in place an auditable
framework for our emissions reduction activities, with external subject
matter experts appointed to verify the data and ta report to the Group's
Audit Comrnittee.

A key focus for both the Board and the Group's Sustainability Committee has
been 10 ensure that we not only actively manage our sustainability agenda in
order 1o meet the near and longer-term targets that were setin FY21, but
that we continually look for ways in which we ¢an improve further.
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INTRODUCTION TO SUSTAINABILITY continued

QUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

STORAGE FACILITY UPGRADE AT CHEMRING NOBEL
Chemring Nobel (CHNJ is further improving its sustainability
credentials by investing in a new storage tank faclity. The new
facility will meet future government directives and enviranmental,
heafth and security compliance. The tank facility will increase the
storage capacity of essential raw materials helping CHN guarantee
supply ta customers, and better protect the surrcunding
environment from leaks or emissions.

CHN produces and delivers specialist chemicals to customers for
use in a range of performance and manufacturing applications.
During the preduction of RDX and HMX, acetic acid is made and
recovered. This is an important part of the process, as the acetic
acid is sold to customers, as well as being used as an ingredient in
the production of other chemicals.

The team recovers the acetc acid through several steps of
evaporation and distillation, resulting in pure acetic acid at the end of
the process. The acid recovery area at the CHN facility originally
had 19 storage tanks, in which the acid was kept ready for sale or
use. These storage tanks needed an upgrade and expansion.

The old storage tank area was built in 1968 and expanded in 1985.
In January 2021, the CHN team started a two-year project to
establish a new storage tank capacity.

This £6m investment will increase the amount of acetic acid that
<an be stored and bring the tanks in line with new compliance
directives. It will also help to avoid production downtime during
the life of the project and allow the team 1o consider and
implement new technology and further improverments to the
recovery and storage area.

CHN buys in the chemical compeound acetic acid anhydride, which
is then converted into acetic acid in the production of RDX/HMX.
This project will double the storage capacity of both the incoming
acetic acid anhydride and the outgoing acetic acid. This will secure
production, espedially during the winter when shipment to and
from Europe can be challenging.

The project, which is due for completion in 2023, also has the
following benefits:
- More automated operations (heaith and safety benefits).

- A new systemn for fire detection and firefighting via a foam system
(health and safety and risk prevention/management benefits).

- A system to purify emussions to sir (environmental benefits).

- Safe operations for icading and unloading trucks (health and
safety benefits).

- New retaining walls or "bunding” around the storage facility to
better protect the surrounding envirenment (enviconmental and
health and safety benefits).

8 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

PROGRESS IN 2022 CONTINUED

FY22 sees the Group report for the first time under the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD), the details of which can be
found on pages 45 ta 4% of this report In addition, the Group progressed its
commitment to further improve its non-mandatory disclosure by completing
its first CODP submission {formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project) at the end
of July 2022. By translating the TCFD recommendations and pillars into actual
disclosure questions and a standardised annual format, CDP provides investors
and disclosers with 2 umique platform where the TCFD Framewark can be
brought inte real-world practice in a comparable and consistent way.

In addition to gur environmental activity, this year has seen us progress our
activities around DE&I and employee welibeing.

Chemring is commitied to ensuring that we are able 1o attract and develep an
appropriately diverse workforce. Qur programme of education for aff senior
leaders continued in the first half of FY22 and was complemented by a suite
of CE&I training modules which form part of all development programrmes
from Early Careers to Senior Leadership Team development. With a specific
focus on gender diversity, the global Women at Chemring Committee has
been established 10 encourage local women's networks in each business unit,
alongside delivering a glabal day for Women at Chemring in the second half
of the year.

The Board has played an active role in supporting our DE&I activity with
Board memhbers taking part in varicus employee round-table discussions

and networking events. Laurie Bowen, as the non-executive director with
responsibility for employee engagemeni on behalf of the Board and as Chair
of the Remuneration Committee, met with groups f colleagues from
different business areas and at different levels in the organisation. Laurie was
able 1o hear directly from these groups their views on working at Chemring,
as welf as being able to share with them the work of the Board. These groups
included colleagues at all levels from operators (o the senior leadership teams
at Chemring Energetic Devices. as wel as at Chemring Countermeasures
USA's facility in Tennessee. The groups Laurie met were overwhelmingly
positive about their experiences of working at Chemring and pointed to many
examples of support from the Group, Laune also gathered input as to how
we can continue to develop, and colleagues provided clear and constructive
input on areas such as enhancing cross-business collaboration which are being
acted on.

Owr ESG strategy over the current and future years will seek to identily those
areas where our activities can have most impaci. Plans are now in place to
continue this journey and to ensure that we meet the growing disclosure
requirements of our stakeholders and demonstrate our ability 10 successhully
address ESG-related issues.

We will also continue to work with our advisers and sharehoiders to identify
how we can constructively feed into and inform the debate on the future of
ESG reporting and the creation of a common set of standards against which
we can be measured, Chemring 15 now a business whose evolving purpose

is innovaling to protect, and with that we are focused on protecting cur
customers, people, platfarms, missions and information. Less than 10% of
our revenue relates to the provision of raw matenal and components that
may be used by our customers in the production of offensive capabilities.
This will reduce further as the focus areas of the Group continue 10 grow.



As a business we remain futly committed to building a sustainable company of which alt our stakeholders can be praud, both now and in the future

OUR SUSTAINABILITY GOALS

UN SDG  Sustainability objectives

Supportive actions and activity Further information

ENVIRONMENTAL
Respecting and protecting
our planet by actively seeking
ways to reduce our
envirpnmental impact.

- Reduce gur impact on the environment and build -
resilience to climate change by focusing on energy.
waste and water, and by understanding the impact
of global climate change on our operations

Challenge our business unit leaders (o improve
operational, resource and energy efficiency and to
minimise environmental impact

Invest in support of product development and
production techniques that meet our custamers’
needs and suppoert their environmental goals N

Environment on

Chernring will be carbon neutral
pages 41 to 49

by 2030

Chemring is working towards being
a net zero orgamsation by 2050 and
is committed to supparting its

value chain

We will reduce our total direct
(scope 1) and indirect {scope 2)
GHG emissions year-on-year

Ve will continue to focus our efforts
on reducing @nergy consumption and
on embracing green technology

We will target zero waste to landfill
by 2030

SOCIAL

The safety, wellbeing and
development of our people is
at the heart of our business.

Maintain the highest standards of safety and the
wellbeing of our workforce

- Ensure that, in support of our wider commitment
to ethnic and gender diversity, our workforce
represents the diversity of the local communities -
we gperate in

Implement effective policies and procedures and -
continually invest in support of operational

excellence and the development of our people

Promote inclusion and diversity at all levels

Promote fair employment and skills development

Heaith and safety on
pages 40 to 41

We wilf set a totafl recordable injury
frequency rate limit of below 1

in ling with upper quartile
benchmark performance

Qur peaple on
pages 50 to 56
We will continue 10 reduce the risk

of high-tazard evenis

We wilt increase the proportion

of women in all senior management

positions across the business to 33%

by 2027

GOVERNANCE
Conducting business in
an ethical and responsible
manner at all tmes.

Qperate with integrity and transparency and to the -
highest ethical standards across al! our businesses
Ensure the highest standards of product safety and -
comply with all relevant standards

Promote a culture where everyone does the right
Lhing ard takes personal responsibility for their
actions

Actively seek to increase representation of
ethnicity and gender on our Board, within our
leadership tearms and across all our localities

- Protect information security and data privacy

- Maintain prudent and responsible financial and tax
planning and management

Ethics and business
conduct on pages 57
o 58

Chemring will target 40% female
representation on the Board

We will seek to meet the guidelines of
the Parker Review on ethnic diversity
as we refresh the compasition of

the Board

All Chemring employees and third
parties acting on our behalf must
camply with the Chemring Code of
Conduct, wherever they are located
in the world

Goal Aim

Goal Aim

Ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeng

far all at all ages

Reduce inequality within and among countries

Achieve gender equality and empower

all women and pirls

Ensure sustainable cansumption and
production patterns

READ MORE IN OUR

Ensurg access to zffordatile, reliable,
sustainable and modern energy for ali

Take urgent action tc combat climate change
and its impacts

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable
ecanomic growih, fulk and productive
employment and decent work far all

Promote peaceful and inclusive societies fer
sustanable developrment, provide access to
justice for all and budd effective, accountable and
inglusive institutians at all levels

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT:
CHEMRING.COM/
SUSTAINABILITY
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

ESTABLISHING A STRONG HEALTH

AND SAFETY CULTURE

Qur goal is zero harm, not as a statistical target but
as a moral imperative, which will be achieved by
establishing a strong proactive safety culture.

POLICIES AND PRACTICES

The Board recognises that the highest fevels of safety are required in order 1o
protect employees, product users and the general public. The Board believes
that all incidents and injuries are preventable, and that all employees have the
right 1o expect o return home safely at the end of every working day. The
Group Chief Executive has overall responsibility for health, safety and
enwireamental ("HSE™} matters across the Group.

The Group HSE Direcior reports directly to the Group Chiel Executive and
is responsible for the ongoing development and assurance of the Group’s

health, safety and environment strategy, known as our Journey to Zero Harm,

The Group HSE Director is a member of the Executive Committee and
reparts an the performance of all businesses against agreed limits and
objectives. The Graup Chiel Executive reports monthly te the Board on all
key HSE KPls.

The Board requires that all businesses systematically manage their health and
safety hazards, set objectives and monitor progress by regular measurement,
audit and review. Each managing director is responsible for the impiementation,
management and ongoing compliance of health and safety within their
business, and for providing adequate resources to satisfy the Board's
requirements. All managing directors have health, safety and environmental
related objectves incorporated within thesr annual incentive plan.

Managers and superwisors in the Group's businesses are required to ensure
compliance with procedures, and to prowde leadership and commtment

to promote and embrace a proactive health and safety culture. The Board
emphasises the importance of individual responsibility for health and safety at
all levels of the organisation, and expects employees to report all hazards, ta
be involved in implementing solutions and to adhere (o rules and procedures.

A key element 1 the continuous improvement of health and safety
management is collaboration at all levels resulting in the sharing of best
practice and lessons learnt from incidents across the Group's businesses

and the wider industry. Accidents, incidents and near misses are investigated,
with actions generated to prevent recurrence.

“The Board believes that all incidents and
injuries are preventable, and that all
employees have the right to expect to
return home safely at the end of every
working day.”
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ACHIEYEMENTS

2027 has continued to be a challenging year as we maintained a safe CV-19
envirgnment despite the pandemic. As a result of the restrictions associated
with CV-19, the Management of Change Process was used effectively to
ensure sale and cantinued operations aligned with in-country requirements.
Whilst this created a need for continued focus, we have been able (o progress
our HSE strategy — Journey to Zero Harm, further conselidating the
processes implemented last year:

- control of major accident hazards,

- injury reduction; and

- HSE risk management.

Actions taken in delivering the HSE plan included:

- continued rali-out of the asset integrity management system:
- design and implementation of the electrostatic discharge protocols, and
- deployment of the Spot u, Stop it, Share it campaign.

CONTROL OF MAJOR ACCIDENT HAZARDS

Our Countermeasures & Energetics businesses are required to manage
major accident hazards which are governed by stringent legislation within
their respective operaung countries. Over the last three years, we have
implemented a number of processes to enhance our focus in this area

by ensuring we design, maintain and operate with integnity. We continue
to invest in modern processes and technalogy to remave our employees
fram exposure to energetic hazards. During the design of these processes
we have placed more scrutiny on the application of process hazard analysis.

In 2019 we mandated that all Countermeasures & Energetics businesses
would need to conduct regular reviews te identify the potential for major
process safety events. The reviews are based on a “stress test” that addresses
the following questians:

- Have potential major accident hazards been identified?
- Are there effective contrels in place to prevent and contain a major event!

- Are these contrals being actively monitored?

This year saw the fourth iteration af that review process, with an increase
in the number of hazard scenarios being identified as the rigour of process
hazard analysis matured. As a result of this maturing process, we continue
to develop an understanding of our residual risks and throughout the year
have taken further steps 10 reduce these to a level as low as is reasonably
practicable To help reduce our residual nsks the implementaton of a
comman caomputerised maintenance management system has begun across
selected businesses, mproving management and accountability for safety
critical assets.



Towards the end of last year. we established the Technical Safety Commitiee
with the purpose of sharing best practices and advice on the develapment of
new standards and guidance. This year the Committee has become more
established, providing the facai paint for the delivery of the electrostatic
discharge protocols and oversight regarding the asset integrity management
system depleyment.

INJURY PREVENTION

Injury prevention focuses on the reduction of injuries through the adoption of
safety as an inherent part of everything we do. This is enacted through safety
teadership, clear expectations, accountability and establishing a safety culture
that drives Icarning and improvement, not blame.

This year we consolidated our corporate reporting platform to capture
better understanding of root causes and increased levels of assurance. These
additional data points will help our continued focus on becorming a learning
organisation. This data has established trends regarding musculoskeletal
disorders due to the manual handling nature of some of our processes,
together with cuts to fingers and hands. The refevant businesses have
developed plans to reduce the risk of injuries and it is hoped that this will be
reftected in future reporting.

With regards 1o leadership on safety, this again has never been mare critical
than during the pandemic. Business unit leaders continue to manage an
evolving situation through the Chemring CV-19 Playbook, ensuring the
appropriate rigour and governance through our change management process.
Our focus on injury prevention, in response to CV-19, continues to place
more emphasis on people’s emotional wellbeing, which is supporied by the
Healthy Workglace Sub-Commitige.

HSE RISK MANAGEMENT

Safe delivery of our business continues through the management of risk and
s built around understanding our hazards, and establishing clear expectatians
and consistency Our HSE Management System Framewark Standard puts our
HSE policy into practice by setting standards on eight core elerments across
the Group to drive a robust and comman approach to the management of
HSE Each business is avdited every two years to ensure compliance, with
high-priority non-compliances being reported and monitcred at Executive
Committee level. The changes made last year to our Operational Assurance
Statement process has helped the businesses focus on compliance with the
HSE Framework which in turn provides useful insights when planning the
Line of Defence 2 ("LOD2") audits.

OUR HSE PERFORMANCE

We measure gur HSE performance to reflect both ocoupational and process
safety In doing so we have several data ponts, one of which is an external
review of our prevaiiing safety ¢ulture. This year we :nvited back a team of
experts 10 review our progress since their previous reviews back in 2018
and 201%. The review has highlighted good progress as we journey iowards
becoming a high reliability organisation. In particular the review confirmed
our businesses as approaching a Group-wide calculative status, with robust
processes ang systems generating data and signals around our high-hazard
operations The level of collabaraticn has also increased, with many
businesses sharing best practice on a regular basis to help accelerate our
performance, all of which is supported by a positive tone from the top and
underpinned by risk-infarmed. visible and proactive safety leadership.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY

We focus not only on actuai injuries but also hazards and near miss events.
We therefore place an emphasis on near miss and hazard reporting as a
leading indicator of our maturing safety culture. This year we had 2,828
occupational safety near miss and hazard reperls, compared to 2,602 in
2021, We had 3 total of 13 high-potential {“HIPQ"} incidents compared

to 9 last year

We are embedding this learming nto the organisation through quartery
Learning from {ncidents reviews with all business leaders and increased use
of safety alerts, not anly to share incident learning but also as good practice.

PROCESS SAFETY

In addition to our reactive metrics we also measure process safety near miss
avents, with a total of 880 recarded in 2022 compareg to 625 in the previous
year. Near miss reporting is crucial if we are to understand and prevent
incidents which is why we encourage all our employees 10 stop. warn and
inform so we can manage any emerging risks. The increase in near miss
reporting represents good progress as an organisation willing to learn and
\mprave on a continuous basis During 2021 we consolidated the reporting of
our leading indicator for process safety events {"PSE"). which are categorised
as level 1, 2 and 3, with 3 being the event with the most serious potential.
We set a kimit of below 2 PSE at level 2 and 3 per 100 production employses,
and this year we achieved 1.86.

HSE STRATEGY FORWARD OUTLOOK

In 2021 we raviewed the current three-year strategy focused on the contral

of major accident hazards, injury prevention and HSE risk management. This

review resulted in an additional element regarding the right capability being

added as well as 2 more balanced approach towards health, wellbeing and the

environment. The revised strategy 1s therefore a natural evolution and reflects

the maturity of the business As such, during the next three years we wifl

continue to focus on:

- asset integrity and process salety - relating 160 the contred of major accident
hazards and PSE events induding a review of all electrostatic discharge risks;

- occupational health and safety — focusing on injury and liness prevention,
including psychological health and welibeing;

- environment and sustainability — to co-ardinate our work on reducing our
environmental impact. and

- improved data — enabling data-driven discussions and decisions leading to a
more proactive culture

Qur progress against this strategy will be reperted in the next annual report
and accounts.
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ENVIRONMENT

REDUCING OUR

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Our goal of zero harm goes beyond the
management of safety. We are committed to
environmental sustainability, both globally and
in our local communities, and reducing our
environmental impact.

QUR COMMITMENT

In 2021 we committed to reduce our total direct and indirect greenhouse gas
("GHC") emissinis yedr-on-year and to be carbon neutral by 2030 In ths
report we inciude information on our climate-related risks and opportunities
in glignment with the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"). We have made good progress on our goals,
with a 7.3% reducton in scope 1 and market-based scope 2 emissions from
our 2021 baseline. We also have dentified a path to become carbon neutral
by 2030. In 2022 we published our first CDP report and we have begun to
collect and report selected scope 3 carbon emission data. This work ts
overseen by our Sustainability Committee with regular progress reports to
the Board.

INTRODUCTION

Our environmental performance information is presented in accordance with
the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting ("SECR™) Guidance (March 2019),
as specified under the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013. Data is presented for our financial year, from

1 Novemnber through to 31 October, and includes information on our most
significant erwvironmental aspects. energy consumption and associated GHG
emissions; freshwater use; and waste generation. The scope of the reporting
includes ail continuing global businesses under our operational control and does
not include several small leased office spaces, where we do nol have energy
data and they are not under our operavonal control,

Our GHG emissions calculations are undertaken in accordance with the GHG
Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard. We are reporting
2021 and 2022 data and inciude scope 1 GHG emissions, as well as locaticn
and market-based approaches for scope 2 emissions of purchased electricity.
QOur key scope 1 emissions sources are natural gas and fuel ail used for
building and process heating, with small contributions frorn fuels used in
an-site vehicles and refrigerant releases Primary scope 1 emissions are

CO,. with small contributions from CH4. N2 and HFCs.

Our energy and carbon figures are now recorded on a monthly basis
allowing cross checks for anomalies. To ensure & consistent approach
we utilise DEFRA 2020 published conversion factors for ali conversions
{except non-UK electricity where US eGRID and 1AE factors are used).
Spot checks are conducted against utility bills to validated published figures

OUR APPRCACH

We are actively seeking ways to reduce our impact on the environment and
build resilience to climate change by focusing on energy, waste and understanding
the impact of global dimate change on our operations. These three focus areas
were updated in 2021 based on a materiality review of our environrmental
1mpacts and risks, with a focus on impacts that we can influence. These focus
zreas are periodically reviewed by our Envirgnmental Committee, consistent
with broader sustainability goals and reporting guidelines.

Mary of our Chemring businesses have environmental management
systems and have undertaken local initiatives and programmes to reduce
environmental (mpacts. In agdition, in 2022 we began using a new data
collection and dashboard reporting system.
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QUR STRATEGY

Qur strategy is to reduce our global GHG emissions through improving energy
efficiency to reduce consumption and by purchasing electricity from renewable
sources. In 2021 we commutted ta becoming carbon neutral for scope 1 and 2
emissions by 2030 and working to be a net zero organisation by 2050,

To improve our energy efficiency, we continue to make improvements to aur
operations, including installing new energy-efficient buildings to replace old
buildings, upgrading HVAC systems and improving lighting

In 2022 we nstalled new HVAC systems at our Pennsylvania farility and
reduced natural gas usage at our Scotland site.

CLIMATE CHANGE RESILIENCE

Ve recognise that climate change has the potential tc have an impact on our
operations, having experienced flooding from a severe weather event at our
Tennessee facility n 2018 and wildfires 1n areas surrounding cur Austraha
operations in 2019 We have begun to review the physical and transition risks
of glabal climate change on our cperations and supply chain.

ENERGY USE AND ASSOCIATED GHG EMISSIONS

Our Countermeasures & Energetcs businesses in Norway and Scotland are
responsble for 38.8% and 244%, respactvely, of Group energy usage. This is
followed by our business in Tennessee, which accounted for 18.9% of annual
energy consumption, In 2022 we developed our updated carbon reduction
plans in alt of our businesses Our UK operations account for 74.5% of

our scape 1 emissions, 16.4% of our scope 2 ermssions and 33.6% of our
energy use.

1n 2022 we have achieved a 73% reduction in market-based scope 1 and scope
2 carbon emissions, from 20,684 :CO,e in 2021 to 19175 tCO,e in 2032
Location-based emissions increased by 1.4% during the year When normalised
for gross revenue, market-based scope 1 and 2 emissions reduced 177%, from
526 1o 43 3 tCO e per {m of revenue

We made significant improvements in our market-based carbon emissions
Reductions have been achieved across the busimesses through initiatives such
as the use of biofuels at our Roke and Salisbury sites. improved efficiency ang
rmaintenance of our steam systems in Scotland, and the use of renewable
energy n Australia We also acquired and retred Renewable Energy
Cerificates ("RECs") for some of gur US electricity consumption.



w021 20%
us, s,
Naorway, Group Norway, Group

UK Austraka toeal UK Australiz total
Scope 1 emissions
Combustion of fuel in any premises, machinery or equipment operated, owned or controlled by the Group
CO.e (tonnes)
Gas 4,901 460 5,361 5303 504 5807
Heating il 1,000 jas 1,388 1.475 96 1,571
Bio fuels 1 —_ 1 —_ —_ —
LPG 39 139 278 29 249 278
Fuels consurmed by Group-owned and feased vehicles, excluding business travel and empioyee commuting
CO,e (tonnes)
Diesel 95 78 173 93 97 190
Petroleun —_ 1216 216 — 77 77
LPG —_ 25 25 — 19 19
The operation or controb of any manufacturing process by the Group
CO,e (tonnes}
On-site waste ncineration 26 160 186 Pl 147 168
Refrigerants discharged 25 518 543 73 488 S&1
Total scope 1 emissions CO,e (tonnes) 6,087 2.084 8,174 6994 1677 8671
Scope 2 emissions
Tatal emissions CO,e (tonnes)
Electricity — location-based 2,426 12,372 14,798 3,086 10.889 13.975
Electricity — market-based _ 11,004 11,004 _ 12013 12,013
Total scope 1 and 2 emissions
Location-based CO,e (tonnes) 8,513 14,456 22,969 10.080 12,566 22,646
Market-based CCye (tonnes) 6,087 13.088 19,175 6994 13,690 20684
Total energy consumnption {Mwh) 44,361 87,478 131,839 48,373 81,689 130062

We engaged ERM CVS to provide independent assurance of aur 2021 and 2022 total seape 1 and total scope 2 locaton-based emissions figures as well as total scope I market-based
erussions figures. Their iIndependant Assurance Statement can be found on page 12 of our Sustamability Report 2021. The basis of reporting document can be found on the Group's

website at www.chemnng comfbasitofreporting.

2022 2021
Total scope 1 and scope 2 emissions CO.e (tonnes) - location-based 22,969 212646
Total scope 1 and scope 2 emissions CO,e (tonnes) — market-based 19.475 20584
Group revenue (£m}) 442.8 3933
Tatat CO,e (tonnes) per £m of revenue (location-based) 51.8 57.6
Total CO.e {tonnes) per £m of revenue (market-based) 433 526
SCOPE 1 CARBON DATA COLLECTION
In 2022 we initiated the collection of a limited set af scope 3 carbon data. Details of this can be found on page 10 of our Sustainability Report 2022,
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ENVIRONMENT continued

WATER CONSUMPTION

in 2022 we used a total of 943,769 m? of freshwater. There was a conuderable drop in usage from 2021 (1,220,000 m) due to reduced water usage in Scotland
None of our cperaticns are in water-stressed regions as defined by the United Nations. Qur Australian facility continues to collect and use rainwater that falls on
the site for facility needs.

022 2021
uUs, s
Norway, Group Norway, Group
UK Australia total UK Australia ol
Freshwater {m?)
Freshwater use 437,274 506,495 943,769 668,000 552,000 1,220,000

WASTE GENERATION

In 2022 we introduced a new reporting system for waste which allow tracking of waste destinations.

Our hazardous waste reporting increased from 2021 due to inclusion of a recycled waste that was not inciuded in previous reparts. This accounts for the
significant nise in recycled hazardous waste reported {1,361 tannes from 33 tonnes). In 2022 our total hazardous and non-hazardous waste was 1914 and 2,103
1ennes respectively. OF this. 71% of hazardous and 57% of non-hazardous waste was recycled.

1022 o
us, us,
Norway, Group Norway, Group
UK Australia totral UK Awustralia total
Waste (tonnes)
Recycled. non-hazardous 129 1,064 1,193 397 635 1.032
Recycled, hazardous 59 1,302 1.361 32 1 33
Mot recycled, non-hazardous 172 739 211 164 977 1.141
Not recycled, hazardous 36 517 553 88 243 330
Total waste {tonnes) 396 3,622 4,018 681 1.855 2536

At our Counterrmeasures & Energetics businesses we generate unique waste
which is often best managed by destraying it at on-site treatment facilities. In
2022, we continued work on upgrading the testing and treatment facilities at
our Scotland facilty.

With respect to waste management there are two priority areas: the
reduction of waste generation and the reduction of waste sent to landfil

To help track progress in these areas we have begun recording the amounk
of waste sent to landfill, and are evaluating and updating our waste reduction
plans at our largest waste-generating businesses.

LAND QUALITY

Qur facility in Chicago, US, is located on a site which has “superfund” status
under the US contaminated land regime. The business cantinues to work with
consultants and the regulatory authorities to ensure that its legal obligations
in relation to this matter are fully sausfied.

In 2022 we also incurred costs in connection with environmental remediaton
on the sites af the munitions businesses formerly owned by the Group in
Belgium and ltaly in accardance with the terms of sale of those businesses,

The Group carries a £39m (2021 £3.0m) prowision in respect of environmental
fiabilities, whuch the Board considers ta be adequate (see note 22).
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (“TCFD”) REPORT

The Task Force on Climate-related Financial The Board notes the recommendations in refation to the mandatory

H " " . disclosurces of climate-related finanoal risk arising from Listing Rute 9.8 6(8)
Disclosures ( TCFD ) establishes a number of and has concluded that the business strategy rernains resilient given the
recommendations for disclosing clear, comparable mitigaticns atready implemented and planned.
and cansistent information about the risks and We consider our disclosure ta be contistent with all the TCFD Recommendatiors

opportunities presented by climate change.

GOVERNANCE

and Recommended Disclosures including section C of the TCFD Annex
entitled "Guidance for all Sectors” excluding full completeness of scope 3
ermssions for which we continue to embed the relevant capabilities across
the organisation to track and disclose this data. In 2023, we will focus on
developing our reporting to enable future disclosure.

Our statement to meet these requirements, providing information on the
governance of climate-related issues. integration with overall nisk management,
strategy in managing dimate-related issues and opportunities, and the metrics
to measure progress towards our targets, is set out in the following pages

BOARD OVERSIGHT OF
CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS
AND OPPORTUNITIES

The Board s responsible for overseeing climate-related nisks and oppertunities in delivering the Group's strategy and
running the Group’s operations. The Group Chief Executive is the Board director responsible for sustainatiity across
the Group which includes climate-related risks and opportunities. | he Board reviews the Group Risk Register as a
scheduled agenda item every six months in which both physical and transitional chmate-related-risks alongside
opportumbties are considered.

The Board is informed of progress aganst the Group's carbon reduction targets implemented in 2021. Assaciated
action plans, capital expenditure and budgeting related to targets are overseen and reviewed by the Board.

MANAGEMENT S ROLE
IN ASSESSING AND
MANAGING CLIMATE-
RELATED RISKS AND
OPPORTUNITIES

To facilitate and ensure a centralised approach to sustainability across all our businesses, the Group Sustainability
Committee (consisting of members af the Group's Executive Committee) was formed during 2021. The Committee
is chaired by the Group Chief Executive 2nd has aversight of all the Group's ESG-related activity including that of
assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportumbes.

The Group Chief Executive, informed by the Sustamnabiiity Commuittee. is responsible for ensuring that the Board s
updated quarterly on all key matters including the impact of climate-related issues Members of the Commuttee are
informed through their respective departments on matters relevant to climate-related issues.

Executive dicectors and members of the senior leadership team within the Group are incentivised to achieve the
Group's carbon reduction targets through their annuat bonus and long-term incentive plan (Performance Shase Plan
("PSP™)) as detailed on pages 96 to 113

STRATEGY

CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES IDENTIFIED OVER THE SHORT, MEDIUM AND LONG TERM

THE IMPACT OF CLIMATE-
RELATED RISKS AND
OPPORTUNITIES ON
CHEMRING'S BUSINESSES,
STRATEGY AND
FINANCIAL PLANNING

The risks and cpportunities associated with climate are reflected in our strategy and plans, and we strive lor
continuous improvement to reflect our purpose, our growth strategy, the external fandscape and the expectations

of our stakeholders Climate risks and opportunities covering both physical and transitional aspects of ¢limate change,
were considered during the year. Associated time horizons associated were viewed as short-term (O to 2 years),
medium-term (2 to 5 years), or long-term {5 to 30 years). The basis for the lime horizons was to align with our
internal strategic and financial planning processes. Short-term being the immediate budget period. medium-lerm
covering the remaining detailed finanaial planning penod and long-term being outside of these periods. From this, the
key risks and opporturities that couid have a material financial impact on the arganisation have been identified. YWhere
material, the Group s commitled to managing regulatory, reputational and market risk related 10 dimate change.

Dietarls of the principal risks and uncertainties which could have a material impact on the Group's business modet,
strategy, future performance or reputation, of which climate change has been identified as a risk, are covered in the
risk managemment section on pages 64 to 73. Climate-related risks and opportunities are outlined in more detail on
pages 46 Lo 45.

1. IEA (2021), World Energy Model, IEA. Paris htips-fivnwwiea orgireportsiwarld-energy-madel.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (“TCFD") REPORT continued

STRATEGY
CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES IDENTIFIED OVER THE SHORT, MEDIUM AND LONG TERM

THE RESILIENCE OF
CHEMRING'S STRATEGY,
TAKING INTO
CONSIDERATION
DIFFERENT CLIMATE-
RELATED SCENARIOS,
INCLUDING A 2°COR
LOWER SCENARIO |

In 2021/22 the Group began to develop its climate-related scenario analysis 1o improve understanding of the
bebaviour of certain risks given different climate outcomes Ve have utilised three public climate-related scenarios
which we deem o be reliable and related to our business operations to aid our undersiandng of the business
resilience to climate change. We will revisit these scenario analyses to ensure these remain appropriate. The scenarios
are as fallows:
- Sustainable Development (SDS)' outlining a global low carbon transition which limits the global temperatures rise
10 1.65 “C by 2100, with 50% probability;
- Stated Policies (STEPS)' outlining a combination of physical and transitions risk impacts as temperatures rise
by 2.6°C by 2100, with 50% probability; and
- RCF 8.5% an extreme physical risk scenario, where global temperatures rise between 4.1-4.8°C by 2100
Scenarios have been supplemented with additional sources that are specific to each nsk to inform assumptions
included in projections. The Group continues to refine its approach to quantitative aspects of this modelling and
will report further nformation as this develops.
Assumptions have been made as part of this scenario analysis:
- Chemring will have the same business activities that are in place today That means impacts should be considered
in the context of the current financial performance, prices and operational locations
- Impacts are assumed to occur withaut the company responding with any mitigation actions, which would reduce
the impact of risks
- The analysis considered each misk and scenario in solation, when in practice they may occur in parallel as part
of wider set of potental globai impacks
- Carbon pricing was mnformed by the Global Energy Outlock 2021 report from the International Energy Agency ("IEA"),

Results of the scenario analysis are outlined on pages 4B to 49.

2. IPCC. 2014 Climate Change 2014 Synthess Repart Cantribution of Working Groups |, H and Ill to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergavernmental Panel on Climate Change.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

ALL BUSINESS UNITS ARE REQUIRED TO ASSESS RISK IN RELATION TO THE DELIVERY OF THEIR STRATEGY AND OBJECTIVES,
WITH CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS FORMING PART OF THiS CONSIDERATION

CHEMRING'S PROCESSES
FOR IDENTIFYING AND
ASSESSING CLIMATE-
RELATED RISKS

Current and emerging climate-related risks and opportunities are considered, whether they anse within the Group’s
aperations or within the value chain, including existing and emerging regulations. In 2021/22, chmate risks and
opportunities relevant to the Group were identified and reviewed with the aid of external consultants, and refined
through consultation with key Chemring personnel, including members of the Sustainability Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board Risks and opportunities were assessed in line with the Group's methadology
to assess principal risks A probability and impact matrix defines the bkelihood of the risk. assessed based on historical
evidence or experience that such consequences have materiahsed (Very Unlikely, Unlikely, Neutral, Likely, Very Likely).
The magnitude of impact is also classified (Low. Low-Medium, Medium, Medium-High, High) and, where possible, a
singte figure estimate for the financial impact was calculated.

CHEMRING'S PROCESSES
FOR MANAGING
CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS

Once each ciirmate-related risk and opportunity was identified, the Group sought to quantify the financial impact,
appropriate strategic response. and the cost of implementing the mitigations, This process includes considering the
long-term impacts arising from the risks identified on our products and services. This in turn helped to determine the
materiality, allowing the Group to prioritise resources {0 manage its most signilicant climate-related impacts,
determine the best management response or highlight areas requiring further investigation All of the Group's cimate
change risiks and opportunities are covered by existing or planned mitigation and adaptation strategies.

PROCESSES FOR
IDENTIFYING, ASSESSING,
AND MANAGING
CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS
INTEGRATED INTO
CHEMRING'S OVERALL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Chimate is considered as a Group princpal risk alongside the risks identified in the wider risk rianagement process.
This ensures climate-related risks are integrated into the Group's averall enterprise risk rmanagement framework.

The management of each business is responsible for the identification, management and repor ting of tocal nsks,
in accordance with the Group's risk managerment framewark,

The Risk Management Committee meets quarterty and, utilising the input from the business nsk registers and the LS
nisk register, identifies those principat risks which are matenal to the Group as a whate. The completed ¢limate-related
risk and apporiunity register was reviewed by the Board during the financial year.

METRICS AND TARGETS

METRICS USED TO ASSESS CLIMATE-RELATED RiSKS ANC OPPORTUNITIES IN-LINE WITH CHEMRING'S STRATEGY
AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS WITH CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS FORMING PART OF THIS CONSIDERATION

SCOPE 1,2 AND, IF
APPROPRIATE. 3 GHG

Chemring monitars scope 1 and 2 emissions with aspects of scope 3 disclosed on page 43. The Group also discloses
other enviranmental metrics such as freshwater use and waste generated, as reported on page 44 For the current

EMISSIONS AND THE year disclosure of scope 3 emissions, please refer o page 10 of the Sustainability Report 2022.
RELATED RISKS
CHEMRING'S TARGETS A crucial first step in Chemning's approach to addressing dimate-related risks and opportunities in FY21, Chernring

FOR MANAGING
CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS
AND QPPORTUNITIES
AND PERFCRMANCE
AGAINST TARGETS

set appropriate near and longer-term sustainability goals, with targets against which our progress could be measured.
These included but were not limited to reducing our direct {scope 1) and mdirect (scope 2) emissions year-on-year,
to be carbon neutral by 2030 {scope 1 and ) and to be net zera by 2050

Emissions targets for the Group are outlined on page 42.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES (“TCFD") REPORT continued

CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS
Risk Wildfires Severe weather events Technology
Type Physical Physical Transition
Area Own operations Own operations Own operations/downsiream
Primary potentia! financial Lest revenue Lost revemse Higher expenditure
impact
Time horizon Short-term Short-term Medium/Long-term
Likelihood Likely ' Likely Uniikely
Magnitude of impact Low Low-Medium Low
WILDFIRES

IMPACT ON THE
BUSINESS AND
STRATEGY

Climate change poses an increased risk to the likelihood and severity of grass fires, which have the potential 10 disrupt
production and product delivery due to physical damage to surraunding infrastructure and Chemring facilities, as well as
creating additional costs of remediation. Wild grass fires that occurred in 2019 on one of the business sites in Yictoria,
Australia, which, although did not impact operations, highlighted this threat

Current mitigations have already been deployed i the form of cutting back grassland close (o operatians and ensuring local
mitigatians in place for actiwties such as planned burns.

Using analysis conducted for the risk assessment of wildfires in Australia (the area in which the hkelihood for the risk

is highest), differences in scenarias were analysed to understand the change n land annually exposed to wildfires in Victoria
Looking al the worst-case climate change scenario (RCF B.5), the median shifts by ~0.1% to the SDS scenario. The minimal
impacts from this risk are highlighted within the Australia region in the physical risks table (Table 1}.

SEVERE WEATHER EVENTS

Extreme weather events resulting from cyclones and starms are exacerbated by chmate change, having the potential to impact
the Group's pperations. Physical damage to Chemring facilites and surrounding infrastruciure could reswlt in disruption to
preduction and product delivery, and impact overall revenue. The Tennessee and Charlotte sites are iocated in areas with
exposure 10 tropical storms. Far example, in 2018, a severe weather event, caused partial flooding at the Tennessee fadlity.

As a consequence, drairage improverments have been made, with further mitigations planned to reduce the impact of potential
fiooding events in the uture.

In looking at future scenarios. the physical risk of severe weather events rermained localised to sites within the US, particularty
Tennessee, Even in the RCP 8.5 scenario, the risk of expected damage from river fiooding projected out 1o 2050 remains similar
10 scenario SOS This is alse summarised within Table 1.

TECHNOLOGY

Climate-refated requirements are changing in key customer procurement contracts, which presents a risk that the Group’s
costs could increase in order 10 comply This would influence expenditure along with other potentiat impacts including loss
of contracts and disposal or write-off of legacy/stranded assets.

In response 1o this risk, Chemring maintains continual assessment of government priorities in terms of technology roadmaps
and procurement requirements as necessary. Additionally, close refationships with customers are maintained to facilitate
effective risk management and long-term planning.

Under the scenaro (SDS), the Ministry of Defence has outhned its approach 1o dimate change and sustainabifity strategy

At present we do not expect this to affect the Group given the low ameunt of carbon emitted in the use phase of preducts.
Future procurement densions may focus an the sustainability of a supplier's business operations. for which Chernring has a
roadmap towards becoming a net zero organisation by 2050,

TABLE 1 - OVERALL PHYSICAL RISK IMPACTS SPLIT BY GEOGRAPHIC REGION
AND SCENARIO ANALYSED (STEPS EXCLUDED DUE TO DATA LIMITATIONS)

Site location
Scenario Australla Eurape UK Morth America ® Low impact
sDs ] ] ] [ ] ® Mediym impact
RCP 8.5 . ° . . ® Hgh impact
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CLIMATE-RELATED OPPORTUNITIES

Opportunity More efficient production Sourcing low-emission energy Supgply chain reslience

Type Resource efficiency Energy source Resilience

Area Own operations Own operations Own operations/upstream
Primary potential financial Reduced costs Reduced costs Reduced costs of input goods and

impact

input Lransportation

Time horizon Shori-term Short to Medium-term Short to Medium-term
Likelihaod Likefy Very hikely Very likely
Magnitude of impact Low Low Low-Medium

IMPACT ON THE
BUSINESS AND
STRATEGY

MORE EFFICIENT PRODUCTION
Improving energy efficiency through initiatives such as upgrading budding facilities, and LED lighting retrofits has the benefit of
saving on direct energy costs. Plans for future initiatives are in place with planned financial savings.
This opportunty is largely unaflecied by external changing poticy scenarios, as future initiatives are already in place with planned
finarcial savings.

SOURCING LOW-EMISSION ENERGY

Increased renewable energy availability and improvernents to technology are leading to renewabile energy becoming
increasingly inexpensive Chemring will benefit from de-linking energy costs to fossil fuel prices through the procurement
of renewable energy for its sites. In addition, this will reduce the Group’s exposure to GHG emissions and therefore lower
sensitivity Lo changes in the cost of carbon.

The carbon price (US$HCO,e) 15 projected ta increase as follows:

Scenaria 1030 2040 2050
STEPS 65 75 90
s5Ds 120 170 00
Difference 5% 127% 122%

There is an opportunity 1o benelit from the avoided emissions of sourcing energy from fossil fuel based providers

Future scenarios that drive up fossil fuel prices such as the phase out of subsidies (SDS) and incentives for clean energy
transitions such as those under the European Green Dea! (STEPS) provide further impetus for procuring energy from more
renewable sources.

SUPPLY CHAIN RESILIENCE

Chermring has identfied opportunities to improve resilience in the supply chain, including from the physical impact of climate
change by understanding supplier risks and developing redundancy. Some suppliers within the supply ¢hain are sole
suppliers, which requires an understanding of their potential risks and the rmplementation of mitigations 1o minimise any
supply disruptions.

Under the worst case scenario RCP 8 5, physical risks of climate change may increase for some suppliers depending on their

geographic location and current risk to extreme weather events. As a further supply chain investigations are developed,
location-based dala for sole suppliers will be available and can inform the climate-related risk scenanio analysis
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OUR PEOPLE

INVESTING IN OUR PEOPLE

Chemring people are at the heart of our business.
We invest in our people at all levels across every
location and function, creating strong foundations
for our future success. ‘

CULTURE
OUR OVERALL PEOPLE
APPROACHIS FOCUSED ON  (ypERSTANDING ENGAGING WITH DEVELOPING
FIVE KEY AREAS: OUR POPULATION OUR PEOPLE AT CHEMRING
DIVERSITY AND CHEMRING IN THE
INCLUSION AT COMMUNITY

CHEMRING

CHEMRING CULTURE

Our peeple approach is underpinned by cur culture. Engaged, motivated.
empowered and appropriately-skilled colleagues are integral to our success
as it is through them that we will progress our strategy and deliver long-term
growth. Cur goal continues to be to ensure that we have the right pecple. in
the right place. ai the right time, with the right skilis, working in a safe, healthy
and inclusive environment.

The Chemning culturat framework has four pillars and these provide
the structure around which alt our actions are set and measured
These pillars are’

CUSTOMER LEADERSHIP
CENTRICITY

THE DIVERSITY,
EMPLOYEE EQUITY AND
EXPERIENCE INCLUSION
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In 2022 we continued to build on the progress made since 2019. Using a
well-practised blend of global direction and structure, delivered locally
thraugh individual business units, we continue to support our Chemring
colleagues in therr mission to do their best work every day.

Since the initial culture review. every part of the business has developed
actions to support progress in each area. Progress each year builds on the
waork done previously, as well as putting in place new activity to support
the cultural fourney.

The ESG agenda is now well embedded across the business and ieadersip
support has ensured that the work around the environment, diversity, good
governance and continuous impravement has become a key part of the
culture at Chemring,

During 2022 the HSE teams have worked ciosely with the people teams
as part of the ongoing work arcund the safety culture at Chemring.
Our overall culture and gur approach o safety are closely linked and
mutual support is key to continuing progress in both areas.



We have further embedded our approach to providing development
opportunities at all key career levels — Early Careers, First Line Managers,
Experienced Managers and Semor Leadership Teams - and extended this
to include education, awareness and action planning around diversity and
nclusion appropriate for each level.

With the restrictions of the pandemic easing throughaut the year in all
geographies, the focus has been on bringing colleagues back together and
resetting ways of working. Local employee forums have been revitalised
with groups coming together to restart discussions around the experience
of working at Chemring Hybrid working principles have now been adopted
as appropriate fur each part of the business, providing further fiexibility
to complete work where it makes most sense to do so. Community and
recognition events, such as charity fundraising, working with veterans’
organisations and the return of socal events for colleagues, have provided
further opportunities for in-person interaction and this supports the
development and reinforcement of the Chemring culture.

Measuring progress is key to understanding how far we have come n
achieving our cultural aspirations. Our Employee Voice initiative ensures that
we are regularly checking in with colleagues to irack and share our progress
towards the aspirational culture goals. The real-ume bespoke sentirnent
tracking tool creates dashboards of participation and positivity based on the
Tour cultural piflars. Business unit leaders review these regularly and share
progeess with colleagues at all levels through muttiple channels.

Wellbeing continued to be a key theme in 2022 In line with the approach
of Global Voice, Local Accent. a global committee focusing on ¢reating and
maintaining 2 healthy workplace, which was established in 2021, continued
to meet throughout 2022. Many business units have established Wellbeing
Teams locally to focus on areas of local interest and importance, and to
deliver activities and support to promote wellbeing on site.

As part of line manager development and through the early careers network
events, areas such as maintaining mental health have been addressed, as well
as helping indviduals Lo develop healthy habits. Our strategy is to builg this
focus in the early stages of our talent pipehines 10 ensure these topics become
"business as usual” as colleagues move through the arganisation.

TOTAL POPULATION
2022

29%
2021

29%

%

1%

Male Fermale

Mental health first aid training has continued acrass all business units in 2022,
with some business units also providing specific mental health training on site
throughout the year.

Support through the provision of occupational health services on demand in
each location has been used extensively in 2022. Additionally, the provision
of Employee Assistance Programmes, which have been in place for a number
of years, has been refreshed in 2022, with additional communication and
provision of support to colleagues and managers.

UNDERSTANDING OUR POPULATION

Qur Chemring business is highly diverse. Our success depends on
understanding cur globat population. During 2021 a full review of al!

in-place HR technology revealed significant differences in level of provision
and importantly 1 the ability to derive data to understand the population.

In 2022 these insights were developed and an approach agreed which will
move towards a more consistent systematic approach ta managing employee
information. |n the US, the people team have commenced work to implement
a single vendor solution for end to end empioyee kfecydle suppart using an
existing supplier as the start point. A similar programme wili commence for
the UK businesses in 2023

LISTENING TO OUR PEQPLE

>2,300

colleagues with regular access
ta bespoke Employee Voce
pulse survey

40%

regular response rate of
participants in Employee Voice

>75%

positivity score

>5,000

individual comments

DEYELOPING OUR PEOQPLE

>90

graduates and apprentices
hired in the year

120

graduates and apprentices tack
part in UK wide Early Careers
Development Programme

and Conference

>340

line managers and supervisors
invoived in global Leading our
People programme

80

experienced managers enrofled
on Aspire@Chemring, our first
fully virtual management
developrent programme

80

senior leaders took part in
quarterly development sessions
as individual senior leadershig
teams as part of the Leading our
Qrganisation initiative, including
DE& training and safety
development
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OUR PEOPLE continued

UNDERSTANDING OUR POPULATION CONTINUED

The adoption of modern HR technology will support our ability to attract,
recruit, on-board and then manage and develop colleagues, as well as reducing
the risk around key activities such as payroll processing. The ability to report
both key static metncs, as well as Lo interrogate process metrics such as
movements through the organisation, impact of developrment and pay
progression, will provide the opportunity to leverage further our key asset

- our people.

Our investment in 2019 in the Employee Voice sentiment monitering

tool means that we are able, in real tme, to create an approach of “You said.
we did”. The launch of the Experienced Manager Development Programme in
2022 was in response to both a recognised gap in the development approach
as well as addressing comments raised through the Employee Voice taol.

Sirnilarly, the ongoing focus on Performance Conversations supports requests
from colleagues for regular feedback fram ther managers. Continuing
improvernents n internal communicatons — such as the programme to put TV
screens across all locations to enable reat-time communications o those who
are not able to access emal at work — are also in direct response Lo feedback
from the Empioyee Voice statements,

ENGAGING WITH OUR PEOPLE

Communication both within and across the Group is key to engagement. Each
business unit uses a range of formal and infarmal channels including ail-hands
meetings, smaller ieam briefings. employee forums, direct email messaging
and the CEQ's viog, with an active Q&A session encouraging anyone from
across the business to ask a question, as well as regular distribution of the
Chemring magazine. Chemring-i. As pandemic restrictions eased, every
business unit has taken the opportunity to bring colleagues together face to
face for a range of different activivies and events — from development, lunch
and learn sessions, fundraisers to community activity.

The recruitment challenge being feh globally has also Tocused attenuon in all
businesses. A wide range of coligagues have been involved in supporting
activity te both ensure retention — through communication of the benefits of
working at Chemring, sharing more widely information and updates on
products and cuskomer activities — and 10 generate new hires. Activities such
as in-person careers events held in local communities, through velerans’
associations and direct through the business units, have created the
opportunity to remind colleagues of whai a great place Chemning 1s to work,
as well as providing much-needed colleague interaction after the past two
years of limited contact.

Cespite the challenges of the pandemic. our colleagues remain positive about
warking at Chemring, Across 2022 49% of colleagues regularly provided
feedback wia the Employee Voice tool through reacting to staterments or
providing written feedback. A regular review of the responses at business
unit levet and globally {with the US and the rest of the world taken as two
different groups) ensures that concerns are identified quickly and addressed
in real time.

During the year, Laurie Bowen, as Chair of the Remuneration Committee and
non-executive director charged with employee engagement on behalf of the
Board, met again with groups of colleagues to hear direct from them their
views an warking at Chemring as well as sharing the work of the Board.
Laurie visited multiple locations acress the UK and US and hosied eight
feedback groups across three different business areas and at different levels of
the organisation from cur front fine colleagues through to senior leaders.

Feedback from these sessions covered a variety of topics on the minds of our
employees, such as how inflation 15 impacting the cost of living through to
how gur values of Safety. Excellence and Inncvation are lived and breathed in
our businesses. Leadership and Communicaton were specifically raised as
argas where improvements have been made and employee ideas were shared
on how we could further improve.
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This feedback was shared with cur local leadership teamns at those tocations
to allow them to respond and take action. Employee feedback remains a
key channel for insights into how we <an shape Chemring’s employee
engagernent priorities.

In 2022 we continued tc ensure that ali colleagues were able 10 share in our
corporate success Discretionary bonus schemes are now in place at all levels
in our organisation for colleagues working in every business area. These
schemes, which are tailored to suit local business requirements and focus,
provide bonus awards quarterly, half yearly or annually bed to the
perfarmance of the individual business unit and ensure our colleagues feel
that they are contributing to the overall success of their business.

Development is at the heart of the people strategy at Chemning It is essential
in ensuring we have the capabilities today and in the future to appropriately
support the business This development also underping our retenuion and
attracuon capability with current colleagues and future candidates becoming
increasingly demanding of the organisation and the investment i their future.

There were sorme significant additions to the development framework
in 2022, meaning that Chemring now has a fully formed development
framework taking colleagues from their Early Careers as graduates or
apprentices and providing development at key career milestones in
suppart of both technical and leadership capabibity

Highlights of our development approach are:

- A UK-based Earty Careers Development Programme which commenced

in 2022 for all new graduates and apprentices who joined in autumn 2021

n the UK, providing early teadership and people skills development and

the oppertunity for building a cross business network. This is complemented

by technical development prowided wethin each business unit specific to the

rale colleagues have been brought in to fearn,
- Continued development of the Leading our Peaple programme for all line
managers globally in support of developing Chemring leadership bench
strength. The initial programme — Leading our People Foundation - 1s
undertaken by all new line managers as lhey progress or are hired to ensure
that every colleagwe in this role has a strong foundational understanding of
what is expected of them Launched in 2022, Leading our People Futures
provides quarterly learning and networking focused on lacal as well as
global business challenges.
The launch of Aspire@Chemring in 2022 supports the development of
managers who have moved beyand supervisor and first line rmanagement and
who are identfied as future talent for our key senior roles. This creative,
digitally-enabled programme encompasses group learning, networking
through the use of mixed learning “pads” and links to glabal executive
business schools including Columbia and MIT to leverage a mix of learning.
The focus on Leading Human Performance and Leading Organisational
Performance connects development into the personal, functional and
business goals.

Leading our Qrganisation s run quarterly acrass the year to ensure our
most senior colleagues are alsa benefiting from the opportunity to reflect
on the areas of culture which they can influence and work together to
deveiop action plans around their local pricrities.



DEVELOPING AT CHEMRING

LEADERSHIP ACCELERATE TALENT EARLY CAREERS
SENIOR LEVEL LEADER ] LEADING OUR CRGANISATION ‘
| ASPIRE@CHEMRING [
MID LEVEL LEADER EARLY CAREERS
EMERGING LEADERS PARTICIPANTS! -
PROGRAMME NETWORK
LEADING OUR PEOPLE
FIRST LEVEL LEADER
EARLY CAREERS
LEADING OURSELVES PERFORM’;NCE PROCRA ME:E
MANAGING YOURSELF CONVERSATIONS

Develapment is the cornerstone of the drive 1o continuously improve the
quality of our business. Our colleagues are wrwolved in performing a huge
number of often complex processes and procedures which challenge their
technical expertise every day. Alongside the above programmes for leadership
development, work continues to ensure high levels of operator competence
throughout the organisation. Indivmduals across the organisation are encouraged
to undertake continuing professional development as required to ensure that
expertise and knowledge remain up to date. Additionally through different
routes, further technical development, ncluding workplace PhD programmes
and MBA study, 15 actively undertaken by a number of colleagues.

In 2022 over 30 college undergraduates cined our business units in the UK
throughout the summer to experience waorking for Chemring as part of our
summer (nternship programme. Summer placements are a key part of our
outreach to support students pursuing STEM subjects and to encourage them
to establish a career s this imporiant area

The Chemring Early Careers cohort continues to grow with over

BO graduates and apprentices welcomed Lo the UK businesses in 2022

(55 in 2021). With Early Careers colleagues now represented in most areas
of the business covering hoth techrucal and functional roles, this important
group of colieagues 15 fundamental to our future success.

Our commitment to apprentices means that we welcomed 25 apprentices

in 2022. We are close to capacity for encouraging this impartant young talent
to start their career at Chemring and sa our attention is now on developing
those colleagues already worklng with us who might benefit from formalised
development beyond the Leading our People programme. Partnering with an
outside organisalion we will be using Apprentice Levy funding in 2023 to
support colleagues in achieving ILM accredited level 3 and 5 apprenticeships
as well as enabling them to benefit fram creating an external network.

“We continue our commitment to sponsoring bursaries for undergraduates
through the Institute of Engineering and Technology which underhnes our
commitment 1o supporting future generations of scientists and engineers
We currently spensor 20 students and this year welcomed two sponsored
students as permanent colleagues as part of the Graduate Scheme.

The market for tatent remains challenging and nowhere more 56 thanin
providing the type and number of calleagues required by our Roke business.
In response, in 2022 we launched the Roke Academy in partnership with
Hatch, a specialist in digital skills recruitment The Roke Academy s a

centre of excellence for learning and development, with an iritial focus an
non-traditional areas of recruitment to embrace undiscovered talent who
may not have previously had the opportunity to enter the tech field.

In 2022 and 2023 the Roke Academy will look to attract those who may have
faced barriers to work for a variety of reasons; indwiduals who have found
the traditional recruitment process a chalienge, are returning to work after

a break, transitioning from military service, or fooking far 2 change of career
The Academy supports these diverse individuals who can bring unique
strengths to our business in terms of creativity, data analysis and innovation to
then progress in their chosen field. In 2022 we weicomed 24 new colleagues
through this route and will continue 10 expand this programme in luture
years. The Roke Academy presents a wider cpportunity ta combine all
development from Early Careers through technical training and to provide
support for the maost senior leaders at Roke as a true centre for development
excellence. This will continue to evolve in 2023 and beyond.

In 2021 a global framewark for assessing and supporting 1alent and succession
planning was introduced into every business unit. This framework provides a
congistent approach to understanding key roles in the business and creating
an understanding of the talent pipeline for each role. This process has
continued intc 2022 with development plans in place at an organisational

and individual level to support growthinto key roles. For example, the
Aspire@Chemring programme content was designed around the outputs
commeonly identified in the organisational talent reviews.
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OUR PEOPLE continued

TOTAL GRADUATES AND APPRENTICES
2072

25%
20N
19%

B1%

5% Male Female

COLLEAGUES INVOLVED N LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMMES IN 2022

1022

30%

70% Male Female
KEY ROLE TALENT PIPELINE
10122
35%
00
8%
7%
65% Male Female

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION AT CHEMRING

Chemring strives for diversity on a broad basis including gender, age.
background, education, disability, neurodiversity and nationality (within

the constraints of cur regulatory requirements). This is an area where we
continue to develop both glabally and locally and which will be central to our
success in the coming years. In 2021 we ntroduced DE&I goals for all of our
senior leaders which form part of our incentive plans

We have an increasing number of formai and informal groups around the
business which support and connect people with shared ¢characterisiics
or interests. In 2022 we launched the Women's Inclusivity Network,
WIN@Chemring, with & focus on supparting female colleagues globally.
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CGUR PURPOSE IN ACTION

JOE SPIRES’ GRADUATE JOURNEY

Joe Spires is a Graduate Engineer at Roke in Romsey, UK. He
studied nuclear engineering at Lancaster University with support
from The Institution of Engineering and Technology's ("IET™)
Horizons Bursary. The Bursary provides financial support of up to
£4.000. Through the bursary scheme, Jae was partnered with
Chemring in his second year, completing a summer internship with
Chemring Countermeasures UK {"CCM UK") and leading him to
his current role at Roke.

Says foe, "The financial support | gained from the Horizons
Bursary helped with quality resources such as the many expensive
books needed for my course. | come from a lew-income
household, so this support also meant that | didn't have to work
during my degree and could focus on my studies.

“| got the chance to work with a great team with a great culture at
CCM UK, and. following a conversation with the Managing
Director, | applied to the graduate scheme at Roke. Thankfully, |
was offered a position at the end of my degree course and have
been working on special projects with Roke since then. The
mentoring and support |'ve received from the team have been
second to none, and I'm learning so much.

“It's my hope to continue building my expertise in areas like
robotics and sensars 1o enable me to architect solutions myselt
with confidence. I'm also excited about the travel opportunities
that a role in a global organisation could offer in the future”

These groups made up of female colleagues from every function and level
have put in place actions to support both male and female colleagues and
provided the opportunity for colleagues to discuss local challenges and issues
affecting this key population.

Across 2027 we have worked to ensure we understand the ethnic diversity
of cur population. We are keen te ensure that our Chemring community s
reflective of the communities we operate in and are developing approaches
to more formally maonitor this. We are pleased to be abte to pravide additional
reporting on ethnic diversity at Chemnng in this year's annual report.

Mmed
Asan Black race Yhite Other®
% % % % %
Serwor managers 38 50 00 91.2 Q9
Mid-level managers 1.8 43 1.5 93 12
Adl other employees 37 16.3 1.2 75.8 30

* {inc Hispanic, NHOPI, Native American).



As an employer we make no distingion between disabled and able-bodied
persQns in recruitment, employment and training, career development and
promotion, provided that any disability does not make the partcular
employment impractical or impossible under the siringent regulatory
requirements under which Chemring operates.

Today we ensurg that any external bodies we work with to support our
hiring efforts have diverse candidate pools and attraction approaches that are
open to all svitably qualified individuals and we ask questions at appointrmeent
around these \mpartant areas. The Executive Committee has a format
regquirement 10 review the process fer appointing all senior team memhers,
including ensuring processes are without bias and open to all candidates
regardless of characteristics.

As 3 business, we are committed to meeting, at a minimum, the labour rights
and legisiation requirements in each country in which we operate. In practice,
we often exceed these requirements.

CHEMRING IN THE COMMUNITY

We recognise that each of the Group's businesses has an important role to
play in its local community We have a recognised community investment policy,
which confirms aur commitment to support selected charitable causes with

a focus on the military and armed services, and those (inked to the local
commurities in which the Group’s businesses operate. Each business has its
own locally held charity budget. and at a Group leve!, charitable donations are
considered by the Executve Committee,

In addition to providing finanoal support, the Group also encourages and
supports emplayees who undertake voluntary work in the local commumty.

Looking to specific communities, cur relationship with the Institution of
Engineering and Technalogy now spans four years with support provided
directly to undergraduates studying for engineering and science-related
degrees in the UK wha have faced some level of hardship in achieving a place
to study their chosen programme These high-calibre students are provided
with fenancial support via a Chemring funded bursary and the opportunity
for work experience and career support.

We are aware that on cccasion our manufacturing activities can smpact
an the local community. This impact may be due to product proofing
or testing, for example. In these instances, the businesses seek to
actively liarse with local residents and cormmunity groups to minimise
any impact. The Group is alse cognisant of the potential impact aof its
operations on the local environment. and is addressing this through its
environmental strategy.

“We have a recognised community
investment policy, which confirms our
commitment to support selected charitable
causes with a focus on the military and
armed services, and those linked to the local
communities in which the Group’s
businesses operate.”

QUR PURPOSE IN ACTION
MAKING MENTAL HEALTH A PRIORITY
Chemring Energetics UK ("CEUK") made mentat health a priority

in 2022 and employed the services of a company called Headtorch.

Headtarch, based in Glasgow, are a team of spegialists in Jearning,
development and psychology. They work with organisations both
nationally and internationally to build a positive mental health
culture and support mental health in the warkplace.

Headtorch delivered a bespoke twa-day event with 30 managers,
covering all areas of the site, to help them feef better equipped to
encourage and facilitate mental health conversations with their
teams In addition, a group of actors from Headtorch filmed
different mental health scenarios in full CEUK uniform and PPE to
really bring the stories 1o fife for those involved.

The aim was 1o build a positive mental health culture on site so
that colleagues feel able to speak openly if they have issues. We
also want to remove the stigma of talking about mental health and
rather than setting KPls and targets around mental health, which
are extremely hard 1o measure, our priority is on supporting line
managers, helping staff feel able to talk openly at work and

providing access to the right professional resources to help peaple.

The CEUK team also established a Wellbeing Forum on site.
The purpose of the Wellbeing Forum is to optimise the physical,
emaotonal, social and mental weibeing of staff by providing a
mechanism for all our colleagues to contribute to the CEUK
wellbeing agenda.
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OUR PEOPLE continued

CHEMRING IN THE COMMUNITY CONTINUED
Across Chemyring our coileagues support a wide range of charities, both local
and national. Highlights this year include:

Support for Ukraine - Since March 2022, Chemring cclleagues have pulled
together across the organisation to fundraise and denate to support the
humanitarian crisis in Ukrane, with Chemring matching all money raised.

Veterans and military charities — A number of charities directly related to
providing support 1o service veterans are supported across the Group
Actmities range frorn fundraising to danations and providing time and
resources to initiatives.

Community building projects — In the US, Chemring Energetic Devices
("CED") is supporting Habriat for Humanity, an international charity fighting
global poverty and homelessness, by spending a day helping buld homes as
well as fundraising in support of the chanty.

Other tocal support ~ There is much local activity supporting charitves
close to our sites. Chemring Australa are supporting a women's refuge
through the WIN@Chemring team, and at CED colleagues support local
families over the haliday season through the Adopt-a-Famity scherme

Colleagues across Chernring reguiarly take on individual challenges for causes
special to them with donations often matched by the company. Climbing
mouniains, moving large objects and running marathons bave all been tackled
i the year,
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ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT

DOING THE RIGHT THING

Chemring is committed to conducting its business
in an ethical and responsible manner at all times,
and in full compliance with all applicable laws

and regulations.

OUR APPROACH

We are committed to promoting a culture within Chemring where everyane
does the right thing and takes personal responsibility for their actions. Gur
Operational Framework and Code of Conduct set out the standards of
business conducl and behaviours we expect of all of our businesses, our
employees and all third parties who act on our behall We require all
employees and third parues who act on our behalf 1o conduct business
honestly and with integrity. and to take personal responsibility for ensuring
that our commitment to sound and ethical business conduc? 15 delivered.

ETHICS & COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

The Board has established an Ethies & Compliance Committee, chaired by
Carl-Peter Forster, with the otheér members being the Group Chief Executive,
the President of our US operations and the Group Legal Director &
Company Secretary. The Committee has oversight of the Group's ethical
business conduct and compliance framework, including our anti-bribery
processes it monitors the implementation of the framework across the
Group and recommends areas for future improvement.

The Commiitee met three times during the year. At every meeting the
Committee reviews and monitors compliance with our anti-bribery processes
and reviews whistleblowing reports receved and associated investigations
During the year the Committee also reviewed:

- reperts from PwC on their internal audits of the business's compliance with
our anti-bribery processes and iheir review of the implementation of the
Chemring Compliance Portal,

- metrics on the due diligence of third party sales partners, service providers
and suppliers conducted through the Chemring Compliance Portal;

- reports on the independent audit of selected third party sales partners;

- training materaal on the Code of Conduct, and

- approvals granted under our palicy on sales to customers located in higher
risk territories

The Chairman reports to the Board on the Committee’s acuvities following

each rneeting.

QOPERATIONAL FRAMEWORK

Our Operatioral Framework incorporates a broad range of more than 35

palicies and procedures which have been adoptes by all of our businesses.

The Operational Framework implements a robust governance and

compliance framework t& enable us to operate in a safe, consistent and

accountable way.

The leaders of each of our businesses are required to ensure that:

- every employee. 3t every level of the organisation, has access to and
understands the requiremants of the Operaticnal Framework:

- appropriate training and monjtoring processes arg in place to ensure proper
implementation of the Operational Framework; and

- local procedures and processes are adopled to implement the requirements
of the Operational Framework

All of our Operational Framework poficies, procedures and associated training
ynaterial are hosted on the Chernng Compliance Portal. This innovalive onfine
system allows us to issue new and updated poficies and training to employees
across the Group, targeted to their specific roles, and enables us to monitor
completion of mandatory training on a Umely basis.

Our governance framework also includes a requirement for all businesses
to complete an Operational Assurance Statement on an annual basis,
providing 2 detailed assessment of thew caompliance with the Operational
Framework. The output from the operational assurance process enables
us to drive continuous impravement in owr governance and comphiance
framewark, in¢luding the identification of additional traning requirements
for our emptloyees. It alsa allows us to monitor and address the evolution
of a number of the key risks we face, and praovides valuable input to our
internal audit programme.

Operational
assurance process

Identification of
risks and aceas for
improvemaent

Caontinuous
improvements to
the Operational
Framework

Internal audit :r:p:mf;;::jlo;‘es
review and ° end rt,r inin .
consideration and tramning

of findings programmes

CODE OF CONDUCT

Our Code of Conduct. which sits alongside our Operational Framework,
embraces our fundamental values of Safety, Excellence and Innovation

It provides direction to all employees on legal. ethical and risk issues that
they may encounter in their day-to-day activities.

All employees and all third parties who act on the Group’s behalf are
required to comply with our standards of behaviour and business conduct,
as set aut within the Code, and applicable laws and regulations in all of the
countries in which we operate. All employees, current and new, are provided
with a copy of the Code of Conduct and asked ta confirm that they will
adhere to its standards The Code is repraduced in Norwegan for our
employees in Norway.

Updated scenario-based training on the Code was provided to employees
during the year.

READ MORE IN OUR SUSTAINABILITY
REPORT. CHEMRING.COM/SUSTARNABILITY
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ETHICS AND BUSINESS CONDUCT continued

WHISTLEBLOWING

Our Chemring culture embraces transparency and openness, and we
encourage all employees to speak up if they have any concerns. We have 2
whistleblowing poficy and associated procedures in place which enable zll
empkoyees o raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties ar
wrongdoing within the business, withaut fear of reprisal or retafiation.
Employees are able to raise issues by contacting our 24-hour ethics reporting
sennce by phone or email or by accessing an external website. All issues
reported are taken seriously and investigated appropriately in a corfidentiat
manner. Third parties may also access our ethics reporting services.

Our inletnal proecedures en the handing of whistleblowing reports are
designed to ensure that all reports made, whether through the external
service or throwgh other internal channels, are dealt with in a proper and
consistent manner, with appropriate oversight fram the LUK and US legal
departments. Training 15 provided to members of our leadership teams on
how to identify whistleblowing reports which may emanate through
less-obvious channeks and how 10 engage with emplayees who make
whistleblowing reports.

ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION

The Group has well established anti-corruption policies. which are included
within our Operational Framework, Specifically, these cover bribery and
carruption, confllicts of interest, gifts and hospitahity, and facilitation payments.
A number of other policies wathin the Cperational Framework also address
bribery and corruption risks in areas such as finance, political donations and
lobbying, chariable donations and offset

The Group has also adopted a policy on sales to customers Facated in
higher-risk territories, which requires our businesses to prepare a risk
mitigation plan for any proposed transaction in a territory rated less than
50 on Transparency International’s Corruption Perceptions Index. This plan
is required to address both bribery and carruption risks and broader risks
which may be encountered in doing business in such territories.

Our detalted anti-corruplion procedures are incorporated within our Bribery
Act Compliance Manual {'BACM™), which is updated on a regular basis, and
inchedes requirgments for:

- each business to routinely conduct informed bribery risk assessments as
part of normal operating procedures. 1o determine the nature and extent
of the Group's exposure to potential internat and external risks of bribery
and corruption on its behalf by persons associated with it;

- approval of the appeintrment of all sales partners ang other thizd party
advisers, which in all circumstances requires the completion of risk-based
due diligence, appropriate managernent approvals, use of standard form
contracts, and ongeing monitoring and review:

- risk-based anti-corruption due diligence processes for the engagement of
service providers and supplers;

- regular mandatory training on BACM and its application to their respective
rales for management, supervisors and all employees working within
commarcial, sales and marketing, finance and human resource functions or
in customer-facing roles;

- approval of the giving and recewving of reasanable. proportionate and
appropriate gifts and hospitality in the normal course of business; and

- proper identification, disclosure and management of potential or actuat
conflicts of mierest.

A BACM "Pocket Guide” is issued to afl employees across the Group, which
provides an overview of our anti-corruption polides and the requirements
ol the detailed manual.
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All businesses are required to camplete a BACM Compliance Certficate on
an annual basis, confirming that all policies and procegures within BACM have
been complied with and providing supporting information te demaonstrate
compliance. BACM Compliance Certificates are reviewed by the Ethics &
Compliance Commitiee following each subrmission.

We recggnise that the appointment of third party sales partners in our
routes ta market can present particular bribery and corrupbon risks, and
we therefare implement enhanced anti-corruption procedures for the
engagement of sales partners where there 15 a genuine business need

by mandating:

- restrictions on the number of sales partners 1o be engaged n

each territory.

the preparation of a full business case to justily the appaintment of all new
third party sales partners, including a two-stage bribery risk assessment
incorporating the requisite level of risk-based due difigence, which must

be approved by the Group Chief Executive before the sales partner

is appoinied;

.

due difigence reports from external consuitants for higher-risk appointments;

z full periodic reappointment process for all retained sales partners,
including recammissioning of the appropriate risk-based due diligente and
resubmission of a full business case for approval by the Group Chief
Executive; and

- increased reporting requirements for all payments made to third party safes
partners and higher risk service providers,

)

The review and approval processes for our third party sales partners are
automated through the Chemring Compliance Portal, which enables us to
adopt a consistent approach to the application of our due diligence and
approval processes across the Group Due diligence processes for the third
party service providers and higher risk suppliers engaged by our non-US
businesses are also managed in the Chemring Compliance Partal The US
businesses have adopted a similar automated system for their service
provigers and higher-risk suppliers.

The Chernring Compliance Portal also incorporates a maodule for employees
to seek approval online prior to giving ar receiving gifts and hospitality, or
making charitable donations on behalf of the business.

Selected third party sales partners are subject to an independent audit by
an externat consultant. These audits provide additional assurance on the
suitability of our sales partners and help to further strengthen our
anti-bribery and corruption processes.

Compliance with BACM procedures continued ta be a core aspect of PwC's
internal audit programme during the year.

HUWMAN RIGHTS

The Group is committed Lo respecting human rights in the countries in which
we do business. Qur Code of Conduct 2nd other applicable policres under
the Operational Framework support our commitment to ensuring, as far

as we are able, that there is no slavery or human trafficking in any part of

our business or in our supply chain. All suppliers are pravided with a copy

of our Supplier Code of Conduct, which requires them to adhere to our
ethical standards and expectations, including in relation to human rights.

We do not knowingly support or do business with any suppliers who are
invoived in slavery.

A statement of the Group's compliance with the Madern Slavery Act 2015
can be found on the Group’s website at www chemring.com.

We fully aghere to all relevant government guidelines designed to ensure
that cur products are not knowingly incorporated into weapons, or other
equipment. used far the purposes of terrorism, international repression
or the abuse of human rights.



FINANCIAL REVIEW

DELIVERING GROWTH, STRONG

CASH GENERATION AND
FUNDING INVESTMENT

Andrew Lewis
Chief Financial Officer

“Our focus in 2022 has been on adapting
to our customers’ needs in what has
been a changing geopolitical landscape,
combined with supply chain challenges,
energy price increases, and other
inflationary cost pressures.”

£7.72m

(2021 £26.6m)

CADER BOOK

£65Tm

(2021 £501m)

WWe have successfully navigated the changing
geopolitical landscape, supply chain challenges
and inflationary pressures and delivered a 2022
result which exceeded initial expectations,
maintaining the balance of short-term delivery
with long-term investment.

In the Sensors & Information sector, Roke revenue exceeded £100m for the
first time, and in what continues to be a bugyant market, order intake of £168m
was up 59%. We invested in Roke Academy and Roke USA which in the
medium term will enable Roke to continue its track record of strong growth,

In the LIS sensors business there hag been a positive start to the full rate
production phase of the EMBD program. A cusiomer procurement decision
is expected in 2023 on the low rate initia! production (“LRIP") phase of the
|BTDS and AVCAD programs. The shift in the LS Government priorities
from counter-insurgency operations 1o equipping forces for polential peer
to peer/near-peer competition in the Pacific, has resulted in a swift and
unexpected re-prioritisation of US Dol budgets. This impacted our
expected HMDS FY22 delivery order, which was not funded. and we are
currently working with the customer to appropriately plan for their expected
future requirements as we expect the program to move from production to
sustainment earlier than anticipated

In Countermeasures & Energetics, order intake was £356m, up 40%,

driven by multi-year orders recewved across the sector Investment in the
Group's manufacturing infrastructure continues to be a key enabler to deliver
improved safety and operational excellence, resulting in Countermeasures &
Energetics margin :improving fram 16.2% to 174%. The new Tennessee facility
commissioned in the second half of the year s expected to delver its first
revenue in the first half of 2023. The market for precision engineered devices
and specialty materials was strong, with order intake up 37% to £137m for
these niche areas of our Countermeasures & Energetics sector.

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In 2022 the Group successfully navigated a number of aperational and
financial challenges: delays in the US OoD procurement process: labour
availability; various supply chain and inflauionary pressures. in particular the
cost of energy. These headwinds are likely 10 continue and the Group will
continue to work to mitigate their impact.

Fareign exchange translation has provided a tailwind to operating profit
compared 1o last year. While exchange rates have been volatle in the year,
the US doflar has strengthened with the average exchange rate to sterling
decreasing from $1 38 to $1.23, 48% of the Group’s revenue was US doilar
denominated (2021: 53%). On a constant currency basis the Group's revenue
was up 7% 1o £421.2m, underlying operating profit was up 8% to £62.2m and
underlying basic earnings per share was up 17% ta 19.7p. A summary of the
impact of the exchange rate movements on the key metnics at a Group and
sector level is shown in the table overleal
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE CONTINUED

Al CONSTANL CUMmenky As reporied
2002 022 200
im Change £m Change £m

Group
Order intake 5231 +21% 551.5 +28% 4310
Order book 604.1 +21% 650.9 +30% 5008
Revenue 421.2 +71% 4428 +13% 3933
Undertying EBTDA 799 +5% 82.3 +8% 764
Underlying operating profit 612 +8% 64.0 1% 575
Undertying basic earnings per share 19.7 +17% 202 +20% 169
Sensars & Information
Crder intake 1923 +9% 195.2 +11% 1759
Order bock 148.0 +30% 1517 +35% 1136
Revenue 1578 +8% 162.3 +11% 1466
Undertying EBITDA 328 -5% 33.0 -4% 344
Underlying operating profit 99 -5% 300 -5% 36
Countermeasures & Energetics
Order intake 3308 +30% 356.3 +40% 2551
Order book 456.1 +18% 497.2 +28% 3872
Revenue 2634 +7% 280.5 +14% 246.7
Underlying EBITDA 61.7 +10% 64.2 +14% 56.1
Underlying operating profit 46.6 +17% 489 +22% 400

Order intake across the Group increased by 28% to £551m (2021: £431m),
with a 59% increase in Roke’s order intake, driven by a growing number of
multi-year contracts which inglude an increasing element of “pass-through”
products and services which are included in revenue. Countermeasures &
Energetics order intake was £35%6m, up 40%, driven by multi-year orders
received acrass the sector

The smpact of the Continuing Resolubion n the US, and the continuatian of
CV-19 related working restrictions slowed the process of doing business with
government departments, and as a result some orders were received later
than expected which wi'l adversely impact phasing of FY23.

Revenue for the year was up 13% 1o £442.8m (2021: £393.3m), driven by strang
perfarmance at Roke as well as steady growth in Countermeasures & Energetics,

The underlying operating profit of £64.0m (2021: £57.5m} resulted in an
underlying operating margin of 14.5% (2021 14.6%). As a result of the
planned investment in Roke operating margin was flat compared to 2021 with
the improved operaticnal execution in Ceuntermeasures & Energetics offset
by the discretionary operating expense investment in Roke Academy, Roke
Futures and Roke USA.

UNDERLYING OPERATING PROFIT (£m})

£640m
€547m £57.5m
£44.0m

€31.0m

Frig FY1% FY2Q Fra Fra
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Total finance expense [ell to £1.5m (2021: £1 6m) which resulted in an
underlying profit before tax of £62.5m (2021: £555m) The effectve Lax rate
on the underlying profit befare tax was 91% (2021: 14.8%). The underlying
basic earmings per share was 20.2p (2021 16.9p}.

Statutory operating profit was £53.3m (2021 £504m) and after statutory
finance expanses of £1.5m (2021 £1.6m), statutory profit before tax was
£51.8m (2021: £48.8m). The statutory tax charge totalled £4.4m (2021 £73m),
giving statutory profit after tax of €474m (2021, £41.5m} and statutory basic
earnings per share of 16.9p {202t 14.7p)

A reconciliation of underlying to statutory profit measures is provided in note 3.
The non-underlying costs refate to the amortisation of acquired intangibles,
costs relating to acquisitions, loss on the movement in the fair value of
derivative financial instruments and the tax credit associated with these.

TAX

The underiying tax charge totalled £5.7m (2021: £8.3m)} an an undertying
profit before tax of £62.5m (2021: £55.9m). The effective tax rate on
underlying profit before tax for the year was a charge of 91% (2021° 14 8%)
The reduction in rate is due to the recognition of a deferred tax asset in
respect of future US interest deductions of £4.3m Locking forward into
2023 we expect the Group effective tax rate to return to the mid-teens

as the change to the UK Corporalion Tax rate, effective 1 April 2023, will
impact the annual current tax charge for seven months. From FY24 we will
see a full year effect and as such the Group effective tax rate is expected to
increase to approximately 20%. The statutory tax charge totailed £4.4m
{2021 €7 3m} on a statutory profit before tax of £51.8m (2021: £48.8m).



EARMINGS PER SHARE

Underlying basic earnings per share was 20.2p (2021: 16 9p) and diluted
underlying earnings per share was 19.7p (2021: 16.5p). Statutory basic earnings
per share was 16.9p (2021: 14.7p) and statutory diluted earnings per share
was 16.4p (2021: 14.4p).

UNGERLYING DILUTED EPS (PENCE)

19.7p
16.5p
148p
11.0p
67p
Fria FY1% Fy20 FYn FY22
WORKING CAPITAL

Working capital was £93 9m (2021: £84.4m), an increase of £9.5m. At constant
currency, working capital would have been £81.9m. As a percentage of

revenue, working capital has remained consistent at 21% at 31 October 2022,

and would have fallen to 19% at constant currency. Given global supply chain
challenges the Group invested in certain inventory items to mitigate the risk
of shortages on praduct-on and delivery to customers, We continued with
our focus on commercial contracting, inventory levels and cash management.
Year-grd trade receivable days of 17 (2021; 25) and trade payable days of 18
(2021; 18) demonstrate that working capital has been managed in & balanced
and sustainable manner.

WEEKLY NET DEBT (£m)

GROLIP FINANCIAL POSITION

MNET DEBT AND CASH FLOW

The Group's net debt at 31 October 2022 was £7.2m (202%: £26.6m),
representing a net debt to underlying EBITDA ratio of 0.09x (2021: 0.35x).
The financial health of tne Group has continued to improve in a number of
aspects during the year. Oiscipined working capital practices have been
maintained to reduce intra-pericd volatihty. The Group is working to achieve
further improvements over the medum term.

UNDERLYING CASH CONVERSION (%)

V0K e — = = e m e e e e mm = - — - — - m--———— =
104% 1o 105% 109%
89%
fyig 119 FY20 FYzt FY212

Underlying operating activities generated cash of £90 1m (2021: £80.0m)
Underlying cash conversion was 109% (2021: 105%) of underlying EBITDA,
and an average of 108% on a rolling 36-manth basis (2021: 107%) The
Group has a revolving credit facility of £150m which runs to December 2025
and has an option to extend for a further two years at the lenders’ discretion.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

DEBT FACILITIES

The Group's principal debt facilities comprise a £150m revolving credit
facilty and a US$10m overdraft. These were established :0 july 2021 with

2 syndicate of six banks and run until December 2025 with two "one-year”
options 10 extend. The Group had £136.7m (2021 £128.1m) of undrawn
barrowing facilities at the year end. The Group is subject to two key financial
covenants, which are tested quarterly. These covenants refate (o the leverage
ratio between underlying ESITDA and net debt. and the interest cover ratic
between underlying EBITOA and finance costs. The calculation of these ratics
involves the transiation of non-sterling denominated debt using average,
rather than closing. rates of exchange. The Group was in rampliance with
the covenants throughout the year,

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The surplus on the Grougp's defined benefit pension schemes was £11.2m
(2021 £33 7m), measured in accordance with [AS 1% (Revised) Employee
Benefits. The surplus relates 1o the Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme
{the "Scheme"), a UK defired benefit scheme whose zssets are held in a
separately administered fund. The Scheme was closed to future accrual in
April 2012. The surpius as a percentage of scheme liabifities increased from
15% to 19%. the mcrease being driven by the increase in the AA corporate
bong yield used as the discount rate for 1AS 19. The resilence of the Scheme’s
investment strategy . which includes a liabihity driven investment hedge, was
demonstrated by the limited impact of increased interest rale and inflation
expectations. During the final quarter of the year the Scheme exited its
portfoho of equity investments in antipation of the need for liquid cash
resources ta meet the margin calls on the liability driven westiments, as gilt
yietds rose rapidly in September 2022. The Growp also lent the Scheme £2m
on a shart-term basis to cover further margin calls in Cctober 2022, which
was repaid in November 2022

An updated triennial valuation was completed as at 6 April 2021 and showed
a techmical provistons surplus of £3.8m, which represented a funding level of
104% of liabilties, The Group agreed with the trustees that no further deficit
recovery payments are required. The next actuamal valuation is due as at

6 April 2024 after which the future funding requirements will be reassessed.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group s, from tme to time, party to legal proceedings and clams, and
is involved in correspandence relating te potential claims, which arise in the
ordinary course of business.

in addition, one matter remained cpen at year end, being the incdent that
occurred at the Group's countermeasures site w Salisbury on 10 August 2018,
Full details are included in note 33

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group continues ta invest in the infrastructure of its facilities, with
parucular focus on enhancing safety and operational performance. In the
year £31.5m (2021; £28.0m) was spent on property, plant and equiprment,
The most significant investment being the Tennessee capacity expansion
programme to meet the expected demand for F-35 countermeasures, and
a new progfing facility at our Scottish site which has continued during the
period. We stili expect to generate revenue fram the new Tennessee
facility during the first hall of our 2023 financial year
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

RE&D expenditure was £79.7m (2021: £62.0m}. Continued investment in R&D
is a key aspect of the Group's strategy. and levels of internally funded R&D
are expected te be maintained as investment in product development
continues, particularly within Sensors & Information. An analysis of R&D
expendilure 15 set out below:

2022 20

im Im

Customer-funded R&D 69.7 514
Internally-funded RAD:

- expensed ta the incorme staternent 75 85

- capitalised 25 21

ALTERMATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES ("APMs™)

In the analysis of the Group's financia! performance and position, operating
results and cash flows, APMs are presented Lo provide readers with additional
infarmation. The principal APMs presented are underlying measures of
earnings including underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax,
underlying profit after tax, underlying EBITDA, underlying earnings per share,
underlying operating cash flaw and underlying cash conversion. In addition,
EB!TDA, net debt, underlying operating profit and revenue on a constant
currency basis are presented which are also considered to be non-IFRS
measures. These measures are consistent with information regularly reviewed
by management to run the business, including for planning, budgeting and
reporung purpases and for its internal assessment of the operational
performance of individual businesses.

012 0 Growth
£m {m %

4428 3933 13%

Revenue (as reported)
Effect of using prior period

foreign exchange rates (21.6)

Revenue at constant currency 421.2 3913 i3
Underlying operating profit {as reported) 64.0 575 1%
Effect of using prior period

foreign exchange rates (1.8)

Underlying operating profit

at constant currency 2.2 575 8%




A reconcihavon of underlying measures Lo statutory measures is provided below:

2022 00
Non- MNon-

Underlying undertying Statucory Underipng undertying Statutory
Group:
EBITDA (¢m) 82.3 {6.1) 76.2 764 {0.9) 755
Qperating profit (€m} 4.0 (10.7) 533 57.5 [EAY 504
Profit before tax (£m) 2.5 (10.7) 51.8 55.9 7.1 48.8
Tax charge (£m) {8.7) 11 (4.4) (8.3) 10 73)
Profit after tax (£m) 56.8 24 47.4 476 (6.1) 45
Basic earnings per share (pence) 20.2 {3.3) 16.9 169 (2.2) 147
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 9.7 (3.3) 164 165 (2.1) 144
Sectors:
Sensors & informatien EBITDA (£m) 330 {1.2) ns 344 (16) 328
Sersors & Information aperating profit (£m) 300 (3.9 16.3 316 =h 259
Countermeasures & Energetics EBITDA (£m) 642 _ 64.2 56.1 — 561
Countermeasures & Energetics operating profit (£m) 48.9 2.1) 46.8 400 (21) 379

We present a measure of constant currency revenue and operating
profit. This is calcutated by translating our results for the year ended
31 October 2022 at the average exchange rates for the comparative
year ended 31 October 2021.

The Graup manages its finance casts and tax on a central or regional basis and
therefore the Board believes the use of underiying operating profit or EBITDA
is the best way of monitoring the performance of operating businesses,

The strategic report includes both statutory and adjusted measures. the latter
of which, in management's view, reflects how the business s managed and
measured on a day-to-day basis. Our APMs and KPis are aligned to our
straiegy and 1ogether are used to measure the performance of our business
and form the basis of the performance measures for remuneration. Adjusted
results exclude certain items because, If included, these items could distork
the understanding of our performance for the year and the comparability
between the periods.

Management considers non-underlying items to be:
- amortisazon of acquired intangibles;
- discontinged operations;

- exceptional items, for example relating to acquisitions and disposals,
restructuning costs, impairment charges and legal costs:

- gains or losses an the movement in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments; and

= the tax impact of all of the above.

Our use of APMy is cunsisient with the prior year and we provide
comparatives alongside all current year figures The directors believe that
these APMs improve the comparability of information between reporting
periods as well as reflect the key performance indicators used within the
business to measure performance. The term underlying is not defined under
IFRS and may not be comparable with simitarly titled measures used by other
companies. All profit and earnings per share figures in this strategic report
relate to underlying business performance (as defined above) unless
otherwise stated. Further details are provided in note 3.

The adjustments comprise:

- amortisatson of acquired intangibles of £4.6m (2021: £6.2m):

- costs relating to acguisitions including defer red consideration treated as
an expense under IFRS 2 of £2.0m (2021: £1.6m);

- loss on the movement in the fair value uf devivative financial instruments
of £41m {2021, £0.7m gain); and

- tax impact of adjustments of £1.3m credit (2021. £1.0m credit).

Andrew Lewis
Chief Financial Cfficer
13 December 2022
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RISK MANAGEMENT

MANAGING RISK

We continue to manage key risks to ensure the
delivery of the Group strategy.

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION

The Board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of risks it is
willing to accept in delivering the Group's strategy and running the Group's
operations, and ensuring that risks are effectively managed across the Group.

The Board reviews the Group risk register on a regular basis and considers
whether the Risk Management Committee has appropriately identfied the
principal risks to which the Group is exposed.

The Audit Cammittee 15 responsible for reviewing in detail the effectiveness
of the Group's systems of internal eontrol, including finandial, operational and
compliance ¢ontrols, and its risk management systems. The Audit Committee
alsc reviews the effectiveness of the Group's internal audn arrangements.

The Risk Managerment Committee is responsible for overseeing the
implernentation of the Group's risk fmanagement framework and is also
responsidle for identifying the principat risks to which the Group is expesed,
manitoring key mitigation plans and maintaining the Group risk register. The
Risk Management Committee 2K0 réviews the business unit risk registers on a
regular basis and considers input from the US Risk Management Commeitee,
which has been constituted to oversee risk within the US aperations,

The current members of the Risk Management Commuttee are:
- Michaet Ord {Group Chiefl Executive);

- Bilk Currer (Presidenz, USY.

- Sarah Effard (Group Legal Directar 8 Company Secretary);

- Andrew Lewis (Chief Financial Officer); and

- Steven Messam (Group HSE Director).

KEY ROLE5S AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE GROUP'S RISK
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY

BUSINESS MANAGEMENT RISK MANAGEMENT

- Responsible for the COMMITTEE
implementation of the - Oversees the
Group's risk management implementation

framework at the
aperationat level

of the Group’s risk

management framework

- Maintains business unit risk
registers and provides input
to the Risk Management
Committee

- Responsible for carnpliance
with internal controls

- Monitors compliance
with the Group's internal
controf systems

- Maintains the Group
risk register
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RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND FRAMEWORK

The Group's risk management policy sets out the Group’s approach to risk
management. including its risk appetite; the framewcrk for assessing. managing
and monitoring risk within the business; and the key roles and responsibilities
for the oversight and implementation of the Group's risk management
systemns ang controls.

The Group's risk management framework draws fundamentally from

the “Three Lines of Defence Methodology”, with the “First Line” being
day-to-day management of risk and maintenance of effective control
procedures at individual businesses. The "Second Line” comprises various
risk management and control tunctions established at the corporate
management fevel, which are designed to enhance and monitor the First Line,
The “Third Line” comprises the Group's internal audit function, utilising an
external firm of auditors, which reports directly to the Audit Committee.

APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

The management of each business is responsible for the identficat:on,
management and reporting of local risks, n accordance with the Group's risk
management framework. The management of each business is also
responsible for the maintenance of business risk registers and the
imptementation of mitigation plans,

Each business i required (¢ mamtain a risk register identifying their key risks.
The risk registers inctude an analysis of the ikelihood and impact of each risk,
befare and after mitigation actions are taken to manage the risk, together
with details of the mingation plans and progress against them. Each risk is
allocated an owner, who has respensibility for managing the risk.

The business risk registers zre updated locally on a quarterly basis and are
reviewed in detail by the Group Chief Executive, the Chief Fimancial Officer
and other members of the Executive Committee at quarterly business review
meetings with each of the businesses. The US Risk Management Committee
also reviews the risk registers for the US busmesses. considers US cerporate-
level risks and maintains a consolidated US risk register

THE BOARD

- Overall responsibility for
5k management

- Defines the Group's
risk appetite

AUIDIT COMMITTEE

- Reviews the effectiveness of
the Group's risk
rmanagement framewaork
and systems of
internal contro!

- Cwersees the effectiveness
of the Group's internal
audit arrangernents



The Risk Manzgernent Commiltee meets quarterly and, utilising the input
from the business risk registers and the US risk register, identifies those
principal risks which are material to the Group as a whole. The Risk
Management Committee also considers carporate-level risks and emerging
risks, as referenced below. These risks are collated on the Group risk register,
together with detaifs of the applicable mitigaucn plans and risk owners.

The Group has implemented an Operatconal Framewark, ncorporating a
broad range aof policies and procedures which are reguired to be adopted by
al! businesses. A hal-yearly operaticnal assurance process is a fundamental
part of the Operational Framework and provides an assessment of carmpliance
with the Operational Framewaork poli¢ies across the Group. The cutput of
the operational assurance process provides additional visibiity on risks across
the Group and 15 utiiised by the Risk Management Cammittee as a further
input 1o the Group risk register The operational assurance process also
provides assurance to the Board that the Group's internal systems and
contrals are operating effectively,

The full Group risk register is reviewed by the Board on a half-yearly basis
and key individual risks are reviewed at every Board meeting.

KEY AREAS OF FOCUS DURING THE YEAR
Diuring the past year, we have continued Lo enhance our risk management
systems, with speaific focus in the following areas:

- Cur HSE Management Framework has been updated and we
have implemented new Group-wide protocols on shared learning,
management of electrestanc discharge and the managerment of travel risk.

- We have further enhanced aur HSE data collection and reporting through
our EcoOnling system.

- Additional IT and ¢yber-security standards have been implemented, and
members of the semor leadership team participated in a cyber incident
scenario planming workshop

- We have improved our succession and talent management programmes
1o address increasing resource demand and constraints.

- We have established a new project focused on improving business
centinuily management across the Group,

- Climate change risks have been considered as key nsks 1o the future
operation of the Group

- QOur interral audit programme has continged 10 incorporate thematic
reviews in key risk areas.

Qur risk management systems were reviewed by PwC in 2021 as part of

the internal audit programme. Pw{ concluded that our risk management
structures and processes were fit for purpose and a number of gaod practice
areas were igentified. Thew recommendations for further enhancements

to our risk rating methodologies were addressed during the year by the
introduction of an expanded five-by-five matrix for the assessment of the
potential impact and likelihood of individual risks on the Group risk register.
We have also introduced a target risk rating for each risk, and now separately
consider key mitigation controls and ongoing risk reduction actions These
changes provide greater distinction between retative risks and have enabled
us to better facihtate the prioritisation of key mitigation actions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The current Group risk regisier comprises risks in seven key risk areas,
covering health, safety and environment risks, strategic risks, financial risks,
operational risks, people risks, legal and compfiance risks, and reputational
risks. Details of the principal risks are set out on pages 66 to 73

Cv19

The management of risks associated with CV-19 continued to be monitored
during the year. Whilst the Group's operations have not been significantly
impacted by CV-19, we have continued to take all appropriate actions to
protect and safeguard our employees, and ensure continuity of our businesses.

EMERGING RISKS

The current UK Corporate Governance Code requires the Board to
undertake a robust assessment of the emerging risks that may impact the
Group in the future. This requirement has been reflected i the Group's
risk management processes and emerging risks are considered by the Risk
Management Committee when compiing the Group risk register.

Emerging risks are identified through discussions with both external
and internal subject matter experts ang other stakeholders, including
customers and regulators, and through horizon scanning of future
developments in areas relevant to the Group's business operations

Certain emerging risks relating to future technolagical regulatory and
macro-economic changes are reflected on the Group risk register and
mitigation plans implemented accordingly However, other emerging risks
have also been identified. where we are stili endeavouring to determine
the potential impact on the Group.

RISK REVIEW

The Board carries oul an annual rewew of the effectivenass of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management systems. In understanding
this review, the Board considers'

- the operational and financwl reports received from the executive
management throughout the year;

- the Group risk register and the mitigation actions Deing taken to manage
key risks;
- output from the operational assurance process, and

- internal audht reports and repaorts from the other assurance processes
n place across the Group.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the principal nsks laced by the business. and that robust
systems of internal cantrol and risk management were n place throughout
the year under review and have remained 1 place up 10 the date of approval
of these financial statements.

The Board acknowledges that the internal control systems can only prowvide
reasonable, not absolute, assurance against mismanagement or koss of the
Group's assets. The Board therefore continues to take steps to embed
internal control and risk management further into the operations of the
Group, and to address any areas for potential improvement which come

to the attention of management and the Board

The Board carried out an assessment of the principal and emerging risks to
which the Group is exposed as part of its half-yearly review of the Group
risk register The Board considered whether all applicable risks had been
adequately captured in the Group risk register and whether the requisite
progress had been made on the mitigation actions to address significant risks.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

RISK MANAGEMENT IN ACTION

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties which coutd have a materal
impact on the Group's business madel, strategy, future perfermance or
reputation are set out below The principal risks are identified by the Risk
Management Commitiee based on the likelthood of accurrence and the
potential impact on the Group as a whaole.

In addition to the risks disclosed below, the Risk Management Commitiee also
monitors and manages a wide range of other risks to which the Group may
be exposed

OVERVIEVY OF PRINCIPAL RISKS
Thie table below summarises the Group's principal risks and uncertanties, and
identifies how each links to values and our strategic abjectives, ang whether
the trend in the risk profile from the Group's perspective increased,
decreased or remained stable during the year.
Change in

Strategic risk profile

Principal risk/uncertainty Our values objectives in the year

A Orccupatonat and
process safety

B Environmental laws
and regulations

C Climate change

D Market

£ Poliucal

F  Contracts

G Technology

H  Financial

1 QOperavoral

] Pecple

K Complance
and corruption

OICHOHSICHONGIOICIORONC,

L Cyber-security

Target growing segments Safety
Win market share Excellence
Grow our US business Innovation

L1 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022

Impact

RISK PROFILE AND HEAT MAP
The overall risk profile for the Group continued to improve during the year
and the Group risk register reflects he following changes to principal risks:

- Our understanding of the risks associated with occupational and
process safety continues to improve, reflecting further progress on the
implementation of the Group’s three-year HSE strategy and an increased
focus on agset integrity, and shared learmng and reporting of near misses
within our operations.

Risks associated wrth environmental issues have increased with the
increased {pcus on the environmental impact of our businesses.

Climate change risks and the potential impact of changed weather
patterns on our operations are now included as principal risks on the
Group risk regisier.

Market-refated risk has reduced. reflecting the increased focus on defence
spending as a result of the recent geopolitical and technology trends.

People-related risk in relation to resourcing has continued to increase as
a result of buoyant demand in certain parts of the employment market
continuing to make it difficult to recruit and retain employees, and
increased salary expectations in a high-inflationary environment
Finanaial risks have cantinued to reduce, reflecting the Group's strong
cash generation and lower levels of indebtedness. albeit cost escalation
and inflation are increasng financial risk in some areas.

- The inherent risk associated with cyber threats and system failures
continues o increase, acknowtedging that the continuing changes in the
nature of cyber attacks and the increased sophistication of the methods
employed are an increasing risk for all businesses

The heat map below illustrates the refative inherent and residual positicning
of our prinoipal risks from an impact and likelihood perspective.
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HEALTH. SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT RISKS
A. QCCUPATIONAL AND PROCESS SAFETY

INHERENT RISK:

TREND:

High Medwm Low

@ Increasing Stable @ Decreasing

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Group's operations invelve energetic
materials that by their nature have inherent
safety risks,

- Incidents may occur which could result in
harm to employees, the temporary shutdown
of facilities or other disruption to
manufacturing processes.

= The Group may be exposed 1o financal loss,
regulatory action and potential habilities for
workplace njuries and fatalities.

- Safety reinforced as a core value.

- Continued emphasis on the “Journey ta Zero
Harm" and promoucn of a culture which puts
safety first and encourages employees to take
personal responsibility for their actions.

HSE Stralegy and HSE Management System Framewaork
Standard fully implemented within the businesses.

- Robust major accident hazard analysis process
adopted across the Group.

Asset integrity review completed using external
consultants at higher-hazard sites and new asset
integrity standard adopted

New Group-wide standard on management

of electro-static discharge hazards introduced

Incident investigation and crisis management
standards adopted

Process established for Group-wide review

of learnings from significant incidents.

Occupational Health, Safety and Wellbeing

and Technicai Safety Committees established

"Spot it, Stop it, Share it campaign instigated to increase
focus an near miss identification and reparting.
Continued programme of capital investment in
older facilities 1o improve safety and reliability.

@ Risk appetite: Low

Change during the year and cutlook

Through the implementation of our major accident
hazard review process, together with increased
reparting and nvestigation of process upset
conditions, we continue to take further actions to
reduce the likelihood of a major energetic event. In
addition, we have sirengihened our asset integrity
programmes and introduced an enhanced process
for sharing of learnings from significant incidents. We
continue to invest in new automated production
systemns and improving process controls for our
legacy operations.

Chur total recordable injury frequency rate has
increased shightly fram 0.67 in 2021 1o 0 78 w1 20232,
but remains below owr fimit of 1.0. There were no
injuries sustained from energetic gritions during
the year, compared to two such incidents in the
prior year.

We hope to see further improvements in process

safety in FY23 as we continue with our capital
nvestment programme.

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Total recordable injury frequency rate
- Number of process safety events

- Number of aear miss reports

- Target growing segments
- Win market share

See also: Health and safety on pages 40 to 41

B. ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS AND REGULATIO

NS

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actionsffactors

The Group's operaticns and ownership or use
of real property are subject to a number of
federal, state and tocal erwviropmental laws and
reguiations. At certain sites currently or
formerly awned or cperated by the Group,
there is known or potential contamination far
which there is, or may be. a requirement to
remediate or provide resource restoration.

- The Group could incur substantial costs,
including remediation costs. resource
restoration costs, fines and penalties, or be
exposed {0 third party property damage or
personal injury claims. as a result of liabiliues
associated with past practices or violations of
erviranmental laws or nen-compliance with
environmental permits.

- Monitoring programmes established at certain sies
and appropriate finangial provisions held

- Environmental liability msurance procured for
certain risks.

-~ Environmental consultants retained to
manage legacy indemnification obligations for site
remediations.

- Sustainabiity and Environmental
Committees established.

® Risk appetite: Low

Change during the year and outlook

The sale or clpsure of several sites during the

last few years has reduced the Group's overall
exposure to environmental risks. Hawever, we retain
a financial hability for enviranmental remediation of
certain sites formerly owned by the Group, most
notably those occupied by the divested munitions
businesses in Belgiun and ftaly.

Environmental risks continue to increase with

the increased focus on climate change and the
environmental impact of alt businesses. We have
implemented a more centralised approach to the
management of aur environmental performange as
part of our ESG sirategy. recognising that minimising
our enviranmental impact and addressing chmate
change-related risks is becoming increasingly important

Exarmple key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Carbon emussions

- Energy and water utihsation

= Volume of waste produced

- Number of ervironmental incidents

- Target growing segrments

See also: Environment on pages 42 to 44
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT RISKS continued

C. CLIMATE CHANGE

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigat:on actions/factors

The Groug's operations and delivery of our
strategy could be impacted by cimate change
related risks, including those assacated with
wildfires, severe weather events and new
chmate-related reguirements in relation to the
Group's manufacturing processes and products,

- Wikifires and severe weather events ceuld resull
n harm 1o employees, the temporary shutdown
of facilities or other disruption to manufacturing
processes.

- The Group may be exposed to finandial ks for
business interruption and/or increased expenditure
for adapting its praduction faclities and processes
to address dimate change-related nsks

- Additional measures have been implemented,
such as cutting back grassland close to
manufacturing operations, to miligate the risk of
wildfires.

- Drainage has been improved on certain sites to
miugate the impact of potential Hooding events.

- Carbon reduction plans and other environmental
performance targets have been established to
reduce the Group's environmental impact.

- Close relationships are maintained with
customers, which should prowide early insight
Into new enviranmental requirements which
are 1o be imposed by customers

@ Risk appetita: Low

Change during the year and outlook

Sustainability Cammittee established which is
overseeing the identification and management
of climate change and enviranmental risks.

Carban reduction plans established across
the Group.

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Wildfires
- Severe weather events

- Technology

- Target growing segments

See also: Environment on pages 42 to 44
TCFD report on pages 45 to 49

STRATEGIC RISKS
0. MARKET

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

Defence spending depends on a complex mix of
political considerations, budgetary constraints and
the requirements of the armed forces to address
specific threats and perforrm certain missions.
Qverall defence spending may therefore be
subject 10 significant yearly fluctuations and there
may also be downward pressure on defence
budgets in certain key programme areas.

The Group's profits and cash flows are
dependent, to a significant extent, on the timing
of award of defence contracts. In general, the
maonty of the Group's cantracts are cof a
relatively short duration and, with the exception
of framewark contracts with key customers, do
not cover multi-year requirements

- The Group’s financial performance may be
adversely impacted by lower defence spending
by its major customers, either generally or in
refation to certain programmes,

- Short-term trading and cash canstrainks may
impact on the Group's ability to invest in
longer-term technologies and capabilities.

- Unmiugated delays an the receipt of arders or
cancellation of existing contracts could affect the
Group’s financial performance. If the Group's
businesses are unable to continue trading
profitably during periods of lower order intake,
financeal perfarmance will deteriorate and assets
may be imparred

- Continual assessment of alignment of planned
organic growth strategies and technology
roadmaps against government priorities for
future {unding

Increased focus on the development of
commergial products and services.

Focus on organisational development to ensure
the business is appropriately structured te meet
current and future needs, and to provide
resilience in difficult market conditions.
Continued focus on arder intake as a key
performance indicator,

Pursuit of long-term, mult-year contracts

with major customers wherever possible.
Global business development initiatives
established in the Countermeasures & Energetics
and Sensors & Informaton segments,

Increased callaboration between businesses
acress the Group on establishing shared routes
jo market.

@ Risk appetite: Low to moderate
Change during the year and outlook

Ongoing conflict in Eastern Europe 1s shaping the
threat environment, with 3 resurgence (1 demand
for classical kinematic capabilities, akongside the
growing information advantage and intelligence
requirernents. However, economic pressures may
place defence spend under pressure.

Examnptfe key risk indicators

Link o values

Link to strategy

- Defence budget cuts/changes
- Reductions in order intake
- Deteriorabon in prafitability

- Target growing segments
- Win market share
= Grow our US business

See also: Market overview on pages 12 to 13
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STRATEGIC RISKS
E. POLITICAL

INHERENT RISK:

High Medium

TREND: @In(reay’ng Stab}e @Decreasing

Low

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Group is active in several countrias that

are suffering from political, social and economic
nstability. In addition, there is a ssgnificant risk

of political unrest and changes in the politicat
structure in certain non-NATQ countries to which
the Group currently sells.

- The Group's business in certain countries may
be adversely affected in 2 way that is materiat to
the Group's financial position and the resdlts of
its operations.

- Poiitical changes could impact future deferce
expenditure strategy and the Group’s abdity
1o expert products to certain countries.

- Relationships maintained at politicaf lavel
n key countries and wath senior
customer representatives.

- Financing arrangernents implemented, including
letters of credit and advance payments, for
contracts with high-risk customers,

- Political risks insurance pracured in
certain circumstances.

- Continved focus on the development of
commercial business across the Group,
particularly in key home territories.

@ Risk appetite: Low to moderate
Change during the year and outiook

Political tensiong across the world are increasing the
risk of disruptinn in our non-NATO markets.

We have conlinued to focus our business
development and sales and marketing activities
on our home markets and their allied countries.

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Political changes

- Suspension/withdrawal of exporl licences
- Trade embargoes

- Reductions in order intake

- Target growing segments
- Win markel share
- Graw our US business

See also: Market overview on pages 11 to 13

F. CONTRACTS

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Group's government contracts may be
terminated at any time and may centain other
unfavourable provisions.

The Group may need to cormmit resources in
advance of contracts becoming fully effective, to
ensure prompt fulfiment of orders or 10 enable
conditions precedent 1o be met.

- The Group may suffer financial loss if its
contracts are lerrminated by customers, or a
tetmination arising out of the Group's default
may have an adverse effect on its ability to
re-compete for future contracts and orders

- Unfavourable commercial contract terms may
adversely impact the Group's working capital
positien, particularly if the receipt of paymaents by
the Group s delayed

- The Commercial Policy within the Operational
Framework requires central approval for certan
contractual risk exposures.

- Commercial and cantract risk management
training programme implemented,

- Stage payments negotiated with customers
wherever possible, in arder to improve working
capilal management

@ Risk appetite: Moderate

Change during the year and outlook

The implementation of the Operational
Framework has significantly increased our visibility
cn commercal and contracting practices across the
Group. and 55 enabling us to manage contractual
risk exposures more effectively,

Example key risk indicatars

Link to values

Link to strategy

~ Number of contract claimsfierminations
=" lncrezse in working capital

- Delays in customer payments

- Number of bonds or guarantees called

- Target growing segments
- Wha market share
- Grow our US business
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

STRATEGIC RISKS continued
G. TECHNCLOGY

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actionsffactors

The Group may fail to maintain its positian on key future
programmes due ta issues with capability development,
technology transfer or cost-effactive manufacture.

The Groug needs to continually add new products to its
current rarge, through innovation and continuing emphasis on
research and development. Now product development may be
subject to delays, or may fail to achieve the requisite standards
to savsly volume manufacturing requirements and the
production of products against high reliability and safety ¢ritera
to meet customer specifications.

- Failure 1o obtain production contracts on major
development programmes may significantly impact the
{uture performance and value of individual businesses.

- Failure to complete planned product development and upgrades
successfully may have finanaal and reputational mpacts, and may
result in obsolescence or koss of future business.

- Close refationships maintained with
customers on all key future
programmes.

- Mew Product Development Potlicy
and procedures adopted, to align
the approach te future technology
investment across the Group.

- Technology investments aligned
with the five-year plan.

- Working groups established 1o
drive and co-crdinate technology
growth in certain key areas within
Countermeasures & Energetics and
Sensors & Infarmation.

@ Risk appetite: Moderate

Change during the year and outlook
Innavation is one of our core values.

Progressing aur technology-led key development
programmes will continye Lo be a significant area of
focus for the year ahead.

Roke continues to see strong growth in its R&D
service activities. In 2022 we launched the Futures
business unit 1o focus on capturing the growing
ooportunities for Roke's capabilities in the
commercial sector.

Chemring Sensors & Electronics Systerns in the
US has successfully transitioned three laboratory
technologies into prototype praducts which can
detect and identify biclogical threats quicker and
cheaper than existing systems

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Reduction in RED expenditure

- Delays in R&D programmes

- Delays in qualification of products

- Loss of production contracts

- Emergence of new competitors and disruptive technotogies

- Target growing segments
- Win markel share
= Grow our US business

H. FINANCIAL

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Group is exposed 1o a range of financial risks, both
externally driven, such as an unexpected movement in foreign
exchange rates or increased inflaton, and speafic to the Group.
Spectfic financial risks could arise out of a disruption to
operations, failure to deliver strategic objectives, including
planned investment; or customer-related events, including
defaults on the payment of debts

As a result of a number of past events, the Group is exposed
to a number of cantingent liabilities which may or may not
result in future cash outflows (Further details are contained n
note 33 of the Group financial staiements.)

The Group may also face an increased funding requirement
for its legacy UK defined benefit pension scheme.

- The Group may fail to compty with financing covenants and
be unabie to meet debt repayments, leading to withdrawal
of funding or addiional costs of maintaining funding.

- Operational #esults may be impacied by unexpected financiai
losses or increased costs

Further details of the financial risks to which the Group is
potentilly exposed and the mitigating factors are set out in the
financa! review and note 20 of the Group financial statements.

- Committed banking fagilities in place
o0 December 2025.

- Regular monitoring of actual and
forecast financing covenants.

- Capital approval processes in place,
requiring Board approval for
significant projects.

- Hedging policy applied for significant
foreign transactions.

- Energy bought forward in the
UK and Norway to mitigate
escalating prices.

- Advance payments and letiers
of credit required from customers
with a heightened payment risk.

- Close dialogue maintzined with the
trustees of the pension scheme on
investment and funding matters.

@ Risk appetite: Moderate

Change during the year and outlock

The Group's revolving credit facilities were extended
during the year to December 2025

The year-end bank cavenant of net debt: EBITDA was
.14, well within the covenant limit of 3.0x.

The Group's businesses faced inflationary cost
ingreases during the year and higher energy prices.
These were largely mitigated but could have a further
impact in 2033.

At the year end, the legacy UK defined benefit pension
scheme was £11.2m in surplus {on an IAS 19 basis)

The triennial actuarial vahuation of the scheme was
carried out as at Agril 2021 and confirmed that the
scheme was £3.8m in surplus at that date. No further
contributions will therefore be required before the next
valuation as at April 2024,

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Deterioration in bank covenants

- Increase in net debt

- Interest rate increases

- Foreign exchange rate movements
- Increase in bad debts

- Increase n inflation

- Target growing segments
- Win market share
- Grow our US business

$ee also: Financial review on page 59
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STRATEGIC RISKS
| OPERATIOMNAL

INHERENT RISK:

TREND:

High Medium Low

@ increasing Stable @Decreasmg

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Graup's manufacturing activities may be
exposed to business continuity risks, arising from
plant failures, supplier interruptions, quality issues
or large scale employee absences. .

PManned new fadility developments may be delayed
as a result of operational issues.

- Interruptions to production and sales could result
in financial loss, reputational damage and loss of
future business.

- A delay in compieting new manufacturing facilities
could constrain capacity and limit future
business growth.

- Major accident hazard analysis process and upset
condition managerent standard implemented
across the Group,

- Key performance indicators adopted, to prowide
better wisibility on operational performance and
to fachtate early identitication of paiential
production and quality issues.

- Advance purchases made of raw materials where
potential supply chain constraints are identified.

- Business continuty plans establshed across
the Group.

- Continued capital investment in legacy faciiities to
imprave safety and reliability.

- Asset integrity programme implemented,

- Detailed plans developed for alt significant capital
investment projects and additional dedicated
resource employed to oversee key projects.

- CV-19 Playbook implemented and supply chains
being actively managed to minimise the impact of
CV-19-related disruption.

- Business interruption risks insured
where appropriate.

@ Risk appetite; Low to moderate
Change during the year and outlook

A multi-year capital invesiment programme was
irdtiated in 2019 Thus s designed to milgate a
number of operational risks through a plant
automaticn and modernisation programme
across the Group. ¥¥e have also implemented

a Group-wide asset (integrity programme to
improve the resilience of cur aperations.

Commussioning of the new automated manufacturing
facilities in Tennessee has progressed in line with plan.

Capital investment projects progressed at our
facilities i Scotland and Norway, and further
projects are planned for 2023.

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Number of process salety events

- Reduction in right first time and on-time
delivery rates

+ Increase in supplier-related delays

- Increase in quahity ssues and
customer complaints

- Reduction in capital expenditure
- Delays n commissioning of facilities

- Target growing segments
- Win market share
- Grow our US business

See alse: Group Chief Executive’s review
and health and safety on pages 14 and 40

Chemring Group PLC Annuai report and accounts 2022 n

L¥0d3d 2I5TLVYLS

IONVNYIACD

SINIWILYLS WIDNYNIL



PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

STRATEGIC RISKS continued
|. PEOPLE

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

There is a risk that the market for talent in key
areas cf expertse becomnes more challenging,
Allied to ths there s a risk of loss of key personnel

As the shape of the Group’s business changes and
with an increased focus in high technology areas.
the Group may fail to buld and retain an
appropriate skill base to facilitate successful
competition in new markets and product areas.

Employees may not be fully engaged with the
Chemring journey, purpose, products, customers
and values.

- Failure 1o recruit sufficient suitably qualified
personnet in key areas of the business rmay
result in the Group falling to achieve its future
growth aspirations.

- Failure to build and retain key skills will lead to
a reduction in the ability 10 innovate or to win
and deliver new contracts.

- If key personnel are not fully engaged with the
business purpose, values and products, and are
not apprapriately mcentivised, the abilny of the
Group to retain them will be compramised. This
could result in loss of management expertise and
knowledge. and the Group’s operations may
suffer as a consequence.

- Chemring values of Safety, Excellence and
Innovation established

- Development framework implemented
acrass the Group, focusing on developing
management and leadership skills and behaviours
particularly amongst our ne manager and
supervisor population,

- Ongoing review of capability requirements
against the business strategy.

- Increased focus on DE&.

- Culture review completed. facilitating the
development of a framework to support the
evolution of the Chemring culture.

- Employment Voice real-time engagement tool
deployed across the Group

~ Talent framework and succession planning
process implemented.

- Incentive arrangements enhanced to encourage
collaboration and create a Graup focus at
senier level.

®

Risk appetite: Moderate
Change during the year and outlook

Resourcing challenges continued to increase during
the year, particularly in parts of the US where
buoyant demand in the employment market made
it more difficult to recruit and retan employees

Salary inflation ympacted a number of our
businesses and one-off cost-of-living payments were
made to a number of employees across the Group.

We continued to make good progress on the
implementation of our development framewark
during the year, with over 340 line managers and
supervisors having parucipated in a structured
development programme.

We also continve to focus on communications using
# wide range of formal and infarmal challenges, both
at the corporate level and within individual businesses.

The deployment across the Group of Employee
Vopice enables us to monitor employee sentiment on
a continuous basts and gives employees the ability to
provide feedback on changes as they occur.

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Diversity stalistics
- Increase in employee turnover
- Number of unfiled vacancies

- Employee sentiment scores

- Target growing segments
- Win market share
- Grow cur US business

See also: Qur people on pages 50 o 56
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LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE RISKS
K. COMPLIANCE AND CORRUPTION

INHERENT RISK:

TRENC:

High Medium Low

@ Increasing Stable @ Decreasing

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

The Group operates in over 50 countries
worldwide, in a highly regulated environment, ang
is subject to the applicable laws and regulations

of each of these jurisdictions. The Group must
ensure that all of its businesses, its amployees

and third parties providing services on its behalf
comply with all relevant legal and regulatory
obligauons. The nature of the Group’s operations
cauld also expose it to government and regulatory

investigations relating to safety and the environment,

import-export contrals, maney laundering, false
accounting, and corruptian cr bribery.

The Group requires a significant number of perrnits,
licences and approvals ta Ggerate its business, which
may be subject to non-renewal or revacation.

= Nen-compliance could resutt in administrative,
civil or criminal iabilities, and could expose the
Group to fines, penalties suspension or
debarment, and reputational damage.

- Loss of key operating permits and approvals
could result in temporary or permanent site
closures. and loss of business

- Ethics & Compliance Committee established to
oversee compliance across the Group.

- Operational Framework in place. mandating
compliance with a range of policies and
procedures covering 2 wide range of fegal
ang regulatory requirements

- Half-yearty operational assurance process
established as part of the Operational Framework,

- Central legal and cormpliance function assists and
monitors all Group businesses, supported by
dedicated internal legal resource in the US,

- Code of Canduct stupulates the standards of
acceptable business conduct required from all
empicyees and third parties acting an the
Group's behalf.

- Updated Bribery Act Compliance Manuat
implemented. incorporating enhanced
ant-bribery policies and pracedures.

- Policy adopted 10 manage risks associated with
sales to customers in higher-risk termiories.

®

Risk appetite: Low
Change during the year and cutlook

The Qperational Framewcrk and the associated
operational assurance process has fundamentally
changed the management of legal ang compliance
risks across the Group.

Further progress was made during the year on fully
embedding cur Group-wide online compliance
system — the Chemring Compliance Parial. The
system hosts our Operational Framework policies
and associated wraining material, and automates our
anti-bribery processes.

Example key risk indicatars

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Regulatory intervention and penalbies

- Non-renewalfrevocation of licences and permits
- Breaches of polices

- Non-completion of compliance training

- tncrease in whistleblowing reparts

- Target growing segments
= Win market share

See also: Ethics and business conduct
an pages 57 and 58

REPUTATIONAL RISKS
L. CYBER-SECURITY

Risk and potential impacts

Mitigation actions/factors

Cyber-security and related risks are key emergent
areas of eritical /mportance for all businesses,
particularty for those invalved in the defence and
security sector. Threats can emanate from a wide
variety of sources and could target various
systerns for a wide range of purposes, making
response particularly difficult.

The data and systems which need to be protected
nclude customer-classified or sensitive
information, commerciaby sensitive informatien,
employee-related data and safety-criucal
manufacturing systems.

- The Group may suffer from critical systems
failures, or its inteflectval property, or that of its
customers, may fall into the hands of third parties.

- In addition to business interruption and financial
loss, the Group may suffer reputational damage.
and its business of providing cyber-security services
o customers may be irteparably damaged.

- Threat assessment completed and an action
plan to counter the Group's identified major
threats implernented.

- Security Committee established

- Group-wide cyber-security standard adopted
based on the US DFARS “CMMC Level 27
standard and a number of cyber-security
defence measures adopted. encompassing, as
appropriate to the nature of the threat and
sensitivity of data ar systems being protected,
hardware, software, systemn, process or
people-based solutions.

- Where appropriate, government or commercial
acereditation of networks and systems obtained in
support of the overall cyber-security programme.

- IT and security systerns reviewr included within
the internal audit programme.

- Cyher incident scenario planming warkshop held.

®

Risk appetite: Low
Change during the year and outlook

We have an ongoing programme to address IT and
cyber-security but the threats in this area continue
to evolve and we therefore need to ensure that cur
security arrangements evolve appropriately

In response.

Good progress was made towards achieving CMMC
Level 2 compiiance at a number of businesses during
the year

Example key risk indicators

Link to values

Link to strategy

- Number of "phish” emails reported
- Number of system attacks and fatlures

- Target growing segments
- Win market share
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VIABILITY STATEMENT AND GOING CONCERN

In accordance with the UK Corparate Governance Code. the Board
is required to undertake an assessment of the long-term viability of
the Group and going concern basis of accounting

GOING CONCERN

The Group's business activities, key performance indicators, and principal
risks and uncertainties are set out within the strategic report on pages 1
to 75.

The directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business
risks successfully, despite the current uncertain economic auvtlook. The
Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possibte
changes in trading performance, show thai the Group should be able to
operate within the level of its current committed facilities.

KEY FINAMNCIAL METRICS

1022 Covenany
Revohling credit facility and overdraft €159m
Undrawn committed borrowing facilities £137Tm
Leverage ratio 0.14x Less than Ix
Interest cover ratic 57x  Greater than 4x

The revolving credit facility and overdraft run to December 2025 wath two
“one-year” options to extend at the lenders’ discretion. The Group was in
compliance with the covenants throwghaut the year.

ASSESSMENT OF NEAR-TERM PROSPECTS

As part of a regular assessment of the Group's working capital and financing
position, the directors have prepared a detailed battom-up two-year irading
budget and cash flow forecast for the period through to October 2024, This
has aliowed the directors to assess going concern for a period of at least 12
months after the date of approval of the financial statements. This is in
addition to the Group's longer-term strategic planning process. In assessing
the forecast. the directors have considered.

- trading risks presented by the current econamic conditions in the defence
market, particularly in relation to government budgets and expenditure;

- the impact ol macro-economic factors, parucularly nflationary pressures,
supply chamn challenges. interest rates and foreign exchange rates,

- the status of the Group's existing financial arrangements and associaled
covenant requirements;

- progress made in developing and implementing cost reduction programmes
and operational impravements;

- the availability of mitigating actions should business activiies fall behind
current expectations, including the deferral of discretionary overheads and
restricting cash flows: and

- the long-term nature f the Group's business which, laken together with
the Group's order book, provides a satisfactory level of confidence (o the
Board in respect of trading.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Additional detailed sensitivity analysis has been performed on the forecasts to
consider the impact of severe, but plausible, reasonable worsl case scenarios
on the cavenant requirements. These scenarios, which sensitised the
forecasts for speciic identified risks, modelled the reduction in anucipated
levels of undertying EBITDA and the asscciated increase in net debt. These
scenarios included significant delays 1o major contracts and considered the
principal risks and uncertainties discussed n the strategic repart. These
sensitised scenarios show headroom on all covenant test dates for the
foreseeable future.
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In addition to the above, the directors continue to monitor developments
with, and the potential impact of CV-19 1n the short and medwm term, and
are. in particular, focused on the key risks of delays by customers in testing
and acceptance of products, disruption to production capacity and the impact
of the current situation on the Group's supply chain. The CV-19 outbreak is
not currently having any material impact in relation to these risks or any cther
patential mpacts; however, the directors are monitoring the siwation closely.

CONFIRMATION OF GOING CONCERN

After consideration of the above, the directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group and the Company will have sufficient funds to continue to
meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 maonths from the date of
approval of the financial statements and therefore have prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis,

LONG-TERM VIABILITY

ASSESSMENT OF LONG-TERM PROSPECTS

The directors have assessed the Group's wability over a three-year period to
October 2025 based on the above assessment, combined with the Group's
strategic planmng process, which gives greater certainty over the forecasting
assuenptions used. Based on this assessment. the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet ait
its liabilities as they fall due up to October 2025,

The directors have chosen a three-year period Lo assess viability to reflect
the characteristics of the Group’s end markets and their contracting
arrangements. These range from multi-year contracts such as the US Programs
of Record to shorter-term orders, such as thase awarded to Roke.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

In considering our viability statement we have considered the principal nsks
and uncertainties discussed in the strategic report and assessed the impact.
The impact of CV-19 on viability is clearly a consideration for all companies
at this teme. The Group's operat:ons have been designated as critical to the
defence and nationa! security widustrial base in all territories i which we
cperate. All our busingsses remzin open with business continuity plans
mobilised at every location.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

Sensitivity analyses were run to model the financial and operational impact

of plausible downside scenarios of these risk events occurring individually

or in ¢combination These inclksded the impacts of 2 further deterigration

in the macro-economic environment, including how CV-19 may impact the
economy and future government pelicy and spending, underperformance in
executing the Group's strategy, failure to defiver operational improvements,
the impact of a potential chmate-related risk causing business interruption and
material moverments in foreign exchange rates

Consideration was alsa given to the plausibility of the occurrence of other
individual events that in their own right could have a material impact on the
Group's viability.

CONFIRMATION OF VIABILITY

Rased on the cansolidated financial impact of the sensitivity analyses and
associated mitigating internal controls and risk management actions that are
either now in place or could be wmplemented, the Board has been able to
conclude that the Group will be able 1o maintain sufficient bank facilities to
meet its funding needs over the three-year period and the Group's forecasts
show comphance with covenants vader tha revolving credit facility.



NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION STATEMENT

This section of the strategic report constitutes
the Group's non-financial information statement
and addresses the requirements of sections
414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006.
The non-financial information is included within
the varicus other sections of the strategic report
and is cross-referenced below.

RELEVANT POLICIES WHICH GOVERN

Qur Code of Conduct provides direction to our

employees on e sladards of behaviour and business

conduct which we expect from them. It sits alongside our
Operational Framewark, which incorporates @ wide range

of policies and procedures to enable our businesses to
comply with their legal obligations and to operate in a

safe, consistent ang accountabie way.

READ CUR CODE OF CONDUCT

POULICY: CHEMRING.COM/

SUSTAINABILIT Y/ETHICS-AND-

BUSINESS-CONDUCT

REPORTING REQUIREMENT OUR APPROACH WWHERE TO READ MCRE PAGE
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS - Group health, safety and ervironmental policy - Intreduction to sustainability 37
- Environment 42
- TCFD report 45
EMPLOYEES - People policy - Stakeholder engagement n
- Group health, safety and environmentat policy - Our people 50
- Directors remuneration policy - Health and safety 40
- Whistleblowing policy - Ethics and business conduct 57
- Code of Conduct - Directors’ remuneration report %
SOCIAL AND COMMUNITY - Community investment policy - Our people 50
MATTERS - Code of Canduct - Ethics and business conduct 57
" RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS - Modern Slavery Act Statement - Qur peaple 50
- People policy - Ethics and business conduct 57
- Supplier Code of Conduct
- Code of Conduct
ANTI-B8RIBERY AND - Anti-corruption policy - Ethics and business conduct 57
CORRUPTION - Bribery Act Compliance Manual
= Policy on sales o customers located n
higher-risk territories
- Offset policy
- Code of Conduct
BUSINESS MODEL - What we do 2
- Investment case 8
~ Business model 18
- Market overview 12
- Strate;
4 2
STAKEHOLDERS - Stakeholder engagement 2
- Corporale governance report 80
RISK MANAGEMENT - Rigk management 64
- Princigal risks and uncertainties 66
NON-FINANCIAL KEY - Key performance indicators 26
PERFORMAMNCE INDICATORS - Health and safety 40
- Environment 42
- Qur people 50
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO GOVERNANCE

SUSTAINING A ROBUST

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

Carl-Peter Forster
Chairman

"Qur Operational Framework and

our Code of Conduct promote a set
of policies, practices and behaviours
which are fully aligned with Chemring's
purpose, values, vision and strategy.”

The Board is committed to upholding high
standards of corporate governance, protecting
and growing shareholder value, and engaging
in a fair and transparent manner with all of the
Group's stakeholders.

On behalf of the Board. | am pleased to present the governance report

for the year ended 31 October 2012, The repart explains how the Board
operates and how corporate governance is addressed in Chernring.

The report comprises:

- Board of directors

- Corporate governance report

- Audit Committee report

- Nomination Committee report

- Dircctors' remuneration report

- Directors’ report

UK CORPORATE GCVERNANCE CODE

In the year under review, Chemning was subject 10 the UK Corporate
Governance Code pubiished in July 2018 by the Financial Reporting Councl
(zhe "Code”) and the gavernance report sets out how we have complied with
the Code.

76 Chemring Group PLC Annval report and accaunts 2022

PURPOSE, VALUES AND CULTURE
The Board recognises its role in establishing the purpose and values
of the Group, and embedding these throughout the organisation.

Our purpose at Chemnng is 1o help make the world a safer place

— an endeavour which has been clearly validated over the past year. Across
physical and digntal environments, our businesses and our employees deliver
innovative technologies ang products that detect and defeat ever-changing
threats. Qu- purpose and our core values of Safety, Excellence and Innovation
form the faundation for our strategy. aur business ang our organisation.
Examples of how we are fiving our vatues can be found on pages 6 and 7.

Jur Lode of Conduct reflects our purpose and our values, and sets out the
standards of behaviour and business conduct we expect of all Chemring
emplayees and all third parties acting an ocur behalf, & also reinforces the
culture the Board embraces within Chemring of always doing the right thing
and taking personal responsibility for our actions. We firmly believe that
promoting a Chemning culture which embraces responsible behaviour will
contribute to the long-term success of the business and all of our stakeholders.
The Code of Conduct was updated and reissued to all employees during late
2021, and supplementad with ongoing scenario-based training during the year.

GOVERNANCE AND OPERATIONAL FRAMEWORK

Qur Operational Framework pravides an enhanced governance framework
10 enable us 1o operate in a safe, consistent and accountable way. Together
with cur Code of Conduct. the Operational Framework promotes a set of
palicies, practices and behaviours which are fully aligned with Chemring's
purpose, values, vision and strategy.

The Board has established an Ethics & Comphance Commtee, which

| eurrently Chair, with the other members heing the Group Chief Executive,
the President of our US operations and the Group Legal Director & Company
Secretary. The Committee continues to maintain oversight of our ethical
business conduct and compliance arrangemeants across the Group, and its
activities reinforce the importance of responsible behaviour ax all levels of the
organisation. Further details of the Committee’s activities during the year can
be found on page 57

STRATEGY

The delivery and evolution of the Group's sirategy, which is articulated in
my statement on page 10 and in the strategy section on pages 24 to 25,
continues to be a key area of focus for the Board. In addition 1o our annual
rewew of the updated Group strategy, which is completed in July each year,
the Board addressed specific strategic topics in each of our meetings during
the year. This regular drumbeat of strategic discussians is greatly enhancing
the Board's understanding of the potential oppartunities available to our
businesses and ensuring that the requisite resources are allccated to the
realisation of these opportunities.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG™)

The Board clearly recognises that long-term value creation can only be
delivered through safe, sustainable and responsible business operations.

The Board has established a Sustainability Committee, which is chaired by the
Group Chief Executive, to oversee the defivery of our ESG strategy, ESG-related
abjectves are now widely reflected in the wcentive arrangements for our
Icadership teams and performance against agreed E5G targets is monitored
by the Board at every meeting. Further detals an our ESG-related activities
and the progress made » the year can be found on pages 37 1o 39



DIVERSITY .

In acknowiedgement of the benelits associated with having a diverse range

of skills, experience and backgrounds amongst members of the Board, the
MNominatgn Committee has agreed that it would be beneficial 1o appaint an
additianal non-executive director in order 1o further improve diversity on the
Board. Further details on the search pracess which has been nstigated are set
out in the Nomination Committee report on pages 94 to 95

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

In recagnition of the requirement under the Code for the Board to establish
a mechanism for engaging directly with our employees, Laurie Bowen is
designated as the non-executive director with responsibility far pmplnyee
engagement an behall of the Board. Laurie hetd a number of meetings with
employees at all levefs of the organisation at three of our US businesses
guring the year, at which she shared with employees a perspective an the
Board's prigrities and provided an opportunity for them to ask quesuons of
her. Further details are provided later in the repart. Feedback from these
meetings has continued to be generally positive, with employees welcoming
the oppartunity to meet with a non-executive member of the Board and to
be able 1o provide honest feedback to a senior member of the organisation
outside of their direct line managerment. Insights from these interactions,
which are reported to the Board following the engagement sessians, continue
e provide valyable input to the Board's deliberations.

W fully recognise our obligation 10 cngage with and consider the impact of
the Board's decisions on all of our stakeholders. Further details on the US site
visits can be found on page 84.

BOARD EFFECTIVENESS

With the further easing of CV-19 travel-related restricuons during the

year, the Board was able to resume more regular site visits ang 100k the
opROrtunity to visit the US twice during the year |n Apnl the Board visited
our Chicago facility and in September we were able to see firsi-hand the final
commissioning of the automated countermeasures facility in Tennessee.

We cantinue to develop the strong relauonship estabhished with our

US Baard in recent years, and in addition to meetings wath the US Board
members whilst the Board was in the US, the President of the US Board
attended two of our Board meetings in the UK. Given the significance of
our U businesses, it is imperative that we maintain positive interactions
with the U5 Board,

These engagement activities are very beneficial to aiding the Board's
understanding of beth the challenges and opportunities within our businesses,
and we will continue with aur scheduled programme of site visits in 2023.

Following the feegback received during the Board performance evaluation
during 2021, a new format was adopted in the year for the executive
managemert's monthly repor to the Board. The report now includes
more information on strategic developments and oppartunities, and a
secuon dedicated to ESG-related matters. The new format provides
more concise information for the Board and is erabling us 1o moniter
performance in a range of areas more effectively.

BOARD EVALUATION

Having completed a full externaliy-facilitated Board performance evaluation
in late 2020, our evaluatian this year was again conducted internally. Further
detiils of the process adopted and key actions arising out of the review are
set out on page 88. These will be addressed as part of our continuing efforts
to improve the effectiveness of the Board over the fortheoming year.

Carl-Peter Forster
Chairman
13 December 2022

COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the year under review, the Company was required to apply the main and
supporting principles of good goveraance set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code issued in 2018 by the Financial Reporting Council (the
"Cede™). The Company was in cormnpliance with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year ended 31 October 2022, with the exception of
provision 38 n relation to the alignment of executive directors’ pensions
with those of the wider workforce. As descnbed an page 37, these have
been aligned with effect from 1 November 2022.

Further details an how the Company applied the principles of the Code
during the year can be found as follows:

SEE PAGE
BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY PURFPOSE
Long-term value and sustainability 80
Culture a1
Shareholder engagement g4
Employee engagement 84
Other stakeholder engagement 83
Canflicts of interest as
DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
Rale of the Chairman Bg
Diwsion of responsibilities B&
Non-executive directors ;1]
COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION
Appointments and succession planning 54-95
Skills, experience and knowledge 85
Length of service 78-79
Evaluation 88
Diversity 35
AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Audit Commitiee 30
Integrity of financial statements 91.92
Fair, balanced and understandable 92
Internal controfs and risk management 64
External auditor 92
Principal and emerging risks 66
REMUNERATION
Policies and practices 9%
Alignment with purpose, values and long-term strategy 112
Indegendent judgement and discretion 96
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXPERIENCED LEADERSHIP

CHAIRMAN

CARL-PETER FORSTER (=) =
Non-Executive Chairman

BOARD LENGTH QF SERVICE
{as at 13 December 2022):
& years, 7 months

EXPERIENCE:

- Board experience at Chairman and
Chief Executive level

- Extensive international experience
within the industrial goods and
engineering sectors

- Expertise in operaticnal excellence
and lean manufacturing

Canl-Peter Forster jained the Group as
an independen; non-executive director
and Charman-designate on 1 May
2014, and was appointed Chairman of
the Board on 1 Juty 2016,

Carl-Peter formerly held senior
leadership posiuons w somc of the

world's largest automotive manufacturers,

incuding BMW., General Motors and Tata
Morors (induding Jaguar Land Rover).

Carl-Peter 15 currently the Senior
Independent Director at Babcock
International Group PLC® and the
Chairman of Vesuvius plc®. He is

also a member aof the Kingxon GmbiH
Advisory Board and 2 member of the
Boards of The Mobility House AG.
LeddarTech Inc, Envisics Ltd, andg
Gordon Murray Design Ltd. He was
previously a non-executive director of
1M1 pic, Rexam PLC, Rolls-Royee pk
and Casworth Ltd. and Chairman of
the Hella KGaA Shareholder
Commitzee, The London Electric
Vehicle Company Ltd and Friedela Tech
GmbH, and a member of the Boards of
Volva Cars Corporation and Geely
Automabile Holdings

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MICHAEL ORD
Group Chief Executive

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
{as at 13 Oecember 2022):
4 years, 6§ months

EXPERIENCE:
- Extensive senior management
experience in the defence sector

- International experience
in both service and
manufacturing industries

Michael Ord was appointed to the
Board on 1 June 2018 and appointed as
Group Chiel Executive on 1 July 2018,

Michael farmerly held a number of
senior management roles with BAE
Systems including Managing Director af
their Naval Ships and £-35 Joint Strike
Fighter businesses. Prior wo his 1996
magve 1o industry, Michael had a
successful career in the Royal Mavy
serving for 12 years n a number

of engineering managemaent roles.

An Aeronautical Systems Engineering
graduate and a Chartered Engineer,
Michael has also completed
post-graduate management studies at
Manchester Business School and is 2
graduate of Harvard Business Schaol’s
Advanced Management Programme. He
is 3 member of the Royal Aeronautical
Society. He previously served as

a trustee of The Education &

Traimng Foundation

* Designates a curren; public company 2ppoiniment.
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ANDREW LEWIS
Chief Financial Officer

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
(as at 13 December 2022)
5 years, 11 months

EXPERIENCE:

- Extensive international experience
in the defence sectar

- Board experience at Finance
Director leve!

- Chartered Accountant

Andrew Lewis joined the Group on

9 January 2017 and was apponted

to the Board as Chief Financial Officer
on 19 January 2017

Andrew spent eight years as Group

Finance Director of Avon Rubber plc,

where he also performed the Intenm
CEO role during 2015. following the
retirement of the previous CEQ.

Prior to joining Avon, Andrew was
Group Financial Controller of Rotork
plc and before that he was a Director
at PricewaterhouseCoopers n Bristol
and New Zealand.

SARAH ELLARD
Group Legal Director
& Company Secretary

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
(as at 13 December 2022):
11 years, 3 months

EXPERIENCE:
- Legal, compliance and
governance expertise

- Chartered Secretary

Sarah Ellard was appointed as Group
Legal Director on 7 October 2011,
hawving beer Group Company Secretary
since 1998.

Prior ta joining the Group, Sarah
trained and worked at Ernst & Young
LLP She is 2 Feltow of the Chartered
Governance tnstitute.



NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LAURIE BOWEN ~ ~ (®
Non-Executive Director

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
(as at 13 December 2032%
3 years, 5 months

EXPERIENCE:
- Board experience at Chief
Executive level

- International experience in the
technology sector

Laurie Bowen was appointed as an
independent aon-executive director
on 1 August 2019 and was appeinted
as Chair of the Remuneration
Committee on 4 March 2020, She is
alsc a non-executive director and
Chair of the Nomination Committes
at Ricardg ple®

Laurie has over thirty years of
leadership experience at large
multinational telecommunications and
technology companies including Cable

& Wireless Communications ple, Tata
Communications, BT Group pl¢ and IBM.
Most recendy she was Chief Executive of
Tetecorn ltalia Sparkle in the Americas, a
subsidiary of the international wholesale
arm of Telecom hakia.

Laurie was previously a non-executive
director at customer experience
technalogy provider, Transcom
Worldwide AB.

Length of service
0-2 years (1)
34 years (3)
5+ years (1)
50%

ANDREW DAVIES » ~
Senior Independent
MNon-Executive Director

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
(as at 13 December 2022):
6 years, 7 months

EXPERIENCE:
= Board experience at Chief
Exeaurive level

- Extensive knowledge of the
international defence industry

Andrew Davics was appointed as

an independemt non-executive director
on 17 May 2016 and was appointed

as Senior Independent Director

on 1 May 2020. He also served as
Chairman of the Rernuneration
Cammittee until 4 March 2020.

Andrew is currently Chief Executive
of Kier Group PLC®. He has a wealth
of relevant sector experience, having
scrved in scnior operational and
strategic rakes at executive committee
level at BAE Systermns plc for more than
fourteen years. He was formerly Chief
Executive of Wates Group Lid.

13%

37%

STEPHEN KING(® » =
Nan-Executive Director

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
(as at 11 December 2012):
4 years, 1 month

EXPERIENCE:

- Exetutive and non-executive
board expcricnce in public and
private companies

- Chartered Accountant

Stephen King was appeinted as an
independent non-executive direcior on
1 December 2018 and as Chairman of
the Audit Committee on 1 August 2019.

_Stephen has a wealth of senior

level experignce within the industrial,
engincering and manufacturing sectors,
including a number of executive and
non-executive roles. Stephen retired as
Graup Finance Director of Caledonia
Investments pic in 2018. He was previously
a noa-executive director and Chairman
of the Audit Committee at Signature
Awviation plc and The Weir Group ple,
and a non-executive director and
Senior Independent Director at TT
Electronics plc,

Stephen was Finance Directar at

De La Rue pic from 2003 to 2009, and
prior to that at Midlands Electricity pie.
A Chartered Accountant, Stephen has
also held senigr financial positions at
Lueas Industries ple and Seeboard ple,
and was a non-executive director

of Camelfot ple.

FIONA MACAULAY s w =
Non-Executive Director

BOARD LENGTH OF SERVICE
{as at 13 December 2022)
2 years, & months

EXPERIENCE:

- Board experience at
Chief Exututive level and
in non-executive positions

= International and operational
exgerience in high hazard industries

Fiona MacAulay was appointcd as a
aon-executive director on 3 june 1020,
She is also Chair of IOG pk* and a
non-executive director of Ferrexpo plc®,
Costain Group PLC® and EF| Group Lxd
She was previously a aon-executive
director of Coro Energy Ple.

fiona previously held a number of
senior cperational roles within the ol
and gas sector, including a two-year
appoinument as Chief Executive of
Echa Energy plc w 2017

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

& Audit Committee
w Nommation Committee
n Remuneration Committee

() Cenotes Chair
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY PURPOSE

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Board is responsible for ensuring leadership of the Group through effective
oversight and review, with the aim of delivering the long-term sustainable success
of the business. The Board discharges some of its responsibilives directly in
accordance with the formal schedule of matters reserved to it for approval, and
discharges athers thravgh Board committees and the execubive management.

The key responsibilities of the Board, its committees and the executive
management are set out below,

THE BOARD
Respansible for promoting the long-term sustainable success of the Group; directing its purpase, values and strategy; oversight of financial and
orgacwsational control, ensuring that the Group’s businesses have appropriate and effective internal control and risk management systems; and ensuring
effective engagement with stakeholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE NOMINATION COMMITTEE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Monitors the integrity of the financial Evaluates the size, structure and camposition Sets and reviews the directors’ remuneration
statements, and the effectiveness of the of the Board, and oversees Board pelicy, and oversees remuneration
external and internal audit processes. appointments. arrangements for the senior leadership.
See page 90 See page 74 See page 96
{Audit Committee report) {Momination Committee report) (Directors’ remuneration repore)

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Responsible for the leadership and day-to-day management of the business, and development and implementation of the Group's strategy.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Assists the Group Chief Executive with oversight of the delivery of the Group's strategy, monitoring of the operatianal and
financial performance of the businesses, allocation of resources across the Group, management of risk, and implementation of the
Group's Operational Framework and governance policies,

The Group Chief Executive chairs the Executive Committee, whith meets bi-monthly. The members of the Committee are the executive directors,
the President and the Chief Fimancial Officer of the Group's US operations, the Group HSE Director, the Group Strategy and Corporate Development
Director and the Group Director of Corporate Affairs. Full details of the Executive Committee members can be found on the Group's website
{www.chemrng.com}.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ETHICS & COMPUIANCE COMMITTEE SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE

Oversees the implementation of the risk Oversees the Group's ethical business conduct QOwversees the implementation of the Group's
management policy and framework; identifies and campliance framework; manitors the ESG strategy; monitors progress against

the principal risks to which the Group is implementation of the framework across the agreed ESG targets and identifies further
exposad, monitors risk mitigation plans; and Group and recommends areas for ESG-related objectives.

maintains the Group risk register. improvement in the future. See page 37
See page 64 See page 57 (Inteoduction to sustainability)
(Risk management) (Ethics and business conduct)
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PURPOSE

Chemring’s purpose is to help make the world a safer place. Across physical
and digital environments, our exceptional tearms deliver inngvative
technelogies and products that detect and defeat ever-changing threats.
Further details on our purpose and how it links to our strategy and values can
be found on pages 6to 7

HOW THE BOARD ESTABLISHES AND MONITORS CULTURE
ESTABLISHMENT OF CULTURE

CULTURE AND VALUES

| he Board is responsible for ensuring that the Compary’s cullur e iy aligned
wath its purpose, values and strategy. We are committed to creating an
inclusive culture across Chermiring, where everyone does the right thing

and takes personal responsibility for their actions. This culture is promoted
through leadership and a strong “tone from the top” and is embedded in
our Code of Conduct and our Operational Framewaork, both of which bind
our purpose, values, behaviour, policies and procedures, and provide the
necessary governance to enable us to operate in a safe, consistent and
accountable way.

The Chairman is respansible for ensuring that the Board demanstrates
commitment to our values and cuiturs by operating correctly and taking the
right actions on behalf of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Group
Chief Executive, supported by the Executive Committee and the business
urit leadership teams, is responsible for ensuring that our values and culiure
are fully embedded within all aspects of our operations.

Further details on how our values drive behaviours are set out on
pages 18 and 19.

MONITORING OF CLLTURE

SAFETY

- Focus on “Journey to Zero Harm" and drive towards a

proactive safety culture
- Fundamental Safety Rules
- "Spot It, Stop It, Share It” campaign

- Occupavonal Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee

- Technical Safety Committee

- HSE Policy, Management System Framework and Strategy

- Monthly reporting 1o the Board on safety performance against
key performance indicators, wcluding near miss reporting rates
- The Board receives regular updates from the Group MSE Director
on progress against the HSE Strategy, significant incidents and near
misses, and key findings of our HSE assurance processes
The Board is brefed by independent external consultants on
their periodic review of the Group's progress on embedding
a proactive salety cuhture

EMPLOYEES - Code of Conduct

- Monthly video-blog by the Group Chief Executive and

Group-wide communication programme
- Diversity, equity and inclusion policy and initiatives

- Employee development programmes

- Sustainability Cormmitiee and irclusion of ESG objectives in

short and long-term incentive arrangements

- Laurie Bowen, the non-executive directar charged with employee
engagement on behalf of the Board, provides regular feedback on
her discussions with employees at all levels of the organisation
The Board receives regular updates on employment sentiment
across the Group measured through our real-time engagement
tool, Emplayee Voice, and undertakes periodic culture “check-mns”
facilitated by an external consulant

- Reporting to the Board on progress against established ESG targets

Board site visits

GOVERNANCE
AND BUSINESS
CONDUCT

- Code of Conduct
- Operatonal Framework and operational
assurance process

- Ethics & Compliance Commuttee

- Chemring Compliance Portai

- Mandatory training programmes

- Whstleblowing policy and procedures

The Ethics & Compliznce Committee monitors ethical

business conduct and imptementation of the Group's campliance
framework, and makes recommendations to the Board ¢n areas for
future improvements

The Group Legal Director reports to the Board on a monthly basis
on governance and compliance matters

- Review of compliance with key policies under the Cperational
Framework is included within the internal audit programme

‘

The Group has a farmal whistleblowing policy and procedures, and
the Board is provided with an overview of whistleblowsng reports
recewed, related investigation findings and any remedial actions taken

INTERMNAL
CONTROL
AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

- Operational Framework and operational
assurance process

- Risk Management Committee
« Risk Management Palicy and Framework

- lnternal audit programme

- Group Finance Manual and internal control framework

The Aydit Committee reviews internal audit reports produced by

our internal auditors, PwC, and the Board considers any significant

1ssues arising therefrom and any improvements required to our

internal control systems

- The Board reviews the Group risk register on a regular basis and has
high-level oversight of mitigation plans implemented for key risks

- Operational assurance statements are required 1o be submitted

by the businesses on a half-yearly basis

Chemring Group PLC Annual repert and accounts 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued
BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY PURPOSE continued

BOARD ACTIVITIES IN 2022
LEADERSHIP STRATEGY
- Reviewed the company’s purpose, vision and values - Approved the updated five-year plan and strategy for the Group
- Visited businesses in the UK and the US - Engaged in reviews of organic and incrganic growth opportumities across

- Manitored culture through feedback cn employee sentiment measured the Group

through “Employee Vowe™ - Reviewed potential acquisition targets for Roke and approved the

- Completed the annual Board performance evaluation acquisition of Geallect

- Considered the implications for the Group of changes to the US
Department of Defense’s budget funding priarities and the reshaping of
other key defence markets

- Reviewed the "Data Strategy for Defence” and the "Defence Al Strategy”
published by the UX MOD and assessed the potential opportunities

for Roke

- Reviewed priorites for capital and operational investment

ANANCIAL HEALTH, SAFETY, ENVIROMNMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
- Monitared performance of the businesses against the 2022 budget - Monitored health, safety and environmental key performance indicators on
- Appraved the 2023/2024 budgets a monthly basis

- Approved the haH year results, and the annuat report and accounts - Received briefings on significant incidents and high potential near misses

- Monitored developments with regards ta CV-19 and the potential impact

- Approved an extension to the Group's revolving credit facilities
on the businesses

- Reviewed the Group's capital allocation policy
- Agreed and reviewed progress aganst key health, safety and

- Approved the mtenm diwdend and made a recommendation for the final .
erviconmental objectives

dividend
- Received regular updates from the Sustainability Committee
- Approved the Graup's approach to TCFD reperting and the management
of climate change risks
- Approved the Sustainabiity Report
PEQPLE AMND CULTLURE GOVERNANCE, RISK AND REGULATORY
- Recowved regular reports from the Remuneration Committee - Reviewed the Group risk register, and completed the annual assessment
- Considered feedback from Laurie Bowen, the acn-executive director of the Group’s imesnal control and risk management systems
designated to engage with employees an the Board's behalf, on issues - Received regular updates from the Audit Cammittee and the Ethics
raised with Mrs Bowen by employees & Compliance Committee
- Reviewed the Group's talent framework, development programmes and - Received updates on key legal issues and regulatory matters impacting the
succession plans Group
- Reviewed the Group’s diversity, equity and inclusion policy and strategy - Received regular updates on significant whistleblowing reports
- Received feedback on employee sentiment across the Group - Reviewed the Company's campliance with the Code

- Reviewed and updated the Schedule of Matters Reserved far the Board
and associated delegated levels of authority

- Approved the Group's Modern Slavery Act statement for 2022
SHAREHOLDERS

- Reviewed feedback from the results presentations and institutional investor
fHEEtINgS

- Received updates from brekers and other advisers and the Group Director
of Corparate Alfairs on current shareholder views on the Group
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HOW THE BOARD CONSIDERS STAKEHOLDERS IN ITS DECISION MAKING

Section 172 (1) of the Compantes Act 2006 requires the directors o act in the way they consider, in good faith, would most fikely promate the success
of the company for the banefit of its members as a whole. Ir doing 50, section 172 requires the directors to have regard, amongst ather matters, to the:
- iikely consequences of any decision in the fong term;

- interests of the company’s employees;

- need to foster the company's business relatianships with suppliers, customers and others;

- impact of the company’s operations on the community and environment;

- desirability of the company maintzining a reputaton for high standards of business conduct; and

- need to act fairly as between members of the campany.

The statement of compliance with section 172 is set out on pages 20 to 23, together with details of how the Board engages with stakeholders and how the Board
monitors stakeholder interests. et out below are some specific examples of how the Board roncidered stakeholders in their decision making during the year.

STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT

- The Board received detalled briefngs on the changing market dynamics in key defence markets, with particular focus on the shift in funding priorities in the

US in preparation for a peer ta pees conflict, and the implications for the Group's future strategy. The Board also reviewed the “Data Strategy for Defence”

and the “Defence Al Strategy” published by the UK MoD and considered how the identified requirements atigned with Roke’s strategic cbjectives,

- The Board receives updates fram the Group Chief Executive on his regular interactions with the UK MoD and from the President of the US operations on
his interactions with key US customers

- In addition, the Board receives regular feedback from the businesses on the emerging technalogy requirements of their principal customers and future
budget allocations. These inputs are all reflected in the development of strategy, and decisions regarding investment in operational capabilities and research
and develapment.

- In developing the Group's steategy, the Board continues to recagnise the need for investment in people. pracesses and products 1o ensure that the
businesses can operate safely for the benefit of all stakeholders, and aflocates resources accordingly.

- The Board also considers feedhback from shareholders when reviewing strategy, particularly with regards o capital allocation and future growth plans.

ACQUISITION OF GEOLLECT

- In reviewing and approving the acquisition of Geollect during the year, the Board considered how the technologies develaped by the business could be
leveraged by Roke in meeting the increasing demand from Roke's existing customers for open source intefligence.

- The Board akso considered the cutture of the Geollect and Roke organisations, and how the combined organisation cauld provide development
opportunitics for cmployees going forward.

OPERATIONAL INVESTMENT IN ROKE

- A significant level of operaticnal investment has been allocated to Roke over the last two years, including £2.5m of investment in the Roke Academy to
attract new talent ang create a centre of excellence for learning and development. The business has also invested in its infrastructure, including a new office
in Woking to accommodate 150 staff, and in the value propasition for its existing workforce. In approving this investment, the Board considered how it
would cantribute to the longer-term success of Roke and the wider Graup, and the benefits that would be derived by customers and employees, particularl
in refation to workforce diversity and career development prospects.

IMPLEMENTATION OF E3G STRATEGY

- During the year, the Board continued 10 manitar progress against the £5G strategy adopted during 2021, with 2 particular focus on health and safety,
diversity and snclusion, climate change and employee wellbeing. This has driven investment in a number of areas, from capital invesiment in upgraded new
facilities to improve safety and reduce our environmental impact, to the establishment of development and networking programmes focused on promoting
diversity across the Group. In approving these investments. the Board has considered the impacts on a wide range of stakeholders, including employees,
customers, regulaters and oyr Yocal communities.

Further details on our approach te ESG can be found on pages 37 to 58
EXECUTIVE REMUNERATIGN

- Following shareholder approvai of the updated directors’ remuneration policy in March 2022, the Remuneration Commiitee considered how the
remuneration and incentive arrangements for the executive directors would be appropriately flowed down to the rext level of management.

- In reviewing the executive directors’ remuneration arrangements for the current financial year, the Remuneration Committee assessed how they compared
with remuneration arrangements for employees more broadly across the Group. particularly with regards to salary increases, pension contributions and
incentive arrangements.

Y
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued

BOARD LEADERSHIP AND COMPANY PURPQOSE continued

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

Laurie Bowen is designated as the non-executive director who engages with
employees an behaif of the Board. Laurie held a number of meetings with
employees at alf levels of the arganisation in the US businesses during the
year, at which she shared with employees a perspective on the Board's
prigrities and provided an opportunity for them to ask questions of her.
Whilst each meeting was different due to the diversity of the businesses and
1he range of employees who participated in the discussians, the following
topics were typically addressed at every meeting'

« the role of the Board and its responsibilities, and, where appropriate,
the interaction between the UK and the US Boards:

- application of the Group's values, particularty in relation to safety:

- leadership and vision;

- cormmunication and ermployee engagement,

- refationships with customers and ather stakeholders,

- collaboration within the Group; and )

- resourcing, training and employese development.

Feedback from these meetings is provided to the Board and s reflected on, as
appropriate, in future dedsion making. Laurie also provides a high-level overview
of the feedback received, on a non-attributable basés, 1o the leadership of the
business invotved. Further details on the key themes arising during the year
are set out o page 52.

During the two Board visits to the US in the year, the Board members met
informally with employees from Chemring Energetic Devices ("CED") and
Chemring Countermeasures USA ("CCM USA"). At CED, the Board members
met for lunch with small groups of employees from different areas of the
business, which provided an informal opportunity for open discussions on the
operation of the Board and the Group's strategic priarities, and enabled the
employees to talk about the opportunities and challenges in their own area
of the business.

The Group Chief Executive engages in regular discussion forums with
employees during routine wisits to the businesses, and other directors also
engage with employees during individual site visits.

The Board believes that its current mechamsms lor engagement with
employees, including Laurie Bowen's apporntment as the nan-execulive
director lead on employee engagement, is currently proving effective, as
evidenced by the openness and quality of the discussions with employees
When combined with the feedback on employee sentiment the Board
receives through Employee Voice and periodic culture "check-ins”, the Beard
is confident that it receives meaningful input to its decision-making processes.
We will, hawever, conunue to review the effectiveness of our approach to
engagement with employees and all of our stakeholders on an ongoing basis

Furcher details on employee engagerment mere broadly can be found on page 52

SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND THE ANNUAL

GENERAL MEETING

The Company operates a structured investor relations programrme,
focused largely around the half and full year results announcements.
Engagement with shareholders during these sessions is predominantly led
by the Group Chiel Executive, the Chief Financal Officer and the Group
Director of Corporate Affairs. Meetings were held with over 120 current
2nd potential institutional shareholders during the year, covering 88 indidual
institutions in the UK, the US and japan In addition to reviewing the results
announcements, discussions typically also cover the development of the
Group's stratepy and ESG-related matters.
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The Board receives reports from the Company’s advisers on feedback
received from existing and potential investors and analysts following meetings
with the executive directors. [nvestor sentiment is a key input inte
development of the Group's strategy.

During the early part of the year, Laurie Bowen engaged with the Company's
larger institutional shareho!ders regarding the new directors’ remuneration
palicy which was presented 1o shareholders for approval at the Annual
General Meeting in March 2022. Further detail on how the Remuneration
Committee responded to the fecdback received ¢an be found in the
directors’ rermuneration report included within the 2021 annual report.

The Annual General Meeting provides an apportunity for all shareholders

to engage directly with the Board. All directors are required to attend the
meeting and make themselves available to take questions from shareholders or
address any concerns raised by shareholders All substantial issues, including
the adoption of the annual report and financial statements, are proposed on
separate resolutions at the Annual General Meeting In line with best practice
guidelines, voting at the Annual General Meeting is usually conducted by way
of a poll, which allows all votes to be counted, not just those of sharehclders
wha attend the meeting,

Further details on the Board's engagement with shareholders can be found
on page 12,

BOARD SITE VISITS

Site visits enable the Board 1o obtain a deeper understanding of the business
aperations, establish relztionships with the wider management team and
engage directly with employees The Board generally receives a presentation
fraom management and views the facilities where safe to do so.

During the year, the Board as a collective wisited Roke and received a
presentation from the management on thewr business performance, future
strategy. and key opporwnities and chalfenges. As referred to abave, the
Board also visited CED in Chicago in April 2022 and CCM USA in Tennessee
in September 2022.

Ouring the wsit o the Chicago facility, the Board met with members of the
CED feadership team and received a briefing on current business operations
and future strategy The Board was also able (o participate in a detailed tour
of the facilities and individual Board members ret with groups of employees
over lunch. The Board also met with members of the CHG Group, Inc.
leadership team during the visit and received a briefing from members of
the US Board on developments within the US defence sector.

During the CCM USA wisit, the Board visited the new avtomated
countermeasure manufacturing facility and received a detailed briefing an
its planned operation, The Board also received a presentation from
management on the future strategy for the business.

LEADERSHIP OF THE US BUSINESSES AND THE US BOARD

QOur US Board is established under our Special Security Agreement (“SSA")
with the US Gavernment and includes four independent US directors
appraved by the US Government. The SSA imposes certain restrictions an
the degree of control and nfluence we can exert over our US businesses and
it is imperative that we maintan a strong relationship with the US 8oard, in
order to ensure that we arc fulfilling our own governance obligations. The
Group Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer are both members of the
LS Board.

The Chairman of the US Board and/or the President of our US cperations
attended several of our Board meetings during the year, inciuding the meeting
at which we conducted cur annual review of the Group strategy. Our broader
interaction with the US Board has increased in recent years, and the increased
collaboration is proving very beneficial from both an operational and
governance perspective. Qur US Board also collates and provides valuable
feedback from a range of both internal and external internal stakehoiders

in the US, and this is a key input into the annual strategy review.



DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD AND INDEPENDENCE

The Board currently comprises three executive directors and five
nan-executive directors (incduding the Chairman). The biographical details
of individual directors, including details of their ather significant business
commitments, are set out on pages 78 and 79

The Board considers all of the current non-executive directors ¢ be
independent in judgement and character, and considered Carl-Feter Forster
to be independent on his appointment as Chairrman.

The Board considers that the current balance of executive and non-executive
inttuence on the Board is appropriale tor the Company, taking into account its
size and status, and serves to ensure that no single director or small group of

directors dominate the Board's deliberations and decision making.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined
in accordance with the requirements of the Code, with the division of
responsibilities set out in writing and agreed by the Board.

TIME COMMITMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Board recognises the importance of ensuring that individual

directors have sufficient time available to discharge their duties effectively.
Existing commitrments of praspective directors are carefully considered prior
to appowntment and incumbent directors are required to noufy the Chairman
or, i the case of the Chairrman the Senior Independent Director, if there are
any significant changes to their external commitments.

APPROVAL OF DIRECTORS’ EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS
In accordance with the Code, all proposed new external appointments
of directors require the approval of the Board.

During the year, the Board approved the proposed appointment of the
Charrenan 3s a nen-executive director and Charman-designate of Vesuvius pic.
In appraving this appointment, the Board satished itsell that, followsng the
cessation of certain of his other appomtments, the Charman would continue
to have the capacity to fulfil his obligatons to the Group. The Board also
approved the appointment of Fiona MacAulay as a non-executive director
of Costain Group PLL following her resignation as a non-executive director
of Coro Energy Pic

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Al directors have a duty under the Companies Act 2006 (the "2306 Act”)

to avoid a situation in which he ar she has or can have a direct or indirect

interest that conflicts or may possibly conflict with the interests of the

Company. The Company's Articles of Association include prowisians for

dealing with directors’ conflicts of interesti in accordance with the 2006 Act.

The Company bas procedures in place to deal with sitvations where directors

may have any such conflicts, which require the Board to:

- consider each conflict situation separately on s particular facts;

= consider the conflict situation in conjunction with the rest of their duties
under the 2006 Act;

- keep records and Beard minutes as to authorisations granted by directors
and the scope of any appravals given; and

- regularly review conflict authorisation,

EXPERIENCE OF THE BOARD

The members of the Board also maintain the appropriate balance of
experience and knowledge of the business to enable them to discharge
their duties and responsibilijies effectively.

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS WITH APPLICABLE SPECIFIC EXPERIENCE

Manufacturing
Defence

Technology

Strategy

8

6

6
International 8
5
Marketing S
5

Governance
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued
DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES continued

BOARD ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The key responsbilities of the Board members are set out below.

CHAIRMAN

- Respansible far the leadership of the Board and ensuring its overall effectiveness in directing the Group
- Ensures that the Beard is kept properly informed and is consulted in a timely ranner on all decisions reserved to it
- Promotes a culture of openness and debate, and Facilitates constructive relations between the executive and aon-executive directors

- Ensures that the training and development needs of drectors are identified
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

- Responsible for the leadership and day-to-day management of the business

» Develops strategy for Board approval and ensures that the agreed strategy is implemented successfully
- Presents the annual budget and five-year plan to the Beard for approval and delivers agreed cbjectives
- Identifies new business opportunities, and potential acquisiticns and disposals

- Manages the Group's risk profile, including the management of health and safety

- Ensures that the Board s fully informed of all key matters

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

- Supports the Chief Executive in developing and implementing the global finance strategy
- Oversees the finance functions across the Group
- Ensures effective financial controls and financial reportung processes are in place

- Ensures the Group has adequate pank facibties and financial resources
SEMIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

+ Provides suppart to the Chairman and acts as a trusted sounding board
- Reviews the Chairman’s performance with the other non-executive directars

- Available to mect shareholders if they have concerns which cannot be resotved through the normal channcls
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

- Parucipate in the development of strategic objectives, provide constructive ¢hallenge and monitor the performance of executive management in achieving the
agreed objectives

- Monitor the Group’s financial performance

- Consider the integrity of the Group's financial infarmation, and whether the financial controls and risk managerment systems are robust and defensible

- Determine the appropriate remuneration policy for the executive directors

- Meet periodically with the Group's senior management and visit operations

- Meet regularly without the executive directors being present
LEGAL DIRECTOR & COMPANY SECRETARY

- Oversees legal matters and compliance across the Group

- Secretary to the Board and its committees

- Under the direction of the Chairman, responsible for mainiaining good information flows within the Board and its committecs
- Develops Board and committee agendas, and collates and distributes papers

- Assists with the induction of new directors

- Keeps directors informed about changes to their duties and responsibilities

- Provides advice on legal, regulatory and corparate governance matters
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

The Board convenes for scheduled reetings at least seven times a year. The Board recelves a tepaort from the Exccutive Committee, covering heatth and safety

performance, operational and finanicial performance, legal, people and investor relations refated issues, as a standing agenda tem at every scheduled meeting.
Members of the seniar leadership tearm, represeatatives of the US Board and external advisers attend Board meetings by invitation, as appropnate.

The Board aims to meet jomtly with the Group's US Board, further details of which are set out on page 84, at least once a year.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR

4
3
2
1
0 .
Navember December January March April May July Septemboer
Board Audit Nomination Rernuneration

The following table shows the attendance of all directors who served during the year at the meetings of the Board and its committees:

Beard Nomratien

(8 scheduled Commitiee Rermuncration

meetings and Audit Commitice (2 scheduled Committeg

8 ad hoc (5 scheduled mectings and {3 scheduled
Board member meetings) meetings} 2 ad hoc ings) ing:
CARL-PETER FORSTER 16(16) —_ 4{1) 3(3)
LAURIE BOWEN 16(16) 5(5) 4(4) 3(3)
ANDREW DAVIES 16(16) 5(5) 4(4) 3(3)
SARAH ELLARD 16(16) —_ — —
STEPHEN KING 15(16) 5(5) 4(4) 3(3)
ANDREWY LEWIS 15(16) — — —
FIONA MACAULAY 15(16) 5(5) 44) 3(3)
MICHAEL ORD 16(16) — —_ —_

The maximum number of meeungs which each director could have artended is shown in brackets. All directors attended zll scheduled Board meetings.
In addition to the scheduled meetings, eight ad hoc Board meetings were convened to deal with matters which arose between scheduled meetings.

During the year, the Chairman met regularly with the nan-executive directors without the executwves being present.
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CORPCRATE GOVERNANCE REPORT continued
COMPQSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION

BOARD APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
MNew appointments 1o the Board and 115 committees are made by the Board
on the recommendation of the Nomination Cormmittee.

In accordance with the Cormpany's Articles of Association, all directors are
required to submit themsetves for re-election at each Annual General
Meeting. The papers accompanying the Notice of Annual General Meeting
irclude a statement fram the Chairman confirming that the performance

of each non-executive drector seeking re-election at the meeting continues
to be effcctve and that each director continues 1o demonstrate commitment
to ther rale.

DIVERSITY

The Board recognises the importance of promoting diversity in its broadest
sense, both at the Board level and across the entire business, and we remain
cammitted to further improving diversity on the Board, the Executive
Committes angd the wider senior leadership team. Against this background,
we have instigated a search for an additional non-executive director, further
details of which are set out in the Nomination Committee report on pages
94 10 95.

further detaills on the Board's policy and approach to diversity are also set
out in the Nomination Committee report.

INDUCTION, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

An internal induction programme an the Group's operations, and its stratcgic
and business plans, is provided for newly-appointed directors. Directors are
invited to meet key members of the senior management team at the earliest
opportunity, and site visits are arranged to facilitate their understanding of the
Group's operations.

The Group Legal Director & Company Secretary also provides detaileg
information on the operation of the Board and its committees, directors'
legal duties, and responsibilities on appointment.

The Company meets the cost of appropriate external training for dircctors,
the requirement far which is kept under review by the Chairman.

Durectors are continually updated an the Group's businesses and the matters
affecting the markets in which they operate. The Group Legal Director &
Company Secretary updates the Board on a regular basis with regards to
regulatory changes affecting the directors and the Group's operations
generally, and briefings are provided by the Group’s advisers on key
developments n areas such as financial reporting and executive remuneration
practice.

INDEPENDENT ADVICE

All directors are entitled 1o take independent professional advice in
furtherance of their duties at the Company's expense, shauld the need arise.
Ne director bad reason to seek such advice during the year.
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PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

The performance evaluation of the Board was externally facilitated in 2020
and an internal evaluation was therefore tonducted during the year following
the approach adopted in 2021,

Questionnaires were sent to each of the drectars for compleuon,
with a focus on,

- Board leadership;

- operation of the Board and s committees,

« Board composition and succession;

- the Board’s role in establishing the Company’s purpose and values,

- strategy development,

- performance and risk manitaring,

- audit and internal control;

- key objectives for the Board in 2023; and

- identification of other areas in which the Board could improve its
effectiveness.

The individual responses were collated and conscfidated by the Group Legal
Director & Company Secretary into a report which was discussed with the
Chairman prior to sharing with the remainder of the Board. Specific
comments from directors were not attributed to individuals i order to
provide full transparency on the responses.

The Board cancluded that it and the Beard committees had continued

to work well together during the year and concurred that the resumption

of site visits and more regufar, focused discussions on strategy had been

beneficial. The Board agreed that whilst the current balance of skills and

experience on the Board was approgpriate, the diversity of the Board could

be further improved with the appointment of an additional ngn-executive

director. The Board also agreed it would be beneficial to initiate succession

planning for the Chairman and the Serior Independent Birccton, who are

baoth servng their third three-year terms. Further details on the actions being

taken Lo address these matters are set out in the Nomination Committee report

on pages 94 and 95. The following additional actions were also agreed to be

taken 1o further improve the effectiveness of the Board in the year ahead:

- continued focus of the Board and Nomination Committee on diversity,
equity and inclusion, and succession planning;

- regular and focused reviews of future strategic growth apportunities, with
input from the US Board members on the LIS defence market:

- continuation of the Board's site visit programme, with at least one visit to
the US:

~ further strengthening of the Board's interactions with key stakeholders; and

- increased interactions hetween the non-executive directors outside of
scheduled Board meetings.

In addition 1o the formal performance evaluation, the Chairman and

non-executive directors also reviewed the indwidual performance of the

executive directors as part of the annual remuneration review.



AUDIT, RISK AND INTERNAL CONTROL

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REPORTING

The statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial
staterments and accounting records maintained by the Group is set out
on page 122

Having taken alf the matters considered by the Beard and brought to the
attention of the Board during the year into account, the Board is satisfied that
the annual report and accounts for the year ended 31 October 2022, taken
as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable. Furthermaore, the Board
believes that the disclosures set out on pages 1 o 75 provide the information
necessary to assess the Group's performance, business model and strategy.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the risks
that it 1s walling to take 1o achieve its strategic objectives. The Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are effective acrass the businesses, and that appropriate risk
mitigation plans are in place.

The Board undertakes an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group's
systerns of internal coatral, including financizl, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management systemns. Further details of the review
undertaken during the financial year ended 31 October 2022 are set out
on page 65.

OPERATICNAL FRAMEWORK

Qur Operational Framework incorparates a broad range of policies

and procedures which have been adapted by all of our businesses, and
provides an enhanced governance structure to enable us 1o operate in a
safe, consistent and accountable way. As part of this enhanced governance
structure, there is a requirernent for all busimesses 1o complete a detailed
Operational Assurance Staiement on a half-yearly basis, prawding an
assessment of their compliance with the Operational Framework.

The output from the operational zssurance process provides assurance to the
Board that our internal systems and controls are aperating effectively, and «s
an important input to our internal audit and risk management activities.

AUDIT
Details of the Group's external and internal audit activities can be found
in the Audit Committee report on pages 50 1o 93.

LONG-TERM VIABILITY STATEMENT

The Code requires the Board to undertake an annual assessment of the
long-term viability of the Group, further details of which can be found
on page 74.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Stephen King
Chairman

of the Audit
Committee

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Stephean King (Chairman)

Laurie Bowen

Andrew Davies

Fiona MacAulay

INTRODUCTION
| am pleased to present my report as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Commitiee continues 1o play a key rode in the governance

of the Group's financial affairs, both through monitoring the integrity of
the Group's inancal reportng and reviewing matenal financal reperting
judgements. The report prowdes an overwew of the operation of the
Committee and its actvities during the year. During the early part of the
financial year, the Comrmittee was focused on matters relating to the 2021
financial statements, which were covered in detai in last year's report. The
report this year therefore focuses on the Committee’s activities in relation
to the 2022 half year and full year results, and the external and internal
audit actiwity during 2022

MEMBERSHIP OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has been established by the Board and is responsible
for monitoring the integrity of the Group's financial statements and the
effectiveness of the internal and external audit process.

All members of the Committee are independent non-executive directors, and
each brings a broad range of financial and business expertise. | have previously
served as the finance director of substantial pubkc comparnies, and therefore
possess recent and relevant financial experience. The Board considers that
the Committee members passess an appropriate level of independence and
offer a depth of linancial ang commeraal experience acress various industries,
in particular within the defence and technology sectors.
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KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

- Manitoring the integrity of the Group's financial staterments and any
formal announcements relating to the Group's financial performance,
and reviewing the appropriateness of significant finanoal

reporting judgements

Providing guidance to the Board in its consideration of whether the
annual report and accounts are fair, bzlanced and understandable

Making recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and
remunerauon of the internal and external auditors

Ensuring that an appropriate relationship between the Group and
the external auditar 1s maintained, and overseeng the prowsion of
non-audit services

Reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence
and objectivity

Reviewng the effectiveness of the Group's internal contrals and risk
management systems

Considering the effecuveness of the Group's internal audit funcuon
and monitoring internal audit activities

OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE

The Commuttee’s full responsibilities are set cut in its terms of reference,
which are avalable on the Company’s website. The Commitiee reviews its
terms of reference and its effectiveness annually and recarnmends to the
Board any changes required as z result of the review.

Meetings of the Committee are attended, at the invitation of the Chairman,
by the external auditor, the Chairman of the Board, the Group Chiel Executive,
the Chief Financial Officer, the internal auditors and representatives from the
Group (inance function. The Commitiee meets with the external and internal
auditors on a regular basis without the executive directars being present.

The Company Secretary acts as secretary io the Commitiee and minutes

of meetings are airculated 1o all Board members. Detadls of attendance of
members of the Commitiee at the five meetings held during the year are
shown an page 87.

A verbal report on key issues discussed by the Committee is provided to the
Board after every meeung,

The Chairman of the Committee meets regularly with the Chief Financial
Cfficer, the external audit lead partner and the internal audit lead partner
outside of scheduled meetngs.

The Committee is authonised to seek any information it requires from any
employee of the Group in order to perform its dutes, and to obtain any outside
legal or other professional advice it requires at the Company’s experse.



THE COMMITTEE'S ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR
AREAS OF FOCUS MATTERS CCNSIDERED

FINAMCIAL
REPORTING

- Content of the Group's interim and
preliminary results anmouncements and the
znnual report, and in particular, whether the
annual report was far, balanced and
understandable

Appropriateness and disclosure of
arcounting policies, key judgements and key
estimates

+

The presentation of alterpative performance
mMeasures

'

The Group's going concern status
and viabihty statements

Finangial Reporting Council thematic reviews

RISK AND CONTRQL - Effectveness of the Group's systems
ENVIRONMENT of internal control
- lmplementatian of nrw FRP systens across
the Group

Department for Business, Energy and
Industriaf Strategy proposals an audit and
corporate governance refarms

EXTERNAL ALUDIT Interim review and full year audit plans

Effecuveness and independence of the
external auditor

- Non-audit services provided by the external
auditor

External auditor's reports on the haif year
and full year resuits. and consideration of
points raised by the auditor

Transition to a new external audit partner
n 2023

INTERNAL AUDIT

Intermal audit strategy and plan

Effectiveness of the internal auditors and
their key findings

The Committee relies on regular reports from the executive directors,

the wider management teamn, and the external and internal auditors in order
to discharge its responsibilities. The Committee is satisfied that it received
timely, sufficient and reliable wformation to enable it to fulfit its obhgations
during the year.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
A summary of the significant issues cansidered 1n relation to the 2022
financial statements is set out Delow.

The Committee also reviewed the following reports issued by the Financial
Reparting Council (the "FRC™) on their thematic reviews of financial
reporting and disclosures relating tor

- alternative performance measures;

- going concern and wability;

- deferred tax assets;

- earnings per share;

- business combinatians,

- judgements and estimates; and

= Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures requirements

and ronsidered how the matters rased had been addressed in the 2022
half year results staterment and the 2022 financial statements.

The Company is required to produce the 2022 financial statementsin a
structured electronic farmat, known as the “European Single Electronic
Format” or “ESEF”, for the first time this year, The Committee considered
the FRC Lab's guidance for companies implementing ESEF and reflected on
this in agreeing the approach to ESEF during the year.

SIGNIFLICANT ISSUES CONSIDERED BY THE COMMITTEE
IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RECOVERABILITY OF GOODWILL, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS,
AND THE PARENT COMPANY'S INVESTMENTS IN, AND
INTERGROUP RECEIVABLE BALANCES WITH, SUBSIDIARIES

The Committee considered the carrying value of goodwill, intangiole
assets and the parent company's investments in, and intergroup receivable
balances with, subsidiaries held on the balance sheet as at 30 Aprit 2022
and 31 October 2022, against the latest forecasts for the businesses
concerned and the future strategic plan for the Group. As a result of
these reviews, an impairment loss of £71.7m was recognised in the parent
company financial staterments in respect of the carrying value of CHG
Overseas Limited, the holding company lur the Group's Gverseas
subsidiaries. The impairment loss does not impact the Group's
consclidated balance sheet.

CAPITALISED DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The Committee continued to moritor the level of development

costs capitalised during the year and the periods over which such costs
are 1o be amortised. Detaded reviews of the Group's most significant
research and development projects, and their associated capitalised
development costs, were undertaken by the Committee in Apnl 2022 and
September 2022. As a result of these reviews, an impairment charge of
£2.3m was recognised in Aprit 2022 in respect of develapment costs
which had been capitalised for a Roke product for which there were no
sales forecast for the forseeable future.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Committee reviewed the use of alternative performance measures in
the interim results statement and the annual report. The Committee
concluded that the use of zlternative performance measures did enhance
a rcader's understanding of the accounts and that they were presented i
a fair, balanced and understandable manner.

The Commitiee is required 1o consider whether it is appropriate to adopt

the going concern basis in preparing the interim and full year resclts. in order

to sausfy itself that the Group has sufficient financial resources 1o enable it
to continye trading for the foreseeable future, the Committee regularly

reviews the adequacy of the Group's financing facilities against future fundirg

requirements and working capital projections. Based on its review of the
Group's lorecasts during the year and discussions with the external auditor,
the Comrmittee recommended to the Board the adoption of the going
concern basis for the preparation of the interim and full year results.

The Group is also required 10 make a statement on its long-term viability
in the financial statements. The Cormmittee considered the period over
which the Group's viability would be assessed and having concluded that &
three-year pernod was appropriate, the Commntee undertook a review of
the analysis and projections which supported the viability assessment prior
to submission to the Board. Further details on the assessment process and
the Group’s long-term viability statement are set out in the strategic repart
on page 74.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT continued

SIGNIFICANT ISSUES CONSIDERED BY THE COMMITTEE

IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continyed

Since the year end, the Commuttee has reviewed the farm and content of the
2022 annual report and accounts, and recommended 1o the Board that. taken
a3 2 whole, the annual report and accounts shouid be considered as fair,
balanced and understandable. The Committee also concluded that the annual
report and accounts provides the information necessary 1o assess the Group's
position and performance, business model and strategy.

In making this assessment, the Committee considercd:

IS THE REPORT FAIR!

- Is the narrative in the strategic report consistent with the
financial statements?

- Have any significant matters been omitled?
IS THE REPORT BALANCED?

- Has appropriate prominence been given 1o both positive and
negative aspects of performance during the year!

- Is there an appropriaie balance between the disclosure of
statutory measures of performance and alternative performance measures
("APMs™)!

IS THE REFORT UNDERSTANDABLE!

- Is the presentation of performance clear, with consistent use
of key performance indicators?

- Is there clarity around the use of APMg)

PROPQSED AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REFORMS
In May 2022, the Department of Business, Energy & Industriat Strategy
("BEIS") issued the Government's response to last year's White Paper on
"Restoring trust in audit and corporate governance”, summarising the
feedback receved cn the White Paper and setting out the measures the
Government intends to pursue.

In late 2021, in response to the White Paper, the Group imtated a project
focused an the development of an improved internal control framework to
cnsure Lhat processes, risks and controls were established and documented
in 4 congistent way across the Group. Process flows and control matrices
were developed and reviewed by Pw(C as part of ther mternal audit themauc
review of the Group’s preparedness for the potential new requirements set
out in the orginal BEIS consultation. The new control framework was reviewed
by the Committee and approved for implementation by the businesses with
effect from 1 November 2022. We believe that this will assist the businesses
in complying with the potential new requirements set out in the White Paper
and will help to improve the effectiveness of our internal control ervironment
and lead to more focused internal audit activives in future.

Further developments with regards to the proposed BEIS reforms are being
closely monitored by the Committee.
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EXTERNAL AUDIT

The Audit Committee is responsibte for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the Company's
external auditor. The Committee also underiakes an annual assessment

of the auditer's independence and objecunity, taking into account relevant
professional and regulatory requirements and the relationship with the
auditor as a whole, including the prowsion of any non-audit services.

AUDIT EFFECTIVENESS
The Commitice assesses the effectivencss of the external auditor on an
angoing bags, with particular reference to

- the arrangerments for ensuring the external auditor’s independence
and cbjectivity;

- the external auditor's fulfilment of the agreed audn plan and any variations
from the plan;

- the robustness and perceptiveness of the auditor in their handling of the key
accounting and audit judgements;

- the willingness of the auditor 1o challenge management;

- the effectiveness of co-ordination of the individual business unit audits
on a global basis;

- the content of the external auditor’s reports and internat control
recommendations; and

- the feedback recewved on the conduct of the external audits from key
people involved in the audit process.

There are no contractual or similar obligations to restrict the choice
of external auditar

KPMG was appointed as the Group's external auditor in March 2018,
following a tender process, and Andrew Campbell-Orde has acted as audit
partner since the appointment. Mr Campbell-Orde has now completed

his fifth year as the lead audit partner and following discussions with the
Commitiee, it has been agreed that a new audit partner, James Childs-Clarke,
wilf assume respansibility for the Group's audit for the 2023 financial year.
Mr Childs-Clarke was the Director on the Group's audit from 2018 to 2020
and therefore has a good level of knowledge of the Group’s businesses and
their finanaial reporting arrangements. Having not been involved 1n the 2021
and 2022 audrts, Mr Childs-Clarke is considered independent.

The audits of the Group's US businesses are carred out by KPMG US under
a separate engagement letter in order tc satisfy the requirements of our
Special Security Agreement with the US Government. KPMG's UK and

US audit teams need to co-grdinate thew work {0 ensure that the audi of
the consolidated Group results at the year end can be completed efficiently.
In order to facilitate this. the annual audit plan provided for planning work

for the 2022 year end audits of the US businesses to commence in the irst
half year of the financial year, which enabled the Group audit to be completed
within the requisite timeframe following the year end. In addition, n 2022 the
UK Senior Audit Manager from KPMG wisited the audit team at KPMG US to
ensure the US audits were progressing as planned and in line with
international auditing standards.

The Committee did not ask the auditor to review any specific areas
of concern, outside of the normal audit process, during the year.

The Committee revtewed KPMG's overall effectivenass in fulfilling the
external audit during the year and concluded that KPMG had conducted
a comprehensive, appropriate and effective audit.

The Commitiee has recommended to the Board that KPMG be reappointed
as the Group's auditor at the 2023 Annual General Meeting.

The company is in compliance with the pravisions of The Statutory Audit
Services for Large Companics Market Investigation Order 2014,



AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

The Committee keeps under review the level of any non-audit services which
are provided by the external auditar, to ensure that this does not impar their
independence and objectivity.

The Committee has adopted a policy which states that the external auditor
should not be appointed to provide any non-audit services 1o the Group.
unlzss the Committee agrees that thewr appointment would be in the best
interests of the Company’s sharehaolders in particular circumstances and
would not create any direct conflici with their role as external auditor. In
approving any such appointment, the Committee is also required 1o consider

- whether the prowision of the proposed serwces might compromise
the auditor's independence or abjectivity;

whether the nan-audit services wil have a direct or material effect on the
Group's audited financial statements;

whether the skills and experience of the extermal auditar make it the most
suitable supplier of the non-audit services; and

the level of fees proposed for the non-audit services relative to the
avdit fees.

The external auditor 15 required to provide the Comrmuttee with a written
contirmation of independence for all duly-approved engagements for
non-aydit services.

The policy adopted by the Committee expressiy prohibits the provision
of certain non-audit services by the external avditor, in line wath regulatory
requirermnents and UK ethical guidance.

Details of the amounts paid to the external auditor during the year for audit
and non-audit services are set out in note 4 to the Group financial statements.
Total fees of £0.1m were paid to KPMG during the year in respect of
non-audit services, which related to the review of the interim resutts and

an audit report for Chemring Nabef's tax return as is required from the
auditor under Norwegian tax law The Committee canduded that neither
the nature or scope of these services gave rise 10 any concerns regarding
the abjectivity or ndependence of XPMG.

The Committee, in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, ensures that
the Group maintans refationships with a sufficient choce of appropriately
qualified alternative audit firms for the provision of non-audit services.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Avdit Committee is responsible for reviewing the work undertaken

by the Group's internal auditor, assessing the adegquacy of the internal audit
resource, and recommending changes lor increasing the scope of the internal
audit activities.

The Group's internal audit programme incorporates a review of all sites
on a two or three-year rotational basis, and focuses on both financial and
non-financial controls and procedures. The Committee approves the annual
internal audit plan and receives regular reports from the internal auditcr.

The internal audit programme was maraged by PwC during the year,

who were appointed by the Committee in 2018, in accordance with the
established practice, the programme covered financizl and commercial
processes, governance arrangements, and key corperate risks. Where
appropriate, suitably-qualified employees of the Group participate in internal
audits on other Group businesses in which they have no direct involvement,
with oversight from PwC. This facilitates sharing of best practice across the
Group and contributes 1o the development of employees involved in

the audits.

The internal audit plan for 2022 included specific focus on:

- the key financial and operating controls within the business;

- IT and cyber-security governance and gontrols;

- the effectiveness of business continuity plans across the Group:

~ compliance with the Group’s Bribery Act Comptiance Manual;

- the Group's plan for addressing the proposed audit and corporate
governance reforms set out in the BEIS consuttation;

- compliance with the US International Traffic in Arms Regulations ("ITAR™)
in the Group's non-US businesses, and

- rompliance with the Group’s Commercial Policy.

No significant internal control falings or weaknesses were identified during
the year.

PwC presents its internal audit reports to the Commitiee on a quarterly
basis. The management of each business is respansible for implementing the
recommendations made by the internal auditor, and the Comnuttee reviews
progress on a regular basis. Progress on addressing internal audit findings is
also reviewed by the Group Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer
in their quarterly reviews with each of the businesses

Since ther appomntments in 2018, Pw( have completed the fult cycle of

sitc reviews and have audited every trading business within the Group at
least once during their tenure, and conducted thirteen thematic reviews,
With the implementanon of the new internal control framework across the
Group with effect from 1 November 2022, the financial control requirements
are now mare clearly defined, removing a layer of subjectivity to the internal
audit scoping that existed previously. Against this background, the Committee
has agreed that, going forward, a new Internal Audit Manager will be
appointed, who will report functionally to the Chairman of the Committee
and will conduct internal audits across the Group in place of PwC, with the
support of in-house Group employees where appropriate. These activities
wilk be supplemented in specialist areas, such as IT and cyber secunty, with
more focused assurance reviews by external experts. The Cammittee will
review the new areangements at the end of 2023 to ensure that they have
been implemented appropriately.

Stephen King
Chairman of the Audit Committee
13 December 2022
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Cari-Peter
Forster
Chairman of
the Nomination
Committee

NOMINATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Carl-Peter Forster (Chairman)

Laurie Bowen

Andrew Davies

Stephen King

Fiona MacAulay

INTRODUCTION
| am pleased to present the Nomination Committee's report for the year
ended 31 October 2022

The main focus of the Commitiee during the year was on the development
of the Group's diversity, equity and inclusion {"DE&I™) strategy and succession
planning for the Board and the wider leadership team.

The Commuttes reviewed the changes to the Lisung Rules regarding diversity
which will apply to the Group in the financial year ending 31 October 2023.
We have increased our disclosures on ethnic and gender diversity amongs: our
employees in this year's annual report 1n preparation for comphance with the
new requirements next year and as detaled below, we bave instigated a search
far a new non-executive director to further improve diversity on the Board.

The Commiittee atso considered the reappointments of various members of
the Board. Further details are set out below.

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

The Nomination Cormmittee's key role is to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate skills, knowledge and experience to cperate effectively and
deliver the Group’s sirategy.

All members of the Commitiee are independent non-executive directors.
| thair the Commuttee but will not do so where the Committee is dealing
with my own reappointment or my replacement as Chairman of the Board,

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, and making
recommendations on appointments 1o the Board and to Board comnittees

« Reviewing the overall leadership needs of the arganisation
- Qversight of the Group's diversity palicy

- Succession planning for the Board, the Executive Committee and the
wider leadership team

94 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2012

OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE

The Committee's respansibilities are set out in its terms of reference, which
are available on the Company’s website. The Committee reviews its terms
of reference and its effectiveness annually, and recommends to the Board
any changes required as a result of the review.

Meetings of the Commutee are attended, at the invitation of the Chairman,
by the Group Chief Executive when considered appropriate. Members of

the Committee do not participate in any discussions relating to their own
reappointment or replacement. The Company Secretary acts as secretacy to
the Commuittee and minutes of meetings are circulated to all Board members.
Dexails of attendance of members of the Commuittee at the two scheduled
and two ad hoc meetings held during the year are shown on page 87,

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Committee regularly reviews the composition and batance of the Board
and its committees, and considers non-executive directors’ independence,
whether the balance between non-executive and executive directors remazins
appropriate, ana whether the Board has the requisite skills and experience to
oversee delivery of the agreed strategy for the Group.

The Board performance evaluztion completed during the year, further details
of which are set out on page 88. considered the potential requirement for
additional appointments 1o the Board. Whilst we are satisfied with the
current compasition, we agreed that it wauld be beneficial to appoint an
addiuonal non-executive director 1o further improve diversity on the Board
QOdgers Berndtson have recently been engaged to undertake the search for
sunable candidates on our behalf.

APPOINTMENTS TO THE BOARD
The Committee is responsible for reviewing and recommending new appointments.
to the Board, and for considering the reappointment of current directors

Stephen King’s first three-year appointment as a non-executive director
expired in November 2021 and Laurie Bowen's first three-year appointment
as a non-execuiive director expired in july 2022. After due consideration of
their valuable contribyution to the Board and their rales as chair of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee respectively, the Committee
recommended to the Board that both Stephen and Laurie be reappointed for
a second three-year term

My secand three-year appointment as Chairman and a non-executive director
and Andrew Davies' second three-year appointment 2s a non-executive
director expired in April 2022 and May 2022 respectively. The Committee
concluded that we both continue 1o demanstrate commitment to cur reles
and make an effective contributicn 1o the Board, and we both therefore
accepted further three-year appointments. The Committee recognrises that
we are beth now serving our third three-year terms and has agreed that we
will start to develop orderly succession plans for both of us in 2023.

With regards to the appointment of new non-exccutive dircctors 1o the 8oard,
the Committee has an established process for dentifying the attributes, skills
ang experience required of potential candidates. External recruitment
consuliants are engaged to undertake the search and provide an initial long
list of patential candidates, which is reviewed by the Comnuttee. Members of
the Committee then meet with short-listed candidates, before selecting a small
nurmber of preferred candidates to meet with other members of the Board.
It is intended that aur current search for an additional non-executive director,
which is referenced above, will be conducted in this manner. A similar external
search will also generally be undertaken for new executive directors, with any
internal candidates being required to participate n this formal process.



GENDER IDENTITY OR SEX OF THE BOARD AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Number of
senier positions
on the Beard
Number of Percentage of {CED, CFC. tNumber on the Percentage of
Board members. the Board 9D ang Chair)  Executive Committee  Executive Commitiee
Hen 5 62 4 7 g7
Women 3 38 0 1 13
Not specified/prefer not to say — — — — —_
ETHNIC BACKGROUND OF THE BOARD AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
" Number of
SEniOr posiions
an the Board
Number of Percentage of (CEQ, CFO, Number an the Percentage of
Board membar Board members the Board 'SID and Chair}  Executive Committee  Executve Coammittee
White Bnush or other white (including minority-white groups) 8 100 " ) -4 8 100
Mixed multiple ethnic groups —_ — - — — _—

AsianfAsian British —_
Black/Afncan/Caribbean/Black British —
Other ethnic group, Including Arab —

DIVERSITY, EQUITY AND INCLUSION

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Committee recognises the importance of dwersity, equity and
inclusion to the effective performance of the Board, and to our
wader business operations. We are committed 10 promoting diversity
across the Group in all forms, inchuding diversity of gender, race, age,
disability, neuradiversity, sexual orientation, education, social and
cultural background, and belief.

From an overall Group perspective, we have set a target of increasing

the proportion of females in all senior management paositions across the
businesses to 33% by 2027. Various initiatives were insbgated during the year,
including the prowisian of diversity and inciusion traming for all of our senior
leaders and the participants in our various development programmes, and the
establishment of the Womer's Inclusivity Network (WIN@Chemring).

A number of these actwities were supported by our female Board members,
Further detais of the progress made during the year are set out on pages 54
and 55.

With regards 1o the Board, the Committee is cognisant of the diversity targets
set out in the updated Listing Rules which will apply to the Group in the financial
year ending 31 October 2023. As referenced above, we have instigated a
search for an additional non-executive director ta further increase diversity
on the Board. The Committee will also have due regard for the diversity
targets when considering the replacements for the Senior Independent
Durector and | when our third three-year terms cxpire in 2025

SUCCESSION PLANNING

The Committee is responsible for promating effective succession planming
for the Board and the Executive Committee, 10 ensure that the leadership
of the business remains aligned 10 the Group's strategy.

During the year, ant assessment of the succession plans far individuals in key
leadership roles at the Group level and within the businesses, developed
utilising the Group's established succession planning framewark, was considered
by the Committee. The need for more diversity within the talent pipeline was
acknowledged by the Committee and this has now become a key focus of our
people and DE&I strategy. Further details on the actions we are taking to
address this are set out on pages 54 and 55

The Committee is satislied that apprapriate succession plans are in place for
the Board and key members of the Executive Cammitice cavering cmergency
replacements. Longer-term appointments will be considered on a case-by-case
basis, including internal candidates where available ar external recruitment
where deemed more appropriate. The Committee will commence planning
for my replacement and the replacement of the Senior Independent Drector
in 2023.

Further details on our approach to succession planning and talent
management are set out on pages 52 and 53.

Cari-Peter Forster
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
131 December 2022
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
REMUNERATION OVERVIEW

Laurie Bowen
Chair of the
Remuneration
Comrittee

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Laurie Bowen (Chair)

Andrew Dawes

Carl-Peter Forster

Stephen King

Fiana MacAutay

MEMBERSHIP AND OPERATION OF THE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board and
is responsible for the remuneration of the executive directors, the
Chairman and the leadership team at the next level. All members of
the Camimitiee are independent nan-executive directars, save for

Mr Forster who was independent on appointment to the Board.

The Committee's responsibilities are set out in its terms of reference,
which are avalable on the Company's website.

Details of the attendance of members of the Committee at meetngs
held during the year are shown on page 87. The Group Legal Director
& Company Secretary acts as secretary 1o the Committee, and the
Group Chief Executive, attends meetings by invitation, but no
executive director or other employee s present during discussions
relating directly to their own remuneration

INTRODUCTION

The directars’ remuneration report for the year ended

31 October 2022 comprises:

= my annual report on the activities of the Remuneraton Committee during
the year;

- the annual report on remuneration, which explains how the current
directors remuneration policy was implemented in 2022,

- additional statutory information on remuneration arrangements;

- & summary of the directors’ remuneration policy which was approved in
March 2022 and

- an averview of how the policy will be implemented in 2023.

Qur directors’ remuneration policy was approved by shareholders at the

2022 Arnnual General Meeting, with 98.45% of shareholders having voted in

favour. A summary of the approved policy which applied during the year is set

out on pages 112 to 114, The full policy can be found in the 2021 direciors’

remuneration report in the 2021 annua! report and accounts, which is

published on the Company's website.
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THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE'S

ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR

The table below summarises the Committee’s key actvities and decisions
made during the year.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR ACTIVITIES
AND DECISIONS OF THE COMMITTEE IN 2012

SALARY - 2022 salary reviews far the executive directors and

members of the senior leadership team

ANMNUAL BONUS - Consideration of the 2021 annual banus

plan outturn

- Approval of the 2022 annuat bonus plan
financial targets and strategic abjectives for the
executive directors

- Approval of the 2022 annual bonus plan payments

PERFORMANCE - Consideration of vesting outcomes for PSP awards
SHARE PLAN made in 2019
(PSP - Approval of 2022 PSP awards and

performance canditicns
GOVERNANCE - Development of new directers’ remuneration
AND POLICY palicy and consultation with shareholders on

the policy which was approved at the Annual
General Meeting in March 2022

- Reduction of the executive directors’ pension
contributions 1o align with those of the wider
warkforce

PERFORMANCE FOR 2022 AND REMUNERATION OUTCOMES
Cespite the challenging macro-economic environment in which we cantinue
to operate, 2022 has been another strong year of growth for Chemring, with
revenue up by 13% on 2021 and both profit before tax and EPS growing by
1% and 19% respectively. This is despite operational and supply chain
challenges as a result of the conunuing wpact of the legacy of CV-19, higher
energy costs, labour market shortages. increased inflation and disruption
within the LIS defence market. Overall, the Group has delivered robust
performance, exceeding the expeciations set at the start of the financal year
and progressing againsk our strategic goal of balancing short-term
performance with longer-term value creation.

Further progress has also been made in 2022 in refation 10 our sustainability
agenda, with the ¢continued suc¢cessful implernentation of our HSE strategy,
improvement in our ¢limate and carben related disclosures, and contirked
focus on DE&. Itis in this context ihat the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the 2022 outturns.

Performance against the 2022 annual bonus and PSP targets is explained in
more detal on pages 101 and 103 but in summary

- Annval berus: The annual bonws far 2022 was subject to EPS, operating cash
flow and strategic objective measures. As a result of the strong financial
performance during 2022, which resulted in both the stretch EPS growth
and the operating cashflow targets being exceeded, 100% of the EPS metric
and 100% of the operaung cash flow metric will pay out. The Commitiee
carefully assessed the performance of the executive directors against the
camemaon set af safety, people, governance, growth and strategic targets set
at the beginning of the financial year and, as a result of all the targets either
being achieved or exceeded, determined that the targets had been met at
90% of the maximum.

The tatal banus payments for 2022 are therefore 98% of maximum for
each of the executive directors.

PSP awards made on 22 Morch 2019 {subject, in port. to TSR performance over
the three-year period ended 21 March 2022): The PSP awards granted to the



executive directors on 22 March 2019 were subject 50% 1o £PS targets and
50% to refative TSR targets. As disclosed in last year's report. based on
strong compound EPS growth over the three-year EPS perfurmance period
to 31 October 2027 of circa 13.5% p.a,, this part of the award was met in
full The three-year TSR performance period ended on 21 March 2022, and
based on strong TSR perfarmance, well into the top quartile versus the
comparator companies, this part of the award also vested in full,

PSP owards made on 17 December 2019 (subject to performance over the three
years ended 31 October 2022): The PSP awards granted 1 the executive
directors on 17 Decermmber 2019 were subject 50% to EPS targets and 50% to
relatve TSR targets. Based on strong EPS growth of cirea 18.0% p 4. uvet e
three-year performance period and TSR performance over the same period
placing Chemring well inta the tap quartile versus the comparator group
{ranking circa 30th out of the entire FTSE All Share companies excluding
investment trusts), these awards will vest i full.

The Committee is satisfied the remuneration policy has operated as intended
in relation to performance and remuneration outcomes for 2022, and did not
use any diseretion. In particular, with regards to the December 2019 PSP awards
vesting, the Committee considered whether there was the potentiat for windfall
gans an vesting. The Committee noted that Chernving had not been adversely
impacted by CV-1% prior 1o the grant of the awards in December 2019 and
that the share price performance over the full perfarmance pericd had been
underpinned by robust financial performance. As a result, the Committee
determined that the level of payout was appropriate ang reflectuve of Chemring's
strong performance, In addition, in concluding that remuneration payments
overall and the policy have operated appropriately. the Committee considered
the bonuses payable across the Group, individua! businesses’ performance
and the relatvities between employees and executive directors in light of
their roles and potential impact on the Group performance (this inciuded
cansidering pay ratios) and the wider stzkehclder experience.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE POLICY FOR 2023
Base salaries were reviewed in November 2022 and increases will be made
effective from 1 january 2023.

As disclosed i full detail in the 2021 directors’ remuneration report, the
Committee undertook a full review of the Group Chief Executve's base salary
'nlate 2027 and concluded that the appropriate salary level for his role should
be £555,000. This salary recognised the growth in size and complexity of the
Group that had taken place since the Group Chiel Executive’s appointment in
July 2018 and hus role in defivering the transformational change achieved
thraugh the period Increasing his base salary foliowed a detaled consultation
with institutional investors, and in recognition of the prevailing executive pay
environment and the expectaucns of the leading shareholder advisory bodies, it
was agreed that the increase would be phased and set at £520,000 with effect
from 1 January 2022 and then increased te £555,000 with effect from 1
January 2023. The Committee retained discretion to further increase the salary
beyond the £555,000 in line with a workforce-related cost-of-fiving increase.
The Committee considered the continued growth of the Grovp and
exceptional performance during the year alongside institutional investors calls
for restraint in executive pay 1n the curcent high inflation environment and,
following feedback from the Group Chief Executive, concluded that it would
not be appropriate 1o further increase salary beyond £555.000. As a result his
salary will be £555,000 from 1 January 2023. From 2024, save for any material
change to the size and complexity of the Group, it is expected that any future
ncreases for the Group Chief Executive will be limited to a workforce-related
cost-of-living increase for the remainder of the current policy pericd.

With regard to pay increases for the Chief Financial Officer and the Group
Legal Director & Company Secretary. they will both receive a cost-of-living
related salary increase of 5% of salary effective 1 January 2023. The rate of
increase was within the range of budgeted increases of 4% to 6% that were set
by, and then agreed with, each individual operating business for 2021. |n setting
the rate of increase at 5% the Committee noted the Board's expectavon that
the salary budgets set within each business may need ta be revised through
2023 as a result of the ongoing fevels of CPl and inherent challenges in
recruiting and retaining the best talent within the businesses. The Committee
alse considered it impartant to recagnise the continued growth in the size and

complexity of the Group relative 1o the market in their salary increases. and the
exceptional perfoermance of both indivduals during the year. In light of the
above, and consistent with other similarly high performing Group emplayees,
the Committee was comiariable with the 5% of salary award,

Pension contriputions for the executive directors have been reduced 1o 7.5%
of salary, effective from ¥ November 2022 The previous company pension
contribution rates were 10% of salary in the case of the Group Chief Executive
and 20% of salary in the case of the other two executive directors, The revised
pension provision akgns with majority practice across the UK workforce.

The annual bonus epportunity will continue to be 150% of salary for the
Group Chief Executive and 125% of sulur y fur the Chief Ninancial Otficer and
the Group Legal Director & Campany Secretary. Performance measures are
unchanged for 2023, with 40% subject to EPS, 40% operating cash flow and
20% commen strategic objectives.

PSP awards will be granted in 2023 over 150% of salary for all directors.
Performance will be subject 50% o EPS, 30% 1o relative T5R and 20% E5G
metrics related to scope 1 and scope 2 emissions

With regard to non-execuuve director fees, the Board Chair fee and the
wider non-executive director base fee will be increased with effect from
1 January 2023 at 5% in line with the typicat 4% to 6% increases being
awarded across the Group.

EMPLOYEE PAY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

With exceptionally high levels of inflation, especially in the UK and the US,
we took a range of actions to support our employees in 2022, Given the
nature af our operating model, which necessitates a level of independence
wethin our US operations, our salary management responses varied by
focation based on our undersianding of local needs. The actions taken
included targeted salary increases, cne-off payments and temporary salary
increases, as well as increased financial education.

Qurside of pay, as the designated non-executive director, | visited employees in
numerous locations in the US and UK to understand their perception of working
for Chemnring and take their feedback for the Board. During these meetings,
which included front line employees, supervisors, and middle and senior
manageomend, the topics covered included Chemring's approach to governance,
including the warkings of the Remuneraton Committee, and how remuneration
links to strategy through the business. Participants in these discussions had the
opportunity to feed back on remuneration as weli as wider employment
considerations 2nd all feedback received was presented to the appropriate
divisional leadership, the relevant Board committees and the full Board. My rofe
supplements the wider employes engagement process at Chemring, which
includes regular all-hands meetings and team briefings and cur an-fine "Employee
Voice" engagerment kool The above processes ensure that we understand the
employee perspective and can take appropriate action as we did during 2022,

With regards to engagement with shareholders, we concluded a wide-ranging
sharehalder cansultation process in early 2022 as part of seeking shareholder
approval for our 2022 directors' remuneration policy and the changes noted
above to the Group Chief Executive's salary. As a result of our engagement,
and the refinements made to our policy and its application based on shareholder
feadback, we received well aver 95% support for our current policy and the
2021 directors’ remuncration report. The Commitiee welcomes shareholder
feedback and will continue 1o proactively engage in relation 1o any major
changes to the application of our remuneration policy.

CONCLUSION

1 hope you will find this report hetpful and informative, and thaz you will
support the resoiution on the directors' remuneration report at our
forthcoming Annual General Meeting Please do not hesitate to contact me
on executive directors’ remuneration matiers via Sarah Elard, Group Legal
Director & Company Secretary, at sarahe@chemring.co.uk,

Laurie Bowen

Chair of the Remuneration Committee
13 December 2022
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued
2022 REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

1022 REMUNERATION YEAR IN SUMMARY

SALARY Salary increases effective 1 January 2022 were as follows:
- Michael Ord ~ 7.7% increase 10 £520,000
- Andrew Lewis — 3% increase to £380,358
- Sarah Fllard — 3% increase to £266 646

ANNUAL BONUS Bonuses payable for 2022 performance as follows:
- Michael Ord - 147% of salary {£764.400)
- Andrew Lewis — 122.5% of salary (£465939)
- Sarah Ellard — 122.5% of salary (£326,641)

PERFORMANCE AWARDS GRANTED

SHARE PLAN Awards made in December 2021, valued at 150% of salary, with EPS, TSR and ESG-related performance conditions measured over
a three-year period, and a two-year holding period post vesting,
AWARDS VESTING
Awards made in December 2019 to all three executive directors, which were subject 1o £P5 and TSR performance conditions
measured over the three years ended 31 October 2022, will vest i full.

SHAREHOLDING Shareholding guideline of 200% of base salary (both in and post-emplayment, with the post-employment guideline based on the lower
of the guideline and shares heid on cessation of employment, which are held for two years).

CHAIRMAMN AND Base fees for the Chairman and non-executive directors increased by 3% effective 1 January 2022.
NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR FEES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' TOTAL PAY
This chart iltustrates the tatal remuneration received by the executive directors in 2022

Tokal pay
Michael Ord £2.336k
Andrew Lowis £3,728%
Sarzh Elard £1171%
l | | { ! |
I T I [} T 1
£0.0m £0.50m £1.0m £1.5m £20m £2.5m

Salary Pension and benefits Annual bonus PSP

ANNUAL BONUS PLAN QUTCOME
This chart dllustrates the bonuses payable for perfarmance in 2022 60% of the bonus amount s payable in cash and 40% will be satisfied by way of an award of
shares deferred for three years.

Total bonus
Michacl Ord 90% 147% 150% £764%
Andrew Lewis 75% 122.5% 125% £466k
Sarzh Ellarg 75% 1225 125% £33

| | | | | | | ] ]
r T T T 1

T | 1 1
£0.0m £0.1m £0.2m €0 3m £04m £0.5m £0.6m £0.7m £08m

Targat (% of salary) Actual (% of salary) Maximum (% of salary)
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PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN OUTCOME
I his chart illustrates the total value ot each of the performance share plan awards granted to ail three executive directors on 17 December 2019, which will vest

in full. The grant value is based on the share price on the grant date and the vesting value is calculated on the same basis as in the directors’ emoluments table on
page 100.

Grant £693k
Michael Ord
Estimated vesting value £986k
Grant £553k
Androw Lowis
Estimated vesting vatue £787k
Grant £355k

Sarah Ellard

Esumated vesting value £506k Value of shares vestng

| I I I I 1 l I ] Accrued dividends
£0.0m £0.1m £0.0m £0.3m £0.4m £0.5m £0.6m £0.7m £0.8m £09m £1.0m
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
ANNUAL REPCRT ON REMUNERATION

This part of the report explains how the directors' remuneration policy was implemented in 2022. The auditor has reported on certan sections of this report
and stated whether, in its opinian, those sections have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. Those sections subject to audic are
clearly indicated.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (AUDITED)
The emoluments of all the directors who served during the year are shown below:

Barus
(cash and
Salanes/ Taxable Pension Total deferred Totaf
fees benefits” benefits? fixed pay shares)? PEP variable pay Toral
Year £000 £'000 000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executives ’
Michael Qrd 2022 514 pil 51 586 764 986 1,750 2,336
2021 476 Fal 48 545 592 1446 3.038 3,583
Andrew Lewis 1012 379 20 76 475 466 787 1,152 1,728
200 366 20 73 459 362 1,135 1497 1,955
Sarah Ellard 022 265 pli] 53 338 327 506 B33 11711
2024 258 20 51 19 254 730 984 1313
Non-executives
Carl-Peter Forster 1022 205 —_ — 205 — — _— 205
2021 200 — — W00 —_ —_ —_ 200
Laurie Bowen® 2022 Al _ — Ial — — — 71
2021 ] — — 69 — — — 69
Andrew Davies 1022 66 —_ —_ &6 —_ —_ — 66
2021 63 — — 63 —_ —_ —_ 63
Stephen King’ 1022 66 - -_ 66 _— —_ —_ 1]
2021 65 — — &5 — _ — 65
Fiona MacAulay 1022 55 _ —_ 56 — — —_ 56
2021 55 — — 55 — — — 55
Total remuneration 2022 1,622 61 180 1,863 1,557 2,279 3,836 5,699
20N 1,552 61 172 1,785 1,208 4311 5519 7,304
NOTES:

1. Comprrses an annual car allowance of £20,000 for Michael Ord and £19.350 for each of Andrew Lewis and Sarah Ellard, plus private medica! insurarte for cach of the executive directars.

[

. Michael Qrd received a cash supplement of 10% of salary in lieu of occupational pension scheme membership and the ather executive directors received a cash supplement of 20%
of salary during the 2021 and 1022 financial years

3. 40% of any bonus is delivered as an award of deferred shares.

e

. The PSP awards granted in March 2019 to all three executive directors were based 50% on EPS performance. measured over the three years ended 31 October 2021 and 50%
an TSR perfarmance, measured aver the three years ended 21 March 2022 These awards vested in full an 22 March 2022 and their value, which was incded in the 2021 emoluments
on an estimated basis, has been restated based on the share price on the date of vesting of 323p. The 2021 emcluments figure for Michael Ord also includes the PSP award granted
in June 2018 which vesied at 86.4% of maximum, The PSP awards granted in December 2019 1o all three exegutive dircclars were atso based 50% on EPS porformance and 50%
on TSR performance, both measurad over the three years ended 31 October 2022. These awards will vest in full and their estimated values have been included in the 2022
emaluments based on the average share price over the three-month period ended 31 October 2022, equating to J08p per share. Of the PSP values for 2022, £253,192 of the
value is atiributable 1o share price appreciation for Michacl Ord, £202,195 for Andrew Lewds and (130,049 {or Saran Ellard. The vatue of accrued dwidends on each award has also
been inckuded in the 2072 emoluments.

v

. Lauric Bowen received an additional fee of £5,000 per annum with offect from 1 January 2021 in respect of her appointment as the non-executive dircctor responsible for
employee engagement, which is included in the 2021 figures on a pro-rated basis. Mrs Bowen also recewes an additional fee of £10,000 per annum for her appointment a5
Chair of the Remuneration Commities.

o

. Andrew Diavies received an additional fee of £10,000 per annum for his appoatment as Senior independent Director with effect from 1 January 2021, which is included in the
1021 figures on a pro-rated basis.

7. Stephen King receives an addinanal fee of £10,060 per annum fer his appeintment as Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Amounis shown above in the salaries and fees column relate to base salary in the case of executve directors and fees i the case of non-executve directors.
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BASE SALARY AND BENEFITS PAID DURING THE YEAR (AUDITED)

Salaries for the executve drectors were reviewed in November 2021 and increases were approved by the Remuneration Committee effective 1 January 2022,

The salaries of the executive directors during the year were therefore as follows:

Annual salary from
1 [anuary 2021 10

Annual safary from
+ fanuary 2021 to

Executive 31 December 2021 31 October 2022
Michael Ord £483,000 £520,000
Andrew Lewis £369,280 £380,358
Sarah Ellard £358,880 £166,6456

Michael Ord receives a cash allowance of £20,000 per annum in lieu of a company car 2nd the other executive directors receive a ¢ash allowance of £19.350 per annum.

DETAILS OF VARIABLE PAY OPPORTUNITY IN THE YEAR
ANNUAL BONUS (AUDITED)

B0% of the annual bonus opportunity for 2022 was based on financial Largets (namely earnings per share and operating cash flow), with 20% based on strategic
objectives. No bonus is payable in respect of the strategic objectives unless the Committee is satisfied that this 15 ustfied by the Group’s underlying performance,
neluding nter alio levels of profitabiity and cash flow, 2s well as health and safety performance.

The Committee has consistently set challenging targets for the achievernent of maximum banuses. The financial targets for the 2022 bonus plan, compared with

actual performance, were as follows:

Weighting Payourt Payout achieved

{BOX of overall boni ) Performance (% of elemend) Target Actual (% of elerment)

Underlying diluted earnings per share 50% Threshold 0% 1596p 19.7p 100%
[continuing operations) Target 50% 16.80p
Stretch 100% 17.64p

Underlying operating cash flow 50% Threshold 0% £7838m £30.1m 100%
{continuing operaticns) Target 50% £82.50m
Stretch 100% £86.63m

The strategic objectives set in respect of the 2022 bonus plan were set on a consistent basis across the executve directors, mermbers of the Executive
Committee and each of the business unit leaders, focused as appropriate on their respecuve businesses. Detalls of the key achievements of the executive

directors against the strategic objectives are set out below:

Strategic objective target

Performance against targets

SAFETY
= Continued delivery of the Group’s HSE Management System Framework Standard
and associated assurance processes.

~ Minimising the Group's total recordable njury frequency rate.

- Reducing the number of process safety events,

- Total recordable injury frequency rate of 0.78 (2021. Q.67), against
a targetted Fmit of 1.0,

- Process safety event rate (Level 3 & 2) 1.B6 (2021: 1.73), against
a targetted Imit of 2.0.

Achieved in full.

STRATEGY AND CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
- Deliver organic and inorganic growth pfans for Roke.

- Progress Roke USA customer penetration and sales, and identify inorgani growsh
acceleration options.

- Secure down-selection on the JBTDS and AVCAD Programs of Record

= Commussion new production facilities in Tennessee.

- Develop value-creating opportunities for the Energetics portfolio.

- Identify opportunities for expansion of the Sensors & Information portfolio.

- Delivered double digit revenug and profit growth at Roke and
completed the Geollect acquisition to establish a position in the
open-source intelligence sector and further advance incrganic grawth,

Roke Futures formed (o expand opparivnities in law enforcerment
and government agencies, digital healthcare, civil aerospace. and
critical infrastructure.

Good progress made by Rake USA with US DoD customers to
build brand awareness and recognition and validate the technical
performance of the Resolve and Perceive electronic warfare
systemns; however, despite streng performance, the chalienging
sales target set for Rake USA was not met.

Completed in-depth assessment of inorganic growth acceleration

options for Roke USA.

- Down-selected for low-rate wnitial production contract on the
J8TDS program.

= New praduction facilities in Tennessee commissioned and

cormmenced #irst article production.

Continuing development of inorganic growth plans for the
Energetics businesses to capture the opporturities resulting in
market demand increasing following the invasion of Ukraine.

- Significantly increased order intake across space and missiles markets.
- Progress made on the development of new biological

detection technologies.

Achieved at 75% of maximum in lighc of the Rolke USA sales
target not being achieved and delays in the AVCAD Program
of Record.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION continued,

DETAILS OF VARIABLE PAY OPPORTUNITY IN THE YEAR continued
ANNUAL BONUS (AUDITED) continued

Strategic objective target

Performance against targers

PECPLE
- Emsure all employees have a voice in the business to strengthen our values-based culure
- increase engagement and improve management responses 1o employee feedback

- Deliver improvements in business leadership and line management capabilities.
- Develop mare robust and diverse talent development and succession capabilities.

- Employee Voice participation continues to improve, with output
now shared al serior teams’ meetings in each business and at
all-hands briefings; however, despite strong participation rates,
prowding access to all operational employees who do not have
access to work email remains a work-in-progress.

- Leading Qur People and Aspire@Chemring development
pragrammes deployed Group-wide.

- Talent framework and succession planning process implemented
across the Greup, with associated personal and professional
-development plars in place for key roles.

- Dwversiy, equity and inclusion traming degloyed Group-wide.

Achieved at 75% of maximum in light of the Employee Voice
participation target not being met.

GOVERNANCE
- Continue 1o embed and strengihen the Group’s governance framework.

- Demonstrate progress in operatiional assurance statement improvement plans.
- Complete implementation of the Chemring Complance Portal ("the CCP).

- Conunue deployment of common standards and practices 1o safeguard our people,
information and technology.

- Updated Operational Framework issued in March 2022

« Two training modules on the Cede of Conduct developed and
ralled out.

- Operational Assurance Staternent process campleted twice during
the year, with scoring demonstrating progress in the businesses.

~ Third party due diligence module on the CCP fully operational for
sales partners, and entry of service providers and suppiiers into the
CCP now substantially comalete lor non-US businesses.

- US BACM SharePoint system {US equivalent of the CCP)
established for the appraval of US service praviders and suppliers.

- Group Security Committee established and appropriate
governance arrangements implemented.

- New standards issued on cyber-security, travel security and
information secunty.

Achieved in full.

SUSTAINABIUTY
- Develop and deploy carbon reduction plans ta deliver the Group's cornmitment to be
carbon neutral by 2030.

- Reduce Group scope 1 and 2 emissions by 5%.

- Group-wide carbon reduction plan in-place and being delivered
by all businesses.

« Sustainability Committee established and co-ordinating
Group-wide carbon reduction activities.

- Group scope 1 and 2 emissians reduced by 7.3% and
independently verified by ERM.

Achieved in full.

The Committee assesses performance against the targets using both qualitative and quantitative data. The above reflects a full summary of the targets set and
achievements delivered within the bounds of commercal confidentialty. Based on the performance against the five strategic targets detailed, the targets were

met at 90% of the maximum,

Based on the above performance, bonuses are payable to the executive directors under the 2022 bonus plan as follows (audited):

Bonus paid in
Sonus paid in respect of
respect of sirategic
Maxemum borus financial targets cbjectves Total bomis
Executive {% of sa%ary) (% of salary) {% of salary) paymeni({)’'
Michael Ord 150% 120% 27.0% £764.400
Andrew Lewis 125% 100% 225% £465939
Sarah Ellard 125% 100% 225% £326,641
NOTE:

1. 40% of bonuses payable are sausfied by way of an award of deferred shares, vesting of which is subject only 1o conunued service.

The Comimitiee rewewed the outcomes in light of broader company and individual performance and stakeholder experience during the year and was satisfied

that no discretion was necessary.
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DEFERRED BONUS SHARES GRANTED DURING THE YEAR IN RESPECT OF THE 2021 BONUS
Details of the deferred bonus share awards granted on 14 December 2021 in relation ta the bonus for the year ended 31 October 2021 are set out in the table
below. The awards will vest subject 1o continued employment in three years.

Executive Date of grant Shares awarded  Face value of award®
Michael Ord 14 December 2021 83481 £236 669
Andrew Lewis 14 Decernber 202t 51060 £144.755
Sarah Ellard 14 December 202t 35795 £101,479

NOTE:
1. Value based on the dosing share price of 283.5p on the date nf grani

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (AUDITED)
Vesting of March 2019 PSP awards
The PSP awards granted to all three execulive directors on 22 March 2019 were subject 50% to EPS and 50% to TSR performance conditions Details of the

performance against the EPS performance condition, which was met in full, is set out in the 2021 directars’ remuneration report.

The performance period for the TSR performance condition ended on 21 March 2022. The Company's TSR over the TSR performance period ranked 1.4
against a median of 8.5 for the comparator group and therefore the TSR part of the award vested in full,

Details of the awards granted to the exceutive directors on 22 March 2019 arc provided below (audited).
Number of shares Number of sharcs Number of shares

Exccutree Vesting datc at grant vosted lapsed
Michael Ord 2% March 2022 421,568 421568 —
Andrew Lewis 22 March 2022 336391 336391 —
Sarah Ellard 22 March 2022 216,361 216361 —

Value of shares Value of accrued  Total value of qwards
Exccutve - vestod didends wested'
Michael Ord £1,361.664 (61127 £1,422,791
Andrew Lewis £1,086,543 48777 £1,135320
Sarah Ellard £698 846 31372 £730,218

NOTE:
1. Valve based on the dosing share price of 323p on 22 March 2022

Vesting of December 2019 PSP awards
The PSP awards granted to all three executive drectors an 17 December 2019 were made subject to the following performance condivans:

Measure Threshold vesting Full vestng
Total compound EPS grawth per annum over the three financial years ended 3t Cctober 2022 5% pa. 0% pa
(50% of award) {25% vests) {100% vests)
Rank of the Company’s TSR against the TSR of the members of the cofnparatar group aver Median ranking Upper quartle ranking
the three financial years ended 31 October 2022 (50% of award) (25% vests) {100% vests)

The Group's compeound EPS growth on continuing apcrations aver the three financial years ended 31 October 2022 was 18.0% p a. and 100% of the part of the
award subject to the EPS measure will therefore vast on 17 December 2022, The Company's TSR over the same performance period was 70.9% against an
upper quartile TSR of 24.9% for the comparator group, ranking the Group at 30.5 out of 378, and therefore the TSR part of the award will alse vest in full on

17 December 2022.

Details of the awards granted to the executive directars on 17 December 2019 are provided befow {audited).

Number of shares Number of shares Nurmber of shares
Executve Vesting date at grant 10 vest 1 lapse
Michael Ord 17 December 2022 307142 307,142 —
Andrew Lewis 17 December 2022 245085 245085 —
Sarah Ellard 17 December 2022 157635 157,635 —
Value of shares Value of accrved  Total value of awards
Executive 1o vest ddends 1o vest’
Michael Ord £545997 £39928 £985.925
Andrew Lewis £754,861 £31,861 £786,723
Sarah Ellard £485515 £204%93 £506009
NOTE:

1. Value estimated based on the average closng share price of 308p over the three-month period ended 31 Cetober 2022,

Chemring Graup PLC Annual report and accounts 2022 103

180438 HOTIVULS

IDNYNYIAOD

SINIWILYLS IVIDNVYNIA



DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION continued

DETAILS OF VARIABLE PAY OPPORTUNITY tN THE YEAR continued

PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN (AUDITED) continued

PSP awards granted in the year

The fallowing conditional awards of shares were granted 1o the executive directors under she PSP during the year:

Closing, Number of

share price conditional % that
an date shares Face wests at Vesting
Executive Cate of gramt Valve of award of pram awarded value threshokd determined by
Michael Ord 15 December 2021 150% of salary 286 5p 255,555 £732,165 25% 50% EPS growth,
Andrew Lewis 15 Decemper 2021 150% of salary 286.5p 195.386 £559,781 25% 30% relative
TSR performance and

Sarah Eflard 15 Decemper 2021 150% of salary 286.5p 136973 £392,428 5%

20% ESG performance,
as detaled below

The performance conditions applying 1o the awards made in December 2027 will be measured over three financial years commencing 1 November 2021 and are
weighted 50% EPS growth, 30% relatuve TSR performance and 20% ESG performance

The EPS performance condition will be measured as follows

Total compound EPS growth over the threc-yoar performance period % of EPS part that rmay vest
Less than 5% pa. 0%
5% pa. 25%
Between 5% pa. and 0% pa. On a straight-fine basis between 25% and 100%
10% p.a. or more 100%
NOTE:

1. Earnings per share ;5 calculated on an underlying, dilted and asrmalised basis, as specficd by the Commutioe prior 1o grant.

The TSR performance canditon will be measured as follows:

Rark of the Company’s TSR against the TSR of the FTSE All-Share {exuchuding investment trusts) aver the three-year performance poriod % of TSR part that may vest
Below median 0%
Median 25%
Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Upper quartile or above 100%

The ESG performance condition will be measured as follows:

Reductior in scope 1 and scope 7 emissions (marketbased) over the three-year performance penod % of ESG part that may vest
Less than 15% 0%
15% 3%
Between 15% and 25% On a straight-ine basis between 25% and 100%
25% or more 100%

Aqy shares that vest in respect of the December 2021 awards will be subject to 2 two-year holding period (after allowng for the sale of sufficient shares to mest
the tax and national insurance liability arising on vesting).
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PENSION (AUDITED)
The following table sets out the pension benefits earned by the executive directors during the year. Only Sarah Ellard previously accrued benefits during her
former membership of the Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme.

Total benefit accrued at Trarsfer valve Tocal benefic accrued ac  Transfer value Increase in
31 Qcwober 2021 of accrued 31 Octaber 2022 of accrued transfer value Value of
Cash in licu of benefii at benefit at during year benefit
pension 11 Ocrober 31 October  (less members' for single
centribytions Pension Cash 2021 Pension Cazh 1022 contributions) figure
Executive €000 £000 pa. £'000 £000 £'000 p.a. L300 £0a0 €000 £'000
Michael Ord 51 — . — — —_— — —_ 51
Andrew Lewis 76 — — — -— — — — 76
Sarah Ellard 53 24 72 461 24 72 461 — 53

NOTES:
. Michael Ord received a 10% cash supplement in lieu of pension and the other execuuve directors received a 20% cash supplement during the 202 and 2022 financial years.
With effect from | November 2022 the cash supplement paid 1o all of the execulive direciors has been reduced to 7.5% to align with the workforce rate.

-

]

. Transfer values represen liabilities of the applicable scheme, and do not represent sums paid to individuals.

. Transfer values have been calculated in accordance with the Qccupational Pension Scheme {Transfer Value) Regulations 1996,

. Sarah Ellard left pensionable service with the Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme on & April 2090 and therefore has not accrued addmonal pension over the year. The accrued
benefits shown are the benefits at the date of exit The scheme provided pensian at a rate of 1/B0th of final pensionzble salary plus a cash lump sum of 3/80ths for each year of
membership, Final pensionable salary was capped at the HMRC notional earnings cap. and the scheme assumed a normal retirement age of &5. Early retirement is permiss:ble from
age 55 but accrued benefits are reduced accordingly using the early retirement fartars in foree at the date of early retirement.

PATYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS AND PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE
No payments were made to past directors and no payments were made for loss of office during the year.

REMUMERATION IN THE WIDER WORKFORCE

In addition o determining the remuneration arrangements for the executive directors, the Commitiee considers and approves the base salaries for eight senior
executives, excluding those based in the US. The Committee also receives information on general pay levels and policies across the Group. The Committee,
therefore, has due regard to salary levefs across the Group in applying its remuneration policy.

Bt

The Group comprises a number of businesses, same of which have been developed through organic growth, others of which have been acquired over time.

As a result there are diverse remuneration arrangements in place across the Group. An example of this is pension prowision, where contributions range from
4% ta 20% of salary depending on lecation and length of service. Where possible the business aims to consclidate and normalise its remuneration approach,
particularly in relation to fixed pay arrangements, taking into account regional and sector-related variations.

in the US, the US Board has established a Compensauon Committee to set the remuneration arrangements for the senior leadership of the US businesses,
n accordance with the requirements of cur Special Security Agreement with the US Government. The US Compensation Commitice consults with the
Remuneration Committee where appropriate.

The annual bonus plan for the senicr leadership is typically aperated for around BO employees and works in a similar fashion 1o that for the executive directors,
albeit wath greater focus on business unit performance where appropriate. Therefore. averall bonus outcaomes maintain a level of consistency with Group tevel
performance but allow for differentiated outcomes based on business unit and ndividual performance.

Below Board, the performance share plan is a'so operated. in order to allow us 1o recruit and retan the best talent. Emplayees who are considered to have
a direct influence on Group level performance participate in this plan and in 2022 this included 52 employees.

All UK emptoyees are encouraged to participant in the UK Sharesave Plan. At present over 500 employees participate in the UK Sharesave Plan.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

ADDITIONAL STATUTORY INFORMATION ON REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS

DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS (AUDITED)

Shargholding guidelines apply to executive directors dunng employment and post cessation of employment. Executive directors are expected to build up and
maintain a shareholding in the Company equivalent 1o 200% of base salary, by retaining at teast 50% of after-1ax vested PSP awards until such time as the guidelines
have been met. The executive directors are also required to hald shares to the value of the shareholding guideline (ie 200% of base salary or their existing
shareholding if Iower at the time) for two years post-cessation of employment, The shareholding will be assessed at the time of stepping down from the Board.

The interests of the directors in the ordinary shares of the Company at 31 QOctober 2022 are shown beiow. All are benefic:al holdings.

Unvested and subject ta performance

Value of -
Legally legalty conditians under the PSP
awned owned Total a1 Deferred bonus
{number shares as % Guidehne Dec 2019 OCec 2020 Dac 2021 31 Occber share Sharesave
Excoutive of shares) of salary' met award award award 2022 rwards options
Michael Ord 447,994 260% Yes 307.142 220375 255,555 783072 255,803 16851
Andrew Lewis 401,152 319% Yes 245085 175848 195,386 616,319 161.062 8910
Sarah Ellard 222135 252% Yes 157,635 125,670 136,973 420,278 106,547 8910
Cari-Peter Forster 30,000 — — — — _— — — —
Laurie Bowen 15,000 — — — — — — — —
Andrew Davies — — — — — — — — —
Stephen King 35,500 — -— — —_ — —_ —_ —

Fiona MacAulay

NOTE.

1. Based on the numbper of shares legally owned, prevailing base salary and share price of 302p at 31 Ocrober 1022,

The directors’ share interests at 31 October 2022 include shares held by the directors' connected persans, f any, as required by the Regulations. There have
been ro changes 10 the directors’ interests in shares since 31 October 2022,

OUTSTANDING PSP AWARDS (AUDITED)

tNumber of sharcs under award

At Awarded Lapsed Vested AL Closing
1 November during during during 3 October Date of share pnce an
Executive 2021 the year the year the year 2022 vesling date of grant (p}
421,568 — — {421.568) — 22 March 2022 1396
307.142 — — —_ 307142 17 December 2022 2155
Michaet Ord 220375 — — — 220375 16 December 2023 3000
- 255,555 — — 255,555 15 December 2024 2865

949,085 255.555 _ {421,568} 783,072
336N — — (336,391) — 22 March 2022 139.6
245,085 — — —_ 245,085 17 December 2022 2255
Andrew Lewis 175,848 — — — 175848 16 December 2023 3000
—_ 195,386 —_ —_ 195,386 1% December 2034 286.5

757,324 195,386 —_ {336,391) 616,319
216,361 —_ — (216,361) — 22 March 2022 139.5
157,635 — — _ 157,635' 17 Decamber 2022 2255
Sarah Ellard 125,670 — — —_ 125670 16 December 2023 3000
— 136973 —_ —_ 1365973 15 December 2024 2865

499,666 136,973 _ (216,361) 420,278

NOTE:

1. As explaincd abave, these awards will vest in full on 17 December 2022,
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PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS FOR QUTSTANDING PSP AWARDS

Executive dirsctors’ Threshold Full
Measure Director award values vesting vesting
Total compound_ EPS growth per annum over the 5% pa. 10% pa.
three financial years ended 31 October 2022 ) (25% vests) (100% vests)
{50% of award) Michael Ord
Awards made on Andrew Lewis 0% of sab -
17 December 2019 Rank of the Company’s TSR against the TSR of the Sarah Ellard 150% of salary ) tian rankin Upper quartile
FTSE All-Share (excluding imvestment trusts) over the (25% ves:s? ranking
three financial years ended 371 October 2022 {100% vests)
(50% of award)
Total compound EPS growth per annum over the
A 5% pa. 10% pa
three financial years ended 31 October 2023 7
(0% of award) Michael Ord {25% vest) (100% wests)
Awards made on Andrew Lowis
14 Decermber 2020 Rark of the Company’s TSR against the TSR of the Sarah Eitard 150% of salary Median rankin Upper quartile
ETSE All-Share (excluding investment trusts) over the (25% vestg ranking
three financial years ended 31 October 2023 (100% vests)
(50% of award)
e st yea endes 1 Ot 303 5% 10% pa
(50% of award) (25% vests) {100% vests)
Rark of the Company’s TSR against the TSR of the Upper quartile
Awards made on FTSE All-Share {excluding investmant trusts) over the Michael Ord Median ranking pps qr:nkin
15 Diecermber 2021 three financial years ended 31 October 2024 Andrew Lewis 150% of salary (25% vests) (100% Vem?
(30% of award) Sarah Eflard
Reduction in scope 1 and scope 2 emissions {market
based) over the three financial years ended 15% 25%
31 Qctober 2024 (25% vests) (100% vasting)
(20% of award)
QUTSTANDING DEFERRED BONUS SHARE AWARDS (AUDITED)
Number of shares under award
Al Awarded Lapsed Vested AL Closing
1 Nowernber during during during 31 Oxcteber Date of share price on
Evecutive Wn the year the year the year plers] vesting date of grame (p)
100,333 — — - 100,333 16 December 2022 2100
71989 — — —_ 71989 15 December 2023 3000
Michael Ord
— 83481 —_ — 83481 14 December 2024 2835
172,322 83,481 — —_ 255,803
64,048 — — — 64,048 16 December 2022 2100
45,954 — — — 45954 15 December 2023 3000
Andrew Lewis
— 51,060 — — 51.060 14 December 2024 2835
110,002 51,060 —_ _— 161,062
41,195 — — — 41,195 16 December 2022 2100
29,557 _ — —_ 29557 15 December 2023 3000
Sarah Ellard
—_ 35795 —_ _ 35,795 14 December 2024 2?3.5
70,752 35,795 — —_ 106,547
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued
ADDITIONAL STATUTORY INFORMATION OMN REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS continued

OUTSTANDING SHARESAVE OPTIONS (AUDITED)

Number of shares under gward

AL Powarded Lapsed Wested A

1 November dunng during durng 31 Ccrober Exergise Exerrisa

Executive 0N the year the year the year 022 price date

16,853 — — — 16,853 178p 1 October 2023 -

Michael Ord 371 March 2024
16,853 — — —_ 16,853

8910 — — — 8910 202p 1 October 2023 -

Andrew Lewis 31 March 2024
8,210 — —_ —_ 8,910

8910 — - — 8910 0 1 October 2023 -

Sarah Ellard 31 March 2024
B910 _ — -— 8,910

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The fgllowing graph shaws the Company's cumulative TSR over the last ten financial years refative to the FTSE 250 and FTSE SmallCap Indexes The FTSE 250
has been selecied by the Committee for this comparison because it provides the mast appropriate measure of perfarmance of fisted companies of a similar size to
the Company. The FTSE SmallCap has been shawn n previous years and has been included this year for the purpose of continuity.

The graph shows the vatue, by 31 October 2022, of £1Q0Q invested in Chemring Graup PLC an 31 Ociober 2012 compared with the value of (100 invested in
the FTSE 250 and FTSE SmaliCap. The other points are the values at intervening financial year ends. i
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION TABLE
The total remuneration figures for the Group Chief Executive during each of the last ten financial years are shown in the table below. Michael Flowers replaced
Mark Papworth as Group Chief Executive on 24 [une 2014 and Michael Ord replaced Michael Flowers on 1 uly 2018,

3 Ccis 3N Qe 17

FTSE 250

31 Ocr 18 11 Oct 19

FTSE SmaliCap

31 Oct 20

N Oa 31 Ger 22

Source: Datastream (Thomson Reuters)

The total remuneration figure for 2074 includes the payments for loss of office made to Mark Papworth. The figure for 2018 includes 2 full year's salary and

benefits for Michael Flowers

The total remuneration figure for each year includes the annual bonus based on that year's performance and, where apphcable, vested PSP awards based on the
three-year performance period ending in the relevant year. The annual bonus payout and PSP award vesting level as a percentage of the maximum opportunity

are also shown for each of these years.

Mark
Fagwortht Michadd
Mark Michasl Flowers!
Papworth Fiowers Michadd Howers Michaet Ord Michacl Ord
2013 W4 2015 W16 w17 2018 2019 2020 2021 2012
Total remuneration {£'000} 785 841 507 855 8 969 1,021 1,045 3583 2,336
Anpu! bonus
(% of maximum} 40% 50% 0% 68.3% 59.5% 0% 98% 98% 98% 98%
PSP awards vesting 86.4%/
% of maximum) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 0% 0% 100% 100%

108

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022



PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN THE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
I he table below shows the annual percentage change in the total remuneration (excluding the value of any PSP awards and pension benefits receivable in the year}
for each of tha directors between the 2019 and 2022 financia! years. compared to that of the average for all eligible employees of the Group.

2019 v 2030 2020 vs 2021 00 vs W02

Salary Bensfits  Annual bonus Salary Benefits  Annual bonus Salary Benefis  Annual bonus
Group Chief Executive 23% 0% 25% 8.2% 0% 9.6% BO% 0% 291%
Chief Financial Officer 26% 0% 7% 46% 0% 49% 16% 0% 2B.7%
Group Legal Director &
Company Secretary 13% 0% 2.8% 14.7%' 0% 14.4% 27% 0% 287%
Cart-Peter Forster 0% NIA /A n% N/A A, 1.0% NIA MN/A
Laune Bowen N/A NiA N/A 11.3%¢ N#A NIA 29% N/A NrA
Andrew Davies (126%) N/A N/A 8.6% NIA YA 48% N/A N/A
Stephen King . 0% N/A N/A 0% N/A N/A 1.5% N/A N/A
Fiona MacAulay NiA NIA N/A N/A® N/A N/A 1.8% N/A N/A
Average of other employees 0% 0% 0% 52% 52% 34.8% 32% {18.0%} 50%
NOTES:

1. The Group Legal Director & Company Secretary’s salary was increased pro-rata 1o reflect ner resumption of lull-time working hours with effect from 1 Novemper 2020.

2 The percentage increase in the fees paid to Laurie Bowen between 2020 and 2021 reflects the additional fees paid 1o her following her appointment as Chair af the Remuncration
Cammittee on 4 March 2020 and the fee paid to her as the nan-executive directar with responsibility far employee engagement from 1 January 2021,

3. The percentage increase in the lees paid to Andrew Davies between 2020 and 2011 reflects the additional fees paid to him as Senior Independent Director from \ Janwary 2021,
4. Fionz MacAulay was appointed as 2 non-execytive director on 3 June 2020 Non-executive directors’ fees did not increase between 2020 and 2021

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S PAY RATIO

The table below shows how the Group Chief Executive's single remuneration figure from the 2022 financial year compares ta equivalent single figure
remuneration for full-time equivalent UK employees ranked at the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile.

The Committee considered the calculation approaches as set out in the Regulations and elected to use Method A, as itis considered 10 be the most appropriate
and robust way 1o calculate the -atia. The caleulation was based on.

- actyal base salary, benefits, bonus and long-term incentive awards for the year ended 31 October 2022 for UK employees as at 31 October 2022, with salaries
for part-time employees annualised on a full-time equivalent basis to allow equal comparisons; and

- employer pension contributions.

No components of pay and benefits were omitted for the purpose of the calculations; however, joiners and feavers during the year were excluded from the

caleulations.

Total remuncration

25th percentile (lower  50th percentile 75th pereentk:
Year Methodalogy quarulc) pay rauc {median) pay ratic {upper quariile) pay rabe
2022 Method A 683 46.8 297
plardl Method A 116.3 764 49.2
2010 Mathod A 399 250 15.8

Salary Towd remuneratian

Year 5th percentile Stah percenule 75th percentie 25th percentle S0th percentile 75th percentile
2022 £29,768 £42,600 £56,004 £34,195 £49.941 £78523

The Committee is mindful that pay ratios, however calculated, are a useful reference point but cannot be considered in iselation. Any movement in ratios will be
reviewed by the Committee to understand the causes and longer-term trends will be monitored.

The pay ratios increased in 2821 as a result of, exceptionally, the inclusion of two PSP awards vesting in relation to the year. One of the PSP awards related to a
ane-off award granted to the Group Chief Executive on appointment, which vested at 86.4% of maximum, and the second PSP award related to the normal PSP
grant, which vested at 100% of maximum. Far 2022, there 1s only one PSP award included in the Group Chief Executive’s total single figure of remuneration,
which vested in full Whitst the Group Chief Executive also received a salary increase for 2022 and an increase to his annual bonus ertitternent, the pay ratic has
decreased primarily as a result of the total PSP value reducing this year.

The reward policies and practices across the Group are considered by the Committee in the design process and implementation of the remuneration policy each
year for the executive directors. On this basis, the Committee is sausfied that the median pay ratio is consistent with the pay, reward and progression pokaes
against all employees.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
ADDITIONAL STATUTORY INFORMATION ON REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS continued

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE OF SPEND ON PAY
The following table shows the Caompany's aztwal spend an pay {for all employees) relative to dividends and retained profits:

012 20
im £m % change
Staff costs 1697 1460 +16%
Dividends 144 119 +21%
Retained profits B87.2 562 +55%

The dividends figures relate to amounts payable in respect of the relevant financial year.
Retained profits reflect the underlying success of the Group and includes the profit generated w the relevant financial year

ADVISERS TO THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Korn Ferry were appointed by the Remuneration Commitiee to advise an remuneration and incentive plan related matters from 4 March 2021, Korn Ferry is a
signatory to the Remuneration Consuitants’ Group Code of Conduct. The Committee has reviewed the nature of the services provided by Korn Ferry and s
satisfied that no conflict of interest exists in the provision of these services. The Company received na ether services from Korn Ferry during the year: The total
fees paid to Korn Ferry in respect of the services to the Commitiee during the year were £25.720 (2021: £52,500). Fees were determined based on the scope
and rature of the projects undertaken for the Committee,

The Commitiee reviews the performance and independence of its advisers on an annual basss.
The Committee consults internally with the Group Chief Executive (Michael Ord) and the Group Legal Director & Campany Secretary (Sarah Ellard) No
executive is involved in discussions on their own pay.

SHAREHOLDER YOTING ON THE DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION POLICY AT THE 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The directors’ remuneration policy is subject to a binding vote by shareholders every three years. At the Annual General Meeting held on 3 March 2022, the
resolution refating io the direciors’ remuneration policy received the faliowing votes from shareholders,

For 231,710,461 9845%
Against 3654,614 155%
Total votes cast {for and against excluding withheld votes) 235,365,075 . 1000%
Votes withheld' 7154172 001%
Total votes cast (including withheld votes) 242519247

NOTE:

1. A vote withheld 15 not a vote in law and is not counted in the calculatian of the proportion of votes cast "for™ and “"against” a resolution.
SHAREHOLDER VOTING ON THE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT AT THE 1022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The directors’ remuneration repori is subjeci to an adwisory vote by shareholders every year. At the Annual General Meeting held on 3 March 2022, the
resolution relating to the directors’ remuneration report received the following votes from shareholders:

For 233755408 99.32%
Against 1,598,867 0.68%
Total votes cast {for and against excluding withheld votes) 235,354,275 1000%
Votes withheld® 7164972

Total votes cast (including withheld votes) 242,519,247

NOTE:

1. A vote withheld is not a vote in law and is not counted in the calculation of the propertion of votes cast “for” and “against” a resolution.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT
CIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY

KEY OBJECTIVES

Ir developing a policy for the executive directors’ remuneration, the Rermuneration Committee seeks to’

- maintain a competitive package of rewards required to promote the long-term success of the Company, without being excessive by reference to market rates
acruss comparacor companies, and neither encouraging or rewarding inapprapriate risk taking;

- ensure performance-related elernents.

> are Lransparent, stretching and rigorously applied,

» form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package of each executive directar; and

> akgn the interasts of executives with those of shareholders, by ensuring that a significant proportion of remuneration is performance related and delivered

In shares; and

- set remuneration in the context ¢f the core values of the business and with the aim of alignment with culure.

The rermuneration policy for the executive directors and other senior executives is also designed with regard 1o the policy for employees across the Group as a
whole. However, there are some differences in the structure of the remuneration policy for executive directors and other seniar executives. in general, these
differences arise from the development of remuneration arrangements that are market-competitive for the various categories of indiwduals. They also reflect the
fact that, in the case of the exceutive directors and other senior executives, 2 greater emphasis tends to be placed on performance-refated pay in the market.

DECISION MAKING PROCESS

The Committee perigdically reviews the policy and its implementation 1o ensure it continues to allow us ta incentivise and reward the exetutive directors 1
achieve our strategy in both the short and long-term. The views of our shareholders and investor representative bodies are taken into account in determining
the policy and implementauon each year as well as the UK Corporate Governance Code and market practice. The Committee also has regard to the general pay
levels and policies across the Group and takes these into account when setting executive director pay.

Operation of the policy is considered annually for the year ahead in light of the strategy and wider stakenclder experience, including the level of salary increase.
the types of performance metrics. and the wesghtings and target ranges for incentives.

CONSIDERATION OF CODE PROVISIONS IN DETERMINING POLICY
When developing the current directors’ remuneration policy for the executive directors, the Remuneration Committee also addressed the following factors

outlined in the 2018 Code:
FACTOR

CLARITY

Remunerat.on arrangements should
be transparent and promote effeciive
engagement with sharehclders and
the warkforce.

HOW THIS HAS BEEN ADDRESSED

The Chair of the Remuneration Committee consults with major shareholders on the directors’
remuneratton policy, which 15 subject to shareholder approval every three years, and on any significant
propased changes to the policy.

The employee engagement initatives implemented by the Board provide an oppartunity for employees to
express their views on a wide range of topics, including directors’ remuneration arrangements.

SIMPLICITY

Remuneration structures should avoid
complexity ang their rationale and operation
should be easy 1o understand.

The Compary operates only two incentive plans for the executive directors — an annuat bonus plan 1o
incentwise and reward short-term performance and the PSP, which incentivises long-term performance and
aligns management's interests with shareholder interests. The annual bonus plan structure for the executive
directors is broadly replicated in the bonus arrangements for the business unit leaders and their direct reports

RISK

Remuneraticn arrangements should ensure

reputational and other risks from excessive

rewards, and behavioural risks that can arise
from target-based incentive plans,

are identified and mitigated.

The annual bonus plan includes non-financial strategic objectives covering the management of risks in areas
such as safety and compliance, as weli as requiring bonus deferral,

The inclusion of broad malus and clawback previsions i the incentive arrangements and the
discretion reserved by the Commiittee to override formulaic outcomes also mitigate the risk of
inappropriate rewards.

PREDICTABILITY

The range of possible values of rewards

to individual directors and any other limits of
discretions should be identified and explained
at the timc of approving the palicy.

The directors remuneration policy imposes maximum levels for annual bonus payments and PSP awards,
and sets out the potential remuneration scenarios for executive directors at differing levels of perfarmance.
The Remuneration Commitiee's discrations are also detailed in the policy.

PROPORTIONALITY

The link between individual awards, the
delivery of strategy and the long-term
performance of the company should be clear.
Outcomes should not reward

poor performance.

The annual bonus plan targets and performance conditions associated with PSP awards prowide z direct fink
between individuals' incentive rewards and delivery of strategic objectives which underpin the fong-term
performance of the Company.

The annual bonus plan and the PSP require threshold levels of performance before any payments are made
or awards vest, and the Remuneration Committee retains discretion to override formulaic outcomes if
deemed appropriate.

ALIGNMENT TO CULTURE

Incentive schemes should grive behaviours
consistent with company purpose, values
and strategy.

The annual benus plan includes nan-financial strategic abjectives which embrace the Compaay's values of
Safety. Excellence and Innovation, and which are alsg aligned to the delivery of the Group's agreed strategy.
The performance conditions under the PSP also incentivise long-term performance through the delfivery of
strategy and shareholder value.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued
DIRECTCRS' REMUMNERATION POLICY continued

POLICY SUMMARY

The table below provides a surmmary of the current directors’ remuneration policy. The full poticy was approved by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting held on 3 March 2022 and can be found in the 2021 directors’ remuneration report included in the 2021 report and accounts on our website
(https:iwww.chemring.com/investorsfanrual-reperts/2021). The policy remains valid until the 2025 Annual General Meeting.

Further detalls of the policy are set cut on pages 115 tc 116, and an explanation of how the policy will be applied in 2023 is set out on pages 117 o 119,
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum Performance assessment
Salary - Reflects the performance of the - Normally revicwed annually with - Salary Increases will normally be + Nanc, although averail individual
indwvidual, therr skills and expenence  effect from 1 january in line with those received by the and campany performance is a factor
over ume, and the responsibilivies of | pancrmarked periadically wider warkiorge considered when setting and
the role against comparves with similar - More significant increases may reviewing salaries
- Provides an appropriate level of characteristics within the be awarded 2t the discretion of
basic fixed income, avoiding same secior the Comenittee, for example where
excesswe risk arising from - Salaries take account of complexity there is a change in responsibilines,
over-reliance an varatke income of the role. market competitiveness, to reflect individuat development and
Group perfarmance and the increases performance in the role
awarded 10 the wider warkforce
Banus - Incentivises annuat delivery of - Paid in ¢ash, with up t0 40% - Chief Executre - 150% of salary - Mix of Group financiat and
financial, strategic ard personal goals  defecred as a conditional award - Other exccutive directors — 115% non-financial objectives; financial
- Maximum banus only payzble for of geferred shares of salary objectives will determine the majority
achieving demanding zargets - Westing of deferred shares s subject of the award and will typically include
- Delivery of a proportion of borus te continued employment (save in ;meas:;e ofhpr::vgbilily and C:Sh
in deferred shares ohus the ability to 8800 teaver™ scenarios) at the end dgw‘ ahoug ; ohmmuuee 2
receive dindend equivalents of three years from the award of Iscretion (o select ather metrics
provides alignment with the banus - Non-financia) objectives will be
shareholders' interests ano assists - The paymen of any earned bonus measurable and linked to goals that
with retention remains whtimatedy at the discretion are consisient with the Graup's
of the Commitee sirategy
- Non-pensionable - Payment of the non-financial
i 5 objectives element will be sublect to
- Executlyes are eatitled 1o receive, an underpin based on the
on vesting of deferred. s.hare Cammittea’s assessment of
awards, lh:h:alue olfddlvl:Cr\ﬂ. underlying business performance,
ﬁ::;“::;‘pai;‘:‘:“m";;;::: including inter oig levels of
! " profitability and cash Now, as well as
shares during the deferral period health and safety perfarmance
- Performance below the threshold for
each financial target results in zero
payment in respect of that elernent.
Payment rises from 0% to 100% of
the maximum opportunity for levels
of performance between threshold
and maximum with 50% of the
maximum normally payable for.
an-target performance
= includes 2 malus and
clawback mechanism®
.
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Elerment Purpase and link to strategy Operation Maximum Perforrmance assessment

Long-term - Incentivises executives 10 achieve - Annual grants of shares, which vest - Normaily ¥50% of base salary - Awards wili be subject o a
incentive plan targets aligned 1o the Group's man subject to the Group's (zlthough grants of up to 200% combinatian of long-term measures
(performance strategic objectives of delivering performance measured over at af base safary may be made n which are ahgned to the sharshalder
share plan sustainable growth and least three years exceptional circumstances such experience and may include financial
—“PSP") sharchalder returns - Any shares vesting must be held by 45 O recruitment) metrics (such as EPS), shareholder

Delivery of awards in shares plus the
ability 1o receive dividend equivalents
heips align exccutives’ rewards with
sharehotders’ interests

the execulives for a further period
of two years

- Executives are entitled o receive
the value of dividend payments that
would otherwise have becn pad on
vested awards

Al awards are subject to the
discretions given to the Committee
in the plan rules during the

vesting penod

value metrics {such as TSR}, capital
efficiency measures (such as ROCE)
and ESG or strategic measures

The Committee will have discretion
to set different measures and
werghtings for awards in future years
to best support the strategy of the
business at that tirme

Targets for each performance
measure are set by the Remuneration
Cammittee prior to each grant
Targets will be based on a sliding
scale where appropriate

For each measure, performance
below threshold results in zero
payment. Payment rises from 25% ta
100% of the maximurn opporfunity
for that measure far levels of
performance between threshold
and maximum

Includes a malus and
clawback rechanism?®

All-employee
share scheme

- UK employces, including exccutive
directors, are encovraged to acq
shares by participaung 1 the Group's
all-employee share plan — the UK
Sharcsave Plan

- The UK Sharesave Plan has
standard terms

Participation limits arc those set - N/A
out by HM Revenue & Customs

from time 10 nme

Pension

- Pravides retirement beaclits that
reward sustained contribution

- Ongoing pension provision is i the -
form of a cash supplement. subject
to auto-enrolment in the Group's
defined contribution scheme

Longer-serving employees have -
accrucd benefits under the Group's
defined benefit scheme, which was
closed to fulure accrual for the

exceutive directors on & Apnl 2010

Legacy arrangemenis: 20% of base - N/A
salary cash supplernent cantribution
paid in liev of occupational pension

scherme membership

New appointments: 10% of base
salary cash supplcment contnibution
paid in liev of occupational pension
scheme membershig

All UK employees, including the
executve directors, are subject to
auta-enrolment into the Group's
defined contnbution scheme, with an
employar contribution of a minimum
of 4% of base salary. If executives do
nat apt out af this scheme, their cash
supplement will be reduced by 6%
From 1 November 2022, incumbent
executive director pensions will
reduce to the typical warkfarce

rate via a chff-edge reducton

Other benefits

+ Provides a competitive package of
berefits that assists with recruitment
and retention

- Maln benefits currently provided -
o UK executives include but are
not limited 10 a car allowance, .
Ife assurance and private
rmedical insurance

Executive direciors are eligible far
other benefits which may alsc be
introduced for the wider warkforce
on broadhy similar terms

Cash allowance in liev of company  « N/A

car of up to £25,000 per annum
QOther benefits wilt be in line with
market. The value of each benefit is
based on the cost to the Carmpany
and is not pre-determined

Any reasonable business-related
expenses (including tax thereon) can
be reimbursed if detcrmined 1o be
2 1axabie benefit
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued
DIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY continued

POLICY SUMMARY continued
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS continued

Element Purpose and link 1o strategy Operaticn Maximum Perforrnance assessment

Minimum - Algns the interesis of the executive - Executive directars are expected 1o
shareholding directors with those of sharcholders  build up and maintain 2
shareholding in the company
equivalent to 200% of base salary,
by retaining ai least 50% of the
after-tax gain on vestcd PSP awards
uniil such time as the guidelines
have been met

requirements

= From MNavember 2021, the
executive direciors will be required
to hold sharcs to the value of the
shareholding guideline {i.e 200% af
base salary or their existing
shareholding if lower at the ume)
for two years past-cessanon of
employment. The shargholding wilt
be assessed at the point of stepping
down from the Board

NOTES:

. A description of how the Campany intends 1o implement the policy sét cut in this table for the lorthcoming year Is set out on pages 117 10 119

. The ail-emplayee share plan does not have performance conditions. UK-based executive directors are eligible to particpate in the UK Sharesave Plan on the same terms
as othar employees,

. The Committee may make minor amendments ta the policy set out above far regulatary, exchange control, tax or administrative purposes or 1o talke account of a change in legislation,
withaut obtaiming shareholder approval for that amendment.

. The Regulations and investor guidance encourages companies 1o disclose a cap within which each element of the directors’ remuneration policy will aperate. Where masximum
amounts for elements of remuneration have been set within the policy, these will aperate simply as caps and are not incicanve af any aspiration.
While the Commitice docs not consider «t to form part of bencdits in the normal usage of that term, it has been adwised that corporaic hosgHalty, whether paid for by the Company
or another, and business travel for directors and n exceprional crcumstances their families, may tachrucally come within the applicable rukes, and so the Committae expreassly reserves
the right for the Committee Lo autharise such activities within its agreed policies (and ta discharge any related tax liabikty).

. The annual bonus and PSP are subject 10 malus and clawback provisions in the event of misconduct, error in caleulation of performance, materiat misstarermens of results, company
insalvency or serious reputational damage 1o the Group.

N

[

S

w

o~

114 Chemring Group PLC Anpval report and accounts 2022



COMMITTEE DISCRETIONS
The Committee operates the Group's variable incentive plans accarding to their respective rules and in accordance with gaverning legislation and HM Revenue &
Customs rules where relevant. To ensure the efficient administration of these plans, the Committee will apply certain operational discretions. These include the
following:
- selecting the participants in the plans on an annual bass:
- determining the timing of grants of awards and/or payment;
- determining the quantum aof awards and/or payments (within the limits set out in the remunerat:on policy).
- determining the extent of vesting based on the assessrment of performance:
- making the apprapriate adjustments required in certain dircurnstances (e.g. change of control, rights issues, carporate restructuring events

and special dividends),
~ determining “good leaver” status for incentive plan purposes and applying the appropriate treatment; and
- undertaking the annual review of weighting of performance measures, and setting targets for the annual bonus plan and the PSP from year to year.
If an event oceurs which results in the annyal bonus plan or PSP performance conditions and/or targets being deemed no longer appropriate by the Commitree
(2.2 a material acquisition or divestment), the Committee will have the ability ta adjust appropriately the measures andfor targets and alter weightings, provided
that the revised conditions ar targets are Aot materially less difficult 10 satisfy (taking account of the refevant circurmstances).
Ultimately, the payment of any bonus 15 entirely at the discretion of the Committee. Equally, the operation of share incentive schemes is at the discretion of the
Committee. In conjunction with malus and clawback provisions, the Committee has the flexibility to override formulaic outeomes and recaver andlor withhold
sums, In choosing ta use this discretion, the Cammittee will consider the specilic circumsiances at the time. Where such action is considered necessary, this will
be clearly stated in the relevant directars' remunerauon report,
HOW THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY RELATES 7O THE WIDER GROUP
In addivon 1o determiring the remuneration arrangements for the executive direciors, the Committee considers ang approves the base salaries for eight other
non-US senior executives. The Committee also receives infarmation on general pay fevels and policies across the Group. The Commuttee, therefore, has due
regard 1o salary levels across the Group in applying its remuneration policy.
Ouring the year, the designated non-execuuve director for employee engagement held a number of remote meetings with employees from across the Group in
which the Group's key priorities going forward and the business strategy were discussed. Topics discussed duning these meetings also induded remuneration with
the designated non-executive director sharing with employees how remuneration links to business strategy and how performance is determined. Employees are
encouraged 1o ask questions and share their views during these meetings.
The remuneration policy described above provides an overview of the structure that operates for the most senior executives in the Group. Lower aggregate
incentive quanta are applied at below executive level, with levels driven by market comparatives and the impact of the role

Employees are provided with a competitive package of benefits, which typically includes participation in the Group's defined conltribution pension arrangements.

Long-term incentives are provided to the most seniar executives and those identified as having the greatest potential to influence pertormance within the Group.
However. 1n arder 10 encourage wider employee share awnership, the Company also operates a Sharesave Plan in the UK. in which all UK employees are eligible
to participate,
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS" SERVICE AGREEMENTS AND LOSS OF OFFICE PAYMENTS
The current executive directors have rolling service contracts, details of which are summarised in the table below
Provision Detaled terms
Contract dates Michael Ord - 36 April 2018 (effective 1+ June 2018)
Andrew Lewis — 12 December 2016 (eficctive 9 lanuvacy 2017)
Sarah EHard — 2 November 2011 {effective 7 October 2011)

Notice period Twelve months from both the Campany and from the exeoutive

Termination payments  Contracts may be terminated without notice by the payment of a sum equal to the sum of salary due for the unexpured notice
period phs the fair value of any contractual benefits (including pension)
Payments may be made in instalments and in these circumstances, there is a requirement to mitgate lass

The executive directors’ service contracts are available for inspection at the Company's registered office.

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022 15

1HCd3N D197 1vHLS

FINYNY3IAOD

SLNIWILYLS IVIDNWNE



DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued
DIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY continued

POLICY IN RESPECT OF THE CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTQRS

Perfermance
Llement Purpase and link to strategy Operatian Maxirnym assessment
The Chairman's  Takes account of recognised - The Chairman is paid a single lee for alt his responsibilities. The non- - NJA - N/A
and non- pracuce and set at a level that is executive directars are paid a basic fee. The Chairs of the Remuneration
executive sufficient to attract and retain Committee and the Audit Committee, the Senior Independent Director
directors’ fees  high-calibre non-executives and the non-executive director responsible for employee engagement each

receive additional fees to reflect their exira responsibilities

When reviewing fee levels, account is taken of market moverments in
non-executive director fees, Board Committee responsibilicies, ongoing
time commitments, the general economic environment ang the level of
increases awarded to the wider workforce

Fee increases, f applicable, are normally effective from January of each year

Non-executive directors do not participate in any pension, bonus or share
incentwe plans

Non-executive directars may be compensated for travel, accommodation

ar hospitality-related expenses in connection with their roles and any 1ax

thereon

In exceptional creumstances, additional fees may be paid where there s 2
substantial increase in the temporary tme commitment reguired of
non-executive directors

CHAIRMAN'S AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

MNon-executive directors do nol receive compensation for loss of office but are apponted for a fixed term of three years, renewable for further three-year
terms if both parties agree and subject to annual re-glection by shareholders. The Charman’s appeointment may be terminated on six months’ notice by either
party and the other non-executive direciors’ appointments may be terminated on three months' notice by either party. The non-executive directors’ letiers of
appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

The following table provides details of the terms of appointment for the Chairman and the current non-executive directors.

Non-executive Date eriginal term comnenced Bate current term cammenced Expected expiry date of current term
Carl-Peter Forster 1 May 2016 1 May J022 30 Aprit 2025

Laurie Bowen 1 Avgust 2013 1 August 2022 31 July 2025

Andrew Davies 17 May 2016 17 May 2022 16 May 2025

Stephen King 1 December 2018 1 Decernber 2021 30 November 2024

Fiona MacAulay 3 June 2020 3 June 2020 2 june 2023
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APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2023
This part of the report sets out how the approved directors’ remuneraton palicy will be implemented in 2023.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Element Implementation
Salary - Tre executive directors' salaries were reviewed in Novernber 2022, and the following salary mcreases were agreed, effective 1 January 2023
> Michael Ord — £555,000
> Andrew Lewis — £399376
> Sarah Ellard — £279978
- As detaled 0 the Chair's introductory statement, the increase to the Group Chief Executive’s salary was the second phase of a pre-agreed
increase arising fram the 2022 directors’ remuneration policy review process with no further cost-of-living related adjusirnent. The other
executive directors increases were agreed at 5%, with the rate of increase within the range of budgeted increases of 4% ta £% that were
set by, and then agreed with, each individual operating business for 2023
Benefits - MNo changes are proposed to the benefits pravision for 2023,
Pension - Pension provision has been reduced from 10% of salary for the Groun Chief Executive and 20% of salary for the other executive directors
to 7.5% of salary with effect from 1 November 2022 10 achieve alipnment with the typical rate of workforce pension provision.
Bonus - The maximum bonus opportunity will be 150% of salary for the Group Chief Executive and 125% of salary for the Chief Fiiancial Offices

and the Group Legal Director & Company Secretary.
+ The financial performance measyres and weightings of financial performance measures and strategic objectives for the annual bonus plan
will be unchanged:

> Earnings per share 40%
> Operating cash flow 40%
> Strategic nbjectives 20%

- Strategic objectives have been set 1o reflect performance in the following key areas.

> Safety, including continuing impfementation of the Group HSE Management System Framework Standard and associated assurance
processes, and ensuring that the Group's total recordable injury frequency rate and frequency of process safety events remain below
the targeted maximum rates

v

Sustainability, including development of nfrastructure options to support the Group's carbon reduction plans and delivery of
reductions in the Group’s scope 1 and scope 2 emissions

> Ongoing implementation of the Operational Framework and demonstraton of progress in operational assurance improvement plans
> Deployment of common standards for the protection of peogple, information and technology, with specific emphasis on cyber-secunty

> People management, including talent management, succession planning and leadership development, and strengthening of employee
engagement activities

v

Delivery of diversity, equity and inciusion objectives

v

Delivery of organic and inarganic growth strategies for Roke and Roke USA

v

Propress growth opportunities in the biosecunity sector
> Develop organic and inorganic growth opportunities in the LS space and missiles sectors
> Develop growth options in the European and US propelfant and specialty materials markets

- The Committee does nat believe that it woukd be in sharehclders’ interests to prospectively disclose the financial targets under the annual
bonus plan due 1o issues of commercial sensitivity. However, detailed retrospective disclosure of both the financial targets and the strategrc
abjectives, and performance against them, will be included in next year’s annual report on remuneration The range of financizl targers
approved for 2023 have been set in the context of current businass planaing and the current econemic outlogk, which is different than
was the case looking into 2022. Overall, the targets are considered similarly challenging to those setin prior years in the current market
context.

- Nio bonus will be payable in respect of the strategic objectives unless the Committee 1s satisfied that this is ustfied by the Group's
underlying performance, including inter ahia levels of profitability and cash flow
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DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION REPORT continued
DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION PCLICY continued

APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2023 continued
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS continued

Element Implemeriation

Performance = Execuuve directors will be granted PSP awards over 150% of salary in 2023.

Share Plan - Performance conditions for 2023 (tested over a three-year performance period to 31 October 2025} and weightings will be 50% EPS,
('FSP7) 30% relative TSR and 20% ESG targets. 25% of each part of the award will vest for threshold or median performance. with fuil vesting of

each part of the award for stretch or upper quartile performance.
- The EPS performance condition for the 2023 awards will be measured as fallows:
Total compound EPS per share growth

ovur the theee-year performance penod’ % ol EP$ part that may vest

Less than 5% p.a. 0%

5% pa. 25%

Between 5% pa. and 10% pa. On a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
10% pa. or more 100%

The TSR performance condition lor the 2023 awards will be measured as follows:
Rank of the Campany’s TSR against the TSR of the FTSE All-Share

{exeluding wwestment trusts) over the three-year performance penod % of TSR part that may vest

Below rmedian 0%

Medan 25%

Between median and upper quartile On a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
Upper quartle or above 100%

The ESG performance condition for the 2023 awards will be measured as follows.
Reduction in scope 1 and scope 2 emissions (market-based)

over the three-year performance period % of ESG part that may vest

Less than 15% 0%

15% 5%

Between 15% and 35% On a straight-line basis between 25% and 100%
5% or more 100%

The choice of EPS. TSR and emissions reduction targets aligns with the Group's long-term strategic objectives of delivering profitable
growth and sharehalder returns on a sustainable basis. The range of EPS and emissions reduction targets were set with reference ta
intgrmal plans, market expectations and current economic circurmstances. The overall targets are similarly challenging to those setn prior
years in the context of ¢ureent market conditions.

NOTES:

1. The EPS target range 1s considered streiching when viewed against internal forecasts and a broader reflection of prevailing rmacra-economic factors.

2. The reduction in scope 1 and scope 2 emissions target is aligned with our sirategy of becaming carbon neutral by 2030 and takes in1o account the expected
glidepath 1o reaching this gaal.
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APPLICATION OF THE REMUNERATION POLICY IN 2023 continued
FEES FOR THE CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As detailed in the directors’ remuneration policy, the Company's approach 1o setting the non-executive directors’ remuneration takes account of recognised
pracuice, and is set at a level that is sufficient 1o attract and retain high-calibre non-executives. The fees for the non-executive directors are determined by the
executive directors and the Chairman, and the Remuneration Committee determines the fees for the Chairman.

Details of the fees that will apply for 2023 are set out below:

fee as at Percentage

1 January 2013 ncredse
Chairman's fee £216,300 5%
Othar non-execuuve directors’ base fee £59483 5%
Audit Cormmittee Chair fee £10.000 —
Remuneration Committee Chair fee £10,000 —
Senigr Independent Director fee £10,000 —
Non-executive directors’ fee for employee engagerrent £5,000 —
APPROVAL OF THE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT
The directars’ remuneration report was approved by the Board on 13 December 2022,
Signed on behall of the Board
Laurie Bowen
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
13 December 2022
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present their annual report, together with the audited
financial statements of the Group and the Company, {or the year ended
31 October 2022

The following sections of the annual report are incorporated into the
directors’ report by reference’

- strategic report on pages 1to 75

- corporate governance report on pages 80 o 89,

- Audit Cammittee report on pages 90 to 93;

- diractars’ remuneration report on pages 96 to 119, and

- notes to the Group financial statements as detailed in this section.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The strategic report on pages 1 to 75 provides a review of the Group's
business development, performance and position during and at the end of the
financial year, its strategy and hkely future develapmants, key performance
indicators. and a descriphion of the principal risks and uncertaintres facing the
business. Further information regarding financial risk management policies and
financial instruments is given in note 20 1o the Group financial staternents.

There have been no significant events since the balance sheet date.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The profit attributable 1o the Group's sharehclders for the year was £474m
(2021; £41.5m).

The directors are recommending the payment of a final dividend of 3.8p per
ordinary share which, together with the interim dividend of 1.9p per share
paid n September 2022, gives a total for the year of 5.7p (2021: 4.8p) The final
dividend is subject 1o approval by shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting on 15 March 2023 and has not therefore been included as a liability
in these financial statermenrds,

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS
The current directors are shown on pages 78 and 79.

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Agsociation, all directors are
required to submit themselves for re-election at every Annual General
Meeting, All directors will therefore be seeling re-elecuan at the Annual
General Meeting on 15 March 2023.

Details of the service contracis entered into between the Company and
the executive directors are set aut in the directors’ remunerat:on report
on page 115. The non-executive directors do not have service coniracts
with the Company.

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability nsurance in respect of
legal action against its directors and officers. The Company has also granted
indemnities to its directors to the extent provided by law {which are
qualifying third party indermmities within the meaning of section 236 of the
Companies Act 2006). Neither the insurance nor the indemnities provide
cover in the event of proven fraudulent or dishonest activity.

Other than in relation to their service contracts, none of the directors is or
was beneficially interested in any significant contract to which the Group was
a party during the year ended 31 Ociober 2022,

Information required in relation to directors’ shareholdings is set out in the
directors remuneration repert on page 106,

EMPLOYEES AND EMPLOYEE CONSULTATION

Details of the Group's employment policies and employee consultation
practices are set out on pages 50 to 56,

FOLITICAL DONATIONS
Ne political donations were made during the year (2021: £ril}.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group contracts with a wide range of customers, compnising
governments, armed forces, prime contractors and OEMs across the globe.
The US Department of Defense is the fargest single customer and procures
the Group's products under a significant number of separate contracts placed
with individual Group businesses

The Group's businesses utilise many supphers across the world and
arrangements are in place to ensure that businesses are nat tatally refliant
on single supplicrs for key raw matcrials o¢ components.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Group's research and developrment expenditure for the year is detailed
in the financial review on page 62.

CHANGE OF CONTROL

Indmdual Group busiresses have contractual arrangements with third parties,
entered into in the normal course of business, which may be amended or may
terminate on a change of control of the relevant business, or 10 certain
circumstances, following a tekeover of the Group.

The most sgnificant agreements entered inte by the Group which contain
pravisions granting the counterparties ¢ertan rights in the event of a change
of control of the Company are the revolving credit facility agreements entered
into with the Group's banks. These agreements provide that. in the event of
a change of 2 control, the Company must repay all outstanding borrowings,
together with accrued mterest and other sums owing under each agreement,

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

GEMNERAL

The Company's share capital consists of ardinary shares of 1p each and
preference shares of £1 each, which are fully paid vp and quoted on the main
market of the Londan Stock Exchange. Full details of the movements in the
issued share capitai of the Company during the financial year are provided

in note 24 1o the Group financial statements.

Details of the rights attaching to shares are set cut in the Articles of
Assaciation (the "Articles”). All halders of ordinary shares are enutled to
attend, speak and vote at any general meeting of the Campany, and to
appoit a proxy or proxies to exercise these rights. At a general meeting,
every shareholder present in person, by proxy or (in the case of a corporate
member} by corporate representative has one vole on a show of hands, and
on a poll has one vote for every share held. The Natice of Annual General
Meeting speafies deadiines for exerosing voting rights and appointing a proxy
or proxies 1o vote in respect of the resolutions to be passed at the Annual
General Meeung,

A member or members representing at least 5% of the ordinary share capital
of the Company may require the directors to convene a general meeting,

A member ar members representing at least 5% of the ordinary share capital
of the Company or at least 140 members with the right ta vote at an Annual
General Meetng and each holding, on average, at least £100 of paid-up share
capital may request 3 resolution o be put before an Annual General Meeting.

There are no restrictions an the transfer of ordinary shares in the capital

of the Company, other than certain restrictions which may from time to time
be 1mpescd by law In accordance with the Market Abuse Repulation, certain
emnployees are required 1o seek the approval of the Company to deal in

its sharas.

The cumulative preference shares, which are also publicly traded on the
London Stock Exchange, carry an entitleritent to a dividend at the rate

of 7p per share per annum, payable in equal instalments on 30 Apri and
31 October each year Holders of the preference shares have the right on
a winding-up 10 receive, in priority to any ather classes of shares, the sum
af £1 per share together with any arrears of dividends. There are no
restrictions on the transfer of the cumulative preference shares.



The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that
may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities and/or voting rights.

The Company’s Articles may only be amended by special resolution at a
general meeting of shareholders.

15SUE OF SHARES

Under the pravisions of section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 {the "Act"),
the Board is prevented from exercising its powers under the Articles o alloy
shares without an authority contained either 1 the Articles or in a resolution
of the shareholders passed in general meeting. The authority, when given,
canlast fur & rhaxiniun periug of five years, but the Board proposes that
renewal should be sought at each Annual General Meeting. An ordinary
resciution, seeking such authority, will be proposed at the fortheoming
Annual General Meeting.

Section 561 of the Act requires that an alfotment of shares for cash may
not be made unless the shares are first offered to existing shareholders
on a pre-emptive basis in accardance with the terms of the Act.

In accordance with general practice, to ensure that small issues of shares can
be made without the necessity of convening z general meeting, the Board
proposes that advantage be taken of the provisions of section 571 of the
Act not to apply the Act's pre-emptive requirements. Accordingly, a special
resolution will be propased at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
which, if passed, will have the effect of granting the directors the power to
allot not more than 5% of the issued ordinary share capital at the date of the
Annual Gereral Meeting free of the requirements of section 561 of the Ack.
Na issue of these shares will be made which would effectively alter the
cantral af the Company withgut the priar appraval of the shareholders in
general meeting.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES
The Company did 0t purchase any of its ordinary shares (2021: nil) during
the year and no shares were held in treasury at 31 October 2022 (2021: nil).

A speaial resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting 1o renew the Company's authority 1o purchase its own shares in the
market up to a limit of 10% of its issued ordinary share capital. The maxamum
and minimum prices will be stated in the resolution at the date of the Annual
General Meetng The directors believe that it is advantageous for the
Comgany to have this flexibility 1o make market purchases of its own shares.
The directors of the Company may consider hotding repurchased shares
pursuant to the authority conferred by this resolution as treasury shares.
This will give the Company the ability to reissue treasury shares quickly and
cost effectively, and will provide the Company with additional flexibility in the
management of its capital base. Any issues of treasury shares for the purposes
of the Company's employee share schemes will be made within the 10%
anti-dilution limit set by The Jnvestment Association. The directors will only
exercise this authority if they are satisfied that a purchase would result in an
increase in expected earnings per share and would be in the interests of
shareholders generally.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

At 12 December 2022, the following substantial holdings in the ordinary share
capital of the Company had been noiified to the Company in accordance with
Crapter 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules of the Financial
Conduct Authority. It should be noted that these holdings may have changed
since the Company was notified; however, notification of any change is not
required unil the next notifiable threshold s crossed.

NAME % INTEREST
invesco Limited 8.1
BlackRock. Inc. 79
Qld Mutual Assct Managers 51
Ameriprise Financial, Inc. and its group 50
{ O Hambra Capital Management Limited 50
AXA Investment Managers S.A. 50
Avva PLC and its subsidiaries 50
FIL Limited Below 50
Jupiter Fund Maragement PLC Below 5.0
Schroders Plc Below 5.0
Majedie Asset Managernent Limited 49
J P Morgan Chase & Co 49
Royal London Asset Management Limited 49
Neptune Invesiment Mznagement Lmited 48
Prudertial Plc 48
Investec Asset Management Limited 48
Standard Life Investments Limited 48
MNorges Bank 40
BT Pension Scheme Trustees Limited as Trustee

of the BT Pension Scheme 38

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES AND PLANS

APPROACH TO SHARE OWNERSHIP

The Group actively encourages its employees 10 share n the future success
of the Group, and therefore operates share-based arrangements to provide
incentives and rewards to employees,

The Group operated four share-based incentive plans during the year, as set
out below. Further details of awards and vesting are provided in note 27 to
the Group financial staternents.

THE CHEMRING GROUP 2008 AND 2018 UK SHARESAVE PLANS
(COLLECTIVELY THE "UK SHARESAVE PLAN")

“he UK Sharesave Plan is open 10 a¥l ehigible UK employees. bnployees may
choose between three and five-year savings periods, at the end of which the
employee can choose io exercise the option or seek the return of their
savings. A grant of options was made on 1 September 2022.

THE CHEMRING GROUP PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN 2016

(THE *2016 PSP*)

The 2016 PSP s the primary lang-term incentive plan for executive directors
and senior employees, Discretionary awards are granted under the PSP over
a lixed nurnber of shares by reference to salary, with awards crdinarily
vesting, subject 1o meeting performance criteria, on the third anniversary of
the grant date. Awards were granted under the plan on 15 December 2021,

THE CHEMRING GROUP RESTRICTE SHARE PLAM (THE “RSP")
The RSP provides for the discretionary grant of deferred share awards to
selected key employees. Executive directors are not eligible to participate.
Awards typically vest on the second ar third 2aniversary of the grant date,
subject to meeting continuous service criteria. Awards under the RSP rmay
only be satisfied with market-purchased shares,

GOING CONCERN

Details of the conclusions arrived at by the directors in preparing the financial
statements on a gaing concern basis are set out in the statement on going
concern on page 79.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT contirnued

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION, AS REQUIRED BY LISTING RULES
REQUIREMENT 9.8.4 .

The annual report is required to contain certain informanon under
Listing Rutes Requirement 9 8.4. Where this information has not been
cross-referenced within the Group financial statements, it can be found
in the following sectians:

- capitalised interest (see nate 6);

- long-term incentive schemes (see directors’ remuneration report);

- allocation of equity securities for rash (see note 27);

= tontracts of significance (see directors' report),

- election of independent directors (see corporate governance report),

- contractual arrangements (see directors’ report);

- details of independent directors (see corporate governance repart); and
- substantial shareholders (see directors’ report).

No profit forecasts are issued by the Group and no directors have waived
any current or future emalurnents.

Other than in relation to ordinary shares held in treasury, no shareholders
have waived or agreed to waive dividends.

MNane of the shareholders is considered to be a Controfling Shareholder (as
defined in Lisung Rule 6.1.2.A) and the Group complies with the
independence provisions of the Listing Rules.

PROVISION OF INFORMATION TCO THE AUDITOR

Each director at the date of this report confirms that, so far as they are each
aware, there is na relevant avdit information of which the Company's auditor
is unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that be or she ought 10
have taken as a director to make himself or herself aware of any relevant
audit infarmation and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of
that informatian.

This confirmation is given and shoutd be interpreted in accordance with the
provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

AUDITOR

Resofutians will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

to reappaint KPMG and to authorise the directors 1o determine the external
auditor's remuneration.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The resclutions to be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to be held on
15 March 2023, together with explanatory notes, appear in the separate
Notice of Annual General Meeting sent to all shareholders.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the Group
and parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law reguires the directors to prepare Group and parent company
financial staterments for each financizl year. Under that law they are required
10 prepare the Group financial statements 0 accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and applicable law and have elected to
prepace the parent company hinancial statements in accordance with

UK accounting standards and apglicable faw, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the finangial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and parent company and of the Grouo's profit or loss
for that period In preparing each of the Gruup and parent cotnpany financial
statements, the directors are required (o
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- select switable accounting policies and then apply them cansistentty;

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable
and prudent;

- for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been grepared
in accordance with UK-adopied international accounting standards;

- for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK
accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the parent company financial statements;

- assess the Group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable. marters related to going concern; and

= use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the Group or the parent company or 0 cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that
are sufficient to show and explain the parent company's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent company and enable them to ensure that its finzncial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are respansible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financiat
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to frauvd
or error. and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them o safeguard the asseis of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other wregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also respansible
for preparing a strategic report, directors’ report, directors remuneration
report and corparate gevernance statement that complies with that law
and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corparate and financial information included an the company’s website.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislaton i other jurisdictions.

In accordance with Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule 4.1.14R, the
financial statements will form part of the annual financial report prepared
using the single electranic reporting format under the TD ESEF Regulation,
The auditor’s report on these financial statements provides no assurance over
the ESEF format.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT OF THE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT
OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

- the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set
of accaunting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilives,
financial position and profit or 10ss of the cornpany and the undertakings
included in the consalidauan taken as a whole; and

- the strategic report and directors' report include a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position of the issuer
and the undertakings incfuded in the consclidation taken as a whole, together
with a description of the principal risks ang uncertainties that they face.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as 2 whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable and prowides the information necessary

for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business
madel and strategy.

The directors’ repart and responsibility statement was approved by the

Biart of direct@ji} December 2022 and is signed on its behalf by:

Michae! Ord Saral rd
Group Chief Executive Group Legal Director
13 December 2022 13 December 2022



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 October 2022

2021 00
Naon- Non-
Underlying underlying Ungerlying undertying
perfarmance items® Toeal performance items’ Toal
Note £m £m £m m m £m
Continuing operatians
Revenue 12 4428 - 4428 3933 — 3933
Cperating profit 24 64.0 (10.7) 533 575 1 50.4
Finance expense [3 (1.5) — (1.5) (1.8) — (1.6)
Profit before tax 615 (10.7) 51.8 559 [¢A)] 488
Taxation 7 (6% 13 (4.4} {83) 1.0 (73
Profit after tax 56.8 94 474 476 61) 415
Earnings per ardinary share
Basic 9 20.2p 16.9p 169p 14.7p
Diluted 9 19.7p 16.4p 16.5p 14.4p
¥. Further infarmation abaut non-underfying items 15 set out in note 3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 October 2022

2022 2021
Note £m £m
Profit after tax attributable o equity holders of the parent as reported 474 415
Iterns that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Remeasurement of the defined benefit pension schemes 29 (2.3) 62
Mavement on deferred tax relating to pension schemes 23 0.8 (2.2)
(1.5) 4.0
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 5.0 @3
Tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {0.4) o1
346 8.2)
Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders of the parent 80.5 373
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 Octaber 2022

Share Special
Share premium capital Translation Retained
capital acoung reserve reserve earnings™ Tow
£m Im &m £m £m £m
At 1 November 2021 28 3071 129 (27.1) 571 3528
Profit after tax —_ e —_ — 474 474
Other comprehensive income/(loss) — — — 350 (23) 327
Tax retating (¢ components of other comprehensive income/(loss) — — - c4) 08 04
Total comprehensive incame — — — 344 459 80.5
Ordinary shares issued - 0.6 — — — 096
Share-based payments (net of settiement) — — — — 56 5.6
Dividends paid — — — —_ {14.4) (14.4)
Purchase of shares by employee share ownership plan wrust — -— — — 70) (7.0
At 31 October 20223 18 307.7 129 75 87.1 418.1
Share Specil
Share premium capital Reval Tr R Own
capital account reserve reserve reserve eamings shares Tow!
{m Lm Lm £m Im m £m £m
At 1 November 2020 18 306.7 129 10 (189 280 29 3296
Prafit after tax —_ — — — — 415 — 415
Other comprehensive {loss)fincome — — — — 83 6.2 — (2.1
Tax relating to components of cther
comprehensive (loss)fincome — — — — 01 (2.2) — 2.1}
Total comprehensive income — — — —_— (8.2) 45.5 —_ 373
Ordinary shares issued — 04 — —_ —_ —_ — 04
Share-based payments {net of settlement) — - — — — 45 — 4.5
Dividends pad — — — — — (119) — (11.9)
Purchase of shares by employee share owrership
plan trust — — — — — (7.9) — 7.3
Transactions in own shares — _ — — - (29) 29 —
Transfer between reserves — - — [OR)] — 43 — —
At 31 October 2021 18 3071 129 09 (27.1) 56.2 — 3528

* Retained earnings as at 1 November 2021 includes £0.9m that was previously classified as a revaluation reserve. This balance has becn amalgamated irto the retained earnings

balance from 1 November 2021 on the basis that it is immaterial.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 October 2022

2012 2021
Note m m {m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwil 10 1181 1087
Cevelopment costs k| 346 300
Cther intangble assets " 114 144
Property, plant and equipment 12 2313 1987
Retirement benefit surplus pa) 11.2 137
Deferred tax 23 313 18.2
438.9 3834
Current assets
Inventories 14 99.6 80.7
Trade and other receivables 15 614 0.6
Cash and cash equivalents 16 198 58
Cerivative financial instruments 21 0.7 10
181.2 148.%
Tatal assers 620.1 5315
Current liabilities
Borrowings 17 _— {0.4)
Lease habilities 18 (1.8) (+.4)
Trade and other payables 19 (98.2) (85.7)
Prowvisions 22 (1.8) {2.6)
Current tax (7.9) (120)
Derivative financial instruments 21 (4.2) 0.4)
(1135 (1025)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17.32 (20.9) (28.1)
Lease liabilities 18 {4.2) (24)
Provisions 22 {16.8) (149
Delerred 1ax 23 (45.2) (30.7}
Derivative financial instruments 21 1.1 —
Preference shares 17,24 {0.1) 01
(88.3) 762)
Toral liabilities (202.0) (178.1)
Met assets 4181 3528
Equity
Share capital ‘24 18 18
Share premium account 25 307.7 3071
Special capital reserve 25 129 129
Rewvaluation reserve 25 _ 09
Transhation reserve 25 75 (27.1)
Retained earnings B7.2 562
Total equity 35238

181

These financial statements of Chemring Graup PLC (registered number B6662) were approved and authorised for ssue by the Board of direclors on

13 December 2022.

Signed onbehali Myl the Board
A A

Michael Ord Andrew Lewis
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 October 2022

01 a1

Note £m &m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from continuing underlying operations 30 90.1 80.0
Cash impact of continuing non-undertying items (1.1} {1.3)
Cash impact of discontinued non-underlying items —_ (0.4)
Cash flows from cperating activities 89.0 783
Tax paid (8.5) (26)
Het vash inflow from opcrating activities 80.5 757
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of intangible assets (3.0) (2.2}
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (31.5) (28.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired 28 —_ 5.0
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiary — 04
Short-term funding to defined benefit pension scheme 3 (2.0) —
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6.0 —
Net cash outflow from investing activities {30.5) (34.9)
Cash flows from financing activities
Divndends paid 8 {14.4) {119}
Purchase of awn shares {7.0) [¢A)]
Net proceeds for transactions in awn shares 0.1 04
Finance expense paid {1.2) (2.6)
Capitalised facility fees paid — (4}
Drawdown of borrowings 30.0 292
Repayments of borrowings (41.0) (55.7)
Payrment af lease liablities (2.2) (16)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (35.8) (50.4)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents k) 14.2 (9.6)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (including bank cverdraft) 54 14.7
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 0.2 03
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (including bank overdraft) 1632 19.8 5.4
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. REVENUE

All of the Group's revenue is derived from the sale of goods and the provision of services. The following tabte provides an analysis of the Group's revenue

by destination:

Sensers Countermeasures
& Information & Energetics 2022
fm fm £m
K 100.3 51.5 151.8
us 54.9 166.8 217
Europe 5.7 48.8 54.5
Asia Pacific 1.2 104 11.6
Rest of the world 0.2 30 32
162.3 280.5 4428
Sensors Countermeasures
& Information & Energetics 2021
£m £m £m
UK 757 444 1204
us 629 1373 2002
Europe 5.1 484 537
Asia Pacific 21 13.7 158
Rest of the world og 27 35
146.6 245.7 3933
The directors consider that the only countries that are significant in accordance with IFRS 8 Operoting Segments are the US and the UK.
The following table discloses the split of the Group's revenue between goods and services:
Sensors  Countermeasures
& Information & Energetics. 2022
£m £m £m
Goods 51.t 274.3 3274
Services 109.2 6.2 1154
162.3 180.5 4428
Sersors Countenmeasures
& Information & Energetics 20N
im £m £m
Goods 564 2428 299.2
Services 0.2 39 94.1
146.6 467 3933

All revenues recognised arose from contracts with customers.

As at 31 Cctober 2022 £651m (2021: £507m) of revenue was not yet recognised in respect of obligations that were unfulfilled or onfy partially fulfilled as
at the year end. £403m (2021 £358m) of this revenue is expected to be recognised in the next financial year and £248m (2021 £143m) in future periods.

2. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires cperating segments 1o be idenufied on the basis of interpal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the Group Chiel Executive and the Board to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance For management purposes,
the Group's aperating and reporting structure dusters similar businesses together, based on the products andg services they offer. These segments are the
basis on which the Group reports its segmental information.

The principal actwvities of each segment are as follows:

Sensors & Information

Prowision of consulting and technology services to solve security-critical issves. Development and manufacture of electronic
countermeasures, chemical and biological threat detection equipment and explosive hazard detection ("EHD") equipment.

Countermeasures
& Energetics

Development and manufacture of expendable countermeasures for air and sea platforms, cartridge/propellant actuated devices,

pyrolechnic devices for satellite launch and deployment, missile components, propellants, separation sub-systems, actuators and
energetic materials
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2. BUSINESS SEGMENTS contnued
A segmental analysis of revenue and operating profit is set out below:

Sensors Caountermeasures

& Informaclon & Energetics Unallocated* Tatal

Year ended 31 October 1022 £m Im m £m
Revenue 162.3 280.5 _ 442.8
Segment result before depreciation, amarusanon and non-underlying items 330 64.2 (14.9) 823
Depreciation {3.0) {15.1) - (18.1)
Amortisation — 0.3 — 0.2)
Segmental underlying operating profit 0.0 48.9 {14.9) &4.0
Armortisation of acquired intangibles (note 3) (1.5) @1 — (4.6)
Nen-underlying items (note 3} (1.2) —_ (4.9) (6.1)
Impact of non-underlying items on profit before tax {note 3) kN 2.1} 4.9) (10.7)
Segmental operating profit 26.3 46.8 (19.8) 53.3.
Finance expense (1.5 (1.5)
Profit before tax (21.3) 518
Tax (4.4) 4
Profit for the year {25.7) 474

Sensors Countermeasures

& informauon & Energetiks Unallgcated™ Tora!

Year ended 11 October 2021 &m £m £m o
Revenue 1466 246.7 — 39313
Segment result before depreciation, amortisation and non-underlying items 344 96.1 (14.1) 764
Depreciation 2n (15.5) — (18.2)
Amortisation .1 (08} — 0.7}
Segmental undertying operating profit 36 400 (14.7) 575
Amortisation of acquired intangibles {note 3) (4.1} (2.1} — {62)
Non-underying items (note 3) (1.6} — 07 {09
Impact of nen-underying items on profit before tax (note 3) 5.7} 21 07 7.1
Segmental operaling profit 259 37y (134) 504
hinance expense {1.6) {1.4)
Profit before tax (150 488
Tax 7.3 73
Profit for the year (22.3) 415

* Unallocated items are specific carporate level costs that cannot be allocated to a business segment

Agsets and liabilities by segment are not reparted to the Group Chief Executive on a monthly basis; therefore they are not used as a key decision making took
and are not disclosed here. A disclosure of non-current assets by location, excluding retirement benefit surplus and deferred tax, is shown below:

2022 021

Non-currcnt assets by location £m £m
UK 1494 1434
uUs 2115 1781
Norway 18.0 124
Australia 16.5 176
3954 3515

INFORMATION OGN MAJOR CLISTOMERS

Revenues of £166 2m (2021: £166.9m) arose from sales 1o the Group's largest customer, the LS DoD. The largest customer had sales reported in both of the
Group’s business segments. This was the enly indiwidual customer where direct sales accounted for more than 10% of Group revenue for the year,
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

3. ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

In accardance with our accounting policy we have presented the following recancifiation of Alternative Performance Measures used throughout this report to

their IFRS equivalent measures as follows:

2012 200
Non-underlying items anit non-underlying measures £m £m
(Loss)/gain on the mavemnent in the fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 21} (4.1) 07
Acquisition expenses {note 28) (2.0) (1.6)
Impact of non-underlying items on EBITDA (6.1) 09)
Amortisation of acquired intangbles arising from business combinations (note 11) (4.6) {6.2)
Impact of non-underlying items on profit before tax (10.7) [eA)]
Tax impact of non-undertying iterns 13 10
Impact of non-underlying items on profit after tax (9.4) 1)
Underlying profit after tax 56.8 476
Statutory profit after tax 47.4 415

The Afternative Performance Measures ("APMs”) used may not be comparable across companies The umpact of nan-underlying items on statutory basic and

diluted EPS, as well as a reconciliation to the IFRS equivalent, 1s presented in note 9. The impact of non-underlying items on cash generated from cperating

acuvities, as well as a reconciliation to the IFRS equivalent, is presented in note 30. The cash impact of non-underlying items includes the impact of exceptional

items from prior years where the income statement and cash flow timings differ.

AMORTISATION OF ACQUIRED INTANGIBLES

Included in non-underlying items is the amortisation charge arising from business combinatrons of £4.6m (2021: £6.2m). Amortisation of acquired intangibles
arising from business combinations is associated with acquisition accounting under IFRS 3 Business Combinaticns. IFRS requires intangibles to be recognised on
acquisition that would nat have been capitalised had the business grown arganically under Chemring's awnership. As such, these costs are not reflective of the
underlying costs of the Group and therefore, in order to prowde an explanation of results that is not distorted by the history of Dusiness units being acquired

rather than organically developed. have been excluded from the underlying measures.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Included in non-underlying items is a £4.1m loss (2021: £0.7m gan} on the movement in fair value of derivative inancial instruments. This is excluded from

underlying earnings to ensure the recognition of the gain or loss on the derivative matches the timing of the underlying transaction.

ACCQUISITION EXPENSES

Included in non-underlying items is £2.0m (2021: £1.6m} of acquisition expenses. This includes £1.0m (2021: £0.4m) relating to deferred cansideration contingent
on continued employment of the former owners of Cubica, which has been accounted for as equity-settied share-based payments under IFRS 2 Share-bosed

Payments. We have dassified this cost as a non-underlying itern as it is a non-recurring cost relating to an acquisition. See note 28 for further details. The

remaining expense of £1.0m (2021. £1.2m) primarily ncludes professional fees incurred in refation to the Group's mergers and acquisitions activity during the
year. The acquisition expenses are not reflective of the underlying costs of the Group and therefore, 0 order 1o provide an explanation of results that is nat
distorted by the costs of acquiring a business rather than organically developed, these casts bave been excluded from the underlying measures.

TAX
The tax impact of non-underlying items comprises a £1 3m tax credit {2027: £1.0m credit} on the above non-underlying items.
NET DEBT
A reconciliation and analysis of net debt is presented in nates 31 and 32.
EBITDA
In our financial review we present measures of EBITDA, which is calculated as follows:

2021 2021

m £m

Cperating profit 533 504
Amartisation arising frorm business combinatons (note 11} 4.6 682
Amortisation of development costs (note 11) o1 Q6
Amortisaticn of patents and licences {note 11) o1 01
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (nhote 12) 1841 18.2
EBITDA 76.2 755
Non-underlying items 6.1 09
Underlying EBITDA 82.3 764
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3. ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES continued
CONSTANT CURRENCY REVEMNUE AND OPERATING PROFIT

In cur financial review we present 3 measure of constant currency revenue and operating profit. This is calculated by translating cur results for the year ended 31

Octoper 2002 at the average exchange rates for the comparative year ended 31 October 2021

4. OPERATING PROFIT
Cperating profit is stated after charging/{crediting):

1022 2021

im &m

Research and development costs - internally-funded 7.5 B8S
Asmortisation - ansing from business combinations 4.6 6.2
- development costs 01 06

— patents and licences 0.1 01

Depreciation of property, plant and equiprnent — ¢wmed assets 16.5 169
— leased assets 1.6 14

Impairment of development cosis 2.2 —
(Profit)loss on disposal of non-curreat assets [Qi] 01
Government grant amortisation —_— (05)
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 2.0 (0.8)
Staff costs (note 53 169.7 1460
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense ) 1443 1280

The remaining stems vathin operating profit predominantly relate 1o general and adminisirative expenses and production overheads, and includes £4.Bm of other

income

A detaled analysis of the auditor's remuneration on 2 worldwide basis is sel out below,

2022 2071
Auditor's remuneration £m £m
Fees payable to the Compary's auditor and its associates for:
— the audit of the Company's annual accounts 0.4 03
~ the audit of the Company's subsidiaries, pursuant 1o legistation 07 07
141 10
Other services
Audit-refated assurance services 0.1 o1
1.2 11

Included in the fees for the audit of the Company's annual accounts is £0.1m (2021: £0.1m) n respect of the parent company. A description of the work of the
Audit Committee is set out in the Audit Committee report on pages 90 to 93, and includes an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is

safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditor. No services were prowided by the auditor pursuant to contingent fee arrangements.

5. 5TAFF COSTS
The average monthly number of employees, including executive directors, was:
022 W21
. Number MNumber
Direct 1,435 1,381
Indirect 899 $05
2,334 2286
The costs incurred in respect of employees. including share-based payments, were:
2022 2021
m £m
Wages and salaries 1418 1214
Social security costs 14.2 129
QOther pension costs 73 60
Share-based payment charge 6.4 5.7
Staff costs 169.7 1460

The share-based payment charge of £6.4m (2021: £5.7m) excludes £1.0m (2021 £04m) of deferred consideration in relation to acquisitions accounted for as

equity-settied share-based payments. These amounts are included in non-underlying costs. see notes 3 and 27 for details.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

6. FINANCE EXPENSE
1022 w0
m £m
Bank overdraft and loan interest 1.6 13
Amortisation of debt finance costs 03 06
Interest cost on retirement benefit obligations (note 2%) 01 o1
Lease liability interest 01 01
21 21
Amount capitalised (0.6) {C.5)
Finance expense 1.3 1.6

The capitalisation rate used ta determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to the entity’s
general borrowings during the year, in this case 1.3% {2021: 1.3%). During the year £0.6m (2027 £0 5m) of interest was capitalised in relation to the
Tennessee modernisation and automation programme.

7. TAXATION
2022 0N
£m £m

Current tax charge — current year 50 7.2
Current tax credit — prior year (1.7 1.9
Deferred tax charge — current year {note 23} 07 1.2
Deferred tax charge — prior year [note 23) 0.4 08B
Tax charge 4.4 73

tncome tax in the UK is calculated at 19.0% (2021: 13.0%) of the taxable profit for the year Tax for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing
in those jurisdictions.

The tax charge can be reconciled to the income staternent as follows:

2022 2021

m £m

Profit before tax 518 488
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 190% (2021: 19.0%) 2.8 93
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 0.1 _
Changes in tax rates —_ 17
Tax losses/future interest deductions not previously recognised (4.6) 4.4)
Release of tax risk provision 1.7 —
Prior period adjustrments (1.3) 1.1
Overseas profits taxed at rates different to the UK standard rate 21 1.8
Tax charge 4.4 7.3

In addition to the 1ax charge in the income staterent, a tax credit af £04m {2021 £2.1m charge) has been recognised in other comprehensive income in the year.

The effective rate of tax on the profit before tax of the Group is 8.5% (2021: 15.0%), and the effective rate of 1ax on the underlying profit before tax of the
Group is 91% (2021: 14.8%). The effective rate of tax on the underlying profit before tax is lower than the 2021 effective tax rate due to the recognition of
a deferred tax asset in respect of future US interest deductions, which is included in tax losses not previously recognised above

Included wyithin the tax charge is a current year non-underlying deferred tax credit of £1.3m (2021 £1.0m}, predominantly relating to tax on amortisation
of gtquired intangibles.

The UK Finance Bill 2021 was published on 11 March 2021 and substaniwvely enacted on 24 May 2021 The bill provides for an increase in the rate of corperation
tax from 19% 10 25% with effect from 1 Aprit 2023. UK deferred tax balances were recalculated in accordance with these rate changes during the year ended 31
October 2021. .

FACTORS AFFECTING THE TAX CHARGE IN FUTURE YEARS

The Group's future tax charge and effective tax rate could be affected by several factors including: tax reform in countries around the workl, induding any arising
from the implementation of the QECO's BEPS actions and European Commission imtiatives such as the proposed tax and finandial reporting directive or as a
consequence of state aid investigations, future corporate acquisitions and disposals and any restructuring of our business.
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8. DIVIDENDS

2022 201
£m £m

Dividends paid on ordinary shares of 1p each
Final divdend of 3.2p per share for the year ended 31 October 2021 (26p per share for the year ended 31 October 2020) 9.1 74
Interim dividend of 1.9p per share for the year ended 31 October 2022 (1.6p per share for the year ended 3t October 2021) 53 45
Total dividends ' 14.4 19

Subject 1o approval at the Annual General Meeting, the final dividend of 3.8p per ordinary share will be paid on 14 April 2023 to all shareholders registered at
the rinse of wsiness on 24 March 2023 The estimated cash value of this dividend is £13.7m. The total dividend for the year will therefore be 57p (2021 4.8p)
per ordinary share. As the final dividend is subjeci to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, it has not been included as a liability in the

financial staterments for the year ended 31 October 2022.

The cumulative preference shares carry an entitlement to a dvidend at the rate of 7p per share per annum which was paid in equal instaiments on 30 Aprl 2022

and 31 Ocober 2022,

9. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
Earnings per share is based on the average number of shares in ssue. excluding own shares held, of 280,506,245 {2021. 281,555,716).

Diluted earnings per share has been calculated using a diluted average number of shares in issue, excluding own shares held. of 288,218,004 (2021: 287985.451).

The number of shares used in the calcutabons is as follows:

w022 2021
Ordinary Ordinary
shares shares
Number Number
millions millions
Weighted average number of shares used to calculate basic earnings per share 280.5 2816
Additional shares issuable other than at fair value in respect of aptions outstanding 7.7 6.4
Weighted average number of shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share 288.2 2880
The earrungs used in the calulations of the various measures of earnings per share are as foltows.
2023 woNn
Basic EPS  Diluted EPS Basic EPS Diuted EPS
&m (Pence) {Pence) £m {Pence) (Pence)
Underlying profit after tax 56.8 0.2 9.7 4746 169 165
Non-underlying items (note 3) (9.4) 6.1)
Total profit after tax ' 47.4 16.9 16.4 415 147 144
10. GOODWILL
£m
Cost
At 1 November 2020 1878
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 28) 31
Foreign exchange adjustments 69
At 31 Qciober 2021 1845
Foreign exchange adustments 204
At 31 October 2022 2049
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 November 2020 N ) (79.3)
Foreign exchange adjustments ) 35
At 31 Ociober 2021 (75.8)
Foreign exchange adjustments (11.0)
At 31 October 2022 {86.8)
Carrying amount
At 31 October 2022 11841
At 31 Octcber 2021 108.7
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

10. GOODWILL continued
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated at acquisition to the cash-generating units ("CGUS") that are expected to benefit from that business
combination, being the individual operating comparies within the operating segment descripbions on page 128

The Group tests goodwill at least annually for impairment. Tests are conducted more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations have been
individually estimated for each CGU and include the discount rates and expected changes to cash flows during the period for which management has detailed
plans, which are underpinned by the winning and execution of key contracts. Based on our assesssnent, Lthere is no reasanable possible change in a key
assumption which would result in the impairment of goodwill,

Maragement estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the nisks specific to each of the
CGUs, Pre-tax giscount rates. derved from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 7.2% {2021: 71%) which have been adjusted for a premiurm
specific to each of the CGUs 1o accoum for differences in currency risk, country risk and other factors aflecting specific CGUs, have been used Lo discount
projected cash flows. These premiums range from 1% to 2% {2021: 1% to 3%).

Expected changes ic cash flaws during the period for which management has detaited plans relate to revenue forecasts, expected contract outcomes and
forecast operating margins in each of the operating companies based on our Board-approved five-year plan which considered past experience and our
understanding of customer budgets and priorities The relative value ascribed to each varies between CGUs as the budgets are built up from the underlying
operating companies within each CGU

Al the end of five years, the calculations assume the performance of the CGUs will grow at a nominal annual rate of 2.25% [2021: 1.75%) in perpetuity. Growth
rates are based on management's view of industry growth forecasts. Changes in seling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes,

The weighted average cost of capital is derived using beta values of a comparator group of defence companies adjusted for funding structures as appropriate.

The pre-tax discount rates used for value-in-use calculations and the carrying value of goodwill by CGUs are.

2022 02t 012 ploral

x *% £m €m

Roke Manor Research Limited 1.2 17 s s
Chemring Energetics UK Limited 10.2 97 14.6 146
Chernring Sensors & Electronic Systems, Inc. 10.5 106 40.8 343
Chemring Energetic Devices, Inc. 10.5 106 18.0 152
Cther 132 131
1181 108.7

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of the Cubica Group of £3.1m during the year ended 31 October 2021 was allocated to the Roke Manor Research
Limited CGU as it will form part of this operzting company going forward (see nate 29 for further details).

The pre-tax discount rates vsed for other CGUs ranged from 10.2% to 12.3% (2021: 8.6% to 11.3%).
Foliowing a detailed review, no impairment iosses were recognised in the years ended 31 October 2022 and 31 October 2021 for continuing operatons,

Stress testing was performed on the forecasts ta consider the impact of reasonably possible worst case scerarios over the forecast period, including a 1%
increase in discount rate, a 1% reduction in long-term growth rate, a 10% fall in the forecast cash flows or a $0.10 weakening in the sterling to US dollar
exchange rate. Even under any of these circumstances, no CGUs would require an irmpairment against goodwilk.

There are no reasonably possible changes in assumptions that would require an impairment against goodwill,
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11. DEVELOPMENT COSTS AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquired
Development Acquired customer Patents and
costs technalogy relationships ficences Toat
im £m m £m £m

Cost
Az 1 Novermber 2020 55.9 938 48.6 06 143.0
Acquisitions through business cembinations {ncte 28) — 25 21 —_— 46
Additions 21 — — 01 0.1
Disposals (0.5) — — (0.1 (0.1}
Foreign exchange adjustrnents (1.9 (+8) {1.9) (0.1) (6.0)
At 31 October 2021 55.6 915 4848 035 140.8
Additions 2.5 04 — — 0.4
Disposals (0.9) — - [(OR)] 0.3
Foreign exchange adustments 6.2 15.2 6.2 03 1.7
At 31 October 2022 63.9 074 550 0.5 162.6
Amaortisation
At 1 Novemnber 2020 (26.1) (86.8) (39.3) (0.3) (126.4)
Charge (0.5) 38 24) N {6.3)
Disposals 0.5 — — 0.1 0.1
Foreign exchange adjustments 0.6 44 14 0.1 5.9
As 31 October 2021 (25.6) (86.2) (40.3) 0.2) (126.7)
Charge (0.1) [044)] (2.6) an .7
Impairment 2.2) _ _ — —
Dispaosals 0.3 — e 03 0.3
Foreign exchange adjustments an (14.8) 5.0 0.2) (20.1)
At 31 Qcrober 1022 (29.3) {103.0) (48.0) (0.2) {151.2)
Carrying amount
At 31 October 2022 34.6 4.1 7.0 03 1.4
At 31 October 2021 30.0 53 85 03 141

Indluded within the development costs of £34.6m, individually material balances relate to Joint Biological Tactical Detection System of £5.7m (2021: £8.1m), Mext
Generation Chemical Detector of £16.5m (2021 £13.0m) and Perceive of £5.6m (2021 £4.7m). Development costs are amoriised over their useful economic
lives, estimated 10 be between three and ten years, with the remaining amortisation periods for these assets ranging up 1o ten years.

Acquired intangibles are recognised at fair value on acquisition and are amortised over their estimated usefut lives. Fair values for acquired intangibles are assessed
by reference to future estimated cash flows, discgunted at an appropriate rate to present value, or by reference to the amount that would have been paid in an
arm's length transaction between two knowledgeable and willing parties. Other intangible assets are recognised at cost and are amortised over their estimated

useful economic lives, which are set out in the accounting policies section.

Acquired technology of £4.1m includes individually material balances relating 1o Chemring Sensors & Electronic Systerns of £1.0m (2021. £1.2m), Chemring
Energetic Devices of £09m (2021: £1.2m) and Roke (including the Cubica Group) of £2.1m {2021: £2.9m). The remaining amortisation periods for these assets

are one year. two years and nine years respectively.

Acquired customer relationships of £7.0m include individually material balances relating to Chemring Energetic Devices of £4 6m (2021 £5 3m), Chemring
Sensors & Electronic Systems of £0.6m (2021: £1.2m) and Roke (including the Cubica Group) of £1.8m {2021 £2.0m). The remainng amortisation periods

for these assets are four years, one year and nine years respectively.

Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2021

135

140d3Y JID31VHLS

IONVYNY3AOD

SLNIWILVLS TYIDNYNIY



NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use Right-of-use
Lanc and Plant ang land and plant and
buildings F building: quip Total
£m Lm £m (1] im

Cost or valuation
At 31 October 2020 1266 1424 57 119 2753
Reclassification g6 (0.6) — — —
Additions 74 192 03 — 269
Disposals 03) (101 Q.2 — {10.6)
Foreign exchange adjustments (3.1) (3.1 0.3} ni 64)
At 31 Qctober 202t 131.2 1478 55 a7 2852
Reclassification 02 03 — — ©n
Additions 92 256 37 — 385
Disposals 5.7) (37 02 — (2.6)
Foreign exchange adjustments 104 134 11 — 249
At 31 October 2022 145.3 1828 101 0.7 3389
Depreciation
Az 3t October 2020 (19.3) (605) (1 4) on (81.3)
Charge (34} (134) (t3) o (182)
Disposals 03 100 02 — 105
Foreign exchange adjustrents 06 18 01 - 25
AL 31 Ocrober 2021 (21.8) &21) 24 {0.2) (86.5)
Reclassification 03 ©02) — — 01
Charge {3.5} (130) (1.4} 03] (181}
Disposals 25 31 — — 56
Foreign exchange adjustments {24} 5.7) ©.6) —_ 875
At 31 October 2022 (24.9) 77.9) (4.4) 0.4) {107.6)
Carrying amount
Ar 11 Qcrober 2022 120.4 104.9 5.7 a3 231.3
Al 31 Ccicber 2021 1094 857 3t a5 198.7

During the year, £0.6m (2027: £0.5m} of interest was capitalised. as set sut in nate 6. £0.8m (2021: £1.1m} of capitalised interest was charged as depreciation and
© Lol (2021: £nil) was disposed of. This results in a net book value for capitalised interest of £8.8m {2021; £9.0m).

Incduded within land and buildings and plant and equipment are assets under construction af £13.6m and £11.5m respectively (2021: £20 8m and £24.2m),

These assets are not depreciated.

Land and buildings were revalued at 30 September 1997 by Chestertons Chartered Surveyors, independent valuers not connected with the Group, on the basis
of deprecialed replacement cost for two pyrotechnic sites and on open market for the remainder, which represent Level 2 measurements in the fair value hierarchy.

002 021
£m &m
30 September 1997 depreciated replacement cost 4.0 4.0
Freehold at cost 1413 1272
Cost of land and buildings as at 31 October 1453 131.2
If stated under historical cost principles, the comparable amounts for the total of lang and buildings would be:
1021 01
£m i)
Cost 1445 1304
Accumulated depreciation (25.2) 219
Historical cost value 1193 1085

Al other tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost.

Al 31 October 2022, the Group had entered into cantractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting te £6.9m (2021, £10.4m),

Cash flows from purchases of property, plant and equpment are £31.5m (2021 £28.0m). The difference to the additions total presented above includes £3.8m

(2021: £0.1m) non-cash mavements refated to right of use assets as well as the movement in accrued capital expenditure.

136 Chemring Group PLC Annual report and accounts 2022



13. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

All subsidiary undertakings have been reflected in these financial statements. The subsidiary undertakings held at 31 October 2022, which have a single dass
of ordinary shares ali 100% owned by the Group, are shown below. All of these subsidiary undertakings are wholly controlted by Chemring Group PLC, untess

atherwise stated.

Cauntry of incorporation
{or registraven) and operation

Operating segment

Subsidiary undertaking

Chemring Austratia Pty Limited

B.D.L. Systems Limited

Chemring Counlerineasures Limited®
Chemring Energetics Limited®
Chemring Europe Limited®

Chemring Finance Europe Limited
Chermring (mvestments Limited
Chemring North America Unlimited
Chemring Prime Contracts Limited®
Chemring Technology Solutions Limited
CHG Overseas Investments Limited®
CHG Overseas Limited®*

Cubica Technolagy Limited®

Greys Exports Limited

Parkway No 10 Limited

Q6 Holdings Limited*

Richmond EEI Limited

Richmond Electronics & Engineering Limited
Roke Manor Research Limited®

Vigil Al Limited®*

Chemring Nabel AS

Chemring Energetics UK Limited®
Alloy Surfaces Company, Inc.

ASC Reaity LLC

Chemring Energetic Devices, Inc.
Chemring North America Group, Inc.
CHG Flares, Inc.

CHG Group, Inc.

Kilgore Flares Campany LLC
Chemring Sensors & Electronic Systems, Inc.
Roke USA, Inc.

Tactical Systems and Ordnance, Inc.

Australia
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
England
Norway
Scotland
us

us

us

us

Us

Us

us

us

us

Us

Countermeasures & Energetics
Dormant

Countermeasures & Energetics
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Cauntermeasures & Energetics
Dormant

Holding company

Sensars & nformation
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Sensors & Information

Sersors & Information
Countermeasures & Enerpetics
Countermeasures & Energetics
Countermeasures & Energetics
Property holding company
Countermeasures & Energetics
Holding company

Holding company

Holding company
Counterrmeasures & Energetics
Sensors & Information

Sensors & Information
Non-trading

* Shares directly held by Chemring Group PLC.

** B0% indirectly owned by Chemring Group PLC (see note 29)

CHG Overseas Limited, Cubica Technology Limited and Chemring Technology Solutions Limited are exempt from the reguirement Lo fife audited aceounts far
the year ended 31 Cctober 2022 by virtue of section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. See page 173 for the registered offices of the subsidiary undertakings.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

14. INVENTORIES

021 0o

im £m

Raw materials 48.1 364
Work in progress 188 7.2
Finished goods 127 169
99.6 807

There are no significant differences between the replacement cost of inventory and the carrying amount shown above, The Group recognised £0.7m {2021, £2.3m)
as a write down of inventories to net realisable value. See note 4 for detalls of cost of inventories recagnised as an expense.

15 TRADE AND OTHER RECE{VABLES

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade receivables 3318 41.2
Allowance for doubtful debts (0.5) (0.3)
3313 409

Advance payments to suppliers 1.7 05
Other receivables 8.5 37
Prepayments 6.2 55
Accrued income 114 100
61.1 60.6

All amounts shown above are due within ane year.

The average credit period taken by customers on sales of goods, calculated using a countback basis, is 17 days (2021: 25 days). No interest is charged
on receivables from the date of wwvoice ta payment

Given the Group's customer base, expecied credit losses are typically not matenal: however. the Group's policy is to provide in full for trade receivabtes
sutstanding for maore than 120 days beyond agreed terms, unless there are facts and circumstances that support recoverability. As at 31 October 2022,
£0.1m of gross trade receivables were aged greater than 30 days past due (2021: £0.8m).

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair values

Of the £10.0m of accrued income at 31 October 2021, £10.0m had been billed and paid in the year Of the £11.4m of accrued income at 31 Octaber 2022, over
half was billed in the month after the reporting date. The remainder relates to the completion of performance obligations which will be bilted at the next
contractual mitestone, which is expected within the next year.

Of the £8 5m (2021: £3 7m) of other recervables at 31 October 2022, £2 Om (2021: £nil) related to a short-term loan due from the Chemring Group Staff
Pension Scheme 1o fund margin calls on liability driven invesiments, which was repaid in November 2022, and €4 8m (2021: £3 9m) related to research and
development expenditure credits receivable.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash camprise cash held by the Group and shori-term depasits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount

of these assets approximates to their fair value For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises cash at bank of £19.8m
(202%: £5.8m} less the bank overdraflt included in short-term borrowings of £nil (2021: £0.4m), as the overdraft is held for the purpose of meeting shor t-term
cash commitments,

17. BORROWINGS

. 22022 20
£m Im
Within current liabilities
Bank cverdrafts — 04
Borrowings due within one year —_— 04
Within non-current liabilities
Bank borrawings 0.9 281
Praference shares o1 01
Borrowings due after more than one year .90 282
Total borrewings FARY 286
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17. BORROWINGS continued
Analysis of borrowings by currency.

1011 pina]
im L
Sterling 24 Q1
US dollar 20.9 285
21.0 86
The weighted average interest rates paid were as follows:
1012 2021
% %
Bank overdrafts 21 10
UK bank loans - Sterling denominated 23 —
— US dollar denominated 14 19
An analysis of borrowings by matunity is as follows:
022 224
Bank Bank
loans and Preference toans and Preference
overdrafts shares Total overdraits shares lowal
£m £m £m £m £m &m
Borrowings falling due:
—wathin one year _ —_ _ 04 — 04
Borrowings falling due:
- within one to two years — —_ — — — —
— within two to five years 0.9 _— 209 281 _ 281
- after five years —_ 0.1 0.1 — 0.1 [¢}]
20.9 0.1 21.0 281 01 282
Total borrowings 209 0.1 21.0 285 01 286

The Group's principal debt facities comprised 2 £150m revolving credit facility and a US$10m overdraflt. These were established in July 2021 with a syndicate of
six banks and run untl Cecember 2025 with two “"one-year” options to extend at the lenders’ discretion. None of the borrowings in the current ar the prior
year were secured.

There have been no breaches of the terms of the loan agreements during the current or prior year.

The Group has the following undrawn borrawing facilities available, in respect of which all conditions precedent have been met Interest costs under these
facilities are charged at (loating rates.

2022 2021
£m Lm
Undrawn borrowing facilities 136.7 1281

The Group is subject to two key financial covenants, which are tested quarterly. These coverants relate to the leverage ratio between "underlying EBITDA" and
net debt, and the interest cover ratio between underlying EBITDA and finance costs. The calculation of these ratios invalves the translation of non-sterling
denominated debt using average. rather than closing, rates of exchange and includes liabilities on foreign exchange forward contracts within its definition of net
debt. Therefore the leverage ravo of 0.14 times differs to the ratic of 0.09 times that is disclosed elsewhere in the annual report and accounts, which is calculated
using the closing rates of exchange and does naot include labiliies on foreign exchange forward contracts within its definition of net debt. The Group was in
compliance with the covenants throughout the year. The year-end ‘everage ratio was 0.14 times (covenant limit of 3 times) and the year-end interest cover ratio
was 57 times {covenant floor of 4 times).

18, LEASES
The carrying amount, additions and depreciation charge for right-of-use assets by class of underlying asset is included in note 12.

The expense relating Lo short-term and low-value leases in the year was £0.9m (2021 £0 8m). In total, payments of £2.2m (2021: £1.6m) were made
under leasing contracts. Included i the financing activities section of the cash flow is £2.1m (2021 £1.5m) to repay the principal portion of the lease and
£01m (2021 £0.1m) to repay lease interest. Included in the operating activities section of the cash flow is £0%m (2021: £0.8m) relating to shari-term and
low-value ieases.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1B. LEASES continued
A maturity analysis of the future undiscounted lease payments in respect of the Group's lease liabilities is presenied in the table below:

1022 20
£Em fm
Lease liabilities falling due:
- within one year 18 14
Lease liabilities faling due:
— within one to two years 0.8 16
= within two to five years 14 10
- more than five years 21 —
4.3 26
impact of discounting (0.1) 02
Lease liabilities included in bafance sheet as at 31 October 6.0 38
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
012 won
Em £m
Within current liabilities
Trade payables 14.7 131
Other payables 8.5 290
Interest payable 01 —
Other tax and social security 68 47
Advance receipts from customers 26.6 17.
Accruals 17.6 173
Deferred income 19 45
98.2 as7

Other payables of £28.5m (2021. £2%.0m) includes payroli related creditors of £18.0m (2021, £21.7m).
Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and angoing costs.

Advance receipts from customers represent the obligation to transfer goods or services 1o a customer for which consideration has been received. The amount
of £171m included in advance receipts from customers recognised at 31 October 2021 has been recogrised as revenue in 2022 (2021: £22.8m). Of the £26 é6m
of advanced receipts from customers at 31 October 2022, £26.6m is relevant to goods and services that will be delivered and provided within a year. No revenue
was recognised in 2022 from performance obligations satisfied in previous years.

The average credit period taken on purchases of goods is 18 days (2021: 18 days)} using year-end trade payables dwided by cost of sales. No interest is payable
on trade payables from the date of invoice 1o payment.

20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group uses financial instruments to manage financial risk wherever it is appropriate to do so The main risks addressed by financial instrurments are liquidity
risk, foreign currency risk, enterest rate risk and credit nsk. The Group's policies in respect of the management of these risks, which remained unchanged
throughout the year, are set out below.

{A) CREDIT RISK
Credit risk s the risk of financial foss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises
principally from the Group's receivables from customers.

The impairment provisicns for financial assets disclosed in note 15 "Trade and other receivables™ are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgerment in making these assumpticons and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based an the Group’s past history

and existing market conditions, as well as forward-lcoking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Customers are mainly multinational organisations or
government agencies with which the Group has long-term business relationships. The Group's principal customers are government defence departments, such as
the LS Dol and the UK Ministry of Defence ("UK MOD™), US and UK defence prime contractors, such as BAE Systerms and General Dynamics, and distributors
of products for their onward sale to end users

The mzjority of revenue in 2022 related to the US DeD, the UK MOD and the US and UK defence prime contractors, which consistently pay within terms and
are deemed low credit risk as a result. For all other customers the Group's policy 1s to trade under a letter of credit. If there 1s any doubt over recoverability, the
Group's policy is ta provide in full for trade receivables outstanding for mare than 120 days beyond agreed terms. The balances which might be affected by credit
risk are trade recewvables and cash and cash equivalents.
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20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

(B) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that all entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while meeting the returns to stakeholders.
The cagital structure of the Group consists of equity (as disctosed in the consolidated statement of changes i equity), retained earnings, cash and cash
equivalents (note 16) and a revolving credit faclity ("RCF*) {note 17). The Group seeks ta manage its capital through an appropriate mix of these items.

The Group's principal debt facilities comprised a £150m revolving credit facility and a US$10m overdraft These were established in July 2021 with a syndicate
of six banks and run until December 2025 with two “one-year” options to extend. As at 31 October 2022, the RCF was drawn by £21.7m {2021 £29.2m).

(C) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The primary risks that the Group is exposed LG are liquidity risk. foreign currency nsk, interest rate eisk and credit risk. It is the Group’s policy to manage these
risks under the following policies:

i. Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk by
mantaining adequate reserves and by continually monitoring forecast and actual cash fiows The Group's policy is to maintain continuity of funding through
avaiable cash and cash equivalents and the RCF, -

ii. Foreign currency risk management

The Group's presentational currency is sterling. The Graup is subject 1o exposure on the translation of the assets of foreign subsidiaries, whose functional
currencies differ from the Group. The Group’s primary balance sheet translation expaosures are to the US dollar, Australian dollar and Nerwegian krone.
The Group minimises the balance sheet translation exposures, where it is praciical to do so, by funding subsidiaries with long-term loans. on which exchange
differences are taken to reserves. US dollar borrowings held by the Group are treated as a net investment hedge against the US dofar assets of the Group.

The Group Ffaces currency exposures arising from the transfation of profits earned in toreign currency. These exposures are not hedged Exposures also arise
from foresgn currency dencminated trading transactions undertaken by subsidiaries deemed transactional exposures. The Group's policy Is to hedge transactional
exposures above £250,000 in the banking markel on a one-to-one basis using forward contracts, Below £250,00Q, the exposures are netted across subsidiaries
and any surplus or deficit hedged in the banking market using spot or forward contracts. The Group's policy is that there is no speculative trading in financiat
instruments. During the year ended 31 Cctober 2022, there were no options or structured derivatives utilised.

iii. Interest rate risk management
The Group finances its operations through a combination of retained profits and bank borrowings. The UK borrowings are denominated in sterting
and 'US dollars, and at the shorter end are subject to floating rates of interest.

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Chemring Group PLC 1s not a financial insbitution and does not have any complex financial instruments. The Group does not apply hedge accounting to
derivatives and the Group's customers are generally governments that are considered creditworthy and pay consistently within agreed payment terms.

2022 021
Carrying value Rir value Carrying valug Fair value
m £m fm {m
Assets carried at amortised cost
Trade receivables 333 333 409 409
Cash and cash equivalents 19.8 19.8 58 58
Assets carried at fair value
Derivative financial mstruments 0.7 07 10 10
Liabilities carried at fair value
Derivative financial instruments (5.3) (5.3) (04) [(O1))
Liabilities carried at amortised cost
Trade payables (14.7) {(14.7) (13.1) (13.1)
Other payables (28.5) (28.5) {29.0) (29.0)
Interest payable {0.1) (0.1) — —
Borrowings {21.0) (21.0) (28.6) (28.8)

The following items ace not financial instrurments as defined by IFRS &
(2) prepayments made/advances received (right to receive future goods or services, not cash or a financial asset);
(b) tax recevables and payables and similar items (statutory rights and obfigations, not contractual), or

c) deferred revenue and warranty abhgations (obligations to deliver goods and services, not cash or financial assets)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

1. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table details the fair value of derivative financial instrument assets/(liabiities) recognised in the balance sheet:

2022 2021

£m £m

Ineluded in current assets 0.7 1.0
Included in current fiabilities (4.2) (C.4)
(3.5) LX)

Included in non-current liabilities (1.1) —
Forward fareign exchange contracts (4.6) 1]

There was a £4.1m Toss (2021: £0.7m gain) on the movement in the fair value of derivative financial instruments recognised in the income statement,

The table below details the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s derivative financial instruments and loans at the reporting date. The amounts are
gross and undiscounted and include interest payments estimated based on the conditicns existing at the reporting date.

2022 20
Derivative Leans and Dertvative Loans ard

instruments overdrafis Taual nsruments overdrafts Total
£m £m &m Lm Im fm

Falling due:
— within one year (3.5) (0.3) (1.8) 06 0.7) 0.1)
— within one 1c two years {1.1) {0.3) (1.4) — (03) (0.3)
- wathin two to five years -_ 21.3) (21.3) — (28.4) (28.4)
{4.6) {21.9) (26.5) 06 (2949) (28.8)

A maturity analysis of the contracted cash cutflows an lease liabilities 1s provided in note 18

FAIR YALUE HIERARCHY

IFRS 7 Finonciol Instruments: Crisclosures requires companies that carry financial instruments at fair value in the balance sheet to disclose therr fevel of hierarchy,
determining into which category those financial instruments fall under the fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement hierarchy 15 as fallows:

= Level 1 = quoted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabiiity, either directly (i e. as prices) or indirectly

(i.e. derived from prices). and

- Level 3 —wnputs for the asset or liability that are not based on cbservable market data (j.e. as unobservable inputs).

The following tables present the Group's assets and habilities that are measured at fair value

2021 on
Carrying Carrying
Fair value amount Fair value amount Fair value
hierarchy €m £m £m £m
Held at fair value
Derivative financial instruments — assets Level 2 0.7 0.7 10 1.0
Derivative financial instruments — labilities Level 2 (5.3) {53 (04 {0.4)
(4.6} {4.6) 06 0.6

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by discounting the future cantracted cash flow, using readily available marke! data.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 October 2022 the dlosing exchange rate for the US dollas was 115 (2021: 1.37) and the average exchange rate was 1.23 (2021: 1.38),

For the year ended 31 October 2022 a 10 cent strengthening in the US dollar exchange rate would have increased reported nel debt by approximately £19m

(2021, £2.6m).
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21, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS continued

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10 cent movement in the US dollar rate against sterling with regards to its income statement. The Group
considers a 10 cent strengthening or weakening of US dollars against sterling as a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The other functional
currencies used in the Group (Norwepan krone and Australian dolars) are mot significant encugh to have a materal impact on the Group results in the event
of 3 reasonably possible change to their exchange rates.

+10 cents ~1Q cents

S dollar impact US dollar impact

1022 won 2022 2021
Continuing operations £m £m £m £m
Revenue (14.2) (142) 20.6 158
Underlying operating profit {0.8) 24) 1.0 28
Interest —_ — —_ —
Underlying profit before tax (0.8) 24) 1.0 28

As at 31 October 2022, 78% of the Group's gross debt was at a fixed rate of 1.37% and the rermainder was at Roating rates. The Group monitors its exposure
to movements in interest rates. having regard to prevailing market conditions. and considers the use of interest rate swaps on an angoing basis to manage this
exposure. The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps as of 31 October 2022.

As the Group mainly has fixed mnterest rate debt, a change in interest rates would not have an immediate significant impact on the income statement. A change
in interest rates of 1% throughout the year would cause the Group's finance expense to change by £0.2m.

22. PROVISIONS

legal Emvronmental Disposal

provision provision provision Total

£m m £m Lm

At 31 October 2021 56 30 89 175
Transfer from trade and other payables . — 03 — 03
Transfer {18) — i8 —

Foreign exchange adjustrnents — 07 04 1
Pard ©3) 0.1 on 0.5
At 31 October 2022 a5 39 1.0 184

These provisions are classified on the balance sheet as foliows:

1012 2023
£{m £m
Included in current liabilities 1.6 26
Included in non-current habiliues 168 149
184 175

The legal provision represents the estimated legal liabilities faced by the Group at the balance sheet date. There are uncertainties regarding the range of possible
outcomes and timing of cash outflows, dependent on the cutcome of court proceedings. Further detaits of the Group's contingent liabilities are set out in note 33.

The environmental provision is beld in respect of potential abiities, associated with the Greup's facihity in Chicago. US The range of possible outcames is
between £1.4m and £9.1m. There are uncertainties regarding the timing of cash outflows, dependent on the outcome of regulatory proceedings.

The disposal provision relates to estmated liabilities faced by the Graup in respect of the disposal of its European Munitions businesses in 2014 and its
commoditised energetics businesses m Derby and Florida in 2019 and 2020 respectively, under the terms of their respective sale agreements. The range of
possible outcomes is between £nil and £257m, and the risk of economic outflow relating to these reduces with the passage of time. These are expected to
be utiksed over the next five years.

Provisions are subject to uncertamty wi respect of the outcome of future events. Legal provisions will be utilised based on the outcome of cases and the level of
costs incurred defending the Group’s pasition. Environmental pravisions will be utilised based on the outcome of further ervironmental studies and remediation
work. Disposal provisions will be utilised based on the outcome of certain events which are specified in sale and purchase agreements. It is not possibie to
estimate more accurately the expected timing of any resulting outflows of economic benefits.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

23. DEFERRED TAX
The following are the principal deferred tax assets/(liabiities) recognised by the Group and movements thereon:

Accelerated
1ax US interest Tax Arquired
depreciation Pensions deduttions fosses intangibles Orther Toual
£m im im €m £m &m £m

At 1 Novernber 2020 {86} (1.5) — 92 79 16 7.3
{ChargeYeredit to income (32 — 40 (33) 18 (13 2.0
Credit/{charge) to other comprehensive income Q2 22 02} {0.2) 02 — {29
Recognised on acquisition — — — — N — {11
Transfers 7.8y — — [(*AN) - 79 -

At 31 October 2021 {19.4) 37 38 56 7.0) B2 (125)
{Charge)/credit to income {115) — 35 6.3 0.6 12 {119
(Charge)icredit to other comprehensive income (22} 08 08 1.0 on 10 o7

Transfers 1 —_ - — 1) — —

At 31 October 2021 (33.0) Q@9 8.1 129 (8.4) 10.4 (12.9)
Analysed as:

Deferred tax assets 03 — 8.1 129 — 10 323

Deferred tax kabiities (3313) 29 —_ — (8.4) 0.6) (45.2)
At 31 October 2022 {33.0) (2.9) 8.1 12.9 (8.4) 10.4 (12.9}
Deferred tax assets 04 — i8 56 — 84 18.2

Deferred tax lizbilities (198) (37} — — 79) ©2 (@07
At 31 October 2621 (19.4) Gn 38 56 70) B2 (125)

Certain deferred tax assets and habilities have been offset in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, Deferred tax balances after offset are analysed on
the balance sheet as per the table above,

Deferred tax balances of £10.4m (2021: £8.2m) within the "Other" category above include temporary differences arising on provisions and accruals.

The UK Finance Bill 2021 was published on 11 March 2027 and substantively enacted an 24 May 2021. The bii provides for an increase in the rate of corporation
tax from 19% 10 25% with effect from 1 April 2023 UK deferred tax balances have been calculated in accordance with these rate changes.

Al the bzlance sheet date, the Group had unrecognised deferred tax of £3.7m (2021: £4.5m) on gross tax losses of £21.2m (2021: £45 3m} and unrecagnised
deferred tax of £18.2m (2021: £16.5m) on gross interest deductions of £72.2m (2021: £77.3m) as a result of US interest limitation regulations, potentially
avallable for offset against future profits in certain circumstances. The Group also had unrecognised deferred tax of £1.5m {2021: £1.2m) on gross capital losses
of £69m (2021: £5.9m). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these amounts because of the unpredictability of future taxable qualifying profit
streams. The aforementioned gross interest deductions are available indefinitely with no fixed expiry date. while the gross tax losses and gross capital losses
expire in 2031 and 2026 respectively. :

The Group has not recognised any deferred 1ax liability on temporary differences relaling 1o potentially 1axable unremiited earnings of overseas subsidiaries
because the Group s in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the tlemporary differences and none are expecied to reverse in the foreseeable future.

During the year ended 31 October 2021 £79m cf deferred 1ax liabilities relating to development casts were reclassified to accelerated tax depreciation via the
transfers line

24. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 201
£m i

Issued and fully paid N
283.541.742 (2021: 281,149,511} ordinary shares of 1p each 2.8 28

During the year. 392,231 ordinary shares (2021: 2%9,581) were issued for cash to employees under the Group's approved savings-related share schemes.

The Company's share capital also includes 62,500 7% curnulative preference shares of £1 each, which are all issued and fully paid up, and are classified

for accounting purposes within non-current fiabilities. The cumulative preference shares carry an entitlement to a dividend at the rate of 7p per share per annum,
payable in equal instalments an 30 April and 11 October each year. Holders of the preference shares have the right on a winding-up 1o receive, in priorily to any
other classes of shares, the sum of £1 per share together with any arrears of dividends.
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25. RESERVES
The share presium account, the special capital reserve and the revaluation reserve are not distributable.

The special capital reserve was created as part of a capital reduction scheme involving the cancellation of the share premium account which was approved
by the Court in 1986, in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 1985,

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations and
the accumulation of gains or losses from the effective portion of hedges of net investments in foreign operations.

included within reiained earnings is £7 3m (3021 £7.6m) of the Company's own shares held by the Group’s Employee Share Ownership Plan Trust ("ESOP™) which
is treated as a branch of the parent cormnpany. The ESOP purchased 2.467.329 shares during the year (2021: 2,.242,342) and 2,607,129 shares (2021. 846,369)
were distributed following the vesting of awards under the deferred bonus and PSP schemes. The total number of ordinary shares held by the ESOP at

31 October 2022 was 2,443,709 (2021: 2.583,509).

Group dividends {note B} are payable out of the parent company retained earnings as disclosed in the parent company financial statements. This provides cover
over the declared final dividend of 3.8p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 QOctober 2022

26. OWN SHARES

2022 200

&m £m

At 1 November 2021 -— 29
Transactions — (29}

At 31 Qctober 2022 — —

The awn shares reserve represents the cost of shares in the Company purchased in the market and held by the Group to satisfy awards under the Group's
share-based incentive schemes, details of which are set out in note 27. Nil ordinary shares (2021: nil) were acquired during the year and nil ordinary shares
(2021: 675,592) were distributed following the vesting of awards under the PSP The total number of ardinary shares held in treasury at 31 October 2022
was nil (2021 aul).

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group cperates share-based compensation arrangements to provide incentives 1o the Group's senior management and eligible employees.
The Group recognised a net charge of £74m (2021: £5.7m) in respect of share-based payments during the year, of which £1.0m {2021: £0.4m) is
included in non-underlying costs

Details of the four schemes which cperated during the year are set out below

THE CHEMRING GROUP PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN 2016 (THE “2016 PSP")
Under the 2016 PSP. conditional awards of ordinary shares are made at nil cost to employees. Awards ordinarily vest on the third anniversary of the award date.

2016 PSP

Number of conditional shares

2022 2021

Qutstanding at the beginning of the year 6,218,961 6,185,176
Awearded 2,386,342 1.791.635
Vested (2,374,231) (1358817
Lapsed (143,743) {399.033)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 5,987,329 6,218961
Subject to vesting at the end of the year —_ —

The followng awards were outstanding at 31 October 2022:
MNumber of

ordinary Vesking price Date when

. shares per share awards due
Date of award under award Pence 10 vest
17 December 2019 2027806 ml 17 December 2022
16 Decermber 2020 1,658830 nil 16 December 2023
15 December 2021 2300693 nil 15 December 2024

The Group has applied a discount to the share-based payments, to reflect the anticipated achievernent of the stipulated targets for each 2016 PSP award based
on the predicted figures within the Group's financial projections and the expected number of leavers over the e of the awards.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
THE CHEMRING GROUP PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN 2016 (THE “2016 PSP} continued

The 2016 PSP awards made in the year ended 31 October 2022 had targets based on earnings per share growth and total shareholder return. The awards have

been valued using the following modelling inputs:

Date awarded

15 December 16 December 17 December

00 020 9

Share price at valuation 284p 3G0p 210p
Exercise price ml nil nil
Risk-free rate 05% 0.5% 05%
txpected volatility 291% 29.1% 29.1%
Fair vatue 2329 246.4p 172.5p

The weighted average fair value of awards made during the year was 232.9p (2021: 246.4p).

In the year ended 31 October 2022 2.374.231 awards vested (2021: 1.358.817). The charge recognised in respect of the awards is based on their fair value at the

grant date.

THE CHEMRING GROUP 2008 AND 2018 UK SHARESAVE PLAN (THE "UK SHARESAVE PLAN™)

Options were granted during the year on 1 September 2022

2022 2021
Weightad Weighted
average average
Number exercise Number exercise
of share price of share price
options Pence opticns Pence
Cutstanding at the beginning of the year 1,770,380 197.4 1773742 1777
Granted 664,054 264.0 481085 2400
Exercised (362,049) 1534 (299.581) 1581
Lapsed (194,040) 198.2 {184,866} 1830
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,878,345 229.3 1,770,380 1974
Subject to exercise at the end of the year 5,056 178.0 22243 1780
The following options were outstanding at 37 October 2022:
Nurnber
ol ordinary  Exertise price
shares under per share Dates between which
Date of award award Pence oplions may be exercised
27 july 2017 2432 1480 1 October 2022-31 March 2023
30 July 2018 46847 1780 1 October 2023-31 March 2024
29 tuly 2019 76196 154.0 1 October 2023-31 March 2023
29 uly 2019 26981 1540 1 October 2024~31 March 2025
30 July 2020 54121 2020 1 October 2023-31 March 2024
30 July 2020 83162 2020 1 October 2025-31 March 2026
26 July 2021 361,185 2400 1 October 2024-31 March 2025
26 July 2021 73025 2400 1 Oclober 202631 March 2027
1 September 2022 55381 2640 1 October 202531 March 2026
1 Septemnber 2022 108,529 2640 1 October 2027-31 March 2028

The weighted average fair value of options granted in the year was 34.0p (2021: 570p). The weighted average fair value of optians exercised in the year was
30.7p (2021: 38.6p). The weighted average share price on exercise of the aptions during the year was 153.4p (2021: 158.1p).

The fair values of the share options in the UK Sharesave Plan are based on the difference between the exercise price and the share price on the grant date of

the option.
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS continued
DEFERRED BONUS SHARE AWARDS
Under the deferred bonus share awards, deferred awards of ordinary shares are made at nil cost to employees. Awards ordinarily vest on the second or third
anniversary of the award date.
Number of deferred shares

1022 00

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 766,171 615,365
Awarded 456,232 351832
Vested (225,621) (132919)
Lapsed (59.727) (68.107)
Qutstanding at the end of the year 937,055 766171
Subject to vesting at the end of the year — —_

The following awards were outstanding at 31 October 2022
Number of

ordinary Share price Vesting price Date when
shares at valuaton per share awards are due

Date of award under award Perce Pence 0 vest
16 Oecember 2019 205576 20p nd 16 Decamber 2022
15 Necember 2020 156.431 300p m 15 December 2022
15 December 2020 147.500 " 300 nl 15 December 2023
14 December 2011 231491 284p nil 14 December 2023
14 December 2021 170,336 284p nil 15 December 2024

The fair value of the deferred bonus share awards is based on the share price on the grant date of the award. The weighted average fair value of awards made
during the year was 284p (2021: 300p). The Group has applied a discount to the share-based payments, ta reflect the expected number of leavers over the life
of the awards.

DEFERRED SHARES RELATED TO ACQUISITION
Deferred consideration in relation to the acquisition of the "Cubica Group” of up to £2.0m has been accounted for as equity-settied share-based payments
under IFRS 2. See note 28 for further detalled disclosure.

The deferred consideration is comprised of two tranches of 326,792 Chemning ordinary shares each, vatued at £2.0m based on the share price on 2 june 2021
of 307p. The first tranche will vest on the second anmiversary of completion, 2 June 2023, and the second tranche will vest on the third anniversary of completion,
2 june 2024, subject to continued employment with Chemring Group PLC ’

No further awards were granted during the year ended 31 October 2022 (2021: 653,584) in respect of the Cubica Group acquisiion. Nil vested or lapsed in the
year {2021 nil) and 653,584 are outstanding at the end of the period. Nil were subject to vesting at the end of the year (2021: 653.584).

The fair value of the deferred share awards is based on the share price on the grant date of the award. The weighted average fair value of awards made during
the prior year was 307p. E

28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY

ACQUISITIONS IN THE PRIOR YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

Acquisition of the Cubica Group

On 2 june 2021, Chemring Group PLC acquired 100% of the issued shares in Cubica Technology Limited ("Cubica™) and Q6 Holdings Limited ("Q6"). coflectively
the "Cubica Group”. The Cubica Group specialises in machine learning, data fusion and autonomous systems. The acquisition has strong synergies to Roke and
will expand the Group's existing capabilities and product offerings.

The acquisition has been completed for an initial cash consideration of £7.0m, funded from Chemring's existing bank facilities. Further deferred consideration
of up to £2.0m is payable in Chemring 1p ordinary shares in two tranches (subject to the former owners remaining employed in the Chemring Group) en the
second and third anniversary of completion. The operating results and assets and liabilities of the acquired company have been consohdated from 3 June 2021.

The deferred consideration of £2.0m is coningent on continued employment of the former owners. In accordance with IFRS 3 these costs have been treated as
post-acquisition expenses and accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments under IFRS 2. See note 3 for further details.

Acquisition-related costs of £1.6m have been classified as non-underlying costs in the statement of profit or lass in the reporting period ended 31 Octaber 2021,

Since acquisition to 31 October 2021, the Cubica Group contributed revenue of £0.6m and an operating profit of £0.3m to the Group's results if the acquisition
had occurred on 1 November 2020, we estimate that its revenue would have been £14m. and operating profit for the year would have been £0.8m. In determining
these amounts, we have assurned that the fair value adjustments, deterrmined provisionally, that arose on the date of acquisition wauld have been the same if the
acquisition had occurred on 1 November 2020,
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS centinued

28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY continued
ACQUISITIONS #N THE PRIOR YEAR ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021 continued
Details of the consideration transferred were:

£m
Cash paid 70
Total purchase consideration 70
Less cash acquired (19
Net cash outflow S
The lair values of Lhe assets and Nabllities of the Cubica Group as at the date of acquistion were as tollows:
Fair value
£m
Cash and cash equivalents 19
Trade and other recewables 04
Trade and other payables {1.4)
Current tax {0.5)
Intangible assets: customer refationships pal
Intangible assets: technology 25
Deferred tax habiiity N
Net identifiable assets 19
Less. non-controfling interests -
Add: Goodwal! 31
Net assets acquired 70

The net assets recognised in the 31 October 2021 annual report were based on a provisional assessment of their fair value The Group stated that if new
information were obtained within one year of the date of acquisition about facts and circumstances that existed at the date af acquisition and identifies
adjustments 1o the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the date of acquisition, then the accounting for the acquisition would be revised.
The Group has not identified any such information that therefore no changes were required to the accounting for the acquisition.

Goadwill is attributable to the skills and technical talent of the assembled workforce and synergies expected to arise after the Group's acquisition of the new
subsidiary. Nane of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of the trade receivabltes amounted 10 £0.3m. The gross amount of trade receivables werce £0.3m and the full contractual amounts were collected.

Q6 owns BO% of the issued shares of Vigil Al Limited (“Vigl Al"), which has technoiogy providing state-of-the-art salutions ta enable oniine platforms to detect
imagery relating to child sexual exploitation glabally. The Group has chosen to measure the non-controlling interests at the proportionate share of the value of
net identifiable assets acquired. See page 159 for further detail.

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

In the UK, the Group operates a defined benefit scheme (the “Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme”). The Group’s other UK and overseas pension
arrangements are all defined contribution schemes. with a combined cost of £7.3m (2021: £6 Om) for continuing operations. Chemring Nobel operated a defined
benefit pension scheme that was closed in October 2022 and the lability transferred to an insurznce company. The net deficit of the Chemring Nobel Scheme as
at 31 October 2021 was £nil and as such was immaterial for disclosure in the prior year comparisans.

The Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme is a funded scheme and the assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee administered fund, The scheme was
closed to future accrual on & April 2012 A full actuarial valuation for the Scheme as at 6 April 2021 has been prepared and updated to 31 October 2022, using
the projected unit credit method. The main assumptions for Lthe schemne are detadled below The surplus of the Chemring Group Stalf Pension Scheme was
£31.2m at 31 Cetober 2022 (2021: £13.7m).

Under the funding plan agreed with the trustees foilowing the 2021 actuarial valuation, no further deficit recovery payments are required. The Company and the
trusiees menitor funding levels annually, and a new funding plan is agreed with the trustees every three years, based on actuanal valuztions. The next actuarial
valuation is due as at & April 2024 a1 which peint funding requirernents will be reassessed.

The trust deed provides for an unconditional right to a return of surplus assets in the event of a plan wind-up. The trustees are given no rights to unilaterally wind up
or augment the benefits due to members of the scheme. Based on these rights. any net surplus in the UK scheme is recognised in full,
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29. RETIREMENT B8ENEFIT OBLIGATIONS continued

The maovement in the net defined benefit asset is as follows:

Defired benefit obligations Defined benefit asset Net defined benelit asset
1072 2021 1022 W 2012 2021
£m £ £m £m £m £m
At 1 November (90.9) (913) 104.6 989" 137 76
Included in profit or loss
Administrative expenses —_ —_ (0.3) 0.3) (0.3) (03)
MNet interest (cost)credit (1.6) {1.5) 18 17 0.2 02
1.8) 1.5) 15 14 (0.1) (G1}
Included in other comprehensive income
Remeasurement {foss)/gain:
Actuanal {loss)/gain arising from:
- dermographic and financial assumptions 299 (24) _— -_ 9.9 24}
— experience adjusirnent (1.8 o9 —_ — (1.8) [+h]
— return on plan assets excluding interest income -— — (30.4) 77 304 77
28.1 (1.5) (30.4) 77 (2.3) 62
Other
Settlernents 0.9 — (1.0 —_ (0.1) —
Net benefits paid out 13 34 3.3) (3.4) — —
At 31 October (60.2) (90.9) 7.4 104.6 1.1 137

The Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme had 828 members at the end of the year (2021: 884). Of these members 58.9% (2021 57.8%) were pensioners
drawing henefits from the scheme and the balance were deferred members. The duration of the liability is lang, with pension payments expected to be made

for at least the next 40 years.

The pension scheme's assets are analysed as follows:

2021 2021 1021 o1

£m £m % %

Equities — 184 —_ 176
Liability driven invesiment 25.3 247 5.4 236
Diversified alternatives 26.9 273 37.6 261
Mutti-asset credit 78 233 109 223
Assets held by insurance comparry 11 15 1.5 14
Cash 10.3 9.4 14.6 80
714 104.6 1006 100.0

Liability driven investments, diversified alternatives and multi-asset credit assets are gither pooled or unpooled investment vehicles. Unpooled investment vehicles

which are not quoted on active markets, have been valued at the latest available bid price or single price provided by the pooled investment manager. Where
funds are valued weekly the value is taken as at the week ending immediately befare or after the year end date. Shares in other pooled arrangements have been
valued at the latest available net assets value, determined in accordance with fair value prinaiples, provided by the pocled investment manager

The scheme's assets are invested in accordance with the statement of investment principles after taking professional advice from the scheme’s investment advisers.

The nvestment strategy 15 Lo split the assets into a growth portfolio of diversified assets and a matching portfolio of leveraged liability driven poaled funds.

The scheme's liability matching portfoho is mvested in leveraged pooted liability driven investment ("LDI"} funds and a hquidity fund. The trustees target an

interest rate and inflation hedge ratio of around 100% (based on the scheme’s technical provisions funding basis)

As at 31 October 2022, the Groug loaned £2.0m to the Chemring Group Staff Pensien Scheme representing a shert-tera loan to fund margin calls on liability
driven investments. This s included in the cash amount above and was repald in Novermber 2022

The principal assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme were as follows;

2022 W
x x
Qiscount rate 4.9 18
Inflation - RPI 31 34
-l 2.7 27
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

29. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS continued
In determining defined benefit obligations, the Group uses mortality assumptions which are baced on published mortality tables. For the Chemring Group Staff Pension
Scheme, the actuarial table currently used is SIPA tables {series 3 of the SAPS tables) with future improvernents in ine with CME 2021 and a 1.25% long-term trend rate.

This results in the following life expectancies at age 65:

3022 plord]

Future pensioners - male 88,2 286
- fernale 90.4 906

Cuivent pensioners  — male } 874 877
- fernale 89.0 892

While the vaconation programme has significantly reduced the number of deaths directly attributable to CV-19, the impact of the pandemic on future mortality
rates remains uncerstain At this stage the Group has assumed CV-19 will have no lasting impact on mortahty rates and that life expectancies will return to
pre-pandemic expectations ¥We will continue 1o moritor and assess this at future reporting dates

The most significant assumptions in the pension valuation are the discount rate applied to the habflities, the inflation rate to be applied to pension payments

and the mertality rates. If the discount rate used in determimung retirement benefit obligations were to change by 0.1% then it is predicted that the deficit in the
scheme would change by approximately £0.Bm. A change in the rate of inflation by 0.1% is predicted 1o change the deficit by approximately £0.4m and a 10%
change to the mortality assumption would ¢hange the deficit by approximately £1.7m The principal risks 1o the scheme are that the investments do not perform
as well as expected, the discount rate continues to rise driven by higher market interest rates, short-term movements in inflation, and ihe rate of improvement in
mortality assumed is insufficient and life expectancies continue Lo rise.

The Group anticipates contributions to the defined benefit scherme for the year ending 31 October 2023 will be £nil (2022: Lnil).
30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2012 200
Notes £m on
Operating profit from conlinuing operations 513 504
Amertisation of development costs 1 01 0&
Amartisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations n 4.6 6.2
Amartisation of patents ang lcences 1 0.1 01
Impairment of development costs 212 —
(Profityloss on disposal of non-current assets {1.9) o1
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 18.1 18.2
Non-cash movement of non-underlying items &1 09
Share-based payment expense 27 64 53
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 9.0 818
(Increase)/decrease in inventories {6.4) 79
Decrease in trade and ather receivables 4.5 09
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 19 {10.3)
Increase/(decrease) in provisians 0.1 {0.3)
Operating cash flow from continuing underlying operations 90.1 80.0
Discontinued operations
Cash impact of nen-underlying items from discontinued operations —_ (0.4)
Net cash outflow from discontinued operating activities - {04}
Net cash inflow from discontinued investing activities — 04
Net cash inflow from discontinued operations — _
31. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT
2012 2021
im om
Increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14.2 (98)
Decrease in debt and lease financing due to cash flows 13.2 292
Decrease in net debt resulting from cash flaws 7.4 196
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4.2 27
New leases entered into, lease interest and other non-cash movements {3.5) [(1A)]
Aortisation of debt finance costs (0.3) (08}
Maovement in net debt 19.4 214
Net debt at the beginning of the year (26.6) (48.2)
Net debt at the end of the year (7.2) (266}
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32. ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

1 Nmemb':: MNaon-cash Exchange 31 Octob::

2021 Cash fNows changes rate effects 2012

im £rn im £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdraft) 54 14.2 — 02 19.8
Debt due after one year (28.1) 110 0.3) (3.5 (20.9)
Preference shares o1 — - — ©0.1)
(22.8) 252 {03) (3.3) (1.2)

Lease liabikities (38) 22 (3.5) (03] ©.0)
(26.6) 274 (38) “2) (7.2)

Accrued interest is included in the carrying amount of interest payable {note 19) measured at amortised cost and therefore is not presented as a separate line
item in the above table.

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group 1s, from time to ime, party to legal proceedings and daims, and s involved n correspondence relating to poleatial claims, which arise in the ordinary
course of business.

COUNTERMEASURES UK INCIDENT

On 10 August 2018 an incident occurred at our countermeasures facility in Salisbury. The Group responded immediately to suppart those who were injured,
and maintaing appropriate employers’ liabifity insurance that we expect wilt provide full compensation in due course. We continue to fully support the Health
and Safety Executive {"HSE"} as it undertakes its investigation. Whilst provisions have been recorded for costs that have been identified (included within "legal
provisions™), it is possible that additional uninsured costs and, depending ©n the outcome of the HSE investigation, financial penalties may be incurred. At this
stage these costs are not anticipated to be material in the context of the Group's financial statements.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidauon and are not disclosed in this note.
Transactions with the Group's pensian schemes are disclosed in note 29, As at 31 October 2022, £2.0rm was due from the Chermring Group Staff Pension
Scheme representing 4 short-term loan to fund margin calls an hability driven investments which was repaid in November 2022, The amount recevable has
been classified in other receivables on the consolidated balance sheet.

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The directors of the Company had no material transactions with the Company during the year, ather than in conneciion with therr service agreements.

The remuneraticn of the execuiive directors is delermined by the Remuneration Committee, having regard 1o the perfermance of the individuals and market
trends. The remuneration of the nan-executive directors 15 determined by the Board, having regard to the practice of other companies and the particular
demands of the Group,

For the purposes of remuneration disclosure, key management personnet includes only the directors and excludes the other senior business managers and
members of the Executive Camrmittee. Further information on the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the audited part of the directors’
remuneration repori an pages 96 to 119,

Total emoluments for key management personnel charged to the consolidated income statement were:

2022 psr3|

£m £m

Short-term employee benefits 32 28
Post-employment benefits 02 Q2
Share-based payment benelits 24 1.7
Total remuneration of key management personnel 58 47
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

35. EVENTS SiNCE THE END OF THE YEAR

(A) ACQUISITION OF GEQLLECT

On 7 December 2022, Chermnning Group PLC acquired 100% of the issued shares in Geollect Limited (“Geollect"). Geollect is an international prowider of
geospatial intelligence consultancy and subscription services. The zcquisition has strong synergies to Roke and will expand the Group's existing capabilities and
product offerings

The acquisition has been compieted for an initial cash consideration of £72.3m, funded from Chemring's existing bank facilities. Further deferred consideration
of up to £7.5m is payable in Chemring 1p ordinary shares in two tranches (subject to the former owners remaining emplayed in the Chemring Group) on the
second and third anniversary of compietion

Given the close proximity of the completion date of the transaction and the date of issuing the financial statements, the Group had not yet completed the
accounting for the acquisition. The financial effects of this transaction have not been recogrised at 3% October 2022, The aperating results and assets and
liabilities of the acquired company will be consolidated from 7 December 2022.

Based on unaudited accounts. in the 12 months to 31 October 2021, Geolleck reported a loss before tax of £0.3m (2020: £0.3m) on revenue of £0.8m
{2020: £0.7m). The gross assets of Geollect at 31 October 2021 were £0.4m (2020: £0.5m). and net assets at 31 October 2021 were £3.0m (2020: £01m).

Costs in relation 1o this acquisition for the year ended 31 October 2022 have been dlassified as non-underlying costs in the statement of profit or loss and are
intluded within the acquisition costs of £2.0m, see note 3.

A fult provisional fair value exercise, completed in accordance with IFRS 3, is expected to be available for the Group's interim financal statements to 30 April 2023
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PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 October 2022

1022 ple2]]
Note £m £m im m

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 0.2 02
Investments in subsidizries 2 766.6 7866
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 3 10.7 69.1
Retirement benefit surplus 12 58 72
Deferred tax 1 08 -—

784 1 8632
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 3 232 5.1
Cash and cash equivalents —_ —

232 51

Total assets 807.3 8683
Current habilities
Trade and ather payables 4 {30.7) (11.1)

(10.7) (1.1
MNon-current liabilities
Barrowings 5 {21.8) {425)
Trade and other payables 4 (1.1) —
Provisions 7 {8.2) [eA)
Deferred tax 11 _— (0.9}
Preference shares 8 (0.1) {0.1)

{(31.2) (50.6)
Total liabilities {61.9) (61.79)
Net assets 745.4 806.6
Equity
Share capital 9 18 28
Share premium account 307.7 307.1
Special capital reserve 12.9 129
Retained earnings 421.0 4838
Total equity 745.4 8066

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with the concession granted under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of Chemring Group PLC has not been
presented separately in these financial statements. There is no material difference between the results disclosed and the results on an unmodified historical cost

basis. The Company reported a tass for the year ended 31 October 2022 of £45.9m (2021: £24.6m profit).

These financial statements of Chemring Group PLC {registered number B6662) were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on

13 December 2022,

P (-5

/

Michael Ord Andrew Lewis
Director Director
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 October 2022

022 wn
im Lm
(Loss)/profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the parent as reported (45.1) 245
Items that will not be recfassified subsequently to profit and loss
Remeasurement of the defined benefit pension scheme, net of deferred tax (0.9) 21
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to the equity hotlders of the parent {46.0) 267
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 October 2022
Share Spediat
premium capital Rerained
Share capital account reserve carnings Tetal
£m £m Lm {m £m
At 1 Novernber 2021 28 3074 129 4838 8066
Loss after 1ax — _— — {45.1) {45.1)
Other comprehensive loss _ _ - ©.9) 09
Total cormprehensive loss : — — _ (44.0) {46.0)
Ordinary shares issued — 06 — — 06
Share-based payments (net of setifement) —_ — — 56 56
Dividends paid — — — (14.9) 14.4)
Purchase of shares by ermployee share awnership plan trust — — — (7.0) 7.0y
At 31 Qcrober 2022 28 3077 12.9 422.0 7454
Share Special
preruym capital Retained
Share capital account reserve eamings Own shares Tonal
£m Im {m m &m
At 1 November 2020 28 3067 129 4743 29) 7938
Profit after tax — —_ — 246 —_ 24.6
Other comprehensive income — — —_ 21 — 21
Total comprehensive income — — — 267 — 267
Ordinary shares issved — 04 — —_ o 04
Share-based payments {net of settlement) — — — 47 — 47
Dividends paid _ — — (1.9 —_ (119)
Purchase of shares by employee share ownership plan trust — — — [cA)] — @
Teznsactions in own shares — — — (29} 29 —
At 31 October 2021 28 EorR 129 4838 — 806.6

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 4 to the Group financial staterments.

A fimal dividend of 3.8p per ordinary share has been proposed. See note 8 to the Group financial statements.

As at 31 October 2022 the Company had distributable reserves of £422.0m (2021: £483.8m). When required, the Company can receive dividends from

its subsidiaries to further increase distributable reserves.

Included within retained earnings is the Company’s own shares held by the Group's Employee Share Qwnership Plan Trust ("ESOP™); see note 25 of the Group

financial statements for details.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Detailed disclosure of property, plant and equipment was not considered necessary due 1o its immatenal value, The Company had no capital commitments as at
31 October 2022 or 31 October 2021,

2. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Shares in
subsiciary
undertakings
im
Cost
At 31 October 2021 8511
Additions 517
At 31 October 2022 902.8
Impairment
At 31 October 2021 (64.5)
Impairment [l
At 31 October 2022 (136.2)
Carrying amount
At 31 October 2022 766.6
At 31 October 2041 7866

Investment values are allocated to their respective legal entities Where the investrment value relates 1o an intermediate holding company. the subsidiaries of that
holding company are used to support the carrying valve.

During the year ended 31 October 2022, the additions of £51.7m represent a capital contribution to CHG Overseas Limited.

During the year ended 31 Qctober 2021, Chemving Group PLC acquired the Cubica Group for a cost of investment of £70m. See note 28 of the Group financial
statements for further details In addition, the Company increased its investments in Chemring Countermeasures Limited and CHG Overseas Limited by £30.0m
and £115.0m respecuvely.

The Company tests investments at least annually for impairment. Tests are conducted more frequently if there are indications that investments might be impaswed.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value-in-use calculations The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations have been individually
estimated for each CGU and are detaled in note 10 of the Group financial statements.

During the year ended 31 October 2022, the Company condluded that the carrying value relating to CHG Overseas Limited was higher than its recoverable
amount and therefore an impairment charge of £71.7m was recorded. The recaverable amount for CHG Overseas Lirnited was calculated using discount rates
that have been adjusted for a premium specific 10 each of the CGUs to account for differences in currency risk, country risk and other factors affecting speafic
CGUs, have been used 10 discount projecied cash flows. These premiums range from 1% to 2% (2021. 1% te 3%). The calculations assume the performance of
the CGUs will grow at a nominal annual rate of 2.25% (2021. 1.75%} in perpetuity.

Stress testing was performed on the forecasts Lo consider the impact of reasonably possible worst case scenarios over the forecast period, including a 1%
reduction in long-term grawth rate, a 10% fall in the forecast cash flows or 3 $0.10 weakening in the GBP to US dollar exchange rate. A 1% increase in discount
rate is the most sensitive assurmnption and would resuit in an additional impairment of £94.8m in CHG Overseas Limited being required. A $0.10 weakening in the
GBP 10 LIS dollar exchange rate is the least sensitive assumption and would result in an additional impairment of £37.1m in CHG QOverseas Limited being
required. In determining the value in use, we have allocated central costs necessary to generate the undertying cash flows however there is judgement in this
allocation. Had we increased the allocation by 10%, this would have resu'ted in an additional imparrment of £10.4m in CHG Overseas Limited being required.

Dexails of the Group undertakings at 31 October 2022 are set out in note 13 1o the Group financial statements. The Company has given a parental guaraniee
under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 10 certain subsidiary undertakings, details of which are also set out in note 13 to the Group financial statements.

The directors consider that the carrying value of the investments does not exceed their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

3. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2012 202t
&m £m
Within current assets
Amaunts owed by subsidiary undertakings 19.7 34
Derivative financial instruments (note 21 to the Group financial staterments) 0.7 10
Prepayments and accrued income 08 Q.7
Other debtar 20 —_
232 51
Within non-current assets
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 10.7 692
10.7 9.2

The directars consider that the carrying value of the trade and other recevables approximates to their fair value.

Interest on amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings is charged between 0% and 8.5%. No interest is charged on trade and other receivables from the date
of imvoice 10 payment.

As at 31 October 2022, Chemring Group PLC loaned £2.0m to the Chemring Group Staff Pension Scheme to fund margin calls on liability driven investments,
this i a redated party transaction for further details refer to note 34. This short-term foan is included in Other debtors above and was repaid in Novernber 2022,

4. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

022 202t
£&m £m
Within current liabilities
Derivative financial instruments (note 21 to the Group financial staterents) 4.1 04
Trade payables 0.5 Q2
Amourts owed to subsidiary undertakings 19.2 20
Other payables 6.8 82
Ciher tax and social security — 03
Aceruals and deferred income 01 —_
307 1.1
Within non-current liabilities
Derwvative financial instrurnents {note 21) ] .1 —
31.8 111

Other payables of £6.8m (2021: £8 2m) includes payroll related creditors of £4.4m (2021: £5.7m})

interest on amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings attracts interest rates between 0% and 2%. No interest is payable on trade payables from the date of
invoice to payment

5. BORROWINGS

2022 021
£m £m
Borrowings due after more than one year
Bank borrowings — US dollar denominated 205 280
Bank borrowings — sterling denominated 0.9 145
Total borrowings 118 425
An analysis of borrowings by maturity is as follows:
2022 o
£m m
Borrowings fafling due:
— less than gne year —_ _
- within one {0 two years - -
— wathin two to five years ’ PAR:] 435
218 425

The interest incurred on the above borrowings is detailed within notes 6 and 17 to the Group financial staterments Sterling denominated borrowings relate to
stand-atone Company bank overdraft which carries interest at 1.2%.
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&, LEASES
The interest expense on lease liabilities is £nil {2021, £nil). In total, payments of £nil (2021: £0.7m) were made under leasing coniracts, of which £nil (2021; £0.1m)
was made to repay the principal portion of the lease. The total lease fiability at 31 October 2022 was £nil (2021: £nil).

7. PROVISIONS

Total

£m

AL 31 October 2021 71
Provided 16
Pard ©.5)
At 31 October 2022 ' 82

It is not possible to estimate more accurately the expected tirming of any resulting outflows of economic benefits. Tatal pravisions include lega! provisions, which
represent the estimated legal costs relating to ongoing investigations, and disposal provisions, which relate to estimated liabilities faced by the Company in respect
of the disposal of its commoditised energetics businesses under the terms of their respective sale agreements See note 22 to the Group financial statements for
further details,

8. PREFERENCE SHARES

2022 2021
£m fm
Cumulative preference shares (62,500 shares of £1 each) 0.1 C1

The cumulative preflerence shares carry an entitlenent to a dividend at the rate of 7p per share per annum, payable in equal instalments on 3C April and 31 )
October each year. Holders of the preference shares have the right on a winding-up to receive, in priority 10 any other casses of shares, the sum of £1 per share
together with any arrears of dividends.

9. SHARE CAPITAL

2022 2020
€m £m

Issued, allotted and fully paid
283,541,742 (2021: 283.149.511) ordinary shares of 1p each 28 28

During the year. 392,231 ordinary shares (2021: 299.581) were issued for cash to employees under the Group's approved savings-related share schemes.
The preference shares are presented as a liability and accordingly are excluded from called-up share capital in the balance sheet.

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
Full details of the schemes are set out in note 27 to the Group financial statements,

10. OWN SHARES

2012 02

£m £m

At the beginning of the year . — 29
Transactions —_ (29)
At the end of the year —_— : —

The awn shares reserve represents the cost of shares in the Company purchased in the market and held by the Group to sausfy awards under the Group's
share-based incentive schemes (see note 27 o the Group financial statements). Nil ordinary shares (2021: nil) were acquired during the year and nit ordinary shares
(2021. 675,592} were distributed following the vesting of awards under the PSP The total number of ordinary shares held in treasucy at 31 October 2022 was nil
{202%: nil).

11. DEFERRED TAX

022 0N

[ ] im
At the begnning of the year 0.9 (0.8)
Credit to income staterment 1.2 1.0
Credit/(charge) to other comprehensive income 05 (3.1}
Deferred tax asset/(liability) at the end of the year 08 ©.9)
The amount provided represents:
Pension {2.0) (2.5}
Orher temporary differences 218 L6

0.8 ©9)

At the balance sheel date. the Company had unrecognised tax losses of £nil (2021: £nil) potentially available for offset against future profits in
certain circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

12. PENSIONS
The Company has assumed its share of the assets and liabiliies of the Group's defined benefit pension scheme. An analysis of the surplus balance is shown belaw:
Touwal
£m
At 31 October 2020, retirement berefit surphs 41
Contributions —
Cther finance costs 0.1
Actuarial movements 32
At 31 October 2021, retirement benefit surpius 72
Contribuuons —
Other finarce costs ©.n
Actuarial movements (.3
At 31 October 2012, retirement benefit surplus 58
Further details are set out in note 29 to the Group finantial statements.
13. STAFF COSTS
2022 2021
Number Number
Average manthty rumber of total employees (including executive directars) 14 7
The costs incurred in respect of these emplayees (including share-based payments) were:
w12 2021
£m £m
Wages and salaries 50 65
Sccial secunty costs 16 09
Cther pension costs 0.6 06
Share-based payment 42 29
10.8 109

Disclosures in respect of directors’ emoluments can be found in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 96 to 119
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Chemring Group PLC is a company incorporated in England ang Wales under
registration number 86662. The address of the registered office is Roke Manar,
Old Salisbury Lane, Romsey, Hampshire, SO51 0ZN. The nature of the
Group’s operations and its principat activities are set out in note 2 of the
Group financial statements and in the directors’ report on pages 120 to 122.
These financizl statements are the consalidated financial staterments of
Chemring Group PLC and its subsidiaries (the “Group™).

Chemring Group PLC and the companies in which it directly and indirectly
owns investments are separate and distinct entities. In this publication of the
annual report and accounts, the collective expressions "Chemring” and “the
Group™ may be used for convenience where reference is made in general 1o
those companies. Likewise, the words "we”, "us”, "our” and "ourselves” are
used in some places 1o refer io the subsidiaries of the Group in general. These
expressions are also used where no useful purpose is served by identifying any
particular company or companies.

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, being the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates, and
rounded to the nearest £0.1m. Foreign operations are included in accerdance
with the foreign currencies accounting policy.

GOING CONCERN

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statemerits, a reasonable
expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to
coniinue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these
financial statements. Further detail is contained in the staterment on gaing
concern on page 74 which forms part of these financial statements,

1. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS

The following standards. amendments and interpretations have been issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board ("JASB™) or by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee The Group’s approach to these is as follows:

i) There were no IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations,
amendments 1o existing standards and new standards adopted in the year
ended 31 October 2022 that have materially impacted the reported
results or the financial position

i)y The fallowsng IFRIC mterpretations. amendments to existing standards
and new standards were adopted in the year ended 31 October 2022 but
have nol matenally impacted the reported results or the financial position.

> Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment
to IFRS 16 Leoses); and

> Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS G,
1A&S 39, tFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16).

ii) At the date of authorisation of this annocuncement, the following
standards and interpretations that are potentially relevant to the Group
and which have not yet been applied in these reported results were in
issue but not yet effective {and in some cases had not yet been adopted
by the UK Endorsement Board):

EFFECTIVE FOR PERIODS BEGINNING ON OR AFTER 1 JANUARY 2022
> Reference to the Conceptual Framewark (Amendments o IFRS 3);

> Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
{Amendments to IAS 16);

> Qnerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a Contract (Amendments to
1AS 37} and

> Annual Improvernents to IFRS Standards 2018-2020.

EFFECTIVE FOR PERIODS BEGINNING ON OR AFTER 1 JANUARY 2023
> |FRS 17 insurance Controcts;

> Classification of Liabifities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments
o 1AS 1);

v

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2);

v

Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments 1o 1AS B); and

v

Neferred Tax related to Assets and Liahilities arising from a
Single Transaction (Amendments to I1AS 12).

The directors do not expect the adoption of these standards and interpretations
will have a material impact on the resulls of the Group in future periods.

3. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards (“UK-adopted IFRS") in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The lnancial statements are prepared under the historical cost conventan,
except as descrbed below under the heading of “Derivative financial instruments”

The accounting pelicies adopted have been applied consistently throughout
the current and prewvious year.

BASIS OF CONSQUDATION

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of
its subsidizries, Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
“contrals” an entity when it 1s exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
fram its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financiat statements from the date on which
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

The Company considers that it has the power {o govern the financial and
operating policies of the US entities faling within the Special Security
Apreement and these entities have therefore heen consolidated i these
financial statements.

The Company and all of its subsidiaries make up their financial staterments
to the same date. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest

The Group recognises non-conteoliing interest in an acquired entity either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proporticnate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets. This decision is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. For non-controlling interests that the Group holds. the Group elected
Lo recognise the non-controlling interests at its proportionate share of the
acquired net identifiable assets.

Q6 Haldings Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Chemring Group PLC,
owns 80% of the issued shares of Vigl Al Limited. Disclosure of the minority
interest on the face of the primary statements has not been incheded as this
is considered immaterial to the Group. As at 31 October 2022, profit, total
camprehensive income and equity attributable to minority interests weare
less than £01m.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. GROUP ACCCUNTING POLICIES continued

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Chemring is organised into two sectors, Sensors & Information and
Countermeasures & Energetics.

From a revenue recognition perspective, whilst Chemring operates across the
whole lifecycle of its products and services, these are generally awarded by its
customiers as individual contracts for the different stages rather than being large,
complex, lang-term framework agreements requiring extensive consideration
of price allocation ang performance abligations. As a result we are less
susceptible to judgemenis over revenue recognition regarding contract
performance, modilicauons and cancellations.

Whilst as a Group we aim 10 develop products which can be sold on to
multiple end users and markets, in some instances the nature of products and
services are unigue o a customer and may not have an alternative use at the
point of production. In such cases, where an enforceable right to payment
exists, revenue will be recognised aver time.

From time to time we enter inta contracts for "customer-funded R&D" where
Chemring provides a service towards the development of a technology for a
customer resulting in revenue. in certain instances, Chemring partly funds the
development effort and these can result in the recagnition of a controtled asset.

Contracts
The majority of the Group's revenue arises from the manufacture and
shipment of goods

Sales contracts are reviewed for performance obligations but the

principal driver for timing of revenue recognition is delivery obligations,
typicaily based on Inzoterms, Cerlain contracts may also require customer
atceptance testing. Once the relevant defivery obligation has been met and, as
applicable, customer acceptance received, revenue can be recognised.

The timing of payment from customers is generally aligned to revenue
recognition, though on certain contracts advance receipts are regeived as
disclosed in note 19. This also applies to sales where there are no goods
shipped but a deliverable is completed at a ¢ertain point in time, such as the
issue of a report where there is no enforceable right to payment for work in
progress

In a smaller number of cases, revenue also arises from milesione contracts that
contain multiple performance obligations. Often these contracts are already
divided into milestones for payment purposes. but judgement is required when
assessing the way the contract is divided up to ensure that each element is a
separate and valid performance obligation. If they are not, the refevant revenue
amount is allocated across the other obiigations as appropriate. in some cases
milestones are achieved in one period but not hifled unti! the next period,
leading to a tirming difference with the recognition of revenue n advance of
custamer billing. In this instance accrued income is recognised as described in
aote 15. There are no contracts with a significant financing companent.

At the start of the contract, the wotal transaction price is estimated as

the amount of consideration to which the Group expects 1o be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods and services to the customer,
excluding sales taxes. This is based on the agreed contract price, with no
material claims and incentive payment terms, and therefore significant
judgement to determine the transaction price is not required. Typically our
contracts do not have any matenal vanable consideration and no significant
judgement has been required around the extent to which this ought to be
recognised The total transaction price is allocated to the performance
obligatons identfied in the contract in propartion to thew relatwe stand-alone
sellng prices, where stand-alone sefling prices are typically estimated based on
expected costs plus contract margin.

The Group provides warranties to its customers 10 give them assurance that
its products and services will function in line with agreed-upon specifications.
Warranties are not provided separately and, therefore, do not represent
separate performance obligations.
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A number of sales contracts allow for bill and hold arrangements, where the
custormer has bought the goods but has not yet taken physical possession. This
usually arises when the customer has fimited storage space or there have been
delays in their own production schedule. For such revenue 1o be recognised
the biil and hotd arrangement must be substantive and the relevant goods
must be clearly identified as belonging to the customer and ready for immediate
shipment at the customer’s request. These categories of sales are cornmon
across all segments.

Qualifying costs to obtain a coniract are not material across the Group.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goads s recognised when all of the following
conditions are satisfied:

- the Group has identified a sales contract with a customer;
- the performance obligations within this contract have been identified,
- the transaction price has been determined,

- this transaction price has been alfocated to the performance obligations in
the contract; and

- revenue is recognised as or when each performance obligation is satisfied.

Perlormarnce obligations are satisfied when the customer gains control of
promised goods or services from the contract. Customers do not typicaily
gain a right of return of goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide serwces, including customer-funded
research and development, is recognised by reference to the stape of
completion of the contract. Stage of comgpletion is typically estimated by
either the proportion of contract costs incerred for work performed to date
or completion of relevant milestanes where this faithfully depicts the transfer
of control of the goods and services to the customer and does ~ot significantly
differ from using the proportion of contract costs incurred basis.

Another significant source of Group revenue, especially within the Sensors &
Information segment, arises fram time and materials contracts, where revenue
i5 typically accrued and billed in the following month based on work
performed to date, following which payment is typically prompily received.

Principal versus agent assessment

The Group enters into certain arrangements which invalve a consortium of
service providers. The Group acis as a "Prime” contractor in certain contracts
with customers and utilises sub-contractors 10 undertake the work. Under
these contracts the Group is considered 1o be primarily responsible for
fulfilling the service to the customer. The Group performs a technical
assessment of the work before it s delivered to the customer and is
responsible for quality and performance of the sub-contractor. As such the
Group s considered ta be the principal 1o the arrangement with the customer
and includes sub-contractor casts within revenue However, where the Group
is merely acting as an agent of a sub-contractor then no revenue is recognised
i respect of sub-contractor costs.

All consortium arrangernents are assessed by the Group to determine if it is
the principal or agert considering who is responsible for fulfiling the performance
abligation, who bears inventory risk and who has price discretion



3. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Cn acquisition of a subsidiary, 2ssociate or jointly controlled entity, the cost

is measured as the fair value of the consideration. The assets, liabilities ang
contingent liabilities of subsidiary undertakings that meet the IFRS 3 (Revised)
Business Combinations recognitian criteria are measured at the fair value at the
date of acquisition, except that:

- deferred tax assets or habilities, and liabilities or assets relating tc employee
benefit arrangemenis, are recognised and measured in accordance with tAS
12 income Toxes and 1AS 19 (Revised) Employee Benefits respectively;

- habilities or equity instruments relzted 1o the replacement by the Group of
an acquiree’s share-based payment awards 2re measured in accordance with
IFRS 2 Share-based Paymen!s; and

- assets {or disposal groups) that are dassified as he!d for sale, in accordance
with |[FRS § Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, are
measured in accordance with that standard

Where cosl exceeds fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is recorded as goodwill

Where the fair value of the net assets exceeds the cost, the difference

is recorded directly 1n the income staternent. The accounting policies of
subsidiary undertakings are changed where necessary to be consistent with
those of the Group.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of
the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group reports
provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting 1s incomplete.
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement pericd (see
below), or additional assets or lizbilities recognised, to reflect new information
cbtained about facts and circumstances that existed as at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as at that date

The measurement period runs from the date of acquisition to the date the
Group abtains complete information about facts and circumstances that
existed as at the acquisition date, subject 1o a maximum period of one year.

In accordance with IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combingtions, acquisition and
disposal-related items are recagnised through the income statement.
Acquisition and disposal-related items refer to credits and costs associated
with the acquistion and disposal of businesses. together with the costs of
aborted tids and the establishment of joint ventures

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

When the Group makes a decision to exit a significant business unit or separate
major line of business, the associated operations and cash Mows are classified
as discontinued aperations in the financial staterments, in accordance with the
provisions of IFRS S Non-current Assers Held for Safe and Disconunued Operations,

These discantinued operations may represent components of the Group that
have already been disposed of or are dlassified as held for sale

MNan-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered through a sales transaction rather than
continying wse. This condrion 15 regarded as met only when the sale is highly
progable and the asset or disposal group i5 available for immediate sale in its
present condition. Management must be committed to the sale which should
be expected to qualify as 2 completed sale within one year from the date of
classification,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GOODWILL

The purchased goodwill of the Group is regarded as having an indefinite
useful economic life and. in accordance with |1AS 36 impairment of Assets,
is not amortised but is subject 10 annual tests for impairment. On disposal
of a subsidiary, associate or jontly controlled entity. the amount atiributable
to goodwill is included in the determmation of the profit or loss on disposal,

ACQUIRED INTANGIBLES

The Group recognises, separately from goodwill, intangible assets that are
separable or arise from contractual or other legal rights and whose fair value can
be measured reliably. These intangible assets are amortised at rates calculated
to write down their cost or valuation to their estimated residual values by
equal instalments over their estimated useful economic lives, which are:

- technolo; —  average of ten years
aY b4

- customer relationships  —~  average of ten years

DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Development costs that qualify as intangible assets are capitalised as incurred
and, once the relevant intangible asset is ready for use, are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated usefu! lives, averaging ten years

{2021: ten years).

The carrying value of development assets 1s assessed for recoverability at least
annually or when a trigger is identified.

PATENTS AND LICENCES

Patents and licences are measured initally at purchase cost and are amortised
on a steaight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, averaging seven years
(2021: seven years).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

QOther than historically revalued land and buidings, property, plant and
equipment is held at cost less aceurnulated depreaation and any recognised
impairment loss. Borrowing costs on significant capital expenditure projects
are capitalised and allocated to the cost of the project.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land. On other assets. depreciation
is provided at rates calculated to write down their cost or valuation to their
estimated residual values by equal instalments over their estimaied useful
economic lives, which are:

- freehold buildings - up tofilty years

- leasehold buildings ~  the period of the lease

- plant and equipment -

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Assets that have indefinite lives are allocated to the Group's cash-generating
units and tested for impairment at least annually. Assets that are subject

to depreciation or amartisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. To the extent that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable
amount, an impairrment loss is recorded for the difference as an expense in
the income statement. The recoverable amount used for impairment testing
is the higher of the value-in-use and the asset's fair value less costs of dispaosal
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows,

INVENTORIES

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cast and net realisable value. Cost
represerts materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related overheads,
and 15 determined using 2 weighted average cost basis Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

up to ten years

Provision is made for slow-moving. obsolete and defective items
where appropriate.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction

or production of qualifying assets. which are assets that necessarily take

a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are ready for their intended
use. Once Lhe assets are ready for their intended use, these capitalised
borrowing costs are depreciated in line with the underlying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recagnised in the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that
the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants for staff retraining casts are recognised as income over
the periods necessary to match them with the related costs and are deducted
in reparting the related expense.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are treated as
deferred income and released to the income statement over the evpected
useful ecanomic lives of the assets concerned.

TAX
The tax expense represents the surn of current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs fram
profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and it
excludes items of income or expense that are never taxable or deductible

The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Delerred 1ax represents amounts expected to be payable or recoverable an
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of 1axable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax habilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary dilferences. and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable taxable profits will be avadable in the future against which
daductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recogrased if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition {other than in 2 business combination) of other assets and
liabilittes in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax labilities are recogrised for taxable temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interasts in joint ventures,
except where the Group is able to cantrol the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the loreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed a1 each balance sheet
date and reduced to the extent that it s no fonger prebable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 1o be
recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
2pply in the period when the liability is settled ar the asset is realised.
Oeferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except where it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity. in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt wath in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assels against curremt tax liabifities, when they relate
to income taxed by the same tax authority, and when the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

SPECIAL CAPITAL RESERVE

The special capital reserve was created as part of a capital reduction scheme

involving the canceilation of the share premium account which was approved

by the Court in 1986, 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 1985
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in its
functional currency, being the currency of the primary economic environment

in which it operates. For the purpose of these Group financial staterments, the

results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in pounds

sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the

presentation currency for these financial statements

In preparing the financial statements of each Group company, transactions in
foreign currencies, being currencies other than the enatity’s functional currency.
are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabiities that
are denominated in foreign curcencies are retranslated at the rates prevaiing
en the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined

MNon-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are net retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of manetary items and on
the retranslabion of monetary tems are included in the income statement
for the period.

In order to hedge its exposure 10 certain foreign exchange risks, the Group
enters into forward foreign exchange contracts which are accounted for as
derivative financial instruments {see below for details of the Group’s
accounting pohcies in respect of such derivative financial instruments).

For the purpose of presenting these financial stalements, the assets and
liabiities of the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date Income and expense itars are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entily are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and liabilties are recognised in the Group's balance sheet when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their farr value
and amortsed cost as reduced by appropriate aflowances for expected
credit iosses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a knawn amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial liabilities

Financiai liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Bank borrawings

Interest bearing bank foans and overdralts are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums payable
on settlement or redemption, and direct issue casts are accounted for on an
accruals basis in the income statement using the eflective interest method. and
are added to the carrying amount of the instrument 1o the extent that they
are not settled in the period 1 which they arise.



3. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
continued

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their fair value and
amartised Cost.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group's activities expose it 1o the financial risks of foreign currency
transactions, and it uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its
exposure 10 these transactional risks. The Group does not use derivative
financia! instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value on the date the
derivative contract is entered into and are revalued to fair value at each
balance sheet date. The fair values of derivative financial instruments are
calculated by external valuers

The Group does not apply hedge accounting for derivative financial
instruments, with changes in the fair value of derivatives being recognised in
the incame statement immediately.

Hedges of net investments in foreign cperations

Any gain or [oss on the hedging instrument refating to the effective poruen of
the hedge is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and
accumulated in the translation reserve. The gain or ioss relating to the
ineffective poartion is recogmsed immediately in the income statement,

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as
an administrative expense o the period to which they relate For defined
benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the
projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at
each balance sheet date. Remeasurement of the defined benefit pension
scheme, which comprise actuarial gains and lesses, the return on plan assets
{excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest),
are recopnised in the statement of comprehensive income n full in the period
in which they occur.

The Group determines the net interest income on the net defined benefit
asset far the penod by applying the discount rate used ta measure the defined
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period 1o the then-net defined
benefit asset, taking into account any changes in the met defined benefit asset
during the year as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest
income and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in
profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the
resulting change in benefit that retates to past service or the gain or loss on
curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents
the present value of the defined benefit obligaticn as reduced by the fair value
of scheme assets. Any asset resuling from this calculation s limited to past
service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in
future contributians to the scheme.

LEASED ASSETS

At the lease commencerment date (ie the date the underlying asset 1s available
for use). the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the
balance sheet.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future lease
payments, discounted using the Group's incremental barrowing rate. The
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost. comprising the initial value of the
lease #ability, any lease payments made before commencement of the lease,
any initial direct costs and any restaration costs. The asset s recorded as
property. plant and equipment, and is depreciated over the shorter of its
estimated useful economic life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease term to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the tease liability. The lease
payment is allocated between repayment of the lease liabiity and finance cost.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets using the practical expedients. Instead of recognising a
right-of-use asset and lease hability, the payments i relation to these are
recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
The Group operates equity-settled share-baserd compensation schemes.

Fer grants made under the Group's share-based cornpensation schemes, the
fair value of an award is measured at the date of grant and reflecis any
market-based vesting conditions. Non-market-based vesting conditions are
excluded from the far value of the award At the date of grant, the Company
estimates the number of awards expected to vest as a result of non-market-
based vesting conditions, and the fair value of this estimated number of awards
is recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-ine basis
over the vesting period. At each balance sheet date, the impact of any revision
to vesting estimates is racognised in the income statement over the vesting
period. Proceeds received, net of any directly atiributable transaction costs.
are credited to share capital and share premiom.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recogrised when the Group has a present obligation,

either legal or canstructive. as a resuk of a past event, it is prabable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a relizble estmale can be
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the abligation. Where a provision is measured using the estimated
cash flows Lo settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows. The Group uses the "expected value” or "most likely
outcome” method on a case-by-case bases to estimate the value of provisicns.

When some or all of the economic benefits required 1o settle a provision are
expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that rembursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Environmentat provisions

‘Where the Group is lizble for decontarmination work or the restoration of
sites ta their original conditicn, an estimate is made of the costs needed to
complete these warks, discounted back 10 present values, refying upon
independent third party valuers where appropriate

Restructuring provisions

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has devefoped a
detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in
those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting ta implement
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring provision inciudes only the direct
expenditures arsing from the restructuring and not those associated with the
ongoing activities of the entity.

Warranty provisions

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obkgations under lecal sale of
goods legislation are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products,
based upon the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group’s obligations.

Disposal provisions

Dispasal provisions relate to estimated liabilities faced by the Group in respect
of discontinued operations and other disposed entities under the terms of
their respective sale agreements,
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3. GROUP ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group exercises judgement in recognising exposures 1o contingent
liabikties related to pending litigation or ather cutstanding claims subject to
negotiated settlement, mediation, arbitration or goverament regulation, as well
as other contingent liabilities. judgement may be necessary w1 assessing the
likelhood that a pending claim will succeed, or a liability will arise, andfor to
quantify the possible range of the financal settlement

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

In the analysis of the Group's financial performance and position, operating
resulis and cash flonws, APMs are presented to provide readers with additional
information. The principal APMs presented are underlyng measures of
earnings including undertying operating profit, underlying profit before tax,
underlying prefit after tax, underlying EBITDA, underlying garnings per share
and underlying operating cash flow. In addition, EBITDA. net debt and
constant currency metrics are presented which are also considered non-IFRS
measures. These measures are consistent with information regularly reviewed
by management to run the business, including planning, budgeting and
reporting purposes and for its internal assessment of the operational
performance of individuzl businesses.

The directors believe thai the yse of these APMs assists in providing additional
information on the underlying trends, performance and position of the Group.
APMs are used to improve the comparability of information between
reporting periods by adjusting for itemns that are non-recurring ar otherwise
non-underlying. Management considers non-underlying items to be:

- amartisation of acquired intangibles.

- material exceptional iterns, for example relating to acquisitions and dispasais,
business restructuring costs and legal costs:

- gains or losses on the movement in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments, and

- the tax impact of all of the abave.

The Group’s use of APMs is consistent and we provide comparatives alongside
all current period figures.

Further detail on the APMs presented within these financial statements,
including a reconciliation to the IFRS equivalent. is presented in note 3.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional items are excluded from management's assessment of prafit
because by their size or nature they need to be separately disclosed to
properly understand the Group's underlying quality of earnings. They are
typically gains or losses arising from events that are not considered part of the
core operations of the business. These items are excluded to reflect
performance in a consistent manner and are in line with how the business is
managed and measured on a day-1o-day basis.

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

In accordance with IAS 10 Events ofter the Reporting Perad, the Group
continues to disclose events that it considers material, hon-disclosure of which
can influence the economic decisions of users of the financial statements.

4. CHEMRING GROUP PLC - PARENT COMPANY

ACCOWUNTING POLICIES

FRS 101 REDUCED DISCLOSURE FRAMEWOQORK

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UX
accounting standards and appficable faw., including FR5 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework.

The Company operates a defined benefit scheme including employees of other
Group companies {a Group plar}. Following FRS 101, the scherme assets and
liabilities have been allocated across the Group campanies using a method that
management considers to be the most appropriate. based on scheme
rmembership, in accordance with the Group's internal policy.
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The following exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in
the preparation of these financial statements, in accordance with FR5 101:

- share-based payments,

- fimancial instruments;

- far value measurements;

- {FRS 16 Leoses (paragraphs 52 and 58).

- presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets;
- IFRSs issued but not yet effective;

- related party transactions;

- assumptians and sensitivities far impairment review; and

- cash flow

Investment in Group undertakings
Investments are stated at cost less any provision for impairment in value.

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
There are no critical accounting judgements for the Company. The other
non-significant areas that include a degree of estimation uncertainty zre below

Investments in subsidiaries impairment

Determining whether investments in subsidiarigs are impaired requires an
estimaticn of the value-in-use of the legal entibies to which the investments
relate Where the investment value relates to an intermediate holding
company, the subsidiaries of that holding company are used to support the
carrying value. The value-in-use calculation requires the entity 1o estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the legal entity, and to determine a
suitable discount rate in arder to calculate present value (see note 10). In
reviewing the carrying value of investments in subsidiasies, the Board has
considered the separate plans and cash flows of these businesses consistent
with the requirements of IS 36 Impairment of Assets. The plans and cash
flows of these businesses reflect current and anticipated conditions in the
defence industry. The total investments in subsidiaries is set out in note 2 of
the parent company financial statements, which shows a carrying value of
£766.6m at 31 October 2022,

5. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

When applying the Group's accounting policies, management must make
judgements, assumptions and estimates concerning the future that alfect the
carrying amounts of assets and labilities at the balance sheet date and the
amounts of revenue and expenses recognised during the pericd. Such
judgements, assumptions and estimates are based upon factors including
historical experience, the observance of trends in the industries in which the
Group operates, and infermation available [rom the Group's customers and
other external sources.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

Revenue recognition

Following IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the Group recognises
revenue on the basis of the satisfaction of performance obligations.

Management has to consider whether performance cbligations should be
recognised at a single point in time, which is generally the case for the sale of
products by the Group. or over a period of time, which is mare comman for
certan service contracts.

in making its judgement about obligations that are satisfied at a point in time,
management has to consider at what point cantrol has passed to the
customer, allowing revenue to be recognised. This is typically determined
through a consideration of customer acceptance testing, stage of completion,
contract terms and delivery arrangements.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

There are no key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 1o the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.



5. ACCOUNTING |UDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY continued

OTHER NON-SIGNIFICANT AREAS THAT INCLUDE A DEGREE
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY OR JUDGEMENTS

While these areas do not present a significant risk resulting in a material
adjustment, they are areas of focus for management and include:

Provisions

The Group holds provisions where appropriate in respect of future economic
outflows which arise due to past events. These are subject ta uncertainty in
respect of the outcome of future events. Estimates, judgements and
assumplions are based on factors inctuding historical experience, the
observance of trends in the industries in which the Group operates. and
information available from the Group's customers and other external sources.
Actual outflows of ecanomic benefit may not occur as anticipated, and
estimates may prove to be incorrect, leading to further charges or releases of
provisions as circumstances change. The provisions held by the Group as at 31
October 2022 are set out in note 22.

Goodwill impairment

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the
value-in-use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated,
The value-in-use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit, and to determine a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value (see note 10). In
reviewing the carrying value of gaodwill of the Group’s businesses. the Board
has considered the separate plans and cash flows of these businesses
consistent with the requirernents of IAS 36 Impoirment of Assets The plans and
cash fMlows of these businesses reflect current and anticipated conditions in the
defence industry. The total gaodwill intangible asset is set out in note 10,
which shows a carrying value of £118.1m at 31 October 2022

Capitalised development costs impairment

IAS 38 Intangible Assels requires that development costs. arising from the
application of research findings or other technical knowledge to a plan or
design of a new substantially improved product. are capitalised, subject to
certain criteria being met. Determimng the future cash flows generated by the
products in development requires estwnates which may differ from the actual
outcome. In particular;, this can depend on the estimation applied to future
milestone events to secure fong-term positions on production contracts, for
example Programs of Record for the US DoD. The total capitalised
development intangible asset is set out in note 11, which shows a carrying
value of £34.6m at 31 October 2022. Included in this balance are individually
rmateral balances refating to Joint Biological Tactical Detection System (£9.7m),
Next Generation Chemical Detector (£16.5m) and Perceive (£5 6m).

Taxation

The Group operates in 2 number of countries arcund the world. Uncertainties
exist in refation 1o the nterpretation of complex tax legislation, changes in tax
laws and the amount and tming of future taxable income In some jurisdictions
agreeing tax liabilities with local tax authorities can take several years. This
could necessitate future adjustments to taxable income and expense already
recorded. At the year-end date, tax liabilives and assets are based on
management’s best judgements around the application of the tax regulations
and management's estirmate of the future amounts that will be settled

The Group's operating mode! invoives the cross-border supply of goods into
end markets. There is a risk that different tax authorities could seek to assess
higher profits (or lower costs) to activities being undertaken in their
jurisdiction, potentially feading Lo higher total tax payable by the Group.

At 31 October 2022 there was a provision of £3.5m in respect of uncertan
tax positions. Due to the uncertainties noted above, there 1s a rigk that the
Group's judgements are challenged, resulting in a different tax payabie or
recoverable from the amounts provided. Management estimates that the
reasonably possible range of outcomes is between £nil and £3.5m.

Deferred tax assets on tax losses and US interest deductions

The category of deferred tax asset whith contains significant estimation
uncertainty and which requires management judgement in assessing its
recoverability relates ta 'US interest limitations and tax losses carried forward
(see note 23},

Applicable accounting standards permit the recognition of deferred tax assets
only 10 the extent that it 1s probable that future taxabte profits will be
available, or to the extent that the existing taxable temporary differences, of
an appropriale type. reverse in an appropriate period to utilise the tax losses
carried forward. The assessment of future taxable profits involves significant
estimation uncertainty, principally relating to an assessment of management’s
projections of future taxable income based on business plans and ongoing tax
planning strategies. These projections include assumptions about the future
strategy of the Group, the economic and regulatory environment in which the
Group operates, future tax legislation and customer behaviour, amongst other
variabtes.

Defined benefit pension scheme

Estimation is requiced in the determinztion of the discount rate and inflation
assumptions underpinning the valuation of the liabilities of the Group's defined
benefit pension scheme. There is a range of possible vatues for each of the
actuarial assumptions and small changes in assumptions may have a significant
impact on the size of the deficit. Note 19 provides information on the key
assumptions and analysis of thesr sensibvities.

CUMATE CHANGE

In preparing the financial statements, we have considered the impact of climate
change. As our climate risks (discussed earlier in the annual report) identified
predominantly manifest in business interruption, the main areas effected from
a financial perspective have been our impairment and going concern and
wability assessments where we have ensured that these potential risks have
been appropriately considered in forecast cash Rows used
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CHEMRING GROUP PLC

1 OUR OPINION IS5 UNMODIFIED

We have audited the financial statements of Chemring Group PLC

{"the Company") for the year ended 31 October 2022 which comprise the
cansolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consalidated statement of changes in equity. consolidated balance
sheet, consolidated cash fiow statement, parent company balance sheet,
parent company statement of comprehensive income, parent company
statement of changes in equity, and the related notes, including the
accounting poliies 10 notes 3 and 4.

In our opmion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's
and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31 QOctober 2022 and of the
Group's profit for the year then ended;

- the Group fingncial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

Owverview

- the parent Campany financial statements have been properily prepared in
accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework; and

- the financial staterments have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
{UK) ("15As (UKY") and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and
apprepriate basis for our opinion Qur audit opinion is consistent with our report
1o the audit committee.

We were first appointed as auditor by the directors on 23 March 2018, The
period of total uninterrupted engagerent is for the five nancal years ended
31 Ocicber 2022. We have fulfiled our ethical responsibilities under, and we
remain independent of the Group in accardance with, UK ethical requirements
including the FRC Ethical Standard as apolied to listed public interest entities,
No non-audit services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Materiality: Group financial staterments as a whole

£3.0m (2021: £2.75m)

4.8% (2021: 4.9%) of normalised profit before tax, normalised to exclude this year's
non-underlying Items

Coaverage

B5% {2021: 85%) of total profits and losses that made up Group profit before tax including

continung aperations onty

Key audit matiers vs 2021
Recurring risks Recoverability of parent company’s investments in subsidiaries 4>
A

New Recoverabllity of goodwill

2 KEY AUDIT MATTERS: OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgerent, were
of most significance i the audit of the financial statements and include the
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due
to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the
overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. We surnmarise befow the key audit matters,
in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinion above,
together with our key audit procedures {0 address those matters and cur
findings from those procedures in order that the parent Company's members,
as a body, may better understand the process by which we arrived at our
audit opinion. These matters were addressed. and our findings are based on
procedures undertaken, in the cantext of, and solely for the purpose of,

our audit of the financial statements as a whole. and in forming our opinion
thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion, and we do not
provide a separate cpinicn on these matters.

RECOVERABILITY OF GOODWILL
(Goodwill: £118.1m: 2021: £108.7m}

Refer to page 91 (Audit Committee report), page 161 (accounting palicy) and
pages 133 and 134 (financial disclosures).

THE RISK

Forecast based assessment

A histary of business combinations results in significant Group geodwill. We
determined that the forecast future cash flows used in calculating the value inv
use of each CGU involves a degree of estimation uncertainty, with a potential
range of reasonable outcomes greater than our materialily for the financial
statements as a2 whole, and possibly many times that amount. The estimated
recoverable amount of the Group is subjective due to inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting and discounting future cash flows for CGUS.
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Qur response

‘We performed the tests below rather than seeking to rely on any of the
Group's controls because the nature of the balance i such that we would
expect to obtain audii evidence primarily through the detailed procedures
described below:

- Extrapolating past forecasting accuracy: We assessed three years' historical
accuracy of the cash flows, forecasting and building comparable variations
in forecasting accuracy into our own models that were built to re-perform
the valuation;

- QOur sector experience: We evaluated assumptions used, in particular
thase relating to operating cash flow forecasts when compared with
our business understanding:

- Benchmarking assumptions: We benchmarked discount rates {including
the underlying assumptions used) against market data. including publicly
availabie analysts’ reports and peer comparison using input from our own
valuation experts;

- Sensitivity analysis: We performed sensitivity analysis by reviewing the impact
of reasonatle downward changes to the assumptions noted above;

- Comparing valuations: ¥We compared the sum of the discounted cash flows
to the aggregate of the Group's market capitalisation and the fair value of the
met debt to assess the reasonableness of thase cash Mows, and

- Assessing transparency. We assessed whether the Group's disclosures about
the estimation uncerfainty refated to the impairment assessment reflect the
risks inherent in the valuation of goodwill

Qur findings
We found the Group's conclusion that there is ¢ impairment of Group
goodwill to be balanced.



2 KEY AUDIT MATTERS: OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT continued

RECOVERABILITY OF PARENT COMPANY'S INVESTMENTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES

finvestments in subsidiaries. £766.6m:; 2021: £786 6m)

Refer to page 91 (Audit Committee report). page 164 (accounting policy) and
page 155 (fnancial disclosures).

THE RISK

Forecast based assessment

The carrying amount of the pareat Company’s invesiments in subsidiaries are
significant ang at risk of wrrecoverabilty due to changes in product demand and
forecast cash flows. The estimated recoverable amount of these balances is
subjective due to the inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows.

The effect of these matters s that, as part of our risk assessment, we
determined that the recoverable amount of the cost of investment in
subsidiares has a high degree of estimation uncertainty, with a potential range
of reasanable outcomes greater than our materialty for the financial
statements as a whole, and possibly marry times that amount Note 2 10 the
parent Company financial statements disclose the sensitivity estimated by the
parent Company.

OQur response

We performed the tests below rather than seeking Lo rely on any of the
Group's contrals because the nature of the balance is such that we would
expect to obtain audit evidence primarnily through the detaited procedures as
described below:

- Extrapolating past forecasting accuracy: We assessed three years’ historical
accuracy of the cash flows, forecasting and building comparable variations
in forecasting accuracy into our own madels that were buill to re-perform
the valuation;

Cur sector experience: Wa evaivated assumptions wsed. in particular
those relating to operating cash flow forecasts when compared with our
business understanding:

Benchmarking assumptions: We benchmarked discount rates (including
the underlying assumptions used) against market data, including publicly
available anaiysts’ reports and peer comparison using input from our own
valuation specialists;

Sensitivity analysis: We performed sensitivity analysis by reviewing the
impact of reasonable downward changes to the assumptions noted above:

Comparing valuations: We compared the carrying amount of the
investments with the expected vatue of the business based on the Group's
rnarket capitalisation and the fair value of the net debt; and

Assessing transparency: VWe assessed whether the parent Company’s
disclosures about the estination uncertainty related to the impairment
assessment reflect the risks inherent in the recoverabifity of the parent
Company’s investments in subsidiaries.

Our findings

We found the balance of the parent Company’s investments in subsidiaries and
the related impairment charge to be balanced (2021:found the Company's
condusion that there is no impairment of its investments in subsidaries to be
balanced)

We conlinue to perform procedures over revenue recogrition from provision
of services over time However, following our risk assessment procedures in
the current year, we have not assessed this as one of the most significant risks
it our current year audit and, therefore, it is not separately identified in our
report this year

31 OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN OVERVIEW

OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £3.0m
(2021: £2.75m), determined with reference to a benchmark of normalised
Group profit before tax, normalised to exclude non-underlying items as
disclosed in note 3 to the group financial statements, of which it represents
4.8% (2021: 49%,),

Materiality for the parent Company financial statements as a whole was set
at £1.5m (2021: £1 0m} determined with reference to a benchmark of parent
Company total assets, of which it represents 0.2% (2021 0.1%).

In line with our audit methodelogy, our procedures on individual account
balances and disclosures were performed to a lower threshold of performance
materiahty, so as ta reduce to an acceptable level the risk that wdividually
immaterra! misstatements in ingividual account balances add up to a marerial
amount across the financial staternents as a whole.

Performance matenality was set at 75% (2021. 74.5%) of materiality for the
financial statements as a whole, which equates to £2.25m (2021 £2.05m) for
the Group and £113m (202% £0.75m) for the parent Company. We applied
this percentage in our determination of performance materiality because we
did nat identify any factors indicating an etevated level of risk,

We agreed to report 1o the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected
dentified misstatements exceeding £150k (2021: £135Kk), in addition to other
identified misstatements that warranted reporting an qualitative grounds.
We agreed on a higher threshold of £300k (2021: £270k) for matters only
related to reclassification,

Of the Group’s fourteen reporting components, we subjected seven

(2021: nine) to full scope audits for Graup purposes, and ane (2021: one)

to specified risk-focused audit procedures. The latter was not individually
financially significant enough to require a full scope audit for Group purposes,
but did present specific individual risks that needed to be addressed. We
conducted reviews of fimancial information (induding enquiry) at a further
three (2021: one) non-significant components in order to provide further
coverage over the Group's results.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CHEMRING GROUP PLC continued

3 OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN OVERVIEW OF THE
SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT continued

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentages
illustrated opposite.

The f'emaining 13% (2021: 8%) of totat Group revenue, 15% (2021: 15%)

of total profits and losses that made up Group profit before tax and 1%
(2021; 11%) of total Group assets is represenied by three components. None
of these three components individually represented more than 8% (2021. 8%)
af any of total Group reverwe, total profits and losses that made up Group
profit before tax or total Group assets For these residual components,

we porformed analysis at an aggregated Group level Lo re-examing our
assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstatement
within these.

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to
be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above and the information to
be reported back. The Group team appraved the component materialities,
which ranged from £0.9m to £1.8m (2021: £0.05m to £1.7m). having regard
to the mix of size and risk profile of the Group acrass the components.

The work on 6 of the 14 {2021, 8 of the 13} components was performed

by component auditors and the rest, induding the audit of the parent
Compary, was performed by the Group team. The Group team performed
procedures on the items excluded from normalised Group profit before tax

The Group team visited 4 (2021: 4) component locations in the UK and US
{2021:in the UK), to assess the audit risk and strategy. Video and telephone
conference meetings were also held with these component auditors and all
others that were not physically visted Al these visits and meetings, the
findings reparted to the Group team were discussed in more detail. and any
further work required by the Group team was then performed by the
component auditor.

We were able to rely upon the Group's internal cantrol over financial
reporting in several areas of our audit, where aur controls testing supported
this approach, which enabled us to reduce the scope of our substantive
audit work; in the other areas the scope of the audit work performed

was fully substantive.

4 THE IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON OUR AUDIT

In pfanning our audit, we considered the potential impacts of climate
change on the Group's business and its financial statements, based on
our knowledge of the Group's aperalions and their stated strategy with
respect to climate change. '

THE CONTEXT OF CLIMATE CHANGE FOR THE GROUP

Clirmate change impacts the Group in a variety of ways induding the impact
of clirmate risk en manufacturing and procurement, potential reputational
risk associated with the Group's delivery of its ¢limate related initiatives,
and greater emphasis on climate refated narrative and disclosure in the
annual report.

The Group's exposure 1o climate change is primarily through the acquisition
of materials in its supply chain and increased costs in refation 1o manufacturing
end products. As part of our audit we have made enquiries of management

1o understand the extent of the potential impact of climate change risk on the
Group's financial statements and the Group's preparedness for this,

The Group emits greenhouse gases directly from energy used in its production
operations, As explained on page 42 of the Group's annual report, the Group
announced updated targets to reduce scope 1 and 2 carbon emissions to
become carpon neutral by 2030 and then waorking towards being a net zero
organisation by 2050,
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NORMALISED PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£62.5m (2021: £55.9m)
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purposes 2021

Specified risk-focused audit
procedures 2021

Residual components 2021



4 THE IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON OUR AUDIT continued

THE GROUP'S ASSESSMENT OF ACCOUNTING CONSEQUENCES
IFRS requires the Group's financial reporting ta be based, amangst other
things, on the Group's best estimate of assumptions that are reasonable and
supportable as at the date of reporting. Those assumptions may rnot align with
the ways in which the global economy, sadiety and government policies will
need 1¢ change to meet the relevant targets.

The Group has set carbon emission targets and estimated the incremental
capital and operational expenditure required ta deliver those targets.
‘The Group has considered the potential for asset obsolescence or shorter
evcunmnnic lives ol ils exisling proper Ly, plast aikd equipment, and this does
not result in any material changes to accounting estimates as a result.

The Group has provided mare detarl on how they have considered
climate change in their financial reporting on page 165 of the Group's
financial statements.

OUR AUDIT RESPONSE

Risk assessment pracedures

As part of our risk assessment praocedures, we made enquiries, with the
assistance of our sustainability specialists, of key members of management.
Our enguiries focused on understanding the Group's climate related strategy
and identifying those areas where climate change could have a potential
material impact on the financial statements We did not identify the impact
of climate risk as a separate Key Audit Matter in our audit given the nature of
the Group’s operations and knowledge gained of its impact on significant
accounting estimates and judgements during our risk assessment procedures
and testing

Audit procedures in relation to Key Audit Matters

We did not consider the impact of dimate change to be significant to our audit
response for the Key Audit Maiters relating to recoverability of goodwill and
the parent Company's investments in subsidiaries.

Other audit procedures
Druring the course of our audit, we carried eut the following additional
audit procedures:

- we considered the Group's pracesses around climate change related
disclosures in the Annual Report and read the disclosures in the Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report and consdered its consistency with the
financial statements and our audit knowledge: and

- we assessed the appropriateness of climate-related financial disclosures,
including TCFD recommendead disclosures.

The audit procedures were performed principally by the Group engagement
team with the support of our sustainability specialists.

5 GOING CONCERN

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern
basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or
to cease their operations, and as they have conduded that the Group's and the
parent Company’s financial position means that this 1s realistic. They have also
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast
significant doubt over their ability to continue as a guing cancern for at least
a year from the date of approval of the financial staternents {“the going
concern period”).

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry. and the general economic
environment to identify the inherent risks to its buswess model and analysed
how those risks might affect the Group's and parent Company's financial
resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. The
risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect ihe Group's and parent
Company’s available financial resources, EBITDA and net debt. and therefore
covenants over this pericd were,

- delays to significant revenue contracts;
- manufacturing facilities safety incidents: and

- the polential outcome of the provisions and contingent liabihties related 1o
regulatory investigations.

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the liquidity or
covenant compliance in the going concern period by assessing the directors’
sensitivities over the level of available financiat resources and covenant
thresholds indicated by the Group's financial forecasts taking account of
severa, but plausible adverse effects that could arise from these risks
individwally and collectively.

We also assessed completeness of the going concern disclosure.
Qur conclusions based on this work:

- we consider that the direclors’ use of the going toncern hasis of acronnting
in the preparation of the hnancal statements is appropraate;

- we have not identified, and concur with the directars assessment that there
is not, a material uncertainty related (o events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's or parent
Company’s abiiity Lo continue as a going concern for the going cancern
periog;

- we have nothing material te add or draw attention to in relation (o the

direclors statement in note 1 to the accounting policies note on the use of

the going concera basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that rmay
cast sgnificant doubt over the Greup and parent Company's use of that
basis for the going concern period, and we found the going concern
disclosure in note 1 to the accounting policies notes to be acceptable, and
the related statement under the Listing Rules set cut on page 74 is materially
cansistent with the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as
subsequent evenls may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with
judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above
conclysions are not a guarantee that the Group or the parent Company will
continue in operaticn.

6 FRALD AND S8REACHES OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS -

ABILITY TO DETECT

IDENTIFYING AND RESFONDING TO RISKS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT DUE TO FRAUD

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we
assessed events ar conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to
commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures inciuded:

- Enquiring of directors and internal audit and inspection of policy
documentation as to the Group's high-level palicies and procedures to
prevent and detect fraud, inchuding the internal audit function, 2nd the
Group's channel for "whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud:

- Reading Board, Audit Committee, Exetutive Commuttee, Remuneration
Committee and Risk Committee meeting minutes;

- Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance
targets for management and directors including the EPS target for
managerneant rermnuneration;

- Using analyticat procedures to identify any unusuai or unexpected
relationships; and

» Ubilig uw uwn furensie speciallsts (U dssise us Ty idenudlying fndud risks Liased
on discussions of the circumstances of the Growp and parent Company.

We communicated identificd fraud risks throughout the audit team and
remained alert 1o any indications of fraud throughout the audit. This included .
communication from the Group audit team to full scope component audit
tearns of relevant fraud risks identified at the Group level and request 1o

full scope component audit teams to report to the Group audit team

any instances of fraud that could give rise ta a material misstatement

at Group level.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CHEMRING GROUP PLC continued

6 FRAUD AND BREACHES OF LAWS AND REGULATIONS -

ABILITY TO DETECT continued

IDENTIFYING AND RESPONDING TO RISKS OF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT DUE TO FRALD continued

As required by auditing standards and taking inle account possible pressures to
meet profit targets, we perform procedures to address the risk of management
override of control. in particular the risk that Group and component
management may be in a position to make nappropriate accounting entries,
and the risk of bias in accounting estimates and judgements such as provisions
and pension assumptions. On this audit, we do not believe there is a fraud risk
related to revenue recognition because there are no complexities or significant
areas of estimation within the revenue recognition.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We performed procedures including

= Identdying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope
companents based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
to supporting documentation. These included those posted to unusual
accounts; and

- Assessing whether the judgements rmade in making significant accounting
estimales are indicative of a potential bias.

IDENTIFYING AND RESPONDING TO RISKS GF MATERIAL
MISSTATEMENT DUE TO NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected
10 have a material effect on the financial statements from our general
commercial and sector experience, through discussion with the drectors

(as required by auditing standards), fram inspection of the Group's regulatory
and legal carrespondence and discussed with the directors the policies and
procedures regarding campliance with laws and regulations.

As the Group is regulated. our assessment of risks involved gaining an
understanding of the controt enviranment including the entity's procedures for
complying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and regufations throughout our team and
remained alert to any indications of non-compharce throughout the audit.

This included communication from the Group audit team ta component audit
teamns of relevant laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a
request for component zuditors to repart to the Group team any instances
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that couid give rise to a material
misstatement at Growp level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements
varies cansiderably.

Firstly, the Group s subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the
financial statements including financial reporting legislation (including related
companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, 1axation legislation

and pension legislation, and we assessed the extent of compliance with these
laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial
statement items.

Secondly, the Graup i5 subject 1o many other laws and regulations where the
consequences of non-comphance could have a material effect on amounts or
disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of
fines or litigation. VWe identified the following areas as those maost likely to have
such an effect: health and safety, environmental protection legislation, and
anti-bribery and corruption, recognising the regulated nature of the Group's
activities and its legal form. Auditing standards limit the required audit
precedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to
enquiry of the directors and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence,
if any, Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or
evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.
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For the Heaith and Safety Executive matter discussed in note 33, we assessed
disclosures against our understanding from legal correspondence, including
discussions hetd with the lawyers as well as inspection of relevant documentation.

CONTEXT OF THE ABILITY OF THE AUDIT TO DETECT FRAUD

OR BREACHES OF LAW OR REGULATION

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk

that we may not have detected some material misstatements in the financial
statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit
in accordance with auditing standards. For examgle, the further removed
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherentiy Imited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection
of fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional amissians,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit procedures
are designed to detect material misstatement, We are not responsible for
preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect
non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

7 WE HAVE NOTHING TO REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION
IN THE ANNUAL REFORT

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the
Annual Repart together with the financial statements. Qur opinion on the
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly,
we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur respansibility is to read the other mlarmation and, n doing sa, consider
whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein
is matertally misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or aur
audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information

STRATEGIC REPORT AND DIRECTORS' REPORT
Based salely on Gur work 6n the other information:

- we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the
directors report,

- in our opinion the infermation given in those reports for the financial year is
consistent with the financial statements; and

- in gur opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

DISCLOSURES OF EMERGING AND PRINCIPAL RISKS AND LONGER-
TERM VIABILITY

We are required to perform procedures to identify whether there 1s a
material inconsistency between the directors’ disclosures in respect of
emerging and principal risks and the viability statement, and the financial
statements and our audit knowledge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing material to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

- the directors’ confirmation, on page 65. that they have carried out a robust
assessrnent of the ermerging and princypal risks facing the Group, including
thase that would threaten its business madel, future performance, solvency
and tiquidity;

- the principal risks disclosures describing these risks and how emerging risks
are identified. and explaining how they are being managed and mitigated: and



7 WE HAVE NOTHING TO REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION

IN THE ANNUAL REPORT continued

DISCLOSURES OF EMERGING AND PRINCIPAL RISKS AND LOMGER-

TERM VIABILITY continued

- the directors’ explanation in the viability statement of how they have
assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have done so
and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement
as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the
period of their assessment, including any refated disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary quabfications or assumptions.

We are also required 10 review the wability statement, set out on page 74
under the Listing Rules. Based on the above procedures, we have concluded
that the above disclesures are materially consistent with the financial
statements and aur audit knowledge.

Our work is imited to assessing these matters in the context of only the
knowledge acquired during cur financial statements audit. As we cannot
predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result
in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable
at the time they were made, the absence of anything to repor1 on these
statements is not a guarantee as o the Group's and parent Company’s
longer-term viabifity.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

We are required to perfarm procedures to identify whether there is a
matenal inconsistency between the directors’ corporate governance
disclosures and the financial statements and our audit knowledge.

Based on those pracedures, we have concluded that each of the following is
matenally consistent with the financial statements and our audit knowledge:

- the directors’ statement that they consider that the annual repart and
financial statements taken as a whaole is fair, balanced and understandable.
and provides the information mecessary for shareholders to assess the
Group’s position and performance, business model and strategy;

- the section of the annual report describing the work of the Audit
Commitiee, including the significant issues that the Audit Commitiee
considered in relation 10 the financial statements, and how these issues
were addressed; and

- the secticn of the annual report that describes the review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems

'We are required to review the part of the Corporate Governance Report
relating to the Group's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code specified by the Listing Rules for our review. We have
nothing to report in this respect.

8 WE HAVE NOTHING TO REPORT ON THE OTHER MATTERS
ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT 8Y EXCEFTION
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in
Qur opinicn:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches
not visited by us; or

- the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

- we have not recewved all the information and explanations we require for
our audit.

We have nothing Lo report in these respects.

9 RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 122, the directors
are responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being
satisfied that they give a troe and Fair view, such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Comparny’s ability ko continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable. matters refated to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or
the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
staternents as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and 1o 1Ssue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance. but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will abvays detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if. individuatly or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
cxpeeted to influence the econgmic decisions of uskry Laken on the basls of
the financial statemnents

A fuller description of cur respansibilities is prowided on the FRC's website at
www.fre org ukfauditorsresponsibilities.

The Company is required ta include these financial statements in an annual
financial report prepared using the single electronic reporting format specified
in the TO ESEF Regutation. This auditor's report provides no assurance over
whether the annual financial report has been prepared in accordance with
that format,

10 THE PURPOSE OF OQUR AUIDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE

OWE QUR RESPONSIBIUITIES

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and the
terms of our engagement by the Company. Cur audit work has been
undertzken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor's report, and the further
matters we are required to state to them in accordance with the terms agreed
with the Company. and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law. we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company's members, as a body. for our audit work, for this

repagrt, ar fgr the opinigng we jave formed.

VAn rew Campbeli-Orde (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
Gateway House
Tollgate
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
S0O51 310

13 December 2022
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FIVE-YEAR RECORD
For the year ended 31 October 2022

022 on WP 2019 piak]
€m Lrm {m m &m
Revenue 442.8 3933 4025 335.2 2974
Undertying operating prefit 64.0 575 547 440 310
Non-underlying items {(10.1) [EAD] (8.4) {127 (46.9)
Operating profit/(loss) 533 504 46.3 313 (15.9)
Finance expense 1.5 (16) (3.0) (4.6) {61)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 518 488 433 267 {22.0)
Taxatusn (4.4) (7.3) 8.6) (3.6) (188)
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 47.4 415 347 231 (40.8)
{Loss)/profit after tax from discontinued operations — — — (1.2) {65.0)
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity shareholders 47.4 4153 347 219 (105.8}
Intangible assets and property. pfant and equipment 3954 3515 3489 3799 3189
\Working caprtal 939 B44 851 9Q.5 8317
Provisions (18.4) (17.5) (19.0) (17.2) {20.7)
Retirament beoefit surplus 1.2 1317 76 9.6 75
Net current and deferred tax liabilities (20.8) (24.5) (16.3) (8.5) {1 1)
Net debt 7.2 (26.6) (48.2) (75.7) (818)
Other (36.0) (282 (28.5) (228) 23
Net assets employed 418.1 3518 3296 305.8 2942
Financed by:
Crdinary share capital 28 28 28 28 28
Reserves attributable to equity shareholders 3077 3500 368 3030 2914
Total equity 3105 3528 3256 305.8 2942
Basic underlying earnings per ordinary share (continuing operations) 20.2p 16.9p 15.1p 1t.2p 69p
Diluted underlying earnings per ordinary share {continuing operaticns) 19.7p 16.5p 148p 110p 67p
Basic earnings/{loss) per ordinary share (continuing operations) 16.9p 14.7p 123p 8p {146
Diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (continuing operations) 16.4p 144p 120p 81p {14.6)p
Dividend per share 5.7p 48p 3% 36p 33p
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND WEBSITE
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FIND OUT MORE ONLINE

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS' REGISTERED OFFICES
SUBSILIARY UNDERTAKINGS IN ENGLAND:

Roke Manor

Qld Salisbury Lane

Ramsey

Hampshire

5O51 0ZN

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING IN SCOTLAND:
Troon House

Ardeer Site

Stevenston

Ayrshire

KAZ0 AN

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS IN THE US:
23031 Ladbraok Orive

Dulles

Virginia

20166

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING IN AUSTRALIA;
230 Staceys Road

Lara

Victora

Australia

a2

SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING IN NORWAY:
Engeneveien 7

N-3475 Sietre

Norway

For more information about Chemring Group PLC, please visit www.chemringcom where the fatest sharehclder information can be accessed, including:

- Current share price
- Key financal mfarmation
- Financial calendar

- Shareholder services and notices
- Corporate governance
- Results and presentations

- Analysts’ forecasts
- Regulatory news

Chemring Group PLC's 2022 annual report and accounts and the notice for the Annual General Meeting can also be viewed and downloaded at

www‘chemring.comfmvestors.

® CHEMRING GROUP PLC 2022

The nformation in this document s the property of Chemring Group PLC and may not be copied or communicated to a third party or used for any purpose,
other than thai for whech it is supplied, without the express written consent of Chemring Group PLC. This :nformation 15 given in good faith based upon the latest
information available to Chemring Group PLC: no warranty or representation is given concerning such information, which must not be taken as establishing any
contractual or other commitment binding upan Chemring Group PLC or any of its subsidiary or associated companies.

Chemring's commitment to environmental issues is reflected in this Annual Report,
which has been printed on Magno Satin, an FSC® certified matenal. Thos document
was printed by Park Comrnunications using its erwironmentat print technology, which
minimises the Impact of printing on the environment, with 99% of dry waste dwverted
from landfill Bath the printer and the paper mill are registered 1o 150 14001,

Chemring Graup PLC Annual repert and accounts 2022 173

19043y DIDILVHLS

FONVYNYIADD

NOILYIWYO4N| ¥IH10



